
 
 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Licensing Sub Committee-Alcohol 

and Gambling 
 

Meeting date:  5 July 2023 
 

Meeting time:    6.00 pm 
 

Meeting venue: Council Chamber 
 

 
 

Membership: 
 

Councillor Ed Chidley, Councillor Tim Harman, Councillor Dr David Willingham and 

Councillor Julie Sankey (Reserve) 
 

 
 

Important notice – filming, recording and broadcasting of Council 

meetings 
 

This meeting will be recorded by the council for live broadcast online at 

www.cheltenham.gov.uk and www.youtube.com/user/cheltenhamborough.  The 

Chair will confirm this at the start of the meeting.    

 

If you participate in the meeting, you consent to being filmed and to the possible use 

of those images and sound recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes. 

 

If you have any questions on the issue of filming/recording of meetings, please 

contact Democratic Services. 

 
 

Speaking at Licensing Committee  
To find out more about Licensing Committee or to register to speak, please click 

here or contact Democratic Services. 
 

Please note:  the deadline to register to speak is 5.00pm on the day before the 

meeting. 

 
 

Contact: democraticservices@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Phone:    01242 264 130

http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/
http://www.youtube.com/user/cheltenhamborough
https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/mgGeneric.aspx?MD=mgattendinglicensingcommittee
mailto:democraticservices@cheltenham.gov.uk


 

Agenda 
 

 

1  Election of Chair   

 

2  Declarations of interest   

 

3  23/00788/PRMA 8 Imperial Square  (Pages 3 - 242) 

 

4  23/00745/PRMA 33 Prestbury Road  (Pages 243 - 398) 

 

5  Any other items the Chairman determines to be urgent and which requires a 

decision   

 



8 Imperial Sq   

 Page 1 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 
 

Licensing Sub Committee – 5th July 2023 
 

Licensing Act 2003:  
Determination of Application for a Premises Licence 

 
8 Imperial Square, Cheltenham GL50 1QB 

 
Report of Jason Kirkwood - Licensing Team Leader 

 
INTRODUCTION  
 

1. The Licensing Act 2003 (the 2003 Act) introduced a unified system of regulation through four 
types of authorisation to permit licensable activity:- 

 The premises licence,  

 The club premises certificates for qualifying clubs,  

 Temporary Event Notices and  

 The personal licence.  
 

2. Licensable activity is defined under the 2003 Act as the following:- 

 The sale by retail or the supply of alcohol, 

 Regulated entertainment (recorded and live music, performance of a play, exhibition of 
a film, etc) 

 Late night refreshment (food or drink supplied above ambient temperature between the 
hours of 23:00 and 05:00). 

 
3. Since the implementation of the 2003 Act, Central Government has issued Statutory 

Guidance (the Guidance) to provide more comprehensive and detailed advice on this 
legislation. It was last updated on 20 December 2022. The licensing authority must have 
regard to the Guidance when determining this application.  
 

4. The Guidance is binding on Cheltenham Borough Council acting in its capacity as a licensing 
authority under the 2003 Act. However, the licensing authority may depart from it, if it has 
good reason to do so. Departure from this Guidance could give rise to an appeal or judicial 
review, and so clear reasons must be referenced in such instances. 
 

5. The 2003 Act requires that a council must formulate and publish a statement of its licensing 
policy. This will explain the manner in which the licensing authority will carry out its 
responsibilities under the 2003 Act. The licensing authority may depart from the Statement of 
Licensing Policy (the Policy), but must give full and cogent reason(s) where it chooses to do 
so.  
 

6. The Guidance and Policy are both referenced: through elements of this report, through a 
summary of the most relevant extracts from each attached as appendices and by way of 
weblinks to both documents.   

 

 

Page 3
Agenda Item 3



8 Imperial Sq   

 Page 2 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

BACKGROUND 

7. The Borough Council, as the licensing authority, is responsible for authorising all venues/ 
events in the borough where licensable activities take place. 

 
8. The legislation provides a clear focus on the promotion of four statutory objectives which must 

be considered when licensing functions are undertaken.  
 
9. The system is built upon four licensing objectives:-  
 

 The prevention of crime and disorder;   

 Public safety;  

 The prevention of public nuisance; and,  

 The protection of children from harm.  
 
10.  The licensing authority must promote these objectives in carrying out its functions.   
 
11. Each objective is of equal importance. There are no other statutory licensing aims or 

objectives, although other aims and objectives may be pursued through local policy. 
 
12. Where an application is made to the licensing authority, the default position is that the 

application will be granted, as applied for, unless relevant representations (objections) are 
received. If relevant representations are received, a hearing must be held to consider the 
application, in light of the objections and/ or any support for it.  

 
13. An objection against an application must refer to the promotion of one or more of the 

licensing objectives to be considered as a relevant representation, and must be made by a 
Responsible Authority or an ‘Other Person’. 

 
14. Responsible Authorities: - The 2003 Act identifies 10 responsible authorities that act as 

statutory consultees for applications for premises licences. All of these consultees are served 
with a copy of the application and have the opportunity to object or make comment:-  

 

 The relevant Licensing Authority,  

 The Chief Officer of Police  

 The local Fire and Rescue Authority 

 The relevant health and safety enforcing authority 

 The local authority with responsibility for environmental health  

 The local Planning Authority  

 The relevant body with responsibility for the protection of children  

 The relevant Public Health Authority  

 Trading Standards  

 Home Office Immigration Enforcement (on behalf of the Secretary of State).  
 
15. Other Persons - The 2003 Act allows any individual, body or business to make 

representations to the licensing authority regarding an application for a premises licence, 
where their comments relate to the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

 
16. Mediation - In some cases, mediation by the licensing authority has the potential to find 

a satisfactory conclusion for all parties, and a hearing may be dispensed with, if all 
parties agree. This work will be attempted prior to the hearing.  

            
 

Page 4



8 Imperial Sq   

 Page 3 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 

17. Core Hours for Licensable Activities - As set down in the Policy the council will avoid arbitrary 
restrictions on licensing hours that undermine the principles of flexibility and consideration of 
each application is on its own merit.  

 
18. However, the council believes that licensable activities carried on within the core hours set 

out below will generally not have a harmful impact on the licensing objectives, address the 
concerns raised by local residents and businesses and are usually less likely to attract 
representations.  
 

19. Furthermore, earlier closing will result in less alcohol consumption and drunkenness and 
would also be consistent with the ability to get crowds dispersed from the town centre.  

 
Table 1: Core Hours for Licensable Activities  

Type of premises Commencement hour no 
earlier than 

Terminal hour no later 
than 

Off licence 09:00 23:00 

Restaurant 10:00 01:00 

Theatres, cinemas and 
other performance venues 

10:00 00:00 

Pubs/ bars/ nightclubs  Town centre                    
10:00 

03:00 

Local neighbourhood 
areas 10:00 

00:00 

Takeaways N/a N/a 

 

20. As set down in Appendix D of the Policy, the location for 8 Imperial Square is defined as ‘a 
Town Centre’ location. 
 

21. Where relevant representations have been made, the sub - committee will take the following 
matters into consideration when making a decision, as per the Policy. These are not a 
definitive list and other matters may be considered:- 

 
a) Operating schedules - demonstration of compliance with management standards to 
support each of the licensing objectives.  

b) Proximity to residential accommodation - the likelihood of the operation to have an adverse 
impact on the peace and quiet of local residents.  

c) Potential noise and nuisance from people leaving and entering the premises.  

d) Ability to demonstrate that systems in place to ensure timely dispersal of customers away 
from residential areas.  

e) Use of external areas for carrying out the licensable activities and potential noise impact on 
local residents.  

Page 5



8 Imperial Sq   

 Page 4 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

 

f) Proposed hours of the licensing activities and general opening times for the public – The 
use of winding down periods to enable more efficient dispersal.  

g) Type of use – alcohol led premises such as pubs, bars and nightclubs, off licenses and hot 
food take away premises are more likely to be associated with crime and disorder and public 
nuisance than other premises such as seated restaurants, theatres, cinemas and other 
cultural activities.  

h) Availability of public transport to assist in the timely dispersal of customers from the vicinity 
and to ensure safe travel home.  

i) The potential for contamination of the street environment through increased litter and other 
pollution of the streets by customers. 

DETERMINATION OF AN APPLICATION 

22. Where relevant representations have been received and mediation is unsuccessful or not 
viable, then the licensing authority’s discretion will be engaged. It will convene a hearing by a 
sub – committee of the Licensing Committee to consider the application and representations.  
 

23. Responsible authorities and/or other persons in relation to an application may attend the 
hearing, with adequate notice, to amplify and clarify their relevant comments. They may not 
add to their original representation once the objection period has closed. 
 

24. The applicant may also attend the hearing to assist the authority in considering the 
application. 
 

25. The hearing should focus on the steps considered appropriate to promote the particular 
licensing objective or objectives that have given rise the representations and not stray into 
undisputed areas. 
 

26. The sub – committee should determine the application with a view to promoting the licensing 
objectives in the overall interests of the local community. The licensing authority must give 
appropriate weight to:- 

 

 The Statutory Guidance - the current version is available to view here (Appendix 4 of 
this report contains certain key elements). 

 The Cheltenham Borough Council Statement of Licensing Policy – the current version 
is available to view here (Appendix 5 of this report contains certain key elements). 

 The steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives. 
 

THE APPLICATION  

Case number: 23/00788/PRMA 

Applicant: 8 Imperial Square Ltd 

Licence type – premises licence 

Address: 8 Imperial Square, Cheltenham, GL50 1QB 
 
 
 

Page 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/442/licensing_policy_statement


8 Imperial Sq   

 Page 5 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

 
 

27.  A sub - committee is required to discharge its duty and determine this application with a view  
to promoting the licensing objectives. This is because relevant representations have been  
made against the application.  
 

28. The application is attached at Appendix 1 and details the hours sought for licensable activity 
to take place. It includes the steps the applicant would take to promote the licensing 
objectives at Section M if the application is granted. 
 

29. The application was sent out for consultation and was deemed as duly made at that point. 
The close of the objection period was set as 8th June 2023. The application was sent 
electronically to all responsible authorities and public notice of the application was given by 
way of site notice and a notice in a local newspaper.  
 

30. The application was accompanied by a plan of the premises, which will be available as a 
background paper to Members and available to view by the public at the Council Offices on 
request during normal office hours. The distribution of this plan is restricted to guard against 
the potential activities of terrorists who may use the information in such plans in planning 
attacks on the public, this concern is balanced against insuring that all parties to a hearing can 
view the plan if they wish to and so are not prejudiced by it not being published online. The 
location of the proposed venue is shown by way of area maps highlighting the premises 
concerned at Appendix 2  
 

RELEVANT REPRESENTATIONS  
 

31. During the objection period there were no relevant representations received from any 
responsible authority. 
 

32. However, there were a number of relevant representations from other persons and no 
supporting comments. The authority has received representations from 5 residents and one 
from a business (the freeholder of No 11 Imperial Gardens).  
 

33. The relevant representations from other persons are attached at Appendix 3. 
 

HEARING  
 

34. The council appreciates that not all parties will want to attend the meeting in person or be able 
to do so, but it understands that they will want their views to be considered. If a party is not 
able to attend the hearing, this will not undermine the consideration of their written submission 
relating to an application. 
 

35. It is worth bearing in mind that normal practice at hearings would involve parties not repeating 
the points that have already been made to the sub – committee on the day. Furthermore, the 
sub – committee will consider all written representations in any event, and the hearing itself is 
the opportunity for parties to only ‘amplify and clarify’ the points they have already made in 
writing.   

   

CASE OFFICER COMMENTS 
 

36. Members are asked to consider the following points, which seem pertinent to the case:- 
 

a. Members are asked to consider this application and determine whether the controls put 
in place by the applicant are sufficient to mitigate any justified concerns about the  

Page 7



8 Imperial Sq   

 Page 6 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

 
application, in light of the evidence and/ or reasoning put forward by the objectors with 
reference to this specific proposal. 

b. All parties should note that the Live Music Act 2012 allows premises licensed for the sale 
of alcohol for consumption on the premises to provide live and recorded music between 
08:00 – 23:00 hours daily (whilst the premises concerned is open for the sale of alcohol 
for consumption on the premises). Therefore, conditions relating to those activities are 
only in force outside of those hours. 

 
37. Furthermore, all parties must recognize the following important considerations:- 

 

 The decision making exercise is considered as an ‘administrative’ process in legal 
terms. However, there is potential for legal challenge against a decision, and where a 
party appeals, the decision making process is scrutinized. The licensing authority is 
bound by legislation and case law in how it carries out this function, and so must act 
accordingly. 

 Members can only consider evidence/ reasoning presented, which is clearly related to 
the promotion of the licensing objectives and this specific proposal. 

 
38. Finally, the case R (Hope and Glory Public House Limited) v City of Westminster Magistrates' 

Court [2011] EWCA Civ 31 is considered an important licensing case that was consider by 
the Court of Appeal in 2011. An extract from the conclusion provides some assistance for the 
sub – committee:-  
 

As Mr Matthias rightly submitted, the licensing function of a licensing authority is an 
administrative function. By contrast, the function of the district judge is a judicial function. 
The licensing authority has a duty, in accordance with the rule of law, to behave fairly in the 
decision-making procedure, but the decision itself is not a judicial or quasi-judicial act. It is the 
exercise of a power delegated by the people as a whole to decide what the public interest 
requires. (See the judgment of Lord Hoffmann in Alconbury at para 74.)  

39. Licensing decisions often involve weighing a variety of competing considerations: the 
demand for licensed establishments, the economic benefit to the proprietor and to the 
locality by drawing in visitors and stimulating the demand, the effect on law and order, 
the impact on the lives of those who live and work in the vicinity, and so on. Sometimes 
a licensing decision may involve narrower questions, such as whether noise, noxious 
smells or litter coming from premises amount to a public nuisance. Although such 
questions are in a sense questions of fact, they are not questions of the "heads or 
tails" variety. They involve an evaluation of what is to be regarded as reasonably 
acceptable in the particular location. In any case, deciding what (if any) conditions 
should be attached to a licence as necessary and proportionate to the promotion of the 
statutory licensing objectives is essentially a matter of judgment rather than a matter of 
pure fact.  

 

40. The statutory duty of the licensing authority to give reasons for its decision serves a number of 
purposes. It informs the public, who can make their views known to their elected 
representatives if they do not like the licensing sub-committee's approach. It enables a party 
aggrieved by the decision to know why it has lost and to consider the prospects of a 
successful appeal. If an appeal is brought, it enables the magistrates' court to know the 
reasons which led to the decision. The fuller and clearer the reasons, the more force they are  

Page 8



8 Imperial Sq   

 Page 7 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

 

likely to carry.  

 
41. The last paragraph highlights in particular the statutory duty of the sub – committee to give 
clear written reasons for its decision. This allows all parties to an application to understand the 
eventual outcome in a meaningful way.   

DECISION MAKING 
 

42. The sub–committee will consider thoroughly and diligently the representations and their 
relevance to the determination of this application. Members must limit their considerations of 
the objections to where they are specifically relevant to the application before them.  
 

43. The licensing authority must determine the application and decide whether to:- 
 

 Grant the application with mandatory conditions and those offered in the application 
only, or 
 

 Grant the application with mandatory conditions, those conditions offered in the 
application (amended or otherwise) and attach specific conditions to promote the 
licensing objectives - where it considers it appropriate. (This may include restricting 
the hours applied for in the application), or 

 

 Refuse the application, as it considers it appropriate to promote the licensing 
objectives. 

 
44. Each application must be considered on its own merits and in accordance with the 2003 Act, 

the Guidance and the licensing authority’s Statement of Licensing Policy.  
 

45. If conditions are attached to the grant of a licence they must be tailored to the individual type, 
location and characteristics of the premises/ events concerned. This is essential to avoid the 
imposition of disproportionate and overly burdensome conditions on premises where there is 
no need for such conditions. 
 

46. If any party to a hearing is aggrieved by the decision of the licensing authority (this means the 
applicant or any person/ organisation/ business that made a relevant representation), they 
may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court. They must do so within 21 days of being notified of the 
decision in writing. 
 

Licence conditions – general principles  

47. Conditions on a premises licence are important in setting the parameters within which 
premises can lawfully operate. The use of wording such as ‘must’, ‘shall’ and to a lesser 
extent ‘will’ is encouraged.  
 

48. Licence conditions:- 
  

 Must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; 

 Must be precise and enforceable; 

 Must be unambiguous and clear in what they intend to achieve; 
 

Page 9



8 Imperial Sq   

 Page 8 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

 
 

 Should not duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or responsibilities placed 
on the employer by other legislation; 

 Must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of the premises and 
events concerned; 

 Should not be standardised and may be unlawful when it cannot be demonstrated that 
they are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in an individual case; 

 Should not replicate offences set out in the 2003 Act or other legislation; 

 Should be proportionate, justifiable and be capable of being met, (for example, whilst beer 
glasses may be available in toughened glass, wine glasses may not); 

 Cannot seek to manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the direct 
management of the licence holder and their staff, but may impact on the behaviour of 
customers in the immediate vicinity of the premises or as they enter or leave; and 

 Should be written in a prescriptive format.  
 

Background Papers Various appendices 

Report Author  Contact officer: Jason Kirkwood 

Licensing Team Leader 

E-mail: licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Tel no: 01242 262626 

 

Legal contact officer: One Legal 

Email: legalservices@onelegal.org.uk  

 

 

Page 10



Authority Details Reference
Cheltenham Borough Council
PO Box 12, Municipal Offices Promenade, Cheltenham, GL50 1PP

T: 01242 262626

E: licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk

Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Form Title

New Premises Licence

Premises Details

Premises Address *
8 IMPERIAL SQUARE CHELTENHAM 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE GL50 1QB

Telephone number at premises (if any)

Non-domestic value of premises. * £ 0

Applicant Details

I/We apply for a premises licence under section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003 for the premises described in Part 1 below (the 

premises) and I/we are making this application to you as the relevant licensing authority in accordance with section 12 of the 

Licensing Act 2003.

Please state whether you are applying for a premises licence 

as:

a person other than an individual -as a limited company/

limited liability partnership

Applicant Details

If you are applying as a person described in one of the above 

please confirm: *

I am carrying on or proposing to carry on a business which 

involves the use of the premises for licensable activities; or

Other Applicant (Non Individual)

Name * 8 Imperial Square Ltd

Registered Address * 5 Ducketts Wharf

South Street

Town/City * Bishop's Stortford

Page Number 1 / 15

Page 11



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Other Applicant (Non Individual)

County Herts

Postcode * CM23 3AR

Registered Number (where applicable) 11626068

Description of applicant (for example partnership, company, 

unincorporated association, etc) *
Private Limited Company

Telephone Number 02038597757

Email * k.mcgowan@popall.co.uk

Operating Schedule

When do you want the premises licence to start? * 07/06/2023

If you wish the licence to be valid only for a limited period, 

when do you want it to end?

Please give a general description of the premises. * Licensed Premises

If 5,000 or more people are expected to attend the premises 

at any one time, please state the number expected to attend.

Operating Schedule

What licensable activities do you intend to carry on from the premises? * (Please see sections 1 and 14 of the Licensing Act 

2003 and Schedules 1 and 2 to the Licensing Act 2003)

Provision of regulated entertainment (please read guidance note 2) *

CheckboxCheckbox Label
Plays

CheckboxCheckbox Label

✓ Films

CheckboxCheckbox Label
Indoor Sporting Events

CheckboxCheckbox Label
Boxing or Wrestling

Page Number 2 / 15

Page 12



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Operating Schedule

CheckboxCheckbox Label

✓ Live Music

CheckboxCheckbox Label

✓ Recorded Music

CheckboxCheckbox Label

✓ Performances of Dance

CheckboxCheckbox Label

✓ Anything of a similar description falling under Music or Dance

CheckboxCheckbox Label

✓ Provision of late night refreshment

CheckboxCheckbox Label

✓ Supply of Alcohol

Film Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the exhibition of films. (please read guidance note 7) * 

Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Monday to Thursday

10:00

02:00

Film Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the exhibition of films. (please read guidance note 7) * 

Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Friday to Saturday

10:00

02:00

Page Number 3 / 15

Page 13



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Film Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the exhibition of films. (please read guidance note 7) * 

Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Sunday

10:00

00:00

Films

Will the exhibition of films take place indoors or outdoors or 

both? (please read guidance note 3) *
Indoors

Please provide further details. (please read guidance note 4)
To permit the occasional showing of pre-recorded films, 

music videos and other entertainment.

State any seasonal variations for the exhibition of films. 

(please read guidance note 5)

Please state any non-standard timings, where you intend 

to use the premises for the exhibition of films at different 

times from the Standard days and times listed? (please read 

guidance note 6)

From the end of permitted hours on New Year's Eve to the 

start of permitted hours on New Year's Day.

Live Music Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the performance of live music. (please read guidance 

note 7) * Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Monday to Thursday

10:00

02:00

Live Music Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the performance of live music. (please read guidance 

note 7) * Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Friday to Saturday

Page Number 4 / 15

Page 14



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Live Music Standard Times

10:00

02:00

Live Music Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the performance of live music. (please read guidance 

note 7) * Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Sunday

10:00

00:00

Live Music

Will the Performance of Live Music take place indoors or 

outdoors or both? (please read guidance note 3) *
Indoors

Please provide further details. (please read guidance note 4)
Unamplified/amplified music will be via artists, singing, DJ, 

bands and other music of a similar nature.

State any seasonal variations for the Performance of Live 

Music. (please read guidance note 5)

Please state any non-standard timings, where you intend 

to use the premises for the performance of live music at 

different times from the Standard days and times listed? 

(please read guidance note 6)

From the end of permitted hours on New Year's Eve to the 

start of permitted hours on New Year's Day.

Recorded Music Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the performance of recorded music. (please read 

guidance note 7) * Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Monday to Thursday

10:00

02:00

Page Number 5 / 15

Page 15



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Recorded Music Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the performance of recorded music. (please read 

guidance note 7) * Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Friday to Saturday

10:00

02:00

Recorded Music Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the performance of recorded music. (please read 

guidance note 7) * Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Sunday

10:00

00:00

Recorded Music

Will the playing of recorded music take place indoors or 

outdoors or both? (please read guidance note 3) *
Indoors

Please provide further details.(please read guidance note 4)
Pre-recorded music played through an amplified sound 

system.

State any seasonal variations for the playing of recorded 

music. (please read guidance note 5)

Please state any non-standard timings, where you intend 

to use the premises for the performance of recorded music 

at different times from the Standard days and times listed? 

(please read guidance note 6)

From the end of permitted hours on New Year's Eve to the 

start of permitted hours on New Year's Day.

Dance Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the performance of dance. (please read guidance note 

7) * Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Monday to Thursday

Page Number 6 / 15

Page 16



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Dance Standard Times

10:00

02:00

Dance Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the performance of dance. (please read guidance note 

7) * Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Friday to Saturday

10:00

02:00

Dance Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the performance of dance. (please read guidance note 

7) * Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Sunday

10:00

00:00

Performances of Dance

Will the performances of dance take place indoors or 

outdoors or both? (please read guidance note 3) *
Indoors

Please provide further details. (please read guidance note 4)
Performances by staff and performers throughout the 

premises.

State any seasonal variations for the performances of dance. 

(please read guidance note 5)

Please state any non-standard timings, where you intend to 

use the premises for the performance of dance at different 

times from the Standard days and times listed? (please read 

guidance note 6)

From the end of permitted hours on New Year's Eve to the 

start of permitted hours on New Year's Day.

Page Number 7 / 15

Page 17



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Anything of a similar description falling under Music or Dance Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for anything of a similar description falling under music or 

dance. (please read guidance note 7) * Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Monday to Thursday

10:00

02:00

Anything of a similar description falling under Music or Dance Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for anything of a similar description falling under music or 

dance. (please read guidance note 7) * Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Friday to Saturday

10:00

02:00

Anything of a similar description falling under Music or Dance Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for anything of a similar description falling under music or 

dance. (please read guidance note 7) * Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Sunday

10:00

02:00

Anything of a similar description falling under Music or Dance

Please give a description of the type of entertainment you will 

be providing.

Entertainment of a similar nature to live music, recorded 

music, and performance of dance but which may not 

be strictly considered live music, recorded music and 

performance of dance, for example but not limited to cabaret 

performances.

Will the entertainment take place indoors or outdoors or 

both? (please read guidance note 3) *
Indoors

Page Number 8 / 15

Page 18



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Anything of a similar description falling under Music or Dance

Please provide further details. (please read guidance note 4)

State any seasonal variations for the entertainment. (please 

read guidance note 5)

Please state any non-standard timings, where you intend to 

use the premises for entertainment at different times from the 

Standard days and times listed? (please read guidance note 

6)

From the end of permitted hours on New Year's Eve to the 

start of permitted hours on New Year's Day.

Late Night Refreshment Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for late night refreshment. (please read guidance note 7) * 

Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Monday to Thursday

23:00

02:00

Late Night Refreshment Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for late night refreshment. (please read guidance note 7) * 

Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Friday to Saturday

23:00

02:00

Late Night Refreshment Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for late night refreshment. (please read guidance note 7) * 

Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Sunday

23:00

00:00

Page Number 9 / 15

Page 19



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Late Night Refreshment Standard Times

Late Night Refreshment

Will the provision of late night refreshment take place indoors 

or outdoors or both? (please read guidance note 3) *
Both

Please provide further details. (please read guidance note 4) The sale of hot food and hot drink after 23:00 hours.

State any seasonal variations for the provision of late night 

refreshment. (please read guidance note 5)

Please state any non-standard timings, where you intend 

to use the premises for late night refreshment at different 

times from the Standard days and times listed? (please read 

guidance note 6)

From the end of permitted hours on New Year's Eve to the 

start of permitted hours on New Year's Day.

Supply of Alcohol Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the supply of alcohol. (please read guidance note 7) * 

Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Monday to Thursday

10:00

02:00

Supply of Alcohol Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the supply of alcohol. (please read guidance note 7) * 

Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Friday to Saturday

10:00

02:00

Supply of Alcohol Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where you intend to use the premises for the supply of alcohol. (please read guidance note 7) * 

Please enter times in 24hr format (HH:MM)

Page Number 10 / 15

Page 20



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Supply of Alcohol Standard Times

Day * Sunday

10:00

00:00

Supply of Alcohol

Will the supply of alcohol be for consumption on premises or 

off premises or both? (please read guidance note 8) *
Both

State any seasonal variations for the supply of alcohol. 

(please read guidance note 5)

Please state any non-standard timings, where you intend 

to use the premises for the supply of alcohol at different 

times from the Standard days and times listed? (please read 

guidance note 6)

From the end of permitted hours on New Year's Eve to the 

start of permitted hours on New Year's Day.

Designated Premises Supervisor

State the name and details of the individual whom you wish to specify on the licence as designated premises supervisor 

(Please see declaration about the entitlement to work in the checklist at the end of the form)

Title * Mr

First name * Samuel

Surname * Noar

Street address * Flat 1

12 Suffolk Square

Town/City * Cheltenham

County Gloucestershire

Postcode * GL50 2DR

Personal Licence Number (if known) 23/00407/PERA

Page Number 11 / 15

Page 21



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Designated Premises Supervisor

Issuing Licensing Authority (if known) Cheltenham

Adult Entertainment

Please highlight any adult entertainment or services, 

activities, other entertainment or matters ancillary to the use 

of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of 

children (please read guidance note 9).

N/A

Opening Hours Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where the premises are open to the public. (please read guidance note 7) * Please enter times in 

24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Monday to Thursday

08:00

02:30

Opening Hours Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where the premises are open to the public. (please read guidance note 7) * Please enter times in 

24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Friday to Saturday

08:00

02:30

Opening Hours Standard Times

Standard days and timings, where the premises are open to the public. (please read guidance note 7) * Please enter times in 

24hr format (HH:MM)

Day * Sunday

08:00

Page Number 12 / 15

Page 22



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Opening Hours Standard Times

00:30

Opening Hours

State any seasonal variations. (please read guidance note 5)

Please state any Non-standard timings, where you intend the 

premises to be open to the public at different times from the 

Standard days and times listed? (please read guidance note 

6)

From the end of permitted hours on New Year's Eve to the 

start of permitted hours on New Year's Day.

Licensing Objectives

Describe any additional steps you intend to take to promote the four licensing objectives as a result of the proposed variation:

a) General - all four licensing objectives (b, c, d and e) 

(please read guidance note 10)

This application is for a members only club. The supply of 

alcohol to customers at the premises will be for members 

only, their bona fide guests and any persons attending a pre-

booked function.

b) The prevention of crime and disorder

In relation to members of the public, sale of alcohol will 

only be provided during the Cheltenham Festivals to those 

customers who have pre-booked. Prior to submission of 

this application, the applicant has pre-consulted with Philip 

Bowen, Cheltenham Licensing Officer and Jeremy Sansom, 

Cheltenham Police Licensing Officer.

c) Public safety
Attached is a list of conditions which fully promote the four 

licensing objectives.

d) The prevention of public nuisance Please see above

e) The protection of children from harm Please see above

Declarations

Declaration Type * Sole Applicant - Individual or Other

Declarations

I have uploaded a copy of the plan of the premises. I have uploaded a copy of the consent form completed by the individual 

I wish to be designated premises supervisor, if applicable. I understand I must now advertise my application. I understand 

that if I do not comply with the above requirements my application will be rejected. Applicable to all individual applicants, 

Page Number 13 / 15

Page 23



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Declarations

including those in partnership which is not a limited liability partnership, but not companies or limited liability partnerships I 

have included documents demonstrating my entitlement to work in the United Kingdom (please read note 15)

IT IS AN OFFENCE, UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003, TO MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT IN OR IN 

CONNECTION WITH THIS APPLICATION. THOSE WHO MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT MAY BE LIABLE ON SUMMARY 

CONVICTION TO A FINE OF ANY AMOUNT' 'IT IS AN OFFENCE UNDER SECTION 24B OF THE IMMIGRATION ACT 

1971 FOR A PERSON TO WORK WHEN THEY KNOW, OR HAVE REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THEY ARE 

DISQUALIFIED FROM DOING SO BY REASON OF THEIR IMMIGRATION STATUS. THOSE WHO EMPLOY AN ADULT 

WITHOUT LEAVE OR WHO IS SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS AS TO EMPLOYMENT WILL BE LIABLE TO A CIVIL PENALTY 

UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE IMMIGRATION, ASYLUM AND NATIONALITY ACT 2006 AND PURSUANT TO SECTION 

21 OF THE SAME ACT, WILL BE COMMITTING AN OFFENCE WHERE THEY DO SO IN THE KNOWLEDGE, OR WITH 

REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THE EMPLOYEE IS DISQUALIFIED.

Signature/Declaration of applicant or applicant's solicitor or other duly authorised agent (see Guidance Note 11 &amp; 12). 

If signing/applying on behalf of the applicant, please state your name and in what capacity you are authorised to sign/apply. 

When submitting an on-line application form the 'Declaration made' checkbox must be selected.

CheckboxCheckbox Label

✓
I understand I am not entitled to be issued with a licence if I do not have the entitlement to live and work in the UK (or 

if I am subject to a condition preventing me from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity) and 

that my licence will become invalid if I cease to be entitled to live and work in the UK (please read guidance note 15).

CheckboxCheckbox Label

✓
The DPS named in this application form is entitled to work in the UK (and is not subject to conditions preventing him 

or her from doing work relating to a licensable activity) and I have seen a copy of his or her proof of entitlement to 

work, if appropriate (please see note 15).

Full Name * Poppleston Allen

Date * 09/05/2023

Capacity * Applicant's Solicitor

CheckboxCheckbox Label

✓ Declaration made

Do you wish to provide alternative correspondence details? * Yes

Alternative Correspondence

Please provide Contact Name and postal address for correspondence associated with this application.

Title Miss

First name Kerry

Surname McGowan

Page Number 14 / 15

Page 24



Reference Ref: DSFX1683631966600

Alternative Correspondence

Street address * Poppleston Allen

The Stanley Building

7 Pancras Square

Town/City * London

County

Postcode * N1C 4AG

Telephone Number 02038597757

Email * k.mcgowan@popall.co.uk

Email confirmation

On submission an email confirmation will be sent using the details below

Forename Kerry

Surname /Company Name McGowan

Email * k.mcgowan@popall.co.uk

Telephone 02038597757

Page Number 15 / 15

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 25

http://www.tcpdf.org


This page is intentionally left blank



The Good Times House 

8 Imperial Square, Cheltenham, GL50 1QB 

Proposed Conditions  

 

1. The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system. All entry and exit 

points will be covered enabling frontal identification of every person entering in any light 

condition. The CCTV system shall continually record whilst the premises is open for 

licensable activities and during all times when customers remain on the premises. All 

recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 31 days with date and time stamping. 

Viewing of recordings shall be made available immediately upon the request of Police or 

authorised officer throughout the preceding 31 day period.  

 
2. A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV system 

shall be on the premises at all times when the premises is open. This staff member must be 

able to provide a Police or authorised council officer copies of recent CCTV images or data 

with the absolute minimum of delay when requested. 

 

3. Substantial food and non-intoxicating beverages, including drinking water, shall be available 

in all parts of the premises where alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on the premises. 

 

4. Alcohol may only be sold for consumption to members of a private club and their bona fide 

guests, or to those persons attending a prebooked private event. On the days when there are 

Cheltenham Festivals taking place alcohol may be sold for consumption to members of the 

public who have pre-booked at the premises. 

 

 

5. A list of the names and addresses of members of the Club shall be kept on the premises at all 

times together with a book showing the names and dates of attendance of any guests 

introduced by members. Both the list and the book shall be produced on demand for 

inspection by the police or an authorised officer of the Council. 

 

6. All windows and external doors shall be kept closed after 21:00 hours, except for the 

immediate access and egress of persons. 

 

7. All staff will be trained to ask customers to leave quietly in the evening when necessary. 

 

8. There will be appropriate signage at the premises requesting customers to leave quietly. 

 

9. During the hours of operation of the premises, the licence holder shall ensure sufficient 

measures are in place to remove and prevent litter or waste arising or accumulating from 

customers in the area immediately outside the premises, and that this area shall be swept 

and or washed, and litter and sweepings collected and stored in accordance with the 

approved refuse storage arrangements by close of business. 

 

 

10. A Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises where the only 

acceptable forms of identification are recognised photographic identification cards, such as a 

driving licence, passport or proof of age card with the PASS Hologram. 

Page 27



11. The requirement and number of SIA door supervisors after 21.00 hours shall be risk assessed 

by the premises licence holder; such risk assessment shall be kept at the premises for a 

minimum of 21 days following the occasion.  On those occasions when the 

Cheltenham Horse Racing Festivals are taking place there will be a minimum of 2 SIA door 

supervisor at the premises after 21.00 hours. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

12. All drinking vessels used in the outside area of the premises shall be polycarbonate.  

 

13. Patrons permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises, e.g. to smoke or make 

a phone call, shall not be permitted to take glass containers with them. 

 

14. The premises shall join the local Pubwatch or other local crime reduction scheme approved 

by the police, and local radio scheme if available. 
 

15. All staff that undertake the sale or supply of alcohol (and any other age-restricted product) 

shall receive appropriate training in relation to undertaking appropriate age checks on such, 

before being allowed to sell or supply any alcohol (and any other age-restricted product). 

Refresher training will be carried out at least once a year. 

 

Condition Agreed with Cheltenham Environmental Health Technical Officer 

16. Each member of this private members club shall be permitted to a maximum of three bona 

fide guests per visit.  

Page 28



From: Licensing (CBC) <Licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk>

Sent: 11 May 2023 01:50:19

To: DMSLicensing@cheltenham.gov.uk

Cc: 

Subject: FW: Submission Confirmation: DSFX1683631966600 - New Premises Licence PCX:000034000000995

Attachments: DSFXFORM.pdf

  
  

From: Kerry McGowan <K.McGowan@popall.co.uk> 

Sent: 09 May 2023 13:07

To: Licensing (CBC) <Licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk>

Subject: FW: Submission Confirmation: DSFX1683631966600 - New Premises Licence PCX:000034000000995 

  

Dear Sirs, 

  

I act for 8 Imperial Square Ltd and I have just submitted a new premises licence application on their behalf, copy attached. 

  

In relation to the licensable activity ‘anything of a similar description’ the Sunday hours for this activity is stated as 10:00 hours to 

02:00 hours. Please note, that this is a typo and the correct hours are 10:00 hours to 00:00 hours. 

  

I would be grateful if you could please acknowledge safe receipt. 

  

Kind Regards 

  

Kerry 

  

Kerry   McGowan  | Paralegal 

Poppleston Allen 

E:K.McGowan@popall.co.uk  |  T:0203 859 7757  | M:0795 1147 411  | W:www.popall.co.uk 

London Office: The Stanley Building, 7 Pancras Square, London, N1C 4AG 

Cybercrime notification: Our bank account details will NOT change during the course of a transaction. Please 

speak to us before transferring any money. We will not take responsibility if you transfer money to an incorrect 

bank account. If you receive an email from Poppleston Allen requesting your bank details or purporting to amend 

our bank details, please contact us, or your solicitor, as appropriate, by telephone immediately to clarify. 

Authorised and Regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority (SRA No: 78244). The professional rules to which we are subject are the 

Solicitors Code of Conduct. These rules can be viewed at www.sra.org.uk.

This email and the attachments are intended for the above named persons only and may be confidential and privileged. If you receive it in error 

please tell the sender immediately and do not copy, show or distribute them to anyone. Although we have taken steps to ensure that this email 

and its attachments are free from any viruses, it is your responsibility to ensure that viruses do not adversely affect your system. Our firm 

accepts no responsibility or liability for malicious or fraudulent emails purportedly coming from our firm and that it is the recipient’s 

responsibility to ensure that any emails coming from our firm are genuine before replying on anything contained within them.

From: noreply@idoxds.com <noreply@idoxds.com> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 9, 2023 1:02 PM

To: Kerry McGowan <K.McGowan@popall.co.uk>

Subject: Submission Confirmation: DSFX1683631966600 - New Premises Licence 

  

 

Your submission has been sent to Cheltenham Borough 

Council for consideration 

Page 29



Dear Kerry McGowan, 

A copy of the submission is attached to this email for your personal records. 

Submission Details 

Reference Number DSFX1683631966600 

Title New Premises Licence 

Authority Cheltenham Borough Council 

Authority Address 
PO Box 12, Municipal Offices Promenade, Cheltenham, GL50 

1PP 

Authority Telephone 01242 262626 

Authority Email licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Submitted 09/May/2023 13:01 

  

Regards,

The Idox Digital Services Team (on behalf of Cheltenham Borough Council) 

  

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 30

http://www.tcpdf.org


 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3 

 

From:  

Sent: 08 June 2023 12:30 

Subject: Objection to Licensing Application for 8 Imperial Square 

Dear Cheltenham Borough Council, 

Ref: Licensing Application 23/00788/PRMA - 8 Imperial Square - OBJECTION 

We are local residents in Imperial Lane, having lived here for nine years. Like other 

homes, our home is directly opposite the rear of 8 Imperial Lane and we strongly object 

to this application to effectively turn the building into a pub/nightclub/cinema by granting 

an extensive licensing permission.  It has planning permission to operate as a hotel only 

and not to have any outdoor events or activity at the rear of the property.  The 

implications of this licensing application are to significantly change the use of the 

building from a hotel for private guests to a public entertainment centre, with all that that 

entails.  

This licensing application should be seen in the context of planning application 

22/01447/CONDIT which seeks to vary Condition 11 of permission 22/00334/COU.  

There are a number of objections raised against this variation application and most 

apply to this licence application.  The two applications should be viewed together.  

Condition 11 was presumably originally imposed to recognise issues with outside dining 

and drinking in Imperial Lane, and the impact on the local residences. These issues 

have not changed.  

We object to the licensing application on the grounds of noise, nuisance, crime and 

disorder (security and safety) and traffic.  The rear of 8 Imperial Square directly faces 

local residences and the impact on residents' lives would be intolerable.  Our objections 

are:  

1. Noise: 

a. The noise pollution from the activities under the licence would be significant and 

highly disruptive to us and other local residents.  We already have significant noise 

issues from the existing local nightclubs - both noise from the clubs themselves and 

from the people who go to them, especially in the evening, late at night and in the early 

hours of the morning.  Opening what would effectively be a nightclub directly opposite 

our home in a narrow lane is inappropriate. 

b. The current noise levels are so great that we are limited in when we can open 

our windows after 8pm without disturbance.  This is already a problem.  A licensed 

premises on the basis proposed would mean we would be unable to open the windows 

at all (and even then we would still hear the noise).   

c. This is a zoned residential area within the town. The lane is already noisy during 

the day due to passing people and local traffic, and especially in the evening and early 

Page 33



morning due to people using the nearby nightclubs and pubs. Providing extended 

licensing to operate between 8am and 2.30am and operating both indoors and outdoors 

would mean there would be significant further noise throughout the day and in the 

evening.  

d. The licensing would apply to extended hours into the night - this would be highly 

disruptive. Unlike the other noise in the lane which is generally passing, this would be 

static noise and potentially continue all day. This would be directly in front of our lounge 

and main bedroom window causing significant disturbance.  

e. The licence seeks approval for live events, live music, dance, films etc.  This 

would again be highly audible, intrusive and disturbing to residents and is completely 

inappropriate for what the building was intended for and for the local area with its mix of 

businesses and residences.   

f. Guests could well enter and exit the hotel at the rear from the lane directly 

opposite us.  Based on current experiences of people accessing Imperial Lane, this 

would cause significant noise and disruption.  

g. Imperial Lane is very narrow and noise echoes and travels upwards towards the 

apartments.   

2. Nuisance: 

a. The risk of public nuisance arising from late night drinking is very high and again 

inappropriate for the residences to the rear of the building.  

b. The lane is very narrow and already has problems with local and delivery traffic, 

with blockages occurring regularly. There is likely to be an increase in traffic with drop-

offs and illegal parking causing further disruption. 

c. This will add to the noise and also create traffic disruption and further safety 

issues for local residents.  

d. We already have the situation where people are regularly vomiting and urinating 

in our street - this would add to that issue. 

4. Crime/Disorder/Security/Safety:  

a. I would have serious concerns about security and residents' safety with all-day 

and late-night drinking and entertainment taking place directly opposite our apartment 

block and in the street.  We have enough town centre issues already late at night with 

groups of drinkers and nightclubbers going to and leaving the clubs.  There are already 

altercations at night in Imperial Lane and this would add to them.   

b. There have been occasions when late night pub-goers and clubbers have 

attempted to get into our building - the risk of this would increase. 

c. My partner and I would not feel safe at night stepping outside my house if this 

goes ahead.     

Page 34



I could understand a licence application to allow the hotel to serve drink to its limited 

number private guests.  But this application takes it far beyond that and is effectively a 

change of use for the building. 

Your sincerely, 

3 Imperial Gate 

Imperial Lane 

Cheltenham 

GL501PR 

 

 

From:  

Sent: 08 June 2023 15:58 

Subject: Re: Objection to Licensing Application for 8 Imperial Square 

Just to add some further points of concern - please include these with the email below: 

1.    We can hear the existing nightclubs very clearly - and they are around the 

corner, not opposite us - when they are playing recorded music. Even with 'doors and 

windows shut after 9pm' we will have huge noise disruption from 8 Imperial Square if 

they are holding events involving music (live and/or recorded), especially if they have a 

pulsating beat and lots of people there. 

2.    There could be visual disturbance or light pollution from bright and/or flashing 

lights in the windows or outside to the rear of the property. 

3.    I dont know what 'regulated entertainment' is - please can this be explained? If it 

is a catch-all for doing anything then this obviously increases the risks below. 

Many thanks, 

 

 

From:  

Sent: 08 June 2023 17:45 

Subject: Re: Objection to Licensing Application for 8 Imperial Square 

A final point, in addition to the emails below: 

The property is now advertising itself as a private members club. I believe they only 

have planning permission to operate as a hotel. The licence application is therefore 

wholly inappropriate and not relevant to operating a small hotel. The council need to be 

joined up on this. Please can a check be done on what planning permission they have 

to operate as a private members club? 

Page 35



 

I apologise for the piecemeal nature of this response. I only found out about the 

application today by chance (unforgivably) and was then told today is the deadline. 

There is a small blue notice about the application on the front of the hotel which is only 

visible if you go the the door, which is very set back from the main pavement. Tellingly, 

no blue notice is visible at the rear of the property, where the local residences are. I 

imagine there are other residents who would have had a say but who have been 

isolated from this process because they know nothing about it. 

This is not a fair process 

 

From:  

Sent: 07 June 2023 10:18 

Subject: 8 Imperial Square 23/00788/PRMA 

Subject: Objection to Entertainment and Drinks Licence Application - No. 8 Imperial 

Square  

Application number: 23/00788/PRMA 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

We are writing to express our strong objection to the entertainment and drinks licence 

application submitted by No. 8 Imperial Square. As residents of No. 11 Imperial Square 

(owners of Flats x and y), we believe that granting such a license would have several 

detrimental effects on the peaceful and safe residential environment we currently enjoy. 

Firstly, the close proximity of No. 11's residential units to the proposed premises at No. 

8 raises significant concerns. The potential noise, disturbance, and general commotion 

associated with a speak easy and night club operating until 0230 nightly would 

undoubtedly compromise the well-being and safety of the residents. Of particular 

concern is the impact this could have on the child residing in Flat x, No. 11 Imperial 

Square, who deserves an environment conducive to their growth and development. 

Moreover, the quiet and peaceful character of Imperial Square, especially after 11 p.m. 

when events at the Town Hall have concluded, would be severely disrupted if this 

license were granted. The residents have chosen to reside in this area due to its 

tranquillity, and the introduction of a late-night establishment would irreversibly alter the 

atmosphere and negatively impact the quality of life for all residents. 

Another major concern is the parking situation associated with No. 8. It is evident that 

there is insufficient parking available to accommodate the anticipated influx of patrons. 

This will undoubtedly lead to increased congestion, parking violations, and potentially 

hazardous situations for both patrons and residents alike. Additionally, the raised deck 

constructed in the parking area without planning permission exacerbates the traffic 

chokepoint, creating further difficulties for ingress and egress. 

  

Page 36



The issue of traffic congestion is further compounded by the lines formed for entry, 

including the roping off and restriction of resident access to the common pavement. 

This not only inconveniences residents but also poses potential safety risks in 

emergency situations where quick access is crucial. The disruption caused by such 

activities, particularly during festival seasons, further highlights the unsuitability of the 

proposed license in this residential area. 

In light of the aforementioned concerns, we strongly urge the Cheltenham Borough 

Council to reject the entertainment and drinks licence application submitted by No. 8 

Imperial Square. Granting such a license would compromise the safety, tranquillity, and 

overall well-being of the residents in this neighbourhood. We therefore implore the 

council to prioritize the interests and rights of the existing residents who have invested 

in this area for the purpose of a peaceful and secure home. 

Thank you for considering our objections. We trust that the council will thoroughly 

evaluate the detrimental impact of this license on the community and make a decision 

that aligns with the best interests of the residents. We are available should you require 

any further information or clarification. 

Yours faithfully, 

 

Morbrooke Developments Ltd 

4 Popham Close 

Chilton Foliat 

Hungerford 

RG17 0WG 

Subject: Objection to Entertainment and Drinks Licence Application - No. 8 Imperial 

Square 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

We are writing in our capacity as freehold owner of No. 11 Imperial Square to endorse 

the objections made by the residents of this building, namely xxxxx and xxxxx of Flats x 

and y and xxxxx and xxxx  of Flat z. 

We concur with their opinions that the granting of the proposed license in respect of No. 

8 Imperial Square will have a detrimental effect on the environment surrounding our 

building and the residential safety currently enjoyed by our long leasehold tenants and 

occupiers. Of greatest concern is the potential noise, disturbance and anti-social 

behaviour generated by the late night opening hours and the likelihood that this will 

significantly impact the day to day lives of the residents of No. 11 Imperial Square. 

The residents have made a strong case for the entertainment and drinks license in 

respect of No. 8 Imperial Square to be rejected so that the safety, tranquillity and 

wellbeing of all residents at No. 11 and the rest of the neighbourhood can be preserved. 

Page 37



We ask that the Council carefully considers the objections so that residents can 

continue to live peacefully in this exceptional location. 

Yours faithfully, 

Jeff Barnett (Director) 

Morbrooke Developments Ltd 

 

 

11 Imperial Square 

Flat x 

Cheltenham  

GL50 1QB 

 

7th June 2023 

Attn: Mr. Jason Kirkwood 

Re: 23/00788/PRMA (8 Imperial Square) 

Dear Licensing: 

Please accept the following representations of interested parties xxxxx and xxxxxx with 

respect to the above-referenced license application (the “Application”). We own the 

leasehold and reside at 11 Imperial Square, Flat z, along with our 12-year-old son. Our 

home is only three doors down (approximately 18 metres) from the subject premises 

(the “Premises”). We are one of three residential flats at 11 Imperial Square. We are 

located on the first floor and our flat extends from the front of the building to the rear. 

We strongly urge the Licensing Panel to reject the application in its entirety, for the 

reasons stated below. In the alternative, if any license is granted, such license should 

be narrowly circumscribed to meet the objectives of the Licensing Law. 

1. Applicant’s proposed outdoor activities would create a public nuisance and endanger 

public safety in contravention of the Licensing Law. 

Granting the application as to Appellant’s proposed outdoor activities would both create 

a public nuisance and endanger the health and safety of both the patrons at the 

Premises and the other residents and tenants of Imperial Square. To understand why, 

one must contextualize the Premises. 

a. The Site 

Both our home and the Premises are part of a terrace of Grade II* listed houses built 

circa 1834, located on Imperial Square, directly across from Cheltenham Town Hall. 

[1] A photograph of the building, taken in the 1850s or 1860s, is in the collection of the 

Victoria & Albert Museum.[2] Built long before the automobile or the electric amplifier 

were invented, the walls are thin, the windows are single pane, ventilation depends on 

free air flow through open windows, and noise travels freely. In addition to the three 

Page 38



residential units in No. 11, there are additional residential units within earshot of the 

Premises both on the east side of Imperial Square and behind the Premises, in Imperial 

Gate. 

Like many historic buildings, there is no public parking associated with the Premises. 

Parking for residents and business tenants consists of a limited number of spaces per 

terrace, arranged in a single row, slanted toward the west. Photographs showing the 

car park are included below. 

There is a single point of ingress to the car park on the east end of the building, and a 

single point of egress on the west end.[3] This means that all traffic through the car park 

must, either on its way in or on its way out, pass in front of the Premises. Moreover, the 

car park is so narrow that many modern cars – including larger sedans, SUVs, delivery 

vans and tradesmen’s vehicles – must mount the pavement to pass behind parked 

vehicles. When there is scaffolding in front of any of the terraces to facilitate painting or 

repairs – as has been the case nearly continuously since we moved into the building in 

2022 – the scaffolding blocks off the pavement and makes passage through the car 

park even more hazardous. Both the pavement and the parking surface in front of the 

terraces are, in large part, in poor repair. 

 As for the environment, while Imperial Square is bustling during the day,  Imperial 

Square becomes a quiet, tranquil space in the evening. Events at the Town Hall 

conclude, for the most, part by 22:00 - 23:00 on the evenings they are held, and even 

those events have minimal impact on the area as they are indoors and everyone 

usually leaves the events in a short, compressed period of time and, as these are not 

alcohol focused events, the patrons are not boisterous or loud.  

There is also minimal traffic at this time as most (if not all)  of the businesses on 

Imperial Square have closed and there is minimal commuter traffic. We take our small 

dog for his final walk of the day around the Square each night at this time and so we 

know this information first hand.  It is in this context one must consider the issues of 

public safety and public nuisance raised by the Application. 

[1] See https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1104370?section=official-

list-entry  (accessed 7th June 2023). 

[2] https://collections.vam.ac.uk/item/O215221/imperial-square-cheltenham-photograph-

francisfrith/?carousel-image=2008BW0971.  

[3] See https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-

entry/1104370?section=comments-and-photos. 

b. Applicant’s Proposed Outdoor Activities Would Create a Public Safety Hazard 

Applicant seeks a license to serve alcohol and late-night refreshment both indoors and 

outdoors until 02:00 a.m., Mondays through Saturdays, and until midnight on Sundays. 

However, Applicant’s request for outdoor service must be denied, as any outdoor 

service would create a palpable public safety hazard. 

First, the rear courtyard of the Premises is not available to Applicant for the purpose of 

supplying food or drink: Applicant sought and was denied planning permission for this 

Page 39

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1104370?section=official-list-entry
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1104370?section=official-list-entry
https://collections.vam.ac.uk/item/O215221/imperial-square-cheltenham-photograph-francisfrith/?carousel-image=2008BW0971
https://collections.vam.ac.uk/item/O215221/imperial-square-cheltenham-photograph-francisfrith/?carousel-image=2008BW0971
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1104370?section=comments-and-photos
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1104370?section=comments-and-photos


purpose. See Planning Permission 22/00334/COU. While Applicant initially appealed 

this condition, on 15 May 2023, Applicant abandoned their appeal of this condition. See 

Appellant’s Rebuttal Statement, APP/B1605/W/22/3310900. We understand that the 

Licensing and Planning regimes are different. We further understand that the most 

restrictive decision of the two regimes is binding. Therefore, it is our understanding that 

the restriction in the Planning Permission will be controlling and so Applicant cannot 

serve food or drink in the courtyard. 

The Application does not specify where “outdoors” Applicant seeks to conduct various 

activities. However, we assume that with the abandonment of their appeal of this 

condition, that they are not seeking a license to use the rear courtyard. However, if we 

are incorrect, and they still seek a license to use their back courtyard, we believe the 

Application should be denied on the same factual grounds upon which the planning 

decision was based as they constitute a nuisance under the Licensing scheme. Our 

son’s bedroom is at the back of our flat and faces Imperial Lane. He has a large 

bedroom window on the wall facing Imperial Lane, which he leaves open most evenings 

for ventilation. The noise from Appellant’s courtyard would be clearly audible from my 

son’s bedroom making it impossible to sleep. Our flat has another large window at the 

back, which is to our combined kitchen and dining area,  which flows into our living 

room. And so the noise from use of the courtyard would also negatively impact our 

ability to relax and enjoy the other living areas of our home, as well. 

Based on the restriction included in the Planning Decision, the only outdoor space 

available to Applicant is, literally, in the car park to the front of the Premises. The safety 

risk that would be created by serving alcohol and food to patrons in an open active car 

park – let alone one as space restricted as that in front of the Premises – is both 

obvious and palpable. 

In an apparent attempt to mitigate this fact, Applicant has, in the last week, built a 

partially enclosed wooden platform in the car park. In fact, this platform only 

exacerbates the safety risk. 

 First, the platform was built – in the curtilage of a Grade II* listed building, in the midst 

of the Conservation Area, and directly across from the Town Hall – entirely without 

planning permission, health and safety inspections, or consultation with Fire or Police 

officials. 

Second, Appellant’s platform is only 250 cm [4] from the edge of the pavement.  It thus 

creates a hazardous choke point that not only endangers drivers and pedestrians, but 

will inevitably obstruct firefighters, ambulance crews or police should they be called to 

any of the 13 houses in the terrace. Moreover, a wide vehicle (such as a delivery van or 

lorry) enter the car park, or should scaffolding be erected at the Premises or either of 

the adjoining houses that blocks the pavement, the car park may well become entirely 

impassable and the hazard exacerbated even further. 

Moreover, Applicant’s platform does nothing to mitigate the inherent risk of mixing 

inebriated patrons and moving vehicles. Patrons will still have to cross back and forth 

across the traffic lane to use the platform. In addition, during the past Cheltenham 

Festival, Applicant installed velvet ropes to block the pavement in front of the Premises. 

Page 40



Not only does this practice deny residents and passers-by use of the pavement, but it 

also further constricts the available space and aggravates the hazard. 

Applicant cannot meaningfully mitigate this risk. Applicant’s proposed hours of 

operation for outdoor activities begin at 10:00 a.m., thus including the entire business 

day, when the car park is most active. Even after business hours and on weekends, the 

residents at No. 11 frequently use their cars,  [5] and always need free access in case 

of emergency or other urgent business. We cannot be expected to safely navigate 

through a crowd of revellers in the car park every time we need to go out. 

Third, as previously noted and as documented in the photographs below, the car park 

and pavement are generally in poor repair. It is reasonable to expect that most patrons 

will reach the Premises – which is in the centre of the terrace – by traversing the 

pavement and/or car park. This in itself can be hazardous to patrons, particularly at 

night and especially to those under the influence of alcohol, and it is a hazard over 

which Applicant has no control. There are also serious implications for the other 

occupants of all 13 of the Imperial Square terraces regarding their liability for injuries 

sustained by Applicant’s patrons in the car park or on the pavement, the occupants’ 

ability to insure against such risks, and the cost of such insurance given Applicant’s 

proposed activities. 

The Licensing Panel must “try to ensure the safety of people visiting and working in 

licensed premises.” (Cheltenham Borough Council, Licensing Policy Statement (Dec. 

2020), sec. 3.16 (hereinafter “Policy Statement”)). 

Considerations include whether “patrons can arrive at and depart from the 

[3]17(d)), “whether people standing or sitting outside premises are likely to cause 

obstruction or other nuisance” (id. sec. 3.22(d)),  and “the extent and location of areas 

proposed to be set aside for the consumption of food and alcoholic drink and for 

smoking” (id. sec. 3.22(l)).  On all of these points, the Application as related to outdoor 

activities fails, and must be denied. 

[4] For a point of reference, a Land Rover Discovery with mirrors extended is 222 cm 

wide. See https://www.automobiledimension.com/land-rover-car-dimensions.html.  

[5] For example, one of the authors of these representations is, by avocation, a working 

musician, and frequently departs or returns in the late hours.  premises safely” (id. 

sec.3.17(d)), “whether people standing or sitting outside premises are likely to cause 

obstruction or other nuisance” (id. sec. 3.22(d)), and “the extent and location of areas 

proposed to be set aside for the consumption of food and alcoholic drink and for 

smoking” (id. sec. 3.22(l)). 

c. Applicant’s Proposed Outdoor Activities Would Create a Public Nuisance 

As with safety issues, the Licensing Panel must examine “wider considerations affecting 

the residential population and the amenity of the area,” including “littering, noise, street 

crime and the capacity of the infrastructure” (Policy Statement sec. 1.19). The Borough 

Council recognizes that “[p]roximity to residential accommodation” is likely to have an 

“adverse impact on the peace and quiet of local residents,” noting particularly the 

“[p]otential noise and nuisance from people leaving and entering the premises”; the 

Page 41

https://www.automobiledimension.com/land-rover-car-dimensions.html


“potential noise impact on local residents” created by the “[u]se of external areas for 

carrying out the licensable activities”; and that  “alcohol led premises such as pubs, 

bars and nightclubs . . . are more likely to be associated with crime and disorder and 

public nuisance” (id. sec. 6.42.) 

As stated, our home is approximately 18 metres from the Premises. Not unusually for 

an historic building, we three floor to ceiling single pane sash windows with antique 

glass at the front of our flat. We have two other large sash windows at the back of the 

flat (facing Imperial Lane). The walls are relatively thin and completely lack any acoustic 

treatment. With the windows closed, we could hear the conversations of Applicant’s 

workers as they built Applicant’s (illegal and ill-advised) platform in the car park. With 

the windows open – and the only ventilation available in the main living area is to open 

the windows – we can hear normal conversation from across the road. 

Quite obviously, the nightly revels in the car park proposed by Applicant would disturb 

the peace and quiet enjoyment of our home. Indeed, this was precisely the conclusion 

drawn by the Borough Council when assessing Applicant’s proposed activities in the 

rear courtyard – the same activities Applicant now proposes to undertake in the car 

park, only a few metres from our flat. As noted by the Planning Authority, “there are . . . 

a significant number of residential properties nearby [the Premises], including the two 

apartment blocks to the rear of the site, known as Imperial Gate, and several flats within 

this same group of listed terraced properties fronting Imperial Square” [i.e., our home 

and our neighbours in No. 11]. 

(Statement of Case on Appeal, LPA Ref. 22/00334/COU, p. 4 (emphasis added)). The 

Council concluded that “there is clearly potential for the proposed uncontrolled use of 

the external courtyard for dinning and drinking to generate significant noise and 

disturbance. The Council considers that this would impact significantly upon the living 

conditions of occupiers of neighbouring residential units . . . .” (Id. p. 7 (emphasis 

added).) As noted by the Council’s Environmental Health team: 

Residents of these properties will be subjected to disruption to their normal use of their 

properties by noise from users of this area at all times that it is open. It is not practical to 

expect the operators of the premises to restrict the numbers of people using the outside 

areas during the entire hours of opening, or for them to install some type of barrier that 

would enclose the area to such an extent as to make noise from users inaudible. It is to 

be expected that users of the area are likely to be noisier as the evening progresses 

which has potential to significantly disrupt the local residents' use of their property. 

(Id. at p. 8 (emphasis added).) The Environmental Health team also noted the potential 

for disturbance from “customers arriving and leaving late at night,” and that “[i]f 

residents, especially in warmer weather, opted to open their windows during the use of 

this outside area, there is a likelihood of noise disturbance impacting them using their 

home” (Ibid.). 

The impacts on our neighbours and us from Applicant’s proposed outdoor activities in 

the front of the building would be precisely the same as those described by the Council 

relating to Applicant’s activities in the rear of the building. Applicant’s request to license 

any outdoor activities must be denied. 

Page 42



 2. Applicant’s proposed activities, even if moved indoors, still create a public 

nuisance and endanger public safety in contravention of the Licensing Law. 

Even if Applicant’s proposed activities are moved out of the car park and into the 

building, they nevertheless endanger public safety and create a public nuisance to such 

a degree that the Application should be denied. 

For example, conducting the activities wholly indoors does not mitigate the physical 

danger to patrons from traversing a hazardous car park to reach the Premises, nor 

does it silence the noise they will make when “arriving and leaving late at night.” 

Applicant proposes to permit patrons to exit and re-enter the Premises to smoke and 

converse – but where will they go? [6] Into the car park, obviously, thus creating the 

same danger and as much noise (or nearly so) as if Applicant were serving them 

outside. Applicant proposes to regulate entry to the Premises. But where will the 

unadmitted patrons wait? 

Again, on the pavement and in the car park, obstructing both vehicular and pedestrian 

traffic and generating constant noise. Moreover, Applicant proposes additional indoor 

activities that would exacerbate the noise issue. For example, Applicant seeks a license 

to present live music. In a building where one can easily hear one’s neighbours’ 

television programmes through the floors and walls, and in which extensive acoustic 

treatment is unlikely to be deemed consistent with its Grade II*-listed character, the 

notion that Applicant could ensure that an amplified bass guitar or live drums are 

“effectively inaudible inside the nearest noise sensitive premises” beggars belief. (Policy 

Statement, App. D.) Moreover, the Council has recognised that “[p]laying of music can 

cause nuisance both through noise breakout and by its effect on patrons, who become 

accustomed to high sound levels and to shouting to make themselves heard, which can 

lead to them being noisier when leaving [the] premises.” (Id. sec. 3.24.) 

As the above demonstrates, granting the Application would effectively destroy much of 

the peace and quiet that we and our neighbours – a mere 18metres from the Premises 

– enjoy, and are entitled to enjoy, in our homes.[7] We therefore respectfully urge the 

License Panel to deny the Application in its entirety. 

[6] It should be remembered that Applicant has already been denied the use of the rear 

courtyard of the Premises for these purposes. 

[7] Although not directly related to the Licensing Objectives, we urge the Licensing 

Panel also to consider the deleterious impact Applicant’s proposed activities might have 

on the value of our homes. We should not have to bear the cost of Applicant’s poor 

investment decisions and flawed business model. 

3. If any license is granted for the Premises, it should be narrowly circumscribed 

and subject to stringent conditions. 

We believe the Application should be denied in its entirety. If, however, the License 

Panel is inclined to grant some license for the Premises, such license should be no 

broader than required and subject to stringent conditions that protect our quiet 

enjoyment of our home. 

Page 43



In addition to the conditions listed in the Application, and any other applicable 

conditions set forth in the Policy Statement, Appendix C, any license granted should be 

subject to the following limitations and conditions: 

 • Applicant states that “[t]his application is for a members only club.” Yet the Application 

states that Applicant wants to serve “members of the public . . . during the Cheltenham 

Festivals to those customers who have pre-booked.” The limitation that “members of 

the public” who 

have “pre-booked” is meaningless. Applicant fails to define what it means to “pre-book” 

or to limit the number of people so admitted, nor does Applicant propose any effective 

means to enforce such limitations. As Applicant seeks to run a “members only club,” 

any license granted should be limited to the club’s members and a limited number of 

personal guests. There should be no license that includes “members of the public” to 

any degree. 

• As Applicant business appears to be directed to the Cheltenham Festivals, its hours of 

operation should be limited to those days on which said Festivals occur. If this is 

impractical, Applicant should only be permitted to open Thursday through Sunday, 

consistent with the operation of Imperial Haus, located further down the road toward the 

Promenade. 

• As determined by the Council in connection with Applicant’s planning permission, 

Applicant’s hours of operation should conclude at 10:00p.m. on all days the business is 

open. 

• To mitigate both the physical danger to, and the nuisance created by, patrons entering 

and leaving the Premises, patrons should be barred from traversing the car park or 

pavement in front of the other houses in the terrace, and should be required to 

approach the Premises from the public pavement. (How patrons will get from the public 

pavement to the Premises is Applicant’s problem to sort.) 

• Patrons should be barred from congregating in front of the Premises for any reason, 

whether to queue, smoke or converse. No alcohol should be consumed outside the 

Premises at any time. Patrons should be admitted to or turned away from the Premises 

upon arrival, and must disperse immediately upon leaving. Patrons should never be 

permitted to congregate on the pavement. 

• Applicant should not be allowed to block, restrict, or otherwise impair residents’ 

access to the car park or pavement at any time. The (illegal) platform constructed by 

Applicant in the car park must be removed. 

• No music, live or recorded, should be played that is audible outside the Premises, and 

no film should be exhibited that is audible outside the Premises. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

Page 44



 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



1. Introduction 

The Licensing Act 2003 

Licensing objectives and aims 

1.2 The legislation provides a clear focus on the promotion of four statutory objectives which must 
be addressed when licensing functions are undertaken. 

1.3 The licensing objectives are: 

 The prevention of crime and disorder; 
 Public safety; 
 The prevention of public nuisance; and 
 The protection of children from harm. 

1.4 Each objective is of equal importance. There are no other statutory licensing objectives, so that 
the promotion of the four objectives is a paramount consideration at all times. 

1.5 However, the legislation also supports a number of other key aims and purposes. These are 
vitally important and should be principal aims for everyone involved in licensing work. They 
include: 

 protecting the public and local residents from crime, anti-social behaviour and noise nuisance 
caused by irresponsible licensed premises; 

 giving the police and licensing authorities the powers they need to effectively manage and 
police the night-time economy and take action against those premises that are causing 
problems; 

 recognising the important role which pubs and other licensed premises play in our local 
communities by minimising the regulatory burden on business, encouraging innovation and 
supporting responsible premises; 

 providing a regulatory framework for alcohol which reflects the needs of local communities and 
empowers local authorities to make and enforce decisions about the most appropriate licensing 
strategies for their local area; and 

 encouraging greater community involvement in licensing decisions and giving local residents 
the opportunity to have their say regarding licensing decisions that may affect them. 

Page 47



The guidance 

1.6 Section 182 of the 2003 Act provides that the Secretary of State must issue and, from time to 
time, may revise guidance to licensing authorities on the discharge of their functions under the 
2003 Act. This revised guidance takes effect as soon as it is published. Where a licence 
application was made prior to the publication of the revised guidance, it should be processed in 
accordance with the guidance in effect at the time at which the application was made; the revised 
guidance does not apply retrospectively. However, all applications received by the licensing 
authority on or after the date the revised guidance was published should be processed in 
accordance with the revised guidance. 

Purpose 

1.7 This Guidance is provided to licensing authorities in relation to the carrying out of their 
functions under the 2003 Act. It also provides information to magistrates’ courts hearing appeals 
against licensing decisions and has been made widely available for the benefit of those who run 
licensed premises, their legal advisers and the general public. It is a key medium for promoting 
best practice, ensuring consistent application of licensing powers across England and Wales and 
for promoting fairness, equal treatment and proportionality. 

… 

Legal status 

1.9 Section 4 of the 2003 Act provides that, in carrying out its functions, a licensing authority must 
‘have regard to’ guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182. This Guidance is 
therefore binding on all licensing authorities to that extent. However, this Guidance cannot 
anticipate every possible scenario or set of circumstances that may arise and, as long as licensing 
authorities have properly understood this Guidance, they may depart from it if they have good 
reason to do so and can provide full reasons. Departure from this Guidance could give rise to an 
appeal or judicial review, and the reasons given will then be a key consideration for the courts 
when considering the lawfulness and merits of any decision taken. 

1.10 Nothing in this Guidance should be taken as indicating that any requirement of licensing law 
or any other law may be overridden (including the obligations placed on any public authorities 
under human rights legislation). This Guidance does not in any way replace the statutory 
provisions of the 2003 Act or add to its scope and licensing authorities should note that 
interpretation of the 2003 Act is a matter for the courts. Licensing authorities and others using this 
Guidance must take their own professional and legal advice about its implementation. 

 

Page 48



Licensing policies 

1.11 Section 5 of the 2003 Act requires a licensing authority to determine and publish a statement 
of its licensing policy at least once every five years. The policy must be published before it carries 
out any licensing functions under the 2003 Act. 

1.12 However, determining and publishing a statement of its policy is a licensing function and as 
such the authority must have regard to this Guidance when taking this step. A licensing authority 
may depart from its own policy if the individual circumstances of any case merit such a decision in 
the interests of the promotion of the licensing objectives. But once again, it is important that it 
should be able to give full reasons for departing from its published statement of licensing policy. 
Where revisions to this Guidance are issued by the Secretary of State, there may be a period of 
time when the licensing policy statement is inconsistent with the Guidance (for example, during 
any consultation by the licensing authority). In these circumstances, the licensing authority should 
have regard, and give appropriate weight, to this Guidance and its own existing licensing policy 
statement. 

 .. 

General principles 

1.15 If an application for a premises licence or club premises certificate has been made lawfully 
and there have been no representations from responsible authorities or other persons, the 
licensing authority must grant the application, subject only to conditions that are consistent with the 
operating schedule and relevant mandatory conditions. It is recommended that licence applicants 
contact responsible authorities when preparing their operating schedules. 

Licence conditions – general principles 

1.16 Conditions on a premises licence or club premises certificate are important in setting the 
parameters within which premises can lawfully operate. The use of wording such as “must”, “shall” 
and “will” is encouraged. Licence conditions: 

 must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; 
 must be precise and enforceable; 
 must be unambiguous and clear in what they intend to achieve; 
 should not duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or responsibilities placed on 

the employer by other legislation; 
 must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of the premises and events 

concerned; 
 should not be standardised and may be unlawful when it cannot be demonstrated that they are 

appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in an individual case; 
 should not replicate offences set out in the 2003 Act or other legislation; 
 should be proportionate, justifiable and be capable of being met; 

Page 49



 cannot seek to manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the direct 
management of the licence holder and their staff, but may impact on the behaviour of 
customers in the immediate vicinity of the premises or as they enter or leave; and 

 should be written in a prescriptive format. 

Each application on its own merits 

1.17 Each application must be considered on its own merits and in accordance with the licensing 
authority’s statement of licensing policy; for example, if the application falls within the scope of a 
cumulative impact policy. Conditions attached to licences and certificates must be tailored to the 
individual type, location and characteristics of the premises and events concerned. This is 
essential to avoid the imposition of disproportionate and overly burdensome conditions on 
premises where there is no need for such conditions. Standardised conditions should be avoided 
and indeed may be unlawful where they cannot be shown to be appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives in an individual case. 

.. 

Other relevant legislation 

1.19 While licence conditions should not duplicate other statutory provisions, licensing authorities 
and licensees should be mindful of requirements and responsibilities placed on them by other 
legislation. Legislation which may be relevant includes: 

 The Gambling Act 2005 
 The Environmental Protection Act 1990 
 The Noise Act 1996 
 The Clean Neighbourhoods and Environmental Act 2005 
 The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
 The Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
 The Equality Act 2010 
 The Immigration Act 2016 
 Regulators’ Code under the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 

2. The licensing objectives 

Crime and disorder 

Page 50



2.1 Licensing authorities should look to the police as the main source of advice on crime and 
disorder. They should also seek to involve the local Community Safety Partnership (CSP). 

… 

2.3 Conditions should be targeted on deterrence and preventing crime and disorder including the 
prevention of illegal working in licensed premises (see paragraph 10.10). For example, where 
there is good reason to suppose that disorder may take place, the presence of closed-circuit 
television (CCTV) cameras both inside and immediately outside the premises can actively deter 
disorder, nuisance, anti-social behaviour and crime generally. Some licence holders may wish to 
have cameras on their premises for the prevention of crime directed against the business itself, its 
staff, or its customers. But any condition may require a broader approach, and it may be 
appropriate to ensure that the precise location of cameras is set out on plans to ensure that certain 
areas are properly covered and there is no subsequent dispute over the terms of the condition. 

2.4 The inclusion of radio links and ring-round phone systems should be considered an 
appropriate condition for public houses, bars and nightclubs operating in city and town centre 
leisure areas with a high density of licensed premises. These systems allow managers of licensed 
premises to communicate instantly with the police and facilitate a rapid response to any disorder 
which may be endangering the customers and staff on the premises. 

2.5 Conditions relating to the management competency of designated premises supervisors 
should not normally be attached to premises licences. It will normally be the responsibility of the 
premises licence holder as an employer, and not the licensing authority, to ensure that the 
managers appointed at the premises are competent and appropriately trained. The designated 
premises supervisor is the key person who will usually be responsible for the day to day 
management of the premises by the premises licence holder, including the prevention of disorder. 
A condition of this kind may only be justified as appropriate in rare circumstances where it can be 
demonstrated that, in the circumstances associated with particular premises, poor management 
competency could give rise to issues of crime and disorder and public safety. 

2.6 The prevention of crime includes the prevention of immigration crime including the prevention 
of illegal working in licensed premises. Licensing authorities should work with Home Office 
Immigration Enforcement, as well as the police, in respect of these matters. Licence conditions 
that are considered appropriate for the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises might 
include requiring a premises licence holder to undertake right to work checks on all staff employed 
at the licensed premises or requiring that evidence of a right to work check, either physical or 
digital (e.g. a copy of any document checked as part of a right to work check or a clear copy of the 
online right to work check) are retained at the licensed premises. 

Public safety 

2.7 Licence holders have a responsibility to ensure the safety of those using their premises, as a 
part of their duties under the 2003 Act. This concerns the safety of people using the relevant 
premises rather than public health which is addressed in other legislation. Physical safety includes 
the prevention of accidents and injuries and other immediate harms that can result from alcohol 
consumption such as unconsciousness or alcohol poisoning. Conditions relating to public safety 
may also promote the crime and disorder objective as noted above. There will of course be 
occasions when a public safety condition could incidentally benefit a person’s health more 

Page 51



generally, but it should not be the purpose of the condition as this would be outside the licensing 
authority’s powers (be ultra vires) under the 2003 Act. Conditions should not be imposed on a 
premises licence or club premises certificate which relate to cleanliness or hygiene. 

2.8 A number of matters should be considered in relation to public safety. These may include: 

 Fire safety; 
 Ensuring appropriate access for emergency services such as ambulances; 
 Good communication with local authorities and emergency services, for example 

communications networks with the police and signing up for local incident alerts (see paragraph 
2.4 above); 

 Ensuring the presence of trained first aiders on the premises and appropriate first aid kits; 
 Ensuring the safety of people when leaving the premises (for example, through the provision of 

information on late-night transportation); 
 Ensuring appropriate and frequent waste disposal, particularly of glass bottles; 
 Ensuring appropriate limits on the maximum capacity of the premises (see paragraphs 2.12-

2.13, and Chapter 10; and 
 Considering the use of CCTV in and around the premises (as noted in paragraph 2.3 above, 

this may also assist with promoting the crime and disorder objective). 

2.9 The measures that are appropriate to promote public safety will vary between premises and 
the matters listed above may not apply in all cases. As set out in Chapter 8 (8.38- 8.46), applicants 
should consider when making their application which steps it is appropriate to take to promote the 
public safety objective and demonstrate how they achieve that. 

Ensuring safe departure of those using the premises 

2.10 Licence holders should make provision to ensure that premises users safely leave their 
premises. Measures that may assist include: 

 Providing information on the premises of local taxi companies who can provide safe 
transportation home; and 

 Ensuring adequate lighting outside the premises, particularly on paths leading to and from the 
premises and in car parks. 

Maintenance and repair 

2.11 Where there is a requirement in other legislation for premises open to the public or for 
employers to possess certificates attesting to the safety or satisfactory nature of certain equipment 
or fixtures on the premises, it would be inappropriate for a licensing condition to require 
possession of such a certificate. However, it would be permissible to require as a condition of a 
licence or certificate, if appropriate, checks on this equipment to be conducted at specified 
intervals and for evidence of these checks to be retained by the premises licence holder or club 
provided this does not duplicate or gold-plate a requirement in other legislation. Similarly, it would 
be permissible for licensing authorities, if they receive relevant representations from responsible 
authorities or any other persons, to attach conditions which require equipment of particular 

Page 52



standards to be maintained on the premises. Responsible authorities – such as health and safety 
authorities – should therefore make their expectations clear in this respect to enable prospective 
licence holders or clubs to prepare effective operating schedules and club operating schedules. 

Safe capacities 

2.12 “Safe capacities” should only be imposed where appropriate for the promotion of public safety 
or the prevention of disorder on the relevant premises. For example, if a capacity has been 
imposed through other legislation, it would be inappropriate to reproduce it in a premises licence. 
Indeed, it would also be wrong to lay down conditions which conflict with other legal requirements. 
However, if no safe capacity has been imposed through other legislation, a responsible authority 
may consider it appropriate for a new capacity to be attached to the premises which would apply at 
any material time when the licensable activities are taking place and make representations to that 
effect. For example, in certain circumstances, capacity limits may be appropriate in preventing 
disorder, as overcrowded venues can increase the risks of crowds becoming frustrated and 
hostile. 

2.13 The permitted capacity is a limit on the number of persons who may be on the premises at 
any time, following a recommendation by the relevant fire and rescue authority under the 
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. For any application for a premises licence or club 
premises certificate for premises without an existing permitted capacity where the applicant wishes 
to take advantage of the special provisions set out in section 177 of the 2003 Act[footnote 1], the 
applicant should conduct their own risk assessment as to the appropriate capacity of the premises. 
They should send their recommendation to the fire and rescue authority which will consider it and 
decide what the “permitted capacity” of those premises should be. 

2.14 Public safety may include the safety of performers appearing at any premises, but does not 
extend to the prevention of injury from participation in a boxing or wrestling entertainment. 

Public nuisance 

2.15 The 2003 Act enables licensing authorities and responsible authorities, through 
representations, to consider what constitutes public nuisance and what is appropriate to prevent it 
in terms of conditions attached to specific premises licences and club premises certificates. It is 
therefore important that in considering the promotion of this licensing objective, licensing 
authorities and responsible authorities focus on the effect of the licensable activities at the specific 
premises on persons living and working (including those carrying on business) in the area around 
the premises which may be disproportionate and unreasonable. The issues will mainly concern 
noise nuisance, light pollution, noxious smells and litter. 

2.16 Public nuisance is given a statutory meaning in many pieces of legislation. It is however not 
narrowly defined in the 2003 Act and retains its broad common law meaning. It may include in 
appropriate circumstances the reduction of the living and working amenity and environment of 
other persons living and working in the area of the licensed premises. Public nuisance may also 
arise as a result of the adverse effects of artificial light, dust, odour and insects or where its effect 
is prejudicial to health. 

Page 53

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:1


2.17 Conditions relating to noise nuisance will usually concern steps appropriate to control the 
levels of noise emanating from premises. This might be achieved by a simple measure such as 
ensuring that doors and windows are kept closed after a particular time, or persons are not 
permitted in garden areas of the premises after a certain time. More sophisticated measures like 
the installation of acoustic curtains or rubber speaker mounts to mitigate sound escape from the 
premises may be appropriate. However, conditions in relation to live or recorded music may not be 
enforceable in circumstances where the entertainment activity itself is not licensable (see chapter 
16). Any conditions appropriate to promote the prevention of public nuisance should be tailored to 
the type, nature and characteristics of the specific premises and its licensable activities. Licensing 
authorities should avoid inappropriate or disproportionate measures that could deter events that 
are valuable to the community, such as live music. Noise limiters, for example, are expensive to 
purchase and install and are likely to be a considerable burden for smaller venues. 

2.18 As with all conditions, those relating to noise nuisance may not be appropriate in certain 
circumstances where provisions in other legislation adequately protect those living in the area of 
the premises. But as stated earlier in this Guidance, the approach of licensing authorities and 
responsible authorities should be one of prevention and when their powers are engaged, licensing 
authorities should be aware of the fact that other legislation may not adequately cover concerns 
raised in relevant representations and additional conditions may be appropriate. 

2.19 Where applications have given rise to representations, any appropriate conditions should 
normally focus on the most sensitive periods. For example, the most sensitive period for people 
being disturbed by unreasonably loud music is at night and into the early morning when residents 
in adjacent properties may be attempting to go to sleep or are sleeping. This is why there is still a 
need for a licence for performances of live music between 11 pm and 8 am. In certain 
circumstances, conditions relating to noise emanating from the premises may also be appropriate 
to address any disturbance anticipated as customers enter and leave. 

2.20 Measures to control light pollution will also require careful thought. Bright lighting outside 
premises which is considered appropriate to prevent crime and disorder may itself give rise to light 
pollution for some neighbours. Applicants, licensing authorities and responsible authorities will 
need to balance these issues. 

2.21 Beyond the immediate area surrounding the premises, these are matters for the personal 
responsibility of individuals under the law. An individual who engages in anti- social behaviour is 
accountable in their own right. However, it would be perfectly reasonable for a licensing authority 
to impose a condition, following relevant representations, that requires the licence holder or club to 
place signs at the exits from the building encouraging patrons to be quiet until they leave the area, 
or that, if they wish to smoke, to do so at designated places on the premises instead of outside, 
and to respect the rights of people living nearby to a peaceful night. 

Protection of children from harm 

2.22 The protection of children from harm includes the protection of children from moral, 
psychological and physical harm. This includes not only protecting children from the harms 
associated directly with alcohol consumption but also wider harms such as exposure to strong 
language and sexual expletives (for example, in the context of exposure to certain films or adult 
entertainment). Licensing authorities must also consider the need to protect children from sexual 
exploitation when undertaking licensing functions. 

Page 54



2.23 The Government believes that it is completely unacceptable to sell alcohol to children. 
Conditions relating to the access of children where alcohol is sold and which are appropriate to 
protect them from harm should be carefully considered. Moreover, conditions restricting the access 
of children to premises should be strongly considered in circumstances where: 

 adult entertainment is provided; 
 a member or members of the current management have been convicted for serving alcohol to 

minors or with a reputation for allowing underage drinking (other than in the context of the 
exemption in the 2003 Act relating to 16 and 17 year olds consuming beer, wine and cider when 
accompanied by an adult during a table meal); 

 it is known that unaccompanied children have been allowed access; 
 there is a known association with drug taking or dealing; or 
 in some cases, the premises are used exclusively or primarily for the sale of alcohol for 

consumption on the premises. 

2.24 It is also possible that activities, such as adult entertainment, may take place at certain times 
on premises but not at other times. For example, premises may operate as a café bar during the 
day providing meals for families but also provide entertainment with a sexual content after 8.00pm. 
It is not possible to give an exhaustive list of what amounts to entertainment or services of an adult 
or sexual nature. Applicants, responsible authorities and licensing authorities will need to consider 
this point carefully. This would broadly include topless bar staff, striptease, lap-, table- or pole-
dancing, performances involving feigned violence or horrific incidents, feigned or actual sexual 
acts or fetishism, or entertainment involving strong and offensive language. 

2.25 Applicants must be clear in their operating schedules about the activities and times at which 
the events would take place to help determine when it is not appropriate for children to enter the 
premises. Consideration should also be given to the proximity of premises to schools and youth 
clubs so that applicants take appropriate steps to ensure that advertising relating to their premises, 
or relating to events at their premises, is not displayed at a time when children are likely to be near 
the premises. 

2.26 Licensing authorities and responsible authorities should expect applicants, when preparing an 
operating schedule or club operating schedule, to set out the steps to be taken to protect children 
from harm when on the premises. 

2.27 Conditions, where they are appropriate, should reflect the licensable activities taking place on 
the premises. In addition to the mandatory condition regarding age verification, other conditions 
relating to the protection of children from harm can include: 

 restrictions on the hours when children may be present; 
 restrictions or exclusions on the presence of children under certain ages when particular 

specified activities are taking place; 
 restrictions on the parts of the premises to which children may have access; 
 age restrictions (below 18); 
 restrictions or exclusions when certain activities are taking place; 
 requirements for an accompanying adult (including for example, a combination of requirements 

which provide that children under a particular age must be accompanied by an adult); and 
 full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any licensable activities are taking 

place. 

2.28 Please see also Chapter 10 for details about the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing 
Conditions) Order 2010. 

Page 55



2.29 Licensing authorities should give considerable weight to representations about child 
protection matters. In addition to the responsible authority whose functions relate directly to child 
protection, the Director of Public Health may also have access to relevant evidence to inform such 
representations. These representations may include, amongst other things, the use of health data 
about the harms that alcohol can cause to underage drinkers. Where a responsible authority, or 
other person, presents evidence to the licensing authority linking specific premises with harms to 
children (such as ambulance data or emergency department attendances by persons under 18 
years old with alcohol- related illnesses or injuries) this evidence should be considered, and the 
licensing authority should also consider what action is appropriate to ensure this licensing 
objective is effectively enforced. In relation to applications for the grant of a licence in areas where 
evidence is presented on high levels of alcohol-related harms in persons aged under 18, it is 
recommended that the licensing authority considers what conditions may be appropriate to ensure 
that this objective is promoted effectively. 

2.30 The 2003 Act provides that, where a premises licence or club premises certificate authorises 
the exhibition of a film, it must include a condition requiring the admission of children to films to be 
restricted in accordance with recommendations given either by a body designated under section 4 
of the Video Recordings Act 1984 specified in the licence (the British Board of Film Classification is 
currently the only body which has been so designated) or by the licensing authority itself. Further 
details are given in Chapter 10. 

2.31 Theatres may present a range of diverse activities and entertainment including, for example, 
variety shows incorporating adult entertainment. It is appropriate in these cases for a licensing 
authority to consider restricting the admission of children in such circumstances. Entertainments 
may also be presented at theatres specifically for children. It will be appropriate to consider 
whether a condition should be attached to a premises licence or club premises certificate which 
requires the presence of a sufficient number of adult staff on the premises to ensure the wellbeing 
of the children during any emergency. 

.. 

3. Licensable activities 

… 

… 

6. Club premises certificates 

Page 56



6.1 This Chapter covers the administration of the processes for issuing, varying, and reviewing 
club premises certificates and other associated procedures. 

General 

6.2 Clubs are organisations where members have joined together for particular social, sporting or 
political purposes. They may then combine to buy alcohol in bulk as members of the organisation 
to supply in the club. 

6.3 Technically the club only sells alcohol by retail at such premises to guests. Where members 
purchase alcohol, there is no sale (as the member owns part of the alcohol stock) and the money 
passing across the bar is merely a mechanism to preserve equity between members where one 
may consume more than another. 

6.4 Only ‘qualifying’ clubs may hold club premises certificates. In order to be a qualifying club, a 
club must have at least 25 members and meet the qualifying conditions set out in paragraph 6.9. 
The grant of a club premises certificate means that a qualifying club is entitled to certain benefits. 
These include: 

 the authority to supply alcohol to members and sell it to guests on the premises to which the 
certificate relates without the need for any member or employee to hold a personal licence; 

 the authority to provide late night refreshment to members of the club without requiring 
additional authorisation; 

 more limited rights of entry for the police and authorised persons because the premises are 
considered private and not generally open to the public; and 

 exemption from orders of the magistrates’ court for the closure of all licensed premises in an 
area when disorder is happening or expected. 

6.5 Qualifying clubs should not be confused with proprietary clubs, which are clubs run 
commercially by individuals, partnerships or businesses for profit. These require a premises 
licence and are not qualifying clubs. 

6.6 A qualifying club will be permitted under the terms of a club premises certificate to sell and 
supply alcohol to its members and their guests only. Instant membership is not permitted and 
members must wait at least two days between their application and their admission to the club. A 
qualifying club may choose to apply for a premises licence if it decides that it wishes to offer its 
facilities commercially for use by the general public, including the sale of alcohol to them. 
However, an individual on behalf of a club may give temporary event notices. See Chapter 7. 

6.7 The 2003 Act does not prevent visitors to a qualifying club being supplied with alcohol as long 
as they are ‘guests’ of any member of the club , and nothing in the 2003 Act prevents the 
admission of such people as guests without prior notice. The 2003 Act does not define “guest” and 
whether or not somebody is a genuine guest would in all cases be a question of fact. 

6.8 There is no mandatory requirement under the 2003 Act for guests to be signed in by a member 
of the club. However, a point may be reached where a club is providing commercial services to the 
general public in a way that is contrary to its qualifying club status. It is at this point that the club 
would no longer be conducted in “good faith” and would no longer meet “general condition 3” for 
qualifying clubs in section 62 of the 2003 Act. Under the 2003 Act, the licensing authority must 

Page 57



decide when a club has ceased to operate in “good faith” and give the club a notice withdrawing 
the club premises certificate. The club is entitled to appeal against such a decision to a 
magistrates’ court. Unless the appeal is successful, the club would need to apply for a premises 
licence to authorise licensable activities taking place there. 

Qualifying conditions 

6.9 Section 62 of the 2003 Act sets out five general conditions which a relevant club must meet to 
be a qualifying club. Section 63 also sets out specified matters for licensing authorities to enable 
them to determine whether a club is established and conducted in good faith – the third qualifying 
condition. Section 64 sets out additional conditions which only need to be met by clubs intending to 
supply alcohol to members and guests. Section 90 of the 2003 Act gives powers to the licensing 
authority to issue a notice to a club withdrawing its certificate where it appears that it has ceased to 
meet the qualifying conditions. There is a right of appeal against such a decision. 

Associate members and guests 

6.10 As well as their own members and guests, qualifying clubs are also able to admit associate 
members and their guests (i.e. members and guests from another ‘recognised club’ as defined by 
section 193 of the 2003 Act) to the club premises when qualifying club activities are being carried 
on without compromising the use of their club premises certificate. 

Applications for the grant or variation of club premises certificates 

6.11 The arrangements for applying for or seeking to vary club premises certificates are extremely 
similar to those for a premises licence. Clubs may also use the minor variation process to make 
small changes to their certificates as long as these could have no adverse impact on the licensing 
objectives. Licensing authorities should refer to Chapter 8 of this Guidance on the handling of such 
applications. Licensing authorities do not have to satisfy themselves that applicants for club 
premises certificates are entitled to work in the UK before issuing a club premises certificate. 
Consequently, Home Office Immigration Enforcement is not a responsible authority in relation to 
club premises certificates. 

6.12 In addition to a plan of the premises and a club operating schedule, clubs must also include 
the rules of the club with their application (as well as making a declaration to the licensing authority 
in accordance with regulations made under the 2003 Act). On notifying any alteration to these 
rules to the licensing authority, the club is required to pay a fee set down in regulations. Licensing 
authorities cannot require any changes to the rules to be made as a condition of receiving a 
certificate unless relevant representations have been made. However, if a licensing authority is 
satisfied that the rules of a club indicate that it does not meet the qualifying conditions in the 2003 
Act, a club premises certificate should not be granted. 

Page 58



Steps needed to promote the licensing objectives 

6.13 Club operating schedules prepared by clubs, must include the steps it intends to take to 
promote the licensing objectives. These will be translated into conditions included in the certificate, 
unless the conditions have been modified by the licensing authority following consideration of 
relevant representations. Guidance on these conditions is given in Chapter 10 of this Guidance. 

… 

8. Applications for premises licences 

.. 

8.2 Section 13 of the 2003 Act defines the parties holding important roles in the context of 
applications, inspection, monitoring and reviews of premises licences. 

Authorised persons 

8.3 The first group –“authorised persons”– are bodies empowered by the 2003 Act to carry out 
inspection and enforcement roles. The police and immigration officers are not included because 
they are separately empowered by the 2003 Act to carry out their duties. 

8.4 For all premises, the authorised persons include: 

 officers of the licensing authority; 
 fire inspectors; 
 inspectors with responsibility in the licensing authority’s area for the enforcement of the Health 

and Safety at Work etc Act 1974; 
 officers of the local authority exercising environmental health functions 

8.5 Local authority officers will most commonly have responsibility for the enforcement of health 
and safety legislation, but the Health and Safety Executive is responsible for certain premises. In 
relation to vessels, authorised persons also include an inspector or a surveyor of ships appointed 
under section 256 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995. These would normally be officers acting on 
behalf of the Maritime and Coastguard Agency. The Secretary of State may prescribe other 
authorised persons by means of regulations, but has not currently prescribed any additional 
bodies. If any are prescribed, details will be made available on the GOV.UK website. 

8.6 Where an immigration officer has reason to believe that any premises are being used for a 
licensable activity, the officer may enter the premises with a view to seeing whether an offence 
under any of the Immigration Acts is being committed in connection with the licensable activity. 

Page 59



Responsible authorities 

8.7 The second group –“responsible authorities”– are public bodies that must be fully notified of 
applications and that are entitled to make representations to the licensing authority in relation to 
the application for the grant, variation or review of a premises licence. These representations must 
still be considered ‘relevant’ by the licensing authority and relate to one or more of the licensing 
objectives. For all premises, responsible authorities include: 

 the relevant licensing authority and any other licensing authority in whose area part of the 
premises is situated; 

 the chief officer of police; 
 the local fire and rescue authority; 
 the relevant enforcing authority under the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974; 
 the local authority with responsibility for environmental health; 
 the local planning authority; 
 a body that represents those who are responsible for, or interested in, matters relating to the 

protection of children from harm; 
 each local authority’s Director of Public Health (DPH) in England[footnote 4] and Local Health Boards 

(in Wales); 
 the local weights and measures authority (trading standards); and 
 Home Office Immigration Enforcement (on behalf of the Secretary of State). 

8.8 The licensing authority should indicate in its statement of licensing policy which body it 
recognises to be competent to advise it on the protection of children from harm. This may be the 
local authority social services department, the Local Safeguarding Children Board or another 
competent body. This is important as applications for premises licences have to be copied to the 
responsible authorities in order for them to make any representations they think are relevant. 

… 

Other persons 

8.13 As well as responsible authorities, any other person can play a role in a number of licensing 
processes under the 2003 Act. This includes any individual, body or business entitled to make 
representations to licensing authorities in relation to applications for the grant, variation, minor 
variation or review of premises licences and club premises certificates, regardless of their 
geographic proximity to the premises. In addition, these persons may themselves seek a review of 
a premises licence. Any representations made by these persons must be ‘relevant’, in that the 
representation relates to one or more of the licensing objectives. It must also not be considered by 
the licensing authority to be frivolous or vexatious. In the case of applications for reviews, there is 
an additional requirement that the grounds for the review should not be considered by the licensing 
authority to be repetitious. Chapter 9 of this guidance (paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10) provides more 
detail on the definition of relevant, frivolous and vexatious representations. 

8.14 While any of these persons may act in their own right, they may also request that a 
representative makes the representation to the licensing authority on their behalf. A representative 
may include a legal representative, a friend, a Member of Parliament, a Member of the Welsh 
Government, or a local ward or parish councillor who can all act in such a capacity. 

Page 60

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:4


.. 

Steps to promote the licensing objectives 

8.41 In completing an operating schedule, applicants are expected to have regard to the statement 
of licensing policy for their area. They must also be aware of the expectations of the licensing 
authority and the responsible authorities as to the steps that are appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives, and to demonstrate knowledge of their local area when describing the 
steps they propose to take to promote the licensing objectives. Licensing authorities and 
responsible authorities are expected to publish information about what is meant by the promotion 
of the licensing objectives and to ensure that applicants can readily access advice about these 
matters. However, applicants are also expected to undertake their own enquiries about the area in 
which the premises are situated to inform the content of the application. 

8.42 Applicants are, in particular, expected to obtain sufficient information to enable them to 
demonstrate, when setting out the steps they propose to take to promote the licensing objectives, 
that they understand: 

 the layout of the local area and physical environment including crime and disorder hotspots, 
proximity to residential premises and proximity to areas where children may congregate; 

 any risk posed to the local area by the applicants’ proposed licensable activities; and 
 any local initiatives (for example, local crime reduction initiatives or voluntary schemes including 

local taxi-marshalling schemes, street pastors and other schemes) which may help to mitigate 
potential risks. 

8.43 Applicants are expected to include positive proposals in their application on how they will 
manage any potential risks. Where specific policies apply in the area (for example, a cumulative 
impact assessment), applicants are also expected to demonstrate an understanding of how the 
policy impacts on their application; any measures they will take to mitigate the impact; and why 
they consider the application should be an exception to the policy. 

8.44 It is expected that enquiries about the locality will assist applicants when determining the 
steps that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. For example, premises with 
close proximity to residential premises should consider what effect this will have on their smoking, 
noise management and dispersal policies to ensure the promotion of the public nuisance objective. 
Applicants must consider all factors which may be relevant to the promotion of the licensing 
objectives, and where there are no known concerns, acknowledge this in their application. 

8.45 The majority of information which applicants will require should be available in the licensing 
policy statement in the area. Other publicly available sources which may be of use to applicants 
include: 

 the Crime Mapping website; 
 Neighbourhood Statistics websites; 
 websites or publications by local responsible authorities; 
 websites or publications by local voluntary schemes and initiatives; and 
 on-line mapping tools. 

Page 61



8.46 While applicants are not required to seek the views of responsible authorities before formally 
submitting their application, they may find them to be a useful source of expert advice on local 
issues that should be taken into consideration when making an application. Licensing authorities 
may wish to encourage co-operation between applicants, responsible authorities and, where 
relevant, local residents and businesses before applications are submitted in order to minimise the 
scope for disputes to arise. 

8.47 Applicants are expected to provide licensing authorities with sufficient information in this 
section to determine the extent to which their proposed steps are appropriate to promote the 
licensing objectives in the local area. Applications must not be based on providing a set of 
standard conditions to promote the licensing objectives and applicants are expected to make it 
clear why the steps they are proposing are appropriate for the premises. 

8.48 All parties are expected to work together in partnership to ensure that the licensing objectives 
are promoted collectively. Where there are no disputes, the steps that applicants propose to take 
to promote the licensing objectives, as set out in the operating schedule, will very often translate 
directly into conditions that will be attached to premises licences with the minimum of fuss. 

8.49 For some premises, it is possible that no measures will be appropriate to promote one or 
more of the licensing objectives, for example, because they are adequately covered by other 
existing legislation. It is however important that all operating schedules should be precise and clear 
about the consideration given to the licensing objectives and any measures that are proposed to 
promote them. 

Variations 

Introduction 

8.50 Where a premises licence holder wishes to amend the licence, the 2003 Act in most cases 
permits an application to vary to be made rather than requiring an application for a new premises 
licence. The process to be followed will depend on the nature of the variation and its potential 
impact on the licensing objectives. Applications to vary can be made electronically via GOV.UK or 
by means of the licensing authority’s own electronic facility following the procedures set out above. 

Simplified processes 

8.51 There are simplified processes for making applications, or notifying changes, in the following 
cases: 

 a change of the name or address of someone named in the licence (section 33); 
 an application to vary the licence to specify a new individual as the designated premises 

supervisor (DPS) (section 37); 
 a request to be removed as the designated premises supervisor (section 41); 
 an application by a licence holder in relation to community premises authorised to sell alcohol to 

remove the usual mandatory conditions set out in sections 19(2) and 19(3) of the 2003 Act 
concerning the supervision of alcohol sales by a personal licence holder and the need for a 
DPS who holds a personal licence (sections 25A and 41D); and 

 an application for minor variation of a premises licence (sections 41A to 41C) or club premises 
certificate (sections 86A to 86C). 

Page 62



8.52 If an application to specify a new DPS or to remove the mandatory conditions concerning the 
supervision of alcohol sales is made electronically via GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s own 
electronic facility, the authority must notify the police no later than the first working day after the 
application is given. 

8.53 Where a simplified process requires the applicant (if they are not also the personal licence 
holder) to copy the application to the licence holder for information, this will apply regardless of 
whether the application is made in writing or electronically. 

Otherwise the general guidance set out above (paragraphs 8.21 to 8.29) on electronic applications 
applies. 

Minor variations process 

8.54 Variations to premises licences or club premises certificates that could not impact adversely 
on the licensing objectives are subject to a simplified ‘minor variations’ process. Under this 
process, the applicant is not required to advertise the variation in a newspaper or circular, or copy 
it to responsible authorities. However, they must display it on a white notice (to distinguish it from 
the blue notice used for full variations and new applications). The notice must comply with the 
requirements set out in regulation 26A of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club 
premises certificates) Regulations 2005. In accordance with those regulations, the notice must be 
displayed for a period of ten working days starting on the working day after the minor variation 
application was given to the licensing authority. 

8.55 On receipt of an application for a minor variation, the licensing authority must consider 
whether the variation could impact adversely on the licensing objectives. It is recommended that 
decisions on minor variations should be delegated to licensing officers. 

8.56 In considering the application, the licensing authority must consult relevant responsible 
authorities (whether the application is made in writing or electronically) if there is any doubt about 
the impact of the variation on the licensing objectives and they need specialist advice, and take 
their views into account in reaching a decision. The application is unlikely to be relevant to all 
responsible authorities. 

8.57 The licensing authority must also consider any relevant representations received from other 
persons within the time limit referred to below. As stated earlier in this Guidance, representations 
are only relevant if they clearly relate to the likely effect of the grant of the variation on the 
promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives; representations must be confined to the 
subject matter of the variation. In the case of minor variations, there is no right to a hearing (as for 
a full variation or new application), but licensing authorities must take any representations into 
account in arriving at a decision. 

8.58 Other persons have ten working days from the ‘initial day’, that is to say, the day after the 
application is received by the licensing authority, to submit representations. The licensing authority 
must therefore wait until this period has elapsed before determining the application, but must do so 
at the latest within 15 working days, beginning on the first working day after the authority received 
the application, with effect either that the minor variation is granted or the application is refused. 

8.59 If the licensing authority fails to respond to the applicant within 15 working days (see section 
193 of the 2003 Act for the definition of working day), the application will be treated as refused and 
the authority must return the fee to the applicant forthwith. However, the licensing authority and the 

Page 63



applicant may agree instead that the undetermined application should be treated as a new 
application and that the fee originally submitted will be treated as a fee for the new application. 

8.60 Where an application is refused and is then re-submitted through the full variation process, 
the full 28 day notification period will apply from the date the new application is received and 
applicants should advertise the application and copy it to all responsible authorities (in accordance 
with the regulations applicable to full variations). 

8.61 Minor variations will generally fall into four categories: minor changes to the structure or 
layout of premises; small adjustments to licensing hours; the removal of out of date, irrelevant or 
unenforceable conditions or addition of volunteered conditions; and the addition of certain 
licensable activities. In all cases the overall test is whether the proposed variation could impact 
adversely on any of the four licensing objectives. 

Changes to structure/layout 

8.62 Many small variations to layout will have no adverse impact on the licensing objectives. 
However, changes to layout should be referred to the full variation process if they could potentially 
have an adverse impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives, for example by: 

 increasing the capacity for drinking on the premises; 
 affecting access between the public part of the premises and the rest of the premises or the 

street or public way, for instance, block emergency exits or routes to emergency exits; or 
 impeding the effective operation of a noise reduction measure such as an acoustic lobby. 

Licensable Activities 

8.63 Licensing authorities will also need to consider the combined effect of a series of applications 
for successive small layout changes (for example, as part of a rolling refurbishment of premises) 
which in themselves may not be significant, but which cumulatively may impact adversely on the 
licensing objectives. This emphasises the importance of having an up-to-date copy of the premises 
plan available. 

8.64 An application to remove a licensable activity should normally be approved as a minor 
variation. Variations to add the sale by retail or supply of alcohol to a licence are excluded from the 
minor variations process and must be treated as full variations in all cases. 

8.65 For other licensable activities, licensing authorities will need to consider each application on a 
case by case basis and in light of any licence conditions put forward by the applicant. 

Licensing hours 

8.66 Variations to the following are excluded from the minor variations process and must be 
treated as full variations in all cases: 

 to extend licensing hours for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on or off the 
premises between the hours of 23.00 and 07.00; or 

 to increase the amount of time on any day during which alcohol may be sold or supplied for 
consumption on or off the premises. 

Page 64



8.67 Applications to reduce licensing hours for the sale or supply of alcohol or, in some cases, to 
move (without increasing) the licensed hours between 07.00 and 23.00 will normally be processed 
as minor variations. 

8.68 Applications to vary the time during which other licensable activities take place should be 
considered on a case-by-case basis with reference to the likely impact on the licensing objectives. 

Licensing conditions 
a) Imposed conditions 

8.69 Licensing authorities cannot impose their own conditions on the licence through the minor 
variations process. If the licensing officer considers that the proposed variation would impact 
adversely on the licensing objectives unless conditions are imposed, they should refuse it. 

b) Volunteered conditions 

8.70 Applicants may volunteer conditions as part of the minor variation process. These conditions 
may arise from their own risk assessment of the variation, or from informal discussions with 
responsible authorities or the licensing authority. 

8.71 For instance, there may be circumstances when the licence holder and a responsible 
authority such as the police or environmental health authority, agree that a new condition should 
be added to the licence (for example, that a nightclub adds the provision of door staff to its 
licence). Such a change would not normally impact adversely on the licensing objectives and could 
be expected to promote them by preventing crime and disorder or public nuisance. In these 
circumstances, the minor variation process may provide a less costly and onerous means of 
amending the licence than a review, with no risk to the licensing objectives. However, this route 
should only be used where the agreed variations are minor and the licence holder and the 
responsible authority have come to a genuine agreement. The licensing authority should be alive 
to any attempts to pressure licence or certificate holders into agreeing to new conditions where 
there is no evidence of a problem at the premises and, if there is any doubt, should discuss this 
with the relevant parties. 

c) Amending or removing existing conditions 

8.72 However, there may be some circumstances when the minor variation process is appropriate. 
Premises may change over time and the circumstances that originally led to the condition being 
attached or volunteered may no longer apply. For example, there may be no need for door 
supervision if a bar has been converted into a restaurant. Equally some embedded conditions may 
no longer apply. 

8.73 Changes in legislation may invalidate certain conditions. Although the conditions do not have 
to be removed from the licence, licence holders and licensing authorities may agree that this is 
desirable to clarify the licence holder’s legal obligations. There may also be cases where it is 
appropriate to revise the wording of a condition that is unclear or unenforceable. This would be 
acceptable as a minor variation as long as the purpose of the condition and its intended effect 
remain unchanged. Such a change could be expected to promote the licensing objectives by 
making it easier for the licence holder to understand and comply with the condition and easier for 
the licensing authority to enforce it. 

Page 65



Full variations process 

8.74 Any other changes to the licence or certificate require an application to vary under sections 
34 or 84 of the 2003 Act. 

8.75 Licensing authorities may wish to consider whether there is any likely impact on the 
promotion of the licensing objectives in deciding whether there is a need for an application to vary 
in relation to features which are not required to be shown on the plan under section 17 of the 2003 
Act, but have nevertheless been included, for example, moveable furniture (altering the position of 
tables and chairs) or beer gardens (installation of a smoking shelter that will not affect the use of 
exits or escape routes). 

8.76 However, it should be noted that a section 34 application cannot be used to vary a licence so 
as to: 

· extend a time limited licence; vary substantially the premises to which the licence relates; 

· transfer the licence from one holder to another; or 

· transfer the licence from one premises to another. 

8.77 If an applicant wishes to make these types of changes to the premises licence, the applicant 
should make a new premises licence application under section 17 of the 2003 Act; or, to transfer 
the licence to another holder, an application under section 42 of the 2003 Act. 

Relaxation of opening hours for local, national and international occasions 

8.78 It should normally be possible for applicants for premises licences and club premises 
certificates to anticipate special occasions which occur regularly each year – such as bank 
holidays and St. George’s or St. Patrick’s Day – and to include appropriate opening hours in their 
operating schedules. Similarly, temporary event notices should be sufficient to cover other events 
which take place at premises that do not have a premises licence or club certificate. 

8.79 However, exceptional events of local, national or international significance may arise which 
could not have been anticipated when the application was first made. In these circumstances, the 
Secretary of State may make a licensing hours order to allow premises to open for specified, 
generally extended, hours on these special occasions. This avoids the need for large numbers of 
applications to vary premises licences and club premises certificates. Typical events might include 
a one-off local festival or a Royal Jubilee. 

Advertising applications 

8.80 The requirements governing the advertisement of applications for the grant, variation or 
review of premises licences and club premises certificates are contained in Regulations 25 and 26 

Page 66



of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club premises certificates) Regulations 2005 
which are published on the Government’s legislation website. 

Applicants are required to: 

 publish a notice in a local newspaper or, if there is none, in a local newsletter, circular or similar 
document circulating in the area in which the premises are situated; and 

 display a brief summary of the application on an A4 (or larger) size notice, on pale blue paper in 
a prominent position (or positions) immediately on or outside the premises for at least 28 
consecutive days (starting on the day after the day on which the application was given to the 
relevant licensing authority). The notice must be printed legibly in black ink or typed in black in 
size 16 font or larger. 

 ensure that the above notices contain the name of the applicant, postal addresses of the 
premises (or if there is no postal address a description of the premises sufficient to enable the 
location to be identified), relevant licensing authority and the date by which any representations 
in relation to the application need to be made to the licensing authority. They should also 
contain a statement of the relevant licensable activities or relevant qualifying club activities that 
it is proposed will be carried on at the premises, or in the case of an application to vary a 
premises licence or a club premises certificate the notices shall briefly describe the proposed 
variation. 

8.81 It is the responsibility of the applicant for putting the notice up, however licensing authorities 
should consider where the signs should be placed and advise the applicant where appropriate, to 
ensure people will see them, in particular if an application is likely to be of interest to the public. As 
prescribed in regulations, licensing authorities must also place a notice on their website outlining 
key details of the application as set out in regulations, including: 

 the name of the applicant or club; 
 the postal address of the premises or club premises; 
 the postal address and, where applicable, the internet address where the relevant licensing 

authority’s register is kept and where and when the record of the application may be inspected; 
 the date by which representations from responsible authorities or other persons should be 

received and how these representations should be made; and 
 that it is an offence knowingly or recklessly to make a false statement in connection with an 

application and the maximum fine for which a person is liable on summary conviction for the 
offence. 

8.82 The summary of the application should set out matters such as the proposed licensable 
activities and the proposed hours of opening and should be clearly displayed for the period during 
which representations may be made, together with information about where the details of the 
application may be viewed. 

8.83 Licensing authorities in Wales should consider encouraging applicants to provide details in 
the alternative language (Welsh or English) to that of the main advertisement itself where the 
application may be viewed. Therefore, if an applicant publishes a notice in English they should be 
encouraged to provide a statement in Welsh as to where the application may be viewed, and vice 
versa. This would allow the reader of the notice to make enquiries to the licensing authority and 
find out the nature of the application. 

8.84 Licensing authorities in Wales are also required to publish key information from licence 
applications in Welsh on their websites. 

Page 67



8.85 In the case of applications for premises licences involving internet or mail order sales, notices 
should be conspicuously displayed at the place where the alcohol is appropriated to the contract. 

8.86 A vessel which is not permanently moored or berthed is treated as if it were a premises 
situated in a place where it is usually moored or berthed. The newspaper advertisement notice for 
such a vessel would need to be in relation to this place (where it is usually moored or berthed) and 
there is no provision requiring such advertising in other areas, for instance, if the vessel journeys 
through other licensing authority areas. 

8.87 Arrangements should be put in place by the licensing authority for other parties to view a 
record of the application in the licensing register as described in Schedule 3 to the 2003 Act. 
Charges made for copies of the register should not exceed the cost of preparing such copies. 
Licensing authorities may wish to conduct random and unannounced visits to premises to confirm 
that notices have been clearly displayed and include relevant and accurate information. 

… 

9. Determining applications 

General 

9.1 When a licensing authority receives an application for a new premises licence or an application 
to vary an existing premises licence, it must determine whether the application has been made in 
accordance with section 17 of the 2003 Act, and in accordance with regulations made under 
sections 17(3) to (6), 34, 42, 54 and 55 of the 2003 Act. It must similarly determine applications for 
the grant of club premises certificates made in accordance with section 71 of the 2003 Act, and in 
accordance with regulations made under sections 71(4) to (7), 84, 91 and 92 of the 2003 Act. This 
means that the licensing authority must consider among other things whether the application has 
been properly advertised in accordance with those regulations. 

Where no representations are made 

9.2 A hearing is not required where an application has been properly made and no responsible 
authority or other person has made a relevant representation or where representations are made 
and subsequently withdrawn. In these cases, the licensing authority must grant the application in 
the terms sought, subject only to conditions which are consistent with the operating schedule and 
relevant mandatory conditions under the 2003 Act. This should be undertaken as a simple 
administrative process by the licensing authority’s officials who may replicate some of the 
proposals contained in the operating schedule to promote the licensing objectives in the form of 
clear and enforceable licence conditions. Licensing authorities should not hold hearings for 
uncontested applications, for example in situations where representations have been made and 
conditions have subsequently been agreed. 

Page 68



Where representations are made 

9.3 Where a representation concerning the licensing objectives is made by a responsible authority 
about a proposed operating schedule and it is relevant (see paragraphs 9.4 to 

9.10 below), the licensing authority’s discretion will be engaged. It will also be engaged if another 
person makes relevant representations to the licensing authority, which are also not frivolous or 
vexatious (see paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10 below). Relevant representations can be made in opposition 
to, or in support of, an application and can be made by any individual, body or business that has 
grounds to do so. 

Relevant, vexatious and frivolous representations 

9.4 A representation is “relevant” if it relates to the likely effect of the grant of the licence on the 
promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives. For example, a representation from a local 
businessperson about the commercial damage caused by competition from new licensed premises 
would not be relevant. On the other hand, a representation by a businessperson that nuisance 
caused by new premises would deter customers from entering the local area, and the steps 
proposed by the applicant to prevent that nuisance were inadequate, would be relevant. In other 
words, representations should relate to the impact of licensable activities carried on from premises 
on the objectives. For representations in relation to variations to be relevant, they should be 
confined to the subject matter of the variation. There is no requirement for a responsible authority 
or other person to produce a recorded history of problems at premises to support their 
representations, and in fact this would not be possible for new premises. 

9.5 It is for the licensing authority to determine whether a representation (other than a 
representation from a responsible authority) is frivolous or vexatious on the basis of what might 
ordinarily be considered to be vexatious or frivolous. A representation may be considered to be 
vexatious if it appears to be intended to cause aggravation or annoyance, whether to a competitor 
or other person, without reasonable cause or justification. Vexatious circumstances may arise 
because of disputes between rival businesses and local knowledge will therefore be invaluable in 
considering such matters. Licensing authorities can consider the main effect of the representation, 
and whether any inconvenience or expense caused by it could reasonably be considered to be 
proportionate. 

9.6 Frivolous representations would be essentially categorised by a lack of seriousness. Frivolous 
representations would concern issues which, at most, are minor and in relation to which no 
remedial steps would be warranted or proportionate. 

9.7 Any person who is aggrieved by a rejection of their representations on either of these grounds 
may lodge a complaint through the local authority’s corporate complaints procedure. A person may 
also challenge the authority’s decision by way of judicial review. 

9.8 Licensing authorities should not take decisions about whether representations are frivolous, 
vexatious or relevant to the licensing objectives on the basis of any political judgement. This may 
be difficult for councillors who receive complaints from residents within their own wards. If 
consideration is not to be delegated, contrary to the recommendation in this Guidance, an 
assessment should be prepared by officials for consideration by the sub- committee before any 

Page 69



decision is taken that necessitates a hearing. Any councillor who considers that their own interests 
are such that they are unable to consider the matter independently should disqualify themselves. 

9.9 It is recommended that, in borderline cases, the benefit of the doubt about any aspect of a 
representation should be given to the person making that representation. The subsequent hearing 
would then provide an opportunity for the person or body making the representation to amplify and 
clarify it. 

9.10 Licensing authorities should consider providing advice on their websites about how any 
person can make representations to them. 

The role of responsible authorities 

9.11 Responsible authorities under the 2003 Act are automatically notified of all new applications. 
While all responsible authorities may make representations regarding applications for licences and 
club premises certificates and full variation applications, it is the responsibility of each responsible 
authority to determine when they have appropriate grounds to do so. 

9.12 Each responsible authority will be an expert in their respective field, and in some cases it is 
likely that a particular responsible authority will be the licensing authority’s main source of advice in 
relation to a particular licensing objective. For example, the police have a key role in managing the 
night-time economy and should have good working relationships with those operating in their local 
area[footnote 5]. The police should usually therefore be the licensing authority’s main source of advice 
on matters relating to the promotion of the crime and disorder licensing objective. However, any 
responsible authority under the 2003 Act may make representations with regard to any of the 
licensing objectives if they have evidence to support such representations. Licensing authorities 
must therefore consider all relevant representations from responsible authorities carefully, even 
where the reason for a particular responsible authority’s interest or expertise in the promotion of a 
particular objective may not be immediately apparent. However, it remains incumbent on all 
responsible authorities to ensure that their representations can withstand the scrutiny to which they 
would be subject at a hearing. 

Licensing authorities acting as responsible authorities 

9.13 Licensing authorities are included in the list of responsible authorities. A similar framework 
exists in the Gambling Act 2005. The 2003 Act does not require responsible authorities to make 
representations about applications for the grant of premises licences or to take any other steps in 
respect of different licensing processes. It is, therefore, for the licensing authority to determine 
when it considers it appropriate to act in its capacity as a responsible authority; the licensing 
authority should make this decision in accordance with its duties under section 4 of the 2003 Act. 

9.14 Licensing authorities are not expected to act as responsible authorities on behalf of other 
parties (for example, local residents, local councillors or community groups) although there are 
occasions where the authority may decide to do so. Such parties can make relevant 
representations to the licensing authority in their own right, and it is reasonable for the licensing 
authority to expect them to make representations themselves where they are reasonably able to 

Page 70

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:5


do so. However, if these parties have failed to take action and the licensing authority is aware of 
relevant grounds to make a representation, it may choose to act in its capacity as responsible 
authority. 

9.15 It is also reasonable for licensing authorities to expect that other responsible authorities 
should intervene where the basis for the intervention falls within the remit of that other responsible 
authority. For example, the police should make representations where the representations are 
based on concerns about crime and disorder. Likewise, it is reasonable to expect the local 
authority exercising environmental health functions to make representations where there are 
concerns about noise nuisance. Each responsible authority has equal standing under the 2003 Act 
and may act independently without waiting for representations from any other responsible 
authority. 

9.16 The 2003 Act enables licensing authorities to act as responsible authorities as a means of 
early intervention; they may do so where they consider it appropriate without having to wait for 
representations from other responsible authorities. For example, the licensing authority may (in a 
case where it has published a cumulative impact assessment) consider that granting a new licence 
application will add to the cumulative impact of licensed premises in its area and therefore decide 
to make representations to that effect, without waiting for any other person to do so. 

9.17 In cases where a licensing authority is also acting as responsible authority in relation to the 
same process, it is important to achieve a separation of responsibilities within the authority to 
ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of interest. In such cases licensing 
determinations will be made by the licensing committee or sub committee comprising elected 
members of the authority (although they are advised by a licensing officer). Therefore, a 
separation is achieved by allocating distinct functions (i.e. those of licensing authority and 
responsible authority) to different officials within the authority. 

9.18 In these cases, licensing authorities should allocate the different responsibilities to different 
licensing officers or other officers within the local authority to ensure a proper separation of 
responsibilities. The officer advising the licensing committee (i.e. the authority acting in its capacity 
as the licensing authority) must be a different person from the officer who is acting for the 
responsible authority. The officer acting for the responsible authority should not be involved in the 
licensing decision process and should not discuss the merits of the case with those involved in 
making the determination by the licensing authority. For example, discussion should not take place 
between the officer acting as responsible authority and the officer handling the licence application 
regarding the merits of the case. Communication between these officers in relation to the case 
should remain professional and consistent with communication with other responsible authorities. 
Representations, subject to limited exceptions, must be made in writing. It is for the licensing 
authority to determine how the separate roles are divided to ensure an appropriate separation of 
responsibilities. This approach may not be appropriate for all licensing authorities and many 
authorities may already have processes in place to effectively achieve the same outcome. 

9.19 Smaller licensing authorities, where such a separation of responsibilities is more difficult, may 
wish to involve officials from outside the licensing department to ensure a separation of 
responsibilities. However, these officials should still be officials employed by the authority. 

… 

Page 71



Hearings 

9.31 The Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 governing hearings may be found on 
the www.legislation.gov.uk website. If the licensing authority decides that representations are 
relevant, it must hold a hearing to consider them. The need for a hearing can only be avoided with 
the agreement of the licensing authority, where the applicant and all of the persons who made 
relevant representations have given notice to the authority that they consider a hearing to be 
unnecessary. Where this is the case and the authority agrees that a hearing is unnecessary, it 
must forthwith give notice to the parties that the hearing has been dispensed with. Notwithstanding 
those regulatory provisions, in cases where the licensing authority believes that a hearing is still 
necessary, it is recommended that the authority should, as soon as possible, provide the parties 
with reasons in writing for the need to hold the hearing. In cases where only ‘positive’ 
representations are received, without qualifications, the licensing authority should consider 
whether a hearing is required. To this end, it may wish to notify the persons who made 
representations and give them the opportunity to withdraw those representations. This would need 
to be done in sufficient time before the hearing to ensure that parties were not put to unnecessary 
inconvenience. 

9.32 Responsible authorities should try to conclude any discussions with the applicant in good time 
before the hearing. The 2005 Hearings Regulations permit licensing authorities to extend a time 
limit provided for by those Regulations for a specified period where it considers this to be 
necessary in the public interest. For example, if the application is amended at the last moment, the 
licensing committee should consider giving other persons time to address the revised application 
before the hearing commences. Where the authority has extended a time limit it must forthwith 
give a notice to the parties involved stating the period of the extension and the reasons for it. 

9.33 The 2005 Hearings Regulations require that representations must be withdrawn 24 hours 
before the first day of any hearing. If they are withdrawn after this time, the hearing must proceed 
and the representations may be withdrawn orally at that hearing. However, where discussions 
between an applicant and those making representations are taking place and it is likely that all 
parties are on the point of reaching agreement, the licensing authority may wish to use the power 
given within the hearings regulations to extend time limits, if it considers this to be in the public 
interest. 

9.34 Applicants should be encouraged to contact responsible authorities and others, such as local 
residents, who may be affected by the application before formulating their applications so that the 
mediation process may begin before the statutory time limits come into effect after submission of 
an application. The hearing process must meet the requirements of regulations made under the 
2003 Act. Where matters arise which are not covered by the regulations, licensing authorities may 
make arrangements as they see fit as long as they are lawful. 

9.35 There is no requirement in the 2003 Act for responsible authorities that have made 
representations to attend, but it is generally good practice and assists committees in reaching 
more informed decisions. Where several responsible authorities within a local authority have made 
representations on an application, a single local authority officer may represent them at the 
hearing if the responsible authorities and the licensing authority agree. This local authority officer 
representing other responsible authorities may be a licensing officer, but only if this licensing 
officer is acting as a responsible authority on behalf of the licensing authority and has had no role 
in the licensing determination process. This is to ensure that the responsible authorities are 
represented by an independent officer separate from the licensing determination process. 

Page 72

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


9.36 As noted in paragraphs 9.13 to 9.19 above, where the licensing officer is acting as a 
responsible authority the relevant steps should be followed to ensure that this individual has no 
role in the decision making process regarding the licensing determination. 

9.37 As a matter of practice, licensing authorities should seek to focus the hearing on the steps 
considered appropriate to promote the particular licensing objective or objectives that have given 
rise to the specific representation and avoid straying into undisputed areas. A responsible authority 
or other person may choose to rely on their written representation. They may not add further 
representations to those disclosed to the applicant prior to the hearing, but they may expand on 
their existing representation and should be allowed sufficient time to do so, within reasonable and 
practicable limits. 

9.38 In determining the application with a view to promoting the licensing objectives in the overall 
interests of the local community, the licensing authority must give appropriate weight to: 

 the steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives; 
 the representations (including supporting information) presented by all the parties; 
 this Guidance; 
 its own statement of licensing policy. 

9.39 The licensing authority should give its decision within five working days of the conclusion of 
the hearing (or immediately in certain specified cases) and provide reasons to support it. This will 
be important if there is an appeal by any of the parties. Notification of a decision must be 
accompanied by information on the right of the party to appeal. After considering all the relevant 
issues, the licensing authority may grant the application subject to the relevant mandatory 
conditions and any conditions that are consistent with the operating schedule. Any additional 
conditions imposed must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; there is no 
power for the licensing authority to attach a condition that is merely aspirational. For example, 
conditions may not be attached which relate solely to the health of customers rather than their 
direct physical safety. Any conditions added to the licence must be those imposed at the hearing 
or those agreed when a hearing has not been necessary. 

9.40 Alternatively, the licensing authority may refuse the application on the grounds that this is 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. It may also refuse to specify a designated 
premises supervisor and/or only allow certain requested licensable activities. In the interests of 
transparency, the licensing authority should publish hearings procedures in full on its website to 
ensure that those involved have the most current information. 

9.41 In the context of variations or minor variations, which may involve structural alteration to or 
change of use of a building, the decision of the licensing authority will not exempt an applicant 
from the need to apply for building control approval, planning permission or both of these where 
appropriate. 

Determining actions that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives 

9.42 Licensing authorities are best placed to determine what actions are appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives in their areas. All licensing determinations should be 
considered on a case-by-case basis. They should take into account any representations or 

Page 73



objections that have been received from responsible authorities or other persons, and 
representations made by the applicant or premises user as the case may be. 

9.43 The authority’s determination should be evidence-based, justified as being appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives and proportionate to what it is intended to achieve. 

9.44 Determination of whether an action or step is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives requires an assessment of what action or step would be suitable to achieve that end. 
While this does not therefore require a licensing authority to decide that no lesser step will achieve 
the aim, the authority should aim to consider the potential burden that any condition would impose 
on the premises licence holder (such as the financial burden due to restrictions on licensable 
activities) as well as the potential benefit in terms of the promotion of the licensing objectives. 
However, it is imperative that the authority ensures that the factors which form the basis of its 
determination are limited to consideration of the promotion of the objectives and nothing outside 
those parameters. As with the consideration of licence variations, the licensing authority should 
consider wider issues such as other conditions already in place to mitigate potential negative 
impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives and the track record of the business. Further 
advice on determining what is appropriate when imposing conditions on a licence or certificate is 
provided in Chapter 10. The licensing authority is expected to come to its determination based on 
an assessment of the evidence on both the risks and benefits either for or against making the 
determination. 

Considering cases where licensing and planning applications are made 
simultaneously 

9.45 Where businesses have indicated, when applying for a licence under the 2003 Act, that they 
have also applied for planning permission or that they intend to do so, licensing committees and 
officers should consider discussion with their planning counterparts prior to determination with the 
aim of agreeing mutually acceptable operating hours and scheme designs. 

10. Conditions attached to premises licences and club 
premises certificates 

General 

10.1 This chapter provides further guidance in relation to conditions attached to premises licences 
and club premises certificates. General principles on licence conditions are set out in Chapter 1 
(see paragraph 1.16). 

10.2 Conditions include any limitations or restrictions attached to a licence or certificate and 
essentially are the steps or actions that the holder of the premises licence or the club premises 

Page 74



certificate will be required to take or refrain from taking in relation to the carrying on of licensable 
activities at the premises in question. Failure to comply with any condition attached to a licence or 
certificate is a criminal offence, which on conviction is punishable by an unlimited fine or up to six 
months’ imprisonment. The courts have made clear that it is particularly important that conditions 
which are imprecise or difficult for a licence holder to observe should be avoided. 

10.3 There are three types of condition that may be attached to a licence or certificate: proposed, 
imposed and mandatory. Each of these categories is described in more detail below. 

Proposed conditions 

10.4 The conditions that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives should 
emerge initially from the risk assessment carried out by a prospective licence or certificate holder, 
which they should carry out before making their application for a premises licence or club premises 
certificate. This would be translated into the steps recorded in the operating schedule or club 
operating schedule, which must also set out the proposed hours during which licensable activities 
will be conducted and any other hours during which the premises will be open to the public. 

10.5 It is not acceptable for licensing authorities to simply replicate the wording from an applicant’s 
operating schedule. A condition should be interpreted in accordance with the applicant’s intention 
and be appropriate and proportionate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

Consistency with steps described in operating schedule 

10.6 The 2003 Act provides that where an operating schedule or club operating schedule has been 
submitted with an application and there have been no relevant representations made by 
responsible authorities or any other person, the licence or certificate must be granted subject only 
to such conditions as are consistent with the schedule accompanying the application and any 
mandatory conditions required under the 2003 Act. 

10.7 Consistency means that the effect of the condition should be substantially the same as that 
intended by the terms of the operating schedule. If conditions are broken, this may lead to a 
criminal prosecution or an application for a review and it is extremely important therefore that they 
should be expressed on the licence or certificate in unequivocal and unambiguous terms. The duty 
imposed by conditions on the licence holder or club must be clear to the licence holder, club, 
enforcement officers and the courts. 

Imposed conditions 

10.8 The licensing authority may not impose any conditions unless its discretion has been 
exercised following receipt of relevant representations and it is satisfied as a result of a hearing 
(unless all parties agree a hearing is not necessary) that it is appropriate to impose conditions to 

Page 75



promote one or more of the four licensing objectives. In order to promote the crime prevention 
licensing objective conditions may be included that are aimed at preventing illegal working in 
licensed premises. This provision also applies to minor variations. 

10.9 It is possible that in some cases no additional conditions will be appropriate to promote the 
licensing objectives. 

Proportionality 

10.10 The 2003 Act requires that licensing conditions should be tailored to the size, type, location 
and characteristics and activities taking place at the premises concerned. Conditions should be 
determined on a case-by-case basis and standardised conditions which ignore these individual 
aspects should be avoided. For example, conditions should not be used to implement a general 
policy in a given area such as the use of CCTV, polycarbonate drinking vessels or identity 
scanners where they would not be appropriate to the specific premises. Conditions that are 
considered appropriate for the prevention of illegal working in premises licensed to sell alcohol or 
late night refreshment might include requiring a premises licence holder to undertake right to work 
checks on all staff employed at the licensed premises or requiring that evidence of a right to work 
check, either physical or digital (e.g. copy of any document checked or a clear copy of the online 
right to work check) is retained at the licensed premises. Licensing authorities and other 
responsible authorities should be alive to the indirect costs that can arise because of conditions. 
These could be a deterrent to holding events that are valuable to the community or for the funding 
of good and important causes. Licensing authorities should therefore ensure that any conditions 
they impose are only those which are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

Naming, packing and promotion in retail premises 

10.11 The Government acknowledges that the irresponsible naming, packing or promotion of 
alcoholic drinks may contribute to alcohol related harms. Where there is direct evidence of specific 
incidents of irresponsible naming, packing or promotion of alcoholic drinks linked to the 
undermining of one of the licensing objectives, licensing authorities should, in the exercise of their 
licensing functions (in particular, in relation to an application for the grant, variation or review of a 
premises licence), consider whether it is appropriate to impose conditions on licences that require 
the licence holder to comply with the Portman Group’s Retailer Alert Bulletins. This condition 
should be considered on a case by case basis and in the context of the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. 

10.12 The Portman Group operates, on behalf of the alcohol industry, a Code of Practice on the 
Naming, Packaging and Promotion of Alcoholic Drinks. The Code seeks to ensure that drinks are 
packaged and promoted in a socially responsible manner and only to those who are 18 years old 
or older. Complaints about products under the Code are considered by an Independent 
Complaints Panel and the Panel’s decisions are published on the Portman Group’s website, in the 
trade press and in an annual report. If a product’s packaging or point-of-sale advertising is found to 
be in breach of the Code, the Portman Group may issue a Retailer Alert Bulletin to notify retailers 
of the decision and ask them not to replenish stocks of any such product or to display such point-
of- sale material, until there has been compliance with the decision. 

Hours of trading 

10.13 The Government acknowledges that different licensing strategies may be appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives in different areas. The 2003 Act gives the licensing authority 
power to make decisions about the hours during which premises can conduct licensable activities 
as part of the implementation of its licensing policy statement. Licensing authorities are best 

Page 76



placed to make decisions about appropriate opening hours in their areas based on their local 
knowledge and in consultation with responsible authorities. However, licensing authorities must 
always consider each application and must not impose predetermined licensed opening hours, 
without giving individual consideration to the merits of each application. 

10.14 Where there are objections to an application to extend the hours during which licensable 
activities are to be carried on and the licensing authority determines that this would undermine the 
licensing objectives, it may reject the application or grant it with appropriate conditions and/or 
different hours from those requested. 

10.15 Shops, stores and supermarkets should normally be free to provide sales of alcohol for 
consumption off the premises at any times when the retail outlet is open for shopping unless there 
are good reasons, based on the licensing objectives, for restricting those hours. 

… 

Major festivals and carnivals 

10.18 Licensing authorities should publicise the need for the organisers of major festivals and 
carnivals to approach them at the earliest opportunity to discuss arrangements for licensing 
activities falling under the 2003 Act. For some events, the organisers may seek a single premises 
licence to cover a wide range of activities at varied locations within the premises. This would 
involve the preparation of a substantial operating schedule, and licensing authorities should offer 
advice and assistance about its preparation. 

10.19 For other events, applications for many connected premises licences may be made which in 
combination will represent a single festival. It is important that licensing authorities should publicise 
the need for proper co-ordination of such arrangements and will need to ensure that responsible 
authorities are aware of the connected nature of the individual applications. 

10.20 Local authorities should bear in mind their ability to seek premises licences from the 
licensing authority for land or buildings under public ownership within the community in their own 
name.[footnote 8] This could include, for example, village greens, market squares, promenades, 
community halls, local authority owned art centres and similar public areas where festivals and 
carnivals might take place.[footnote 9] Performers and entertainers would then have no need to obtain a 
licence or give a temporary event notice themselves to enable them to give performances in these 
places, although they would need the permission of the local authority to put on the event. 

… 

Large capacity venues used exclusively or primarily for the “vertical” 
consumption of alcohol (HVVDs) 

10.23 Large capacity “vertical drinking” premises, sometimes called High Volume Vertical Drinking 
establishments (HVVDs), are premises with exceptionally high capacities, which are used primarily 

Page 77

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:8
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:9


or exclusively for the sale and consumption of alcohol, and have little or no seating for patrons. 
Previous research has demonstrated that the environment within such establishments can have a 
significant bearing on the likelihood of crime and disorder. 

10.24 Where appropriate, conditions can be attached to premises licences for the promotion of the 
prevention of crime and disorder at such premises that require the premises to observe: 

 a prescribed capacity; 
 an appropriate ratio of tables and chairs to customers based on the capacity; and 
 a requirement that security staff holding the appropriate SIA licence or exemption are present to 

control entry for the purpose of compliance with the capacity limit and to deny entry to 
individuals who appear drunk or disorderly or both. 

Mandatory conditions in relation to the supply of alcohol 

10.25 The 2003 Act provides for the following mandatory conditions to be included in every licence 
and/or club premises certificate in the circumstances specified. 

Designated premises supervisor 

10.26 The 2003 Act provides that, where a premises licence authorises the supply of alcohol, it 
must include a condition that no supply of alcohol may be made at a time when no designated 
premises supervisor has been specified in the licence or at a time when the designated premises 
supervisor does not hold a personal licence or the personal licence has been suspended. 

10.27 The main purpose of the ‘designated premises supervisor’ as defined in the 2003 Act is to 
ensure that there is always one specified individual among these personal licence holders who can 
be readily identified for the premises where a premises licence is in force. That person will 
normally have been given day to day responsibility for running the premises by the premises 
licence holder. The requirements set out in relation to the designated premises supervisor and 
authorisation of alcohol sales by a personal licence holder do not apply to community premises in 
respect of which a successful application has been made to disapply the usual mandatory 
conditions in sections 19(2) and 19(3) of the 2003 Act (see Chapter 4 of this Guidance). 

10.28 The 2003 Act does not require a designated premises supervisor or any other personal 
licence holder to be present on the premises at all times when alcohol is sold. However, the 
designated premises supervisor and the premises licence holder remain responsible for the 
premises at all times including compliance with the terms of the 2003 Act and conditions attached 
to the premises licence to promote the licensing objectives. 

… 

Arrangements for the mandatory licence conditions 

10.36 The mandatory conditions made under sections 19A and 73B of the 2003 Act (the conditions 
governing irresponsible promotions, dispensing alcohol directly into the mouth, provision of free 
tap water, age verification, small measures and the prohibition on sales of alcohol below the 
permitted price) do not have to be physically included in the licence or certificate but nonetheless 
will apply to every licence and certificate authorising the sale and supply of alcohol for 

Page 78



consumption on the premises. The mandatory conditions set out in section 19 of the 2003 Act (the 
requirement for a DPS and for all sales to be made or authorised by a personal licence holder) do, 
however, have to be physically included in the licence. The mandatory licence conditions do not 
apply to activities (including the supply of alcohol) authorised by a temporary event notice. 

10.37 Whereas the initial mandatory conditions in section 19 of the 2003 Act are set out in Annex 1 
of the licence, the additional mandatory conditions made under section 19A of the 2003 Act are 
treated as if they were included in existing licences and certificates on the date that those 
conditions came into force. 

10.38 Following their commencement, the mandatory conditions overrode any pre-existing 
conditions already included in a licence or certificate insofar as the mandatory conditions were 
identical to, or inconsistent with or more onerous than, any pre-existing conditions. It is not 
necessary to record on the face of existing licences and certificates the impact that the introduction 
of the mandatory conditions has had on pre-existing conditions. 

Irresponsible promotions 

10.39 Under this condition, the “responsible person” (defined in the 2003 Act as the holder of a 
premises licence, designated premises supervisor, a person aged 18 or over who is authorised to 
allow the sale or supply of alcohol by an under 18 or a member or officer of a club present on the 
club premises who can oversee the supply of alcohol) should be able to demonstrate that they 
have ensured that staff do not carry out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions. An 
irresponsible promotion is one that fits one of the descriptions below (or is substantially similar), is 
carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the 
premises. The aim of the condition is to prohibit or restrict promotions which encourage people to 
drink more than they might ordinarily do and in a manner which undermines the licensing 
objectives. 

Drinking games 

10.40 Drinking games which require or encourage individuals to drink a quantity of alcohol within a 
time limit, or drink as much alcohol as possible within a time limit or otherwise, are prohibited. For 
example, this may include organised ‘drink downing’ competitions. This would not prevent the 
responsible person from requiring all drinks to be consumed or abandoned at, or before, the 
closing time of the premises. Nor does it necessarily prohibit ‘happy hours’ as long as these are 
not designed to encourage individuals to drink excessively or rapidly. 

Large quantities of alcohol for free or a fixed price 

10.41 Irresponsible promotions can include the provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of 
alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted price, where there is a significant risk that such a 
promotion would undermine one or more of the licensing objectives. This includes alcohol provided 
to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic, for example, a promotion which 
offers women free drinks before a certain time or “all you can drink for £10”. Promotions can be 
designed with a particular group in mind (for example, over 65s). A common sense approach is 
encouraged, which may include specifying the quantity of alcohol included in it or not targeting a 
group which could become more vulnerable or present a greater risk of crime and disorder as a 
result of excessive alcohol consumption. 

Prizes and rewards 

Page 79



10.42 The sale, supply or provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other item as a prize to 
encourage or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol can be within the definition of an 
irresponsible promotion, where there is a significant risk that such a promotion would undermine 
one or more of the licensing objectives. This may include promotions under which free or 
discounted alcohol is offered as a part of the sale of alcohol, for example, “Buy one and get two 
free” and “Buy one cocktail and get a second cocktail for 25p”. This includes promotions which 
involve the provision of free or discounted alcohol within the same 24 hour period. 

Posters and flyers 

10.43 Irresponsible promotions can also include the sale or supply of alcohol in association with 
promotional materials on display in or around the premises, which can either be reasonably 
considered to condone, encourage or glamorise anti social behaviour or refer to the effects of 
drunkenness in any favourable manner. 

Dispensing alcohol directly into the mouth 

10.44 The responsible person (see paragraph 10.39) must ensure that no alcohol is dispensed 
directly into the mouth of a customer. For example, this may include drinking games such as the 
‘dentist’s chair’ where a drink is poured continuously into the mouth of another individual and may 
also prevent a premises from allowing another body to promote its products by employing 
someone to dispense alcohol directly into customers’ mouths. An exception to this condition would 
be when an individual is unable to drink without assistance due to a disability. 

 

Free potable water 

10.45 The responsible person (see paragraph 10.39) must ensure that free potable water is 
provided on request to customers where it is reasonably available on the premises. What is meant 
by reasonably available is a question of fact; for example, it would not be reasonable to expect free 
tap water to be available in premises for which the water supply had temporarily been lost because 
of a broken mains water supply. However, it may be reasonable to expect bottled water to be 
provided in such circumstances. 

Age verification 

10.46 The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age 
verification policy applies to the premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol. This must as a 
minimum require individuals who appear to the responsible person (see paragraph 10.39) to be 
under the age of 18 years of age to produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification 
bearing their photograph, date of birth, and either a holographic mark or ultraviolet feature. The 
Home Office encourages licensed premises to accept cards bearing the Proof of Age Standards 
Scheme (PASS) hologram as their preferred proof of age, while acknowledging that many other 
forms of identification meet the requirements of the mandatory condition. 

10.47 The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that staff (in 
particular, staff who are involved in the supply of alcohol) are made aware of the existence and 
content of the age verification policy which applies to the premises. 

Page 80



10.48 The designated premises supervisor (where there is one) must ensure that the supply of 
alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification policy. This means 
that the DPS has personal responsibility for ensuring that staff are not only aware of, but are also 
applying, the age verification policy. 

10.49 It is acceptable, and indeed encouraged, for premises to have an age verification policy 
which requires individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under an age greater than 
18 to produce such identification on request. For example, if premises have a policy that requires 
any individual that appears to be under the age of 21 to produce identification that meets the 
criteria listed above, this is perfectly acceptable under the mandatory code. 

10.50 Licence holders should consider carefully what steps they are required to take to comply 
with the age verification requirements under the 2003 Act in relation to sales of alcohol made 
remotely. These include sales made online, by telephone and mail order sales, and alcohol 
delivery services. Each of these sales must comply with the requirements of the 2003 Act. The 
mandatory condition requires that age verification takes place before a person is served alcohol. 
Where alcohol is sold remotely (for example, online) or through a telephone transaction, the sale is 
made at this point but the alcohol is not actually served until it is delivered to the customer. Age 
verification measures (for example, online age verification) should be used to ensure that alcohol 
is not sold to any person under the age of 18. However, licence holders should also consider 
carefully what steps are appropriate to ensure that age verification takes place before the alcohol 
is served (i.e. physically delivered) to the customer to be satisfied that the customer is aged 18 or 
over. It is, therefore, the responsibility of the person serving or delivering the alcohol to ensure that 
age verification has taken place and that photo ID has been checked if the person appears to be 
less than 18 years of age. 

Smaller measures 

10.51 The responsible person (see paragraph 10.39) shall ensure that the following drinks, if sold 
or supplied on the premises, are available in the following measures: 

 Beer or cider: ½ pint 
 Gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25ml or 35ml 
 Still wine in a glass: 125ml 

10.52 As well as making the drinks available in the above measures, the responsible person must 
also make customers aware of the availability of these measures by displaying them on printed 
materials available to customers on the premises. This can include making their availability clear 
on menus and price lists, and ensuring that these are displayed in a prominent and conspicuous 
place in the relevant premises (for example, at the bar). Moreover, staff must make customers 
aware of the availability of small measures when customers do not request that they be sold 
alcohol in a particular measure. 

10.53 This condition does not apply if the drinks in question are sold or supplied having been 
made up in advance ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container. For example, if beer is 
only available in pre-sealed bottles the requirement to make it available in 1/2 pints does not apply. 

10.54 The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that staff are 
made aware of the application of this condition. 

Ban on sales of alcohol below the permitted price 

Page 81



10.55 The relevant person (the holder of the premises licence, the designated premises supervisor 
(if any) in respect of such a licence, the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply 
of alcohol under such a licence, or any member or officer of a club present on the premises in a 
capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question) shall ensure that 
no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the premises for a price which is less than 
the permitted price. 

10.56 The permitted price is defined as the aggregate of the duty chargeable in relation to the 
alcohol on the date of its sale or supply and the amount of that duty multiplied by a percentage 
which represents the rate of VAT chargeable in relation to the alcohol on the date of its sale or 
supply. Detailed guidance on how to make this calculation and a calculator to determine permitted 
prices for each product are available on the GOV.UK website. 

10.57 Where there is a change to the rate of duty or VAT applying to alcohol (for instance, 
following a Budget), the relevant person should ensure that the permitted price reflects the new 
rates within fourteen days of the introduction of the new rate. 

10.58 It is still permitted to sell alcohol using promotions (as long as they are compatible with any 
other licensing condition that may be in force), and the relevant person should ensure that the 
price of the alcohol is not less than the permitted price. Detailed guidance on the use of 
promotions is given in the guidance document available on the GOV.UK website. 

Exhibition of films 

10.59 The 2003 Act provides that where a premises licence or club premises certificate authorises 
the exhibition of a film, it must include a condition requiring the admission of children to films to be 
restricted in accordance with recommendations given either by a body designated under section 4 
of the Video Recordings Act 1984 specified in the licence (currently only the British Board of Film 
Classification (BBFC)) or by the licensing authority itself. 

10.60 The effect of paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act is to exempt adverts from the 
definition of regulated entertainment, but not exempt them from the definition of exhibition of a film. 
Since the above mandatory condition applies to ‘any film’, it is therefore applicable to the exhibition 
of adverts. 

Door supervision 

10.61 Under section 21 of the 2003 Act, when a condition is included in a premises licence that at 
specified times an individual must be present at the premises to carry out a security activity (as 
defined in section 21(3)(a) by reference to the Private Security Industry Act 2001 (“the 2001 Act”)), 
the licence must include a condition requiring that individual to be licensed by the Security Industry 
Authority (“the SIA”) under the 2001 Act, or be entitled to carry out that activity by virtue of section 
4 of the 2001 Act. 

10.62 A premises licence need not require a person to hold a licence granted by the SIA if that 
person benefits from an exemption under section 4 of the 2001 Act. For example, certain 
employees benefit from an exemption when carrying out conduct in connection with a certified 
sports ground (section 4(6) to (12)). Furthermore, in certain circumstances persons benefit from an 
exemption where they operate under the SIA’s Approved Contractor Scheme (section 15). 

10.63 Conditions under section 21 of the 2003 Act should only relate to individuals carrying out 
security activities defined by section 21(3)(a) of the 2003 Act. Therefore, they should only relate to 

Page 82



an activity to which paragraph 2(1)(a) of Schedule 2 to the 2001 Act applies (certain manned 
guarding activities) and which is licensable conduct within the meaning of section 3(2) of that Act. 
The requirement does not relate to individuals performing non-security related activities, and 
section 21 should not be used in relation to any such activities. 

10.64 Section 21 of the 2003 Act continues to ensure that a premises licence need not impose 
such a requirement in relation to those licensed premises which the 2001 Act treats as unlicensed 
premises. Those are: 

 premises in respect of which there is in force a premises licence authorising a performance of a 
play or an exhibition of a film; 

 casinos or bingo halls licensed under the Gambling Act 2005; 
 premises where a club certificate is in force when activities are being carried on under the 

authority of that certificate. 

See paragraph 8(3) of Schedule 2 to the 2001 Act for full details. 

10.65 It should be noted, however, that the 2001 Act will require contractors and a small number of 
employees (those managing/supervising and those supplied under contract) to be licensed as 
manned guards (rather than door supervisors) when undertaking licensable conduct on premises 
to which paragraph 8(3) of Schedule 2 to the 2001 Act applies. 

10.66 It is therefore important that if a licensing authority intends that individuals must be present 
to carry out security activities (as defined by section 21(3)(a) of the 2003 Act) this should be 
explicit, as should the mandatory condition for those individuals to hold an SIA licence or be 
entitled to carry out that activity by virtue of section 4 of the 2001 Act. On the other hand, where a 
licensing authority intends that individuals must be present to carry out other activities (for 
example, activities related to safety or steward activities to organise, advise and direct members of 
the public), no mandatory condition should be imposed under section 21 of the 2003 Act. In all 
cases it is important when determining whether or not a condition is to be imposed under section 
21 of the 2003 Act to consider whether the activities of any individual working in licensed premises 
fall within the definition of security activities in section 21(3)(a) of the 2003 Act. (Regardless of 
whether a condition is imposed under section 21 of the 2003 Act, under the 2001 Act the 
appropriate SIA licence must be held by any individual performing an activity for which they are 
licensable under that Act.) 

11. Reviews 

The review process 

11.1 The proceedings set out in the 2003 Act for reviewing premises licences and club premises 
certificates represent a key protection for the community where problems associated with the 
licensing objectives occur after the grant or variation of a premises licence or club premises 
certificate. 

Page 83



11.2 At any stage, following the grant of a premises licence or club premises certificate, a 
responsible authority, or any other person, may ask the licensing authority to review the licence or 
certificate because of a matter arising at the premises in connection with any of the four licensing 
objectives. 

11.3 An application for review may be made electronically, provided that the licensing authority 
agrees and the applicant submits a subsequent hard copy of the application, if the licensing 
authority requires one. The licensing authority may also agree in advance that the application need 
not be given in hard copy. However, these applications are outside the formal electronic 
application process and may not be submitted via GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s electronic 
facility. The applicant must give notice of the review application to the responsible authorities and 
holder of the licence or certificate. The licensing authority is required to advertise a review 
application. 

11.4 In addition, the licensing authority must review a licence if the premises to which it relates 
was made the subject of a closure order by the police based on nuisance or disorder and the 
magistrates’ court has sent the authority the relevant notice of its determination, or if the police 
have made an application for summary review on the basis that premises are associated with 
serious crime and/or disorder. 

11.5 Any responsible authority under the 2003 Act may apply for a review of a premises licence or 
club premises certificate. Therefore, the relevant licensing authority may apply for a review if it is 
concerned about licensed activities at premises and wants to intervene early without waiting for 
representations from other persons. However, it is not expected that licensing authorities should 
normally act as responsible authorities in applying for reviews on behalf of other persons, such as 
local residents or community groups. These individuals or groups are entitled to apply for a review 
for a licence or certificate in their own right if they have grounds to do so. It is also reasonable for 
licensing authorities to expect other responsible authorities to intervene where the basis for the 
intervention falls within the remit of that other authority. For example, the police should take 
appropriate steps where the basis for the review is concern about crime and disorder or the sexual 
exploitation of children. Likewise, where there are concerns about noise nuisance, it is reasonable 
to expect the local authority exercising environmental health functions for the area in which the 
premises are situated to make the application for review. 

11.6 Where the relevant licensing authority does act as a responsible authority and applies for a 
review, it is important that a separation of responsibilities is still achieved in this process to ensure 
procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of interest. As outlined previously in Chapter 9 of this 
Guidance, the distinct functions of acting as licensing authority and responsible authority should be 
exercised by different officials to ensure a separation of responsibilities. Further information on 
how licensing authorities should achieve this separation of responsibilities can be found in Chapter 
9, paragraphs 9.13 to 

9.19 of this Guidance. 

11.7 In every case, any application for a review must relate to particular premises in respect of 
which there is a premises licence or club premises certificate and must be relevant to the 
promotion of one or more of the licensing objectives. Following the grant or variation of a licence or 
certificate, a complaint regarding a general issue in the local area relating to the licensing 
objectives, such as a general (crime and disorder) situation in a town centre, should generally not 
be regarded as relevant unless it can be positively tied or linked by a causal connection to 
particular premises, which would allow for a proper review of the licence or certificate. For 
instance, a geographic cluster of complaints, including along transport routes related to an 

Page 84



individual public house and its closing time, could give grounds for a review of an existing licence 
as well as direct incidents of crime and disorder around a particular public house. 

11.8 Where a licensing authority receives a geographic cluster of complaints, consideration may 
be given as whether these issues are the result of the cumulative impact of licensed premises 
within the area concerned. In such circumstances, the licensing authority may be asked to 
consider whether it would be appropriate to publish a cumulative impact assessment. Further 
guidance on cumulative impact assessments can be found in Chapter 14 of this Guidance. 

11.9 Responsible authorities and other persons may make representations in respect of an 
application to review a premises licence or club premises certificate. They must be relevant (i.e., 
relate to one or more of the licensing objectives) and, in the case of other persons, must not be 
frivolous or vexatious. Representations must be made in writing and may be amplified at the 
subsequent hearing or may stand in their own right. Additional representations which do not 
amount to an amplification of the original representation may not be made at the hearing. 
Representations may be made electronically, provided the licensing authority agrees and the 
applicant submits a subsequent hard copy, unless the licensing authority waives this requirement. 

11.10 Where authorised persons and responsible authorities have concerns about problems 
identified at premises, it is good practice for them to give licence holders early warning of their 
concerns and the need for improvement, and where possible they should advise the licence or 
certificate holder of the steps they need to take to address those concerns. A failure by the holder 
to respond to such warnings is expected to lead to a decision to apply for a review. Co-operation at 
a local level in promoting the licensing objectives should be encouraged and reviews should not be 
used to undermine this co- operation. 

11.11 If the application for a review has been made by a person other than a responsible authority 
(for example, a local resident, residents’ association, local business or trade association), before 
taking action the licensing authority must first consider whether the complaint being made is 
relevant, frivolous, vexatious or repetitious. Further guidance on determining whether a 
representation is frivolous or vexatious can be found in Chapter 9 of this Guidance (paragraphs 9.4 
to 9.10). 

 

Repetitious grounds of review 

11.12 A repetitious ground is one that is identical or substantially similar to: 

 a ground for review specified in an earlier application for review made in relation to the same 
premises licence or certificate which has already been determined; or 

 representations considered by the licensing authority when the premises licence or certificate 
was granted; or 

 representations which would have been made when the application for the premises licence 
was first made and which were excluded then by reason of the prior issue of a provisional 

Page 85



statement; and, in addition to the above grounds, a reasonable interval has not elapsed since 
that earlier review or grant. 

11.13 Licensing authorities are expected to be aware of the need to prevent attempts to review 
licences merely as a further means of challenging the grant of the licence following the failure of 
representations to persuade the licensing authority on an earlier occasion. It is for licensing 
authorities themselves to judge what should be regarded as a reasonable interval in these 
circumstances. However, it is recommended that more than one review originating from a person 
other than a responsible authority in relation to a particular premises should not be permitted within 
a 12 month period on similar grounds save in compelling circumstances or where it arises 
following a closure order or illegal working compliance order. 

11.14 The exclusion of a complaint on the grounds that it is repetitious does not apply to 
responsible authorities which may make more than one application for a review of a licence or 
certificate within a 12 month period. 

11.15 When a licensing authority receives an application for a review from a responsible authority 
or any other person, or in accordance with the closure procedures described in Part 8 of the 2003 
Act (for example, closure orders), it must arrange a hearing. The arrangements for the hearing 
must follow the provisions set out in regulations. These regulations are published on the 
Government’s legislation website (www.legislation.gov.uk). It is particularly important that the 
premises licence holder is made fully aware of any representations made in respect of the 
premises, any evidence supporting the representations and that the holder or the holder’s legal 
representative has therefore been able to prepare a response. 

Powers of a licensing authority on the determination of a review 

11.16 The 2003 Act provides a range of powers for the licensing authority which it may exercise on 
determining a review where it considers them appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. 

11.17 The licensing authority may decide that the review does not require it to take any further 
steps appropriate to promoting the licensing objectives. In addition, there is nothing to prevent a 
licensing authority issuing an informal warning to the licence holder and/or to recommend 
improvement within a particular period of time. It is expected that licensing authorities will regard 
such informal warnings as an important mechanism for ensuring that the licensing objectives are 
effectively promoted and that warnings should be issued in writing to the licence holder. 

11.18 However, where responsible authorities such as the police or environmental health officers 
have already issued warnings requiring improvement – either orally or in writing – that have failed 
as part of their own stepped approach to address concerns, licensing authorities should not merely 
repeat that approach and should take this into account when considering what further action is 
appropriate. Similarly, licensing authorities may take into account any civil immigration penalties 
which a licence holder has been required to pay for employing an illegal worker. 

11.19 Where the licensing authority considers that action under its statutory powers is appropriate, 
it may take any of the following steps: 

Page 86

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 modify the conditions of the premises licence (which includes adding new conditions or any 
alteration or omission of an existing condition), for example, by reducing the hours of opening or 
by requiring door supervisors at particular times; 

 exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence, for example, to exclude the 
performance of live music or playing of recorded music (where it is not within the incidental live 
and recorded music exemption)[footnote 10]; 

 remove the designated premises supervisor, for example, because they consider that the 
problems are the result of poor management; 

 suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; 
 revoke the licence. 

11.20 In deciding which of these powers to invoke, it is expected that licensing authorities should 
so far as possible seek to establish the cause or causes of the concerns that the representations 
identify. The remedial action taken should generally be directed at these causes and should 
always be no more than an appropriate and proportionate response to address the causes of 
concern that instigated the review. 

11.21 For example, licensing authorities should be alive to the possibility that the removal and 
replacement of the designated premises supervisor may be sufficient to remedy a problem where 
the cause of the identified problem directly relates to poor management decisions made by that 
individual. 

11.22 Equally, it may emerge that poor management is a direct reflection of poor company practice 
or policy and the mere removal of the designated premises supervisor may be an inadequate 
response to the problems presented. Indeed, where subsequent review hearings are generated, it 
should be rare merely to remove a succession of designated premises supervisors as this would 
be a clear indication of deeper problems that impact upon the licensing objectives. 

11.23 Licensing authorities should also note that modifications of conditions and exclusions of 
licensable activities may be imposed either permanently or for a temporary period of up to three 
months. Temporary changes or suspension of the licence for up to three months could impact on 
the business holding the licence financially and would only be expected to be pursued as an 
appropriate means of promoting the licensing objectives or preventing illegal working. So, for 
instance, a licence could be suspended for a weekend as a means of deterring the holder from 
allowing the problems that gave rise to the review to happen again. However, it will always be 
important that any detrimental financial impact that may result from a licensing authority’s decision 
is appropriate and proportionate to the promotion of the licensing objectives and for the prevention 
of illegal working in licensed premises. But where premises are found to be trading irresponsibly, 
the licensing authority should not hesitate, where appropriate to do so, to take tough action to 
tackle the problems at the premises and, where other measures are deemed insufficient, to revoke 
the licence. 

Reviews arising in connection with crime 

11.24 A number of reviews may arise in connection with crime that is not directly connected with 
licensable activities. For example, reviews may arise because of drugs problems at the premises, 
money laundering by criminal gangs, the sale of contraband or stolen goods, the sale of firearms, 
or the sexual exploitation of children. Licensing authorities do not have the power to judge the 
criminality or otherwise of any issue. This is a matter for the courts. The licensing authority’s role 

Page 87

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:10


when determining such a review is not therefore to establish the guilt or innocence of any 
individual but to ensure the promotion of the crime prevention objective. 

11.25 Reviews are part of the regulatory process introduced by the 2003 Act and they are not part 
of criminal law and procedure. There is, therefore, no reason why representations giving rise to a 
review of a premises licence need be delayed pending the outcome of any criminal proceedings. 
Some reviews will arise after the conviction in the criminal courts of certain individuals, but not all. 
In any case, it is for the licensing authority to determine whether the problems associated with the 
alleged crimes are taking place on the premises and affecting the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. Where a review follows a conviction, it would also not be for the licensing authority to 
attempt to go beyond any finding by the courts, which should be treated as a matter of undisputed 
evidence before them. 

11.26 Where the licensing authority is conducting a review on the grounds that the premises have 
been used for criminal purposes, its role is solely to determine what steps should be taken in 
connection with the premises licence, for the promotion of the crime prevention objective. It is 
important to recognise that certain criminal activity or associated problems may be taking place or 
have taken place despite the best efforts of the licence holder and the staff working at the 
premises and despite full compliance with the conditions attached to the licence. In such 
circumstances, the licensing authority is still empowered to take any appropriate steps to remedy 
the problems. The licensing authority’s duty is to take steps with a view to the promotion of the 
licensing objectives and the prevention of illegal working in the interests of the wider community 
and not those of the individual licence holder. 

11.27 There is certain criminal activity that may arise in connection with licensed premises which 
should be treated particularly seriously. These are the use of the licensed premises: 

 for the sale and distribution of drugs controlled under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 and the 
laundering of the proceeds of drugs crime; 

 for the sale and distribution of illegal firearms; 
 for the evasion of copyright in respect of pirated or unlicensed films and music, which does 

considerable damage to the industries affected; 
 for the illegal purchase and consumption of alcohol by minors which impacts on the health, 

educational attainment, employment prospects and propensity for crime of young people; 
 for prostitution or the sale of unlawful pornography; 
 by organised groups of paedophiles to groom children; 
 as the base for the organisation of criminal activity, particularly by gangs; 
 for the organisation of racist activity or the promotion of racist attacks; 
 for employing a person who is disqualified from that work by reason of their immigration status 

in the UK; 
 for unlawful gambling; and 
 for the sale or storage of smuggled tobacco and alcohol. 

11.28 It is envisaged that licensing authorities, the police, the Home Office (Immigration 
Enforcement) and other law enforcement agencies, which are responsible authorities, will use the 
review procedures effectively to deter such activities and crime. Where reviews arise and the 
licensing authority determines that the crime prevention objective is being undermined through the 
premises being used to further crimes, it is expected that revocation of the licence – even in the 
first instance – should be seriously considered. 

Page 88



Review of a premises licence following closure order or illegal working 
compliance order 

11.29 Licensing authorities are subject to certain timescales, set out in the legislation, for the 
review of a premises licence following a closure order under section 80 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 or an illegal working compliance order under section 38 of 
and Schedule 6 to the Immigration Act 2016. The relevant time periods run concurrently and are 
as follows: 

 when the licensing authority receives notice that a magistrates’ court has made a closure order 
it has 28 days to determine the licence review – the determination must be made before the 
expiry of the 28th day after the day on which the notice is received; 

 the hearing must be held within ten working days, the first of which is the day after the day the 
notice from the magistrates’ court is received; 

 notice of the hearing must be given no later than five working days before the first hearing day 
(there must be five clear working days between the giving of the notice and the start of the 
hearing). 

Review of a premises licence following persistent sales of alcohol to children 

11.29 The Government recognises that the majority of licensed premises operate responsibly and 
undertake due diligence checks on those who appear to be under the age of 18 at the point of sale 
(or 21 and 25 where they operate a Challenge 21 or 25 scheme). Where these systems are in 
place, licensing authorities may wish to take a proportionate approach in cases where there have 
been two sales of alcohol within very quick succession of one another (e.g., where a new cashier 
has not followed policy and conformed with a store’s age verification procedures). However, where 
persistent sales of alcohol to children have occurred at premises, and it is apparent that those 
managing the premises do not operate a responsible policy or have not exercised appropriate due 
diligence, responsible authorities should consider taking steps to ensure that a review of the 
licence is the norm in these circumstances. This is particularly the case where there has been a 
prosecution for the offence under section 147A or a closure notice has been given under section 
169A of the 2003 Act. In determining the review, the licensing authority should consider revoking 
the licence if it considers this appropriate. 

… 

Right of appeal against final review decision 

12.32 An appeal against the final review decision may be made to a magistrates’ court within 21 
days of the appellant being notified of the licensing authority’s determination on the review. An 
appeal may be made by the premises licence holder, the chief officer of police and/or any other 
person who made relevant representations. 

12.33 The decision of the licensing authority, following the review hearing, will not have effect until 
the end of the period allowed for appeal, or until the disposal of the appeal. 

Page 89



12.34 Where appeals are lodged both against the decision following the review of the interim steps 
and against the final determination, the courts may decide to consider the appeal against the final 
determination within the 28 day period, allowing the interim steps appeal to be disposed of at the 
same time. 

Flow diagram of the summary review process 

12.35 The following flow diagram summarises the process. 

Application for summary review, with certificate signed by senior officer (superintendent or above). 

LA [footnote 12] considers if it is necessary to take interim steps (must be within 48 hours [footnote 13] of 
receiving application). 

Licence holder can make representations against interim steps. 

LA holds hearing within 48 hours to consider whether interim steps are appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives (only once unless there is a material change in 
circumstance). 

LA must hold full hearing within 28 days to review the premises licence and decide whether any 
interim steps in place should be withdrawn or modified. 

Review decision takes effect after 21 days (unless appealed during that period). 

Right of all parties to appeal against review decision (within 21 days). [Police and licence holder 
can also appeal against continuing interim steps (within 21 days).] 

Any appeal against interim steps is heard by Magistrates’ court within 28 days. [Any appeal 
against review decision heard by Magistrates’ court. Timing decided by court (but may be held in 
conjunction with any appeal against continuing interim steps).] 

Final determination 

13. Appeals 

13.1 This chapter provides advice about entitlements to appeal in connection with various 
decisions made by a licensing authority under the provisions of the 2003 Act. Entitlements to 
appeal for parties aggrieved by decisions of the licensing authority are set out in Schedule 5 to the 
2003 Act. 

Page 90

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:12
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:13


General 

13.2 With the exception of appeals in relation to closure orders, an appeal may be made to any 
magistrates’ court in England or Wales but it is expected that applicants would bring an appeal in a 
magistrates’ court in the area in which they or the premises are situated. 

13.3 An appeal has to be commenced by the appellant giving a notice of appeal to the designated 
officer for the magistrates’ court within a period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the 
appellant was notified by the licensing authority of the decision which is being appealed. 

13.4 The licensing authority will always be a respondent to the appeal, but in cases where a 
favourable decision has been made for an applicant, licence holder, club or premises user against 
the representations of a responsible authority or any other person, or the objections of the chief 
officer of police, the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement), or local authority exercising 
environmental health functions, the holder of the premises or personal licence or club premises 
certificate or the person who gave an interim authority notice or the premises user will also be a 
respondent to the appeal, and the person who made the relevant representation or gave the 
objection will be the appellants. 

13.5 Where an appeal has been made against a decision of the licensing authority, the licensing 
authority will in all cases be the respondent to the appeal and may call as a witness a responsible 
authority or any other person who made representations against the application, if it chooses to do 
so. For this reason, the licensing authority should consider keeping responsible authorities and 
others informed of developments in relation to appeals to allow them to consider their position. 
Provided the court considers it appropriate, the licensing authority may also call as witnesses any 
individual or body that they feel might assist their response to an appeal. 

13.6 The court, on hearing any appeal, may review the merits of the decision on the facts and 
consider points of law or address both. 

13.7 On determining an appeal, the court may: 

 dismiss the appeal; 
 substitute for the decision appealed against any other decision which could have been made by 

the licensing authority; or 
 remit the case to the licensing authority to dispose of it in accordance with the direction of the 

court and make such order as to costs as it thinks fit. 

All parties should be aware that the court may make an order for one party to pay another party’s 
costs. 

On any appeal, the court is not entitled to consider whether the licence holder should have been 
convicted of an immigration offence or been required to pay an immigration penalty, or whether 
they should have been granted by the Home Office permission to be in the UK. This is because 
separate rights exist to appeal these matters or to have an immigration decision administratively 
reviewed. 

Licensing policy statements and Section 182 guidance 

Page 91



13.8 In hearing an appeal against any decision made by a licensing authority, the magistrates’ 
court will have regard to that licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy and this Guidance. 
However, the court would be entitled to depart from either the statement of licensing policy or this 
Guidance if it considered it was justified to do so because of the individual circumstances of any 
case. In other words, while the court will normally consider the matter as if it were “standing in the 
shoes” of the licensing authority, it would be entitled to find that the licensing authority should have 
departed from its own policy or the Guidance because the particular circumstances would have 
justified such a decision. 

13.9 In addition, the court is entitled to disregard any part of a licensing policy statement or this 
Guidance that it holds to be ultra vires the 2003 Act and therefore unlawful. The normal course for 
challenging a statement of licensing policy or this Guidance should be by way of judicial review, 
but where it is submitted to an appellate court that a statement of policy is itself ultra vires the 2003 
Act and this has a direct bearing on the case before it, it would be inappropriate for the court, on 
accepting such a submission, to compound the original error by relying on that part of the 
statement of licensing policy affected. 

Giving reasons for decisions 

13.10 It is important that a licensing authority gives comprehensive reasons for its decisions in 
anticipation of any appeals. Failure to give adequate reasons could itself give rise to grounds for 
an appeal. It is particularly important that reasons should also address the extent to which the 
decision has been made with regard to the licensing authority’s statement of policy and this 
Guidance. Reasons should be promulgated to all the parties of any process which might give rise 
to an appeal under the terms of the 2003 Act. 

13.11 It is important that licensing authorities also provide all parties who were party to the original 
hearing, but not involved directly in the appeal, with clear reasons for any subsequent decisions 
where appeals are settled out of court. Local residents in particular, who have attended a hearing 
where the decision was subject to an appeal, are likely to expect the final determination to be 
made by a court. 

Implementing the determination of the magistrates’ courts 

13.12 As soon as the decision of the magistrates’ court has been promulgated, licensing 
authorities should implement it without delay. Any attempt to delay implementation will only bring 
the appeal system into disrepute. Standing orders should therefore be in place that on receipt of 
the decision, appropriate action should be taken immediately unless ordered by the magistrates’ 
court or a higher court to suspend such action (for example, as a result of an on-going judicial 
review). Except in the case of closure orders, the 2003 Act does not provide for a further appeal 
against the decision of the magistrates’ courts and normal rules of challenging decisions of 
magistrates’ courts will apply. 

Page 92



Provisional statements 

13.13 To avoid confusion, it should be noted that a right of appeal only exists in respect of the 
terms of a provisional statement that is issued rather than one that is refused. This is because the 
2003 Act does not empower a licensing authority to refuse to issue a provisional statement. After 
receiving and considering relevant representations, the licensing authority may only indicate, as 
part of the statement, that it would consider certain steps to be appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives when, and if, an application were made for a premises licence following the 
issuing of the provisional statement. Accordingly, the applicant or any person who has made 
relevant representations may appeal against the terms of the statement issued. 

14. Statements of licensing policy 

Introduction 

The Licensing Act 2003 

14.1 This chapter provides guidance on the development and preparation of local statements of 
licensing policy for publication by licensing authorities, the general principles that it is 
recommended should underpin them, and core content to which licensing authorities are free to 
add. 

General 

14.2 Section 5 of the 2003 Act requires a licensing authority to prepare and publish a statement of 
its licensing policy at least every five years. Such a policy must be published before the authority 
carries out any function in respect of individual applications and notices made under the terms of 
the 2003 Act. During the five-year period, the policy must be kept under review and the licensing 
authority may make any revisions to it as it considers appropriate, for instance in the light of 
feedback from the local community on whether the licensing objectives are being met. If the 
licensing authority determines and publishes its policy in this way, a new five-year period 
commences on the date it is published. Previously, licensing authorities were required to 
determine their licensing policies for each three-year period. Licensing policies published in 
respect of the three-year period that began on 7 January 2011 are to be treated as though they 
apply to a period of five years beginning at that date. 

… 

Page 93



Fundamental principles 

14.9 All statements of policy should begin by stating the four licensing objectives, which the 
licensing policy should promote. In determining its policy, a licensing authority must have regard to 
this Guidance and give appropriate weight to the views of consultees. 

14.10 While statements of policy may set out a general approach to making licensing decisions, 
they must not ignore or be inconsistent with provisions in the 2003 Act. For example, a statement 
of policy must not undermine the right of any person to apply under the terms of the 2003 Act for a 
variety of permissions and to have any such application considered on its individual merits. 

14.11 Similarly, no statement of policy should override the right of any person to make 
representations on an application or to seek a review of a licence or certificate where provision has 
been made for them to do so in the 2003 Act. 

14.12 Statements of policies should make clear that: 

 licensing is about regulating licensable activities on licensed premises, by qualifying clubs and 
at temporary events within the terms of the 2003 Act; and 

 conditions attached to various authorisations will be focused on matters which are within the 
control of individual licence holders and others with relevant authorisations, i.e. the premises 
and its vicinity. 

14.13 A statement of policy should also make clear that licensing law is not the primary 
mechanism for the general control of nuisance and anti-social behaviour by individuals once they 
are away from the licensed premises and, therefore, beyond the direct control of the individual, 
club or business holding the licence, certificate or authorisation concerned. Nonetheless, it is a key 
aspect of such control and licensing law will always be part of a holistic approach to the 
management of the evening and night-time economy in town and city centres. 

Licence conditions 

14.14 Statements of licensing policy should reflect the general principles regarding licence 
conditions set out in Chapter 1 of this guidance. 

14.15 Statements of licensing policy should include a firm commitment to avoid attaching 
conditions that duplicate other regulatory regimes as far as possible. Chapter 10 provides further 
detail on this issue. 

Enforcement 

14.16 The Government recommends that licensing authorities should establish and set out joint 
enforcement protocols with the local police and the other authorities and describe them in their 
statement of policy. This will clarify the division of responsibilities for licence holders and 
applicants, and assists enforcement and other authorities to deploy resources more efficiently. 

Page 94



14.17 In particular, these protocols should also provide for the targeting of agreed problem and 
high-risk premises which require greater attention, while providing a lighter touch for low risk 
premises or those that are well run. In some local authority areas, the limited validity of public 
entertainment, theatre, cinema, night café and late night refreshment house licences has in the 
past led to a culture of annual inspections regardless of whether the assessed risks make such 
inspections necessary. The 2003 Act does not require inspections to take place save at the 
discretion of those charged with this role. Principles of risk assessment and targeted inspection (in 
line with the Regulators’ Code) should prevail and, for example, inspections should not be 
undertaken routinely but when and if they are judged necessary. This should ensure that 
resources are used efficiently and for example, are more effectively concentrated on problem 
premises. Licensing authorities should also remind operators of licensed premises that it is 
incumbent on them to provide appropriate training for their staff to ensure the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. 

Entertainment provision 

14.18 Statements of licensing policy should set out the extent to which the licensing authority 
intends to facilitate a broad range of entertainment provision for enjoyment by a wide cross-section 
of the public. Statements of licensing policy should address what balance is to be struck between 
promoting the provision of entertainment and addressing concerns relevant to the licensing 
objectives. Licensing authorities should be conscious that licensing policy may inadvertently deter 
live music by imposing indirect costs of a disproportionate nature, for example a blanket policy that 
any pub providing live music entertainment must have door supervisors. 

The need for licensed premises 

14.19 There can be confusion about the difference between the “need” for premises and the 
“cumulative impact” of premises on the licensing objectives, for example, on crime and disorder. 
“Need” concerns the commercial demand for another pub or restaurant or hotel and is a matter for 
the planning authority and for the market. This is not a matter for a licensing authority in 
discharging its licensing functions or for its statement of licensing policy. 

The cumulative impact of a concentration of licensed premises 

What is cumulative impact? 

14.20 The concept of “Cumulative impact” has been described within this guidance and used by 
licensing authorities within their statements of licensing policy since the commencement of the 
2003 Act. ‘Cumulative impact assessments’ were introduced in the 2003 Act by the Policing and 
Crime Act 2017, with effect from 6 April 2018. Cumulative impact is the potential impact on the 
promotion of the licensing objectives of a number of licensed premises concentrated in one area. 

Page 95



14.21 In some areas where the number, type or density of licensed premises, such as those 
selling alcohol or providing late night refreshment, is high or exceptional, serious problems of 
nuisance and disorder may arise outside or some distance from those premises. Such problems 
generally occur as a result of large numbers of drinkers being concentrated in an area, for example 
when leaving premises at peak times or when queuing at fast food outlets or for public transport. 

14.22 Queuing in itself may lead to conflict, disorder and anti-social behaviour. Moreover, large 
concentrations of people may also attract criminal activities such as drug dealing, pick pocketing 
and street robbery. Local services such as public transport, public lavatory provision and street 
cleaning may not be able to meet the demand posed by such concentrations of drinkers leading to 
issues such as street fouling, littering, traffic and public nuisance caused by concentrations of 
people who cannot be effectively dispersed quickly. 

14.23 Variable licensing hours may facilitate a more gradual dispersal of customers from premises. 
However, in some cases, the impact on surrounding areas of the behaviour of the customers of all 
premises taken together will be greater than the impact of customers of individual premises. These 
conditions are more likely to arise in town and city centres, but may also arise in other urban 
centres and the suburbs, for example on smaller high streets with high concentrations of licensed 
premises. 

Cumulative impact assessments 

14.24 A cumulative impact assessment (CIA) may be published by a licensing authority to help it to 
limit the number or types of licence applications granted in areas where there is evidence to show 
that the number or density of licensed premises in the area is having a cumulative impact and 
leading to problems which are undermining the licensing objectives. CIAs relate to applications for 
new premises licences and club premises certificates and applications to vary existing premises 
licences and club premises certificates in a specified area. 

14.25 Section 5A of the 2003 Act sets out what a licensing authority needs to do in order to publish 
a CIA and review it, including the requirement to consult with the persons listed in section 5(3) of 
the 2003 Act. The 2003 Act does not stipulate how the CIA should be used once published, 
because the requirements for determining applications for new licences or variations are the same 
in areas with a CIA as they are elsewhere, as set out in sections 18, 35, 72 and 85 of the Act. 
However, any CIA published by a licensing authority must be summarised in its statement of 
licensing policy. Under section 5(6D) a licensing authority must also have regard to any CIA it has 
published when determining or revising its statement of licensing policy. 

14.26 The CIA must include a statement saying that the licensing authority considers that the 
number of premises licences and/or club premises certificates in one or more parts of the area 
described is such that it is likely that granting further licences would be inconsistent with the 
authority’s duty to promote the licensing objectives. As part of the publication a licensing authority 
must set out the evidential basis for its opinion. 

14.27 CIAs may relate to premises licensed to carry on any licensable activity, including the sale of 
alcohol for consumption on or off the premises, and the provision of late night refreshment. This 
includes late night refreshment providers which are not licensed to sell alcohol. A CIA may relate 
to all premises licences and club premises certificates in the area described in the assessment or 
parts thereof, or only to premises of a particular kind described in the assessment. For example, it 
may be appropriate for the licensing authority to only include off-licences or nightclubs within the 
scope of its assessment. The licensing authority must make clear, when publishing its CIA, which 
premises types it applies to. CIAs do not apply to TENs; however it is open to the police and 

Page 96



environmental health authority (as relevant persons) to refer to evidence published within a CIA 
when objecting to a TEN. 

14.28 While the evidence underpinning the publication of a CIA should generally be suitable as the 
basis for a decision to refuse an application or impose conditions, it does not change the 
fundamental way that decisions are made under the 2003 Act. Each decision in an area subject to 
a CIA therefore still needs to be made on a case-by-case basis and with a view to what is 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. Importantly, the publication of a CIA 
would not remove a licensing authority’s discretion to grant applications for new licences or 
applications to vary existing licences, where the authority considers this to be appropriate in the 
light of the individual circumstances of the case. 

Evidence of cumulative impact 

14.29 As noted above, there must be an evidential basis for the decision to publish a CIA. Local 
Community Safety Partnerships and responsible authorities, such as the police and the 
environmental health authority, may hold relevant information which would inform licensing 
authorities when establishing the evidence base for publishing a CIA. Evidence of cumulative 
impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives needs to relate to the relevant problems 
identified in the specific area to be covered by the CIA. Information which licensing authorities may 
be able to draw on includes: 

 local crime and disorder statistics, including statistics on specific types of crime and crime 
hotspots; 

 statistics on local anti-social behaviour offences; 
 health-related statistics such as alcohol-related emergency attendances and hospital 

admissions; 
 environmental health complaints, particularly in relation to litter and noise; 
 complaints recorded by the local authority, which may include complaints raised by local 

residents or residents’ associations; 
 residents’ questionnaires; 
 evidence from local and parish councillors; and 
 evidence obtained through local consultation. 

14.30 The licensing authority may consider this evidence, alongside its own evidence of the impact 
of licensable activities within its area, and consider in particular the times at which licensable 
activities are carried on. Information which may inform consideration of these issues includes: 

 trends in licence applications, particularly trends in applications by types of premises and 
terminal hours; 

 changes in terminal hours of premises; 
 premises’ capacities at different times of night and the expected concentrations of drinkers who 

will be expected to be leaving premises at different times. 

14.31 Where existing information is insufficient or not readily available, but the licensing authority 
believes there are problems in its area resulting from the cumulative impact of licensed premises, it 
can consider conducting or commissioning a specific study to assess the position. This may 
involve conducting observations of the night-time economy to assess the extent of incidents 
relating to the promotion of the licensing objectives, such as incidences of criminal activity and 
anti-social behaviour, examples of public nuisance, specific issues such as underage drinking and 
the key times and locations at which these problems are occurring. 

Page 97



14.32 In order to identify the areas in which problems are occurring, information about specific 
incidents can be mapped and, where possible, a time analysis undertaken to identify the key areas 
and times at which there are specific issues. 

14.33 After considering the available evidence and consulting those individuals and organisations 
listed in section 5(3) of the 2003 Act and any others, a licensing authority may be satisfied that it is 
appropriate to publish a CIA. The CIA should also be considered alongside local planning policy 
and other factors which may assist in mitigating the cumulative impact of licensed premises, as set 
out in paragraph 14.47. 

Steps to publishing a cumulative impact assessment 

14.34 The steps to be followed in considering whether to publish a CIA are summarised below. 

 Identify concern about crime and disorder; public safety; public nuisance or protection of 
children from harm in a particular location. 

 Consider whether there is good evidence that crime and disorder or nuisance are occurring, or 
whether there are activities which pose a threat to public safety or the protection of children 
from harm. 

 If there is evidence that such problems are occurring, identify whether these problems are being 
caused by the customers of licensed premises, or that cumulative impact is imminent. 

 Identify the boundaries of the area where problems are occurring (this can involve mapping 
where the problems occur and identifying specific streets or localities where such problems 
arise). 

 Consult those specified in section 5(3) of the 2003 Act. As with consultations in respect of the 
licensing policy statement as a whole, it is for each licensing authority to determine the extent of 
the consultation it should undertake in respect of a CIA (subject to the statutory requirements). 

 For the purposes of the consultation provide the persons specified in section 5(3) with the 
following information: 
 the reasons why it is considering publishing a CIA; 
 a general indication of the part or parts of its area which it is considering describing in the 

assessment; 
 whether it considers that the assessment will relate to all premises licence and club premises 

certificate applications and variation applications, or only to those of a particular kind 
described. 

 Subject to the outcome of the consultation, include and publish details of the CIA, including the 
evidence in support of the assessment and the particular kinds of premises the assessment 
relates to. Licensing authorities are not restricted to using general terms such as on-trade, off-
trade and late night refreshment providers, and can apply their own descriptions such as 
vertical-drinking bars and night clubs if appropriate. 

 Summarise the licensing authority’s opinion in light of the evidence of cumulative impact (or any 
revision to an existing opinion) in the licensing policy statement and explain within the policy 
statement how the authority has had regard to any CIAs it has published under section 5A. The 
summary within the licensing policy statement should include, but is not limited to: the nature of 
the problems identified and the evidence for such problems; the geographical extent of the area 
covered by the assessment; the types of premises described in the assessment; and the types 
of applications for which it would likely be inconsistent with the licensing authority’s duty to 
promote the licensing objectives to grant. 

… 

Effect of cumulative impact assessments 

Page 98



14.39 When publishing a CIA a licensing authority is required to set out evidence of problems that 
are being caused or exacerbated by the cumulative impact of licensed premises in the area 
described. The evidence is used to justify the statement in the CIA that it is likely that granting 
further premises licences and/or club premises certificates in that area (limited to a kind described 
in the assessment), would be inconsistent with the authority’s duty to promote the licensing 
objectives. 

14.40 In publishing a CIA a licensing authority is setting down a strong statement of intent about its 
approach to considering applications for the grant or variation of premises licences or club 
premises certificates in the area described. Having published a CIA a licensing authority must 
have regard to the assessment when determining or revising its statement of licensing policy. It is 
therefore expected that, in respect of each relevant application in the area concerned, the licensing 
authority will be considering whether it is appropriate to make a representation to its committee as 
a responsible authority in its own right. The CIA does not, however, change the fundamental way 
that licensing decisions are made. It is therefore open to the licensing authority to grant an 
application where it considers it is appropriate and where the applicant can demonstrate in the 
operating schedule that they would not be adding to the cumulative impact. Applications in areas 
covered by a CIA should therefore give consideration to potential cumulative impact issues when 
setting out the steps that will be taken to promote the licensing objectives. Where relevant 
representations are received and a licensing authority decides to grant an application it will need to 
provide the applicant, the chief officer of police and all parties who made relevant representations 
with reasons for granting the application and this should include any reasons for departing from 
their own policy. 

14.41 The CIA must also stress that it does not relieve responsible authorities (or any other 
persons) of the need to make relevant representations where they consider it appropriate to do so 
for the promotion of the licensing objectives. Anyone making a representation may base it on the 
evidence published in the CIA, or the fact that a CIA has been published. It remains incumbent on 
all responsible authorities and other persons to ensure that their representations can withstand the 
scrutiny to which they would be subject at a hearing. As with all licensing applications under the 
2003 Act, if there are no representations, the licensing authority must grant the application in terms 
that are consistent with the operating schedule submitted. 

14.42 The absence of a CIA does not prevent any responsible authority or other person making 
representations on an application for the grant or variation of a licence on the grounds that the 
premises will give rise to a negative cumulative impact on one or more of the licensing objectives, 
However, in each case it would be incumbent on the person making the representation to provide 
relevant evidence of cumulative impact. 

14.43 As noted above, CIAs may apply to the impact of a concentration of any licensed premises, 
including those licensed for the sale of alcohol on or off the premises, and premises licensed to 
provide late night refreshment. When establishing its evidence base for publishing a CIA, licensing 
authorities should be considering the contribution to cumulative impact made by different types of 
premises within its area, in order to determine the appropriateness of including different types of 
licensed premises within the CIA. 

… 

Other mechanisms for controlling cumulative impact 

Page 99



14.47 Once away from the licensed premises, a minority of consumers will behave badly. To 
enable the general public to appreciate the breadth of the strategy for addressing these problems, 
statements of policy should also indicate the other mechanisms both within and outside the 
licensing regime that are available for addressing such issues. For example: 

 planning control; 
 positive measures to create a safe and clean town centre environment in partnership with local 

businesses, transport operators and other departments of the local authority, including best 
practise schemes such as Best Bar None, Pubwatch or BIDs; 

 Community Protection Notices; 
 the provision of CCTV surveillance in town centres, taxi ranks, provision of public conveniences 

open late at night, street cleaning and litter patrols; 
 powers of local authorities to designate parts of the local authority area as places where alcohol 

may not be consumed publicly; 
 the confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas; 
 police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and anti-social behaviour, including 

the issuing of fixed penalty notices; 
 prosecution for the offence of selling alcohol to a person who is drunk (or allowing such a sale); 
 Raising a contribution to policing the late night economy through the Late Night Levy. 
 Early Morning Alcohol Restriction Orders (see Chapter 17). 

14.48 As part of its licensing policy statement, the licensing authority may also wish to consider the 
use of alternative approaches such as fixed closing times, staggered closing times and zoning. 
Such policy restrictions would need to be evidence-based and would be subject to the merits of 
each case in accordance with what is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. The 
licensing authority would be expected to justify the use of such measures as an appropriate means 
of managing problems in its area. 

… 

Licensing hours 

14.51 With regard to licensing hours, the Government acknowledges that different licensing 
approaches may be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in different areas. The 
2003 Act gives the licensing authority power to make decisions regarding licensed opening hours 
as part of the implementation of its licensing policy statement and licensing authorities are best 
placed to make such decisions based on their local knowledge and in consultation with other 
responsible authorities. However, licensing authorities must always consider each application and 
must not impose predetermined licensed opening hours, without giving individual consideration to 
the merits of each application. 

14.52 Statements of licensing policy should set out the licensing authority’s approach regarding 
licensed opening hours and the strategy it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives in its area. The statement of licensing policy should emphasise the consideration which 
will be given to the individual merits of an application. The Government recognises that licensed 
premises make an important contribution to our local communities, and has given councils a range 
of tools to effectively manage the different pressures that licensed premises can bring. In 
determining appropriate strategies around licensed opening hours, licensing authorities cannot 

Page 100



seek to restrict the activities of licensed premises where it is not appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives to do so. 

Children 

14.53 It is an offence under the 2003 Act to: 

 permit children under the age of 16 who are not accompanied by an adult to be present on 
premises being used exclusively or primarily for supply of alcohol for consumption on those 
premises under the authorisation of a premises licence, club premises certificate or where that 
activity is carried on under the authority of a TEN; and 

 to permit the presence of children under 16 who are not accompanied by an adult between 
midnight and 5am at other premises supplying alcohol for consumption on the premises under 
the authority of any premises licence, club premises certificate or TEN. 

14.54 Outside of these hours, the offence does not prevent the admission of unaccompanied 
children under 16 to the wide variety of premises where the consumption of alcohol is not the 
exclusive or primary activity. This does not mean that children should automatically be admitted to 
such premises and the following paragraphs are therefore of great importance notwithstanding the 
offences under the 2003 Act. The expression ‘exclusively or primarily’ should be given its ordinary 
and natural meaning in the context of the particular circumstances. 

14.55 Where it is not clear that the business is predominately for the sale and consumption of 
alcohol, operators and enforcement agencies should seek to clarify the position before 
enforcement action is taken. Mixed businesses may be more difficult to classify and in such cases 
operators and enforcement agencies should consult where appropriate about their respective 
interpretations of the activities taking place on the premises before any moves are taken which 
might lead to prosecution. 

14.56 The 2003 Act does not automatically permit unaccompanied children under the age of 18 to 
have free access to premises where the consumption of alcohol is not the exclusive or primary 
activity or to the same premises even if they are accompanied, or to premises where the 
consumption of alcohol is not involved. Subject only to the provisions of the 2003 Act and any 
licence or certificate conditions, admission will always be at the discretion of those managing the 
premises. The 2003 Act includes no presumption of giving children access but equally, no 
presumption of preventing their access to licensed premises. Each application and the 
circumstances of individual premises must be considered on their own merits. 

14.57 A statement of licensing policy should not seek to limit the access of children to any 
premises unless it is appropriate for the prevention of physical, moral or psychological harm to 
them (please see Chapter 2). It may not be possible for licensing policy statements to anticipate 
every issue of concern that could arise in respect of children in relation to individual premises and 
therefore the individual merits of each application should be considered in each case. 

14.58 A statement of licensing policy should make clear the range of alternatives which may be 
considered for limiting the access of children where that is appropriate for the prevention of harm 
to children. Conditions which may be relevant in this respect are outlined in paragraph 2.27. 

Page 101



14.59 Statements of policy should also make clear that conditions requiring the admission of 
children to any premises cannot be attached to licences or certificates. Where no licensing 
restriction is appropriate, this should remain a matter for the discretion of the individual licence 
holder, club or premises user. 

14.60 Venue operators seeking premises licences and club premises certificates should consider 
including such prohibitions and restrictions in their operating schedules particularly where their 
own risk assessments have determined that the presence of children is undesirable or 
inappropriate. 

Responsible authority and children 

14.61 A statement of licensing policy should indicate which body the licensing authority judges to 
be competent to act as the responsible authority in relation to the protection of children from harm. 
This may be the local authority social services department, the Local Safeguarding Children Board 
or other competent body as agreed locally. It would be practical and useful for statements of 
licensing policy to include descriptions of the responsible authorities in any area and appropriate 
contact details. 

Children and cinemas 

14.62 The statement of policy should make clear that in the case of premises giving film 
exhibitions[footnote 17], the licensing authority will expect licence holders or clubs to include in their 
operating schedules arrangements for restricting children from viewing age- restricted films 
classified according to the recommendations of the British Board of Film 

Classification or the licensing authority itself (see paragraphs 10.59 to 10.60). 

Integrating strategies 

14.63 It is recommended that statements of licensing policy should provide clear indications of how 
the licensing authority will secure the proper integration of its licensing policy with local crime 
prevention, planning, transport, tourism, equality schemes, cultural strategies and any other plans 
introduced for the management of town centres and the night-time economy. Many of these 
strategies are not directly related to the promotion of the licensing objectives, but, indirectly, impact 
upon them. Co-ordination and integration of such policies, strategies and initiatives are therefore 
important. 

Planning and building control 

Page 102

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:17


14.64 The statement of licensing policy should indicate that planning permission, building control 
approval and licensing regimes will be properly separated to avoid duplication and inefficiency. 
The planning and licensing regimes involve consideration of different (albeit related) matters. 
Licensing committees are not bound by decisions made by a planning committee, and vice versa. 
However, as set out in chapter 9, licensing committees and officers should consider discussions 
with their planning counterparts prior to determination with the aim of agreeing mutually acceptable 
operating hours and scheme designs. 

14.65 There are circumstances when, as a condition of planning permission, a terminal hour has 
been set for the use of premises for commercial purposes. Where these hours are different to the 
licensing hours, the applicant must observe the earlier closing time. Premises operating in breach 
of their planning permission would be liable to prosecution under planning law. Proper integration 
should be assured by licensing committees, where appropriate, providing regular reports to the 
planning committee. 

14.66 Where there is an application for planning permission, the National Planning Policy 
Framework expects new development can be integrated effectively with existing businesses and 
community facilities (such as places of worship, pubs, music venues and sports clubs). Existing 
businesses and facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of 
development permitted after they were established. Where the operation of an existing business or 
community facility could have a significant adverse effect on new development (including changes 
of use) in its vicinity, the applicant (or ‘agent of change’) should be required by the local planning 
authority to provide suitable mitigation before the development has been completed. 

Promotion of equality 

14.67 A statement of licensing policy should recognise that the Equality Act 2010 places a legal 
obligation on public authorities to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; to advance equality of opportunity; and to foster good relations, 
between persons with different protected characteristics. The protected characteristics are age, 
disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual 
orientation. 

14.68 Public authorities are required to publish information at least annually to demonstrate their 
compliance with the Equality Duty. The statement of licensing policy should refer to this legislation, 
and explain how the Equality Duty has been complied with. Further guidance is available from 
Government Equalities Office and the Equality and Human Rights Commission. 

Administration, exercise and delegation of functions 

14.69 The 2003 Act provides that the functions of the licensing authority (including its 
determinations) are to be taken or carried out by its licensing committee (except those relating to 
the making of a statement of licensing policy or where another of its committees has the matter 
referred to it). The licensing committee may delegate these functions to sub-committees consisting 
of three members of the committee, or in appropriate cases to officials supporting the licensing 
authority. Where licensing functions are not automatically transferred to licensing committees, the 

Page 103



functions must be carried out by the licensing authority as a whole and not by its executive. 
Statements of licensing policy should indicate how the licensing authority intends to approach its 
various functions. Many of the decisions and functions will be purely administrative in nature and 
statements of licensing policy should underline the principle of delegation in the interests of speed, 
efficiency and cost-effectiveness. 

14.70 The 2003 Act does not prevent the development by a licensing authority of collective 
working practices with other parts of the local authority or other licensing authorities for work of a 
purely administrative nature, e.g. mail-outs. In addition, such administrative tasks may be 
contracted out to private businesses. But any matters regarding licensing decisions must be 
carried out by the licensing committee, its sub-committees or officers. 

… 

16. Regulated entertainment 

Types of regulated entertainment 

16.1 Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act sets out what activities are regarded as the provision of regulated 
entertainment and when they are licensable and those activities which are not and therefore 
exempt from the regulated entertainment regime. Changes to regulated entertainment took effect 
on 6 April 2015. 

16.2 The descriptions of entertainment activities licensable under the 2003 Act are: 

 a performance of a play; 
 an exhibition of a film; 
 an indoor sporting event; 
 a boxing or wrestling entertainment; 
 a performance of live music; 
 any playing of recorded music; 
 a performance of dance; and 
 entertainment of a similar description to a performance of live music, any playing of recorded 

music or a performance of dance. 

16.3 To be licensable, one or more of these activities needs to be provided for the purpose (at 
least partly) of entertaining an audience; has to be held on premises made available for the 
purpose of enabling that activity; and must also either: 

 take place in the presence of a public audience, or 

· be provided exclusively for the members of a club or for the club members and their guests, or 

 where that activity takes place in private, be the subject of a charge made with a view to profit. 

Page 104



16.4 Guidance around what constitutes audiences and private events is at paragraphs 16.11- 
16.14. 

Overview of circumstances in which entertainment activities are not licensable 

16.5 There are a number of exemptions that mean that a licence (or other authorisation [footnote 18]) 
under the 2003 Act is not required. This Guidance cannot give examples of every eventuality or 
possible entertainment activity that is not licensable. However, the following activities are 
examples of entertainment which are not licensable: 

 activities which involve participation as acts of worship in a religious context; 
 activities in places of public religious worship; 
 education – teaching students to perform music or to dance; 
 the demonstration of a product – for example, a guitar – in a music shop; 
 the rehearsal of a play or performance of music for a private audience where no charge is made 

with a view to making a profit; 
 Morris dancing (or similar)[footnote 19]; 
 Incidental music – the performance of live music or the playing of recorded music if it is 

incidental to some other activity[footnote 20]; 
 Incidental film – an exhibition of moving pictures if it is incidental to some other activity[footnote 21]; 
 A spontaneous performance of music, singing or dancing; 
 Garden fetes – or similar if not being promoted or held for purposes of private gain; 
 Films for advertisement, information, education or in museums or art galleries; 
 Television or radio broadcasts – as long as the programme is live and simultaneous; 
 Vehicles in motion – at a time when the vehicle is not permanently or temporarily parked; 
 Games played in pubs, youth clubs etc. (e.g. pool, darts and table tennis); 
 Stand-up comedy; and 
 Provision of entertainment facilities (e.g. dance floors)[footnote 22]. 

16.6 As a result of deregulatory changes that have amended the 2003 Act[footnote 23], no licence is 
required for the following activities: 

 Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided 
that the audience does not exceed 500. 

 Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided 
that the audience does not exceed 500[footnote 24]. 

 Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in community premises 
between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day provided that the audience does not exceed 500 and the 
organiser (a) gets consent to the screening from a person who is responsible for the premises; 
and (b) ensures that each such screening abides by age classification ratings. 

 Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for an event between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 
day, provided that those present do not exceed 1000. 

 Boxing or wrestling entertainment: no licence is required for a contest, exhibition or display of 
Greco-Roman wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided 
that the audience does not exceed 1000. 

 Live music: no licence permission is required for: 
 a performance of unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, on any 

premises. 

Page 105

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:18
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:19
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:20
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:21
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:22
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:23
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:24


 a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises 
authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience 
does not exceed 500[footnote 25]. 

 a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a 
workplace[footnote 26] that does not have a licence, provided that the audience does not exceed 
500. 

 a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, 
village hall, community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a 
premises licence to sell alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) 
the organiser gets consent for the performance from a person who is responsible for the 
premises. 

 a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non-
residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) 
the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance 
on the relevant premises from: (i) the local authority concerned, or (ii) the school or (iii) the 
health care provider for the hospital. 

 Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for: 
 any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised 

to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience does not 
exceed 500[footnote 27]. 

 any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, village 
hall, community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a premises 
licence to sell alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the 
organiser gets consent for the performance from a person who is responsible for the 
premises. 

 any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non- residential 
premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the 
audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance on 
the relevant premises from: (i) the local authority concerned, or (ii) the school proprietor or 
(iii) the health care provider for the hospital. 

 Cross activity exemptions: no licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, with no 
limit on audience size for: 
 any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority where the 

entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the local authority; 
 any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health care provider where 

the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the health care provider; 
 any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school where the entertainment is 

provided by or on behalf of the school proprietor; and 
 any entertainment (excluding films and a boxing or wrestling entertainment) taking place at a 

travelling circus, provided that (a) it takes place within a moveable structure that 
accommodates the audience, and (b) that the travelling circus has not been located on the 
same site for more than 28 consecutive days. 

16.7 The deregulatory changes mean that, for example, an indoor sporting event that takes place 
between 07.00 and 23.30 on a particular day is licensable in respect of activities taking place 
between 07.00-08.00 and 23.00-23.30. Similarly, where the audience for a performance of dance 
fluctuates, those activities are licensable if, and for so long as, the number of people in the 
audience exceeds 500. If organisers are uncertain as to audience sizes or if audience migration is 
likely[footnote 28], it might be easier and more flexible to secure an appropriate authorisation. Examples 
of where a Temporary Event Notice (TEN)[footnote 29] could still be required include if the activity is the 
playing of recorded music or the exhibition of a film that requires an authorisation; or if the 
entertainment is not authorised by an existing licence or certificate and its conditions. 

Page 106

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:25
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:26
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:27
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:28
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:29


16.8 Of course, anyone involved in the organisation or provision of entertainment activities – 
whether or not any such activity is licensable under the 2003 Act – must comply with any 
applicable duties that may be imposed by other legislation relevant to the event (e.g. in areas such 
as crime and disorder, fire, health and safety, noise, nuisance and planning).[footnote 30] Any such 
person should take steps to be aware of relevant best practice, and may find responsible 
authorities a useful source of expert support and advice. 

16.9 The various effects of the changes made to entertainment licensing by the set of deregulatory 
changes between 2012 and 2015[footnote 31] are described in greater detail in subsequent paragraphs: 

 Music entertainment, see in particular paragraphs: 16.20-16.21; 16.26-16.33; and 16.36-16.44; 
 Plays, dance, and indoor sporting events, see in particular paragraphs: 16.34-16.35 and 16.45-

16.48; 
 Local authority, hospital and school premises, see in particular paragraphs: 16.16- 16.20 
 Community premises, see in particular paragraphs: 16.21-16.24 
 Circuses, see in particular paragraph 16.25 
 Boxing or wrestling entertainment, see in particular paragraphs: 16.49-16.51. 

General circumstances in which entertainment activities are licensable 

16.10 An authorisation for regulated entertainment is always required for entertainment activities 
that take place before 08.00 or after 23.00, unless exempted under any other provision of the 2003 
Act, as amended[footnote 32]. 

Audience 

16.11 For the purposes of regulated entertainment, the term “audience” refers to any person for 
whose entertainment (at least in part) any licensable activities are provided. An audience member 
need not be, or want to be, entertained: what matters is that an audience is present[footnote 33] and that 
the purpose of the licensable activity is (at least in part) intended to entertain any person 
present[footnote 34]. The audience will not include performers, together with any person who contributes 
technical skills in substantial support of a performer (for example, a sound engineer or stage 
technician), during any associated activities. This includes setting up before the entertainment, 
reasonable breaks (including intervals) between activities and packing up thereafter. Similarly, 
security staff and bar workers will not form part of the audience while undertaking their duties. 

16.12 More than one entertainment activity (or for a single activity, more than one performance or 
event) can be held concurrently, provided that the audience for each such performance or event 
does not exceed the threshold at which such a performance or event becomes licensable. In some 
circumstances, there will be a clear distinction between performances or events; for example, their 
taking place in separate rooms or on separate floors. However, organisers will have to ensure that 
audiences do not grow or migrate, so that the audience exceeds the relevant limit for any one 
performance or event at any time. If there is the possibility of audience migration, it might be easier 
and more flexible to secure an appropriate authorisation. 

Private events 

16.13 Events held in private are not licensable unless those attending are charged for the 
entertainment with a view to making a profit (including raising money for charity). For example, 

Page 107

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:30
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:31
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:32
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:33
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:34


where a party is held for friends in a private dwelling featuring amplified live music, if a charge or 
contribution is made solely to cover the costs of the entertainment, the activity is not regulated 
entertainment. Similarly, any charge made to the organiser of a private event by musicians, other 
performers, or their agents does not of itself make that entertainment licensable – it would only do 
so if the guests attending were themselves charged by the organiser for that entertainment with a 
view to achieving a profit. The fact that this might inadvertently result in the organiser making a 
profit would be irrelevant, as long as there had not been an intention to make a profit. 

16.14 Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act also makes it clear that before entertainment is regarded as 
being provided for consideration, a charge has to be: 

 made by or on behalf of a person concerned with the organisation or management of the 
entertainment; and 

 paid by or on behalf of some or all of the persons for whom the entertainment is provided. 

Circumstances in which entertainment activities are no longer licensable 

16.15 No licence is required for certain entertainment activities on specified premises, as follows: 

Local authorities, hospital healthcare providers and school proprietors: cross-
entertainment activity exemption 

16.16 No licence is required for any entertainment provided by or on behalf of a local authority, 
health care provider, or school proprietor to the extent that it takes place on defined premises, 
between 08.00-23.00 on any day provided that: 

 for entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a local authority it takes places on premises in 
which that authority has a relevant property interest, or is in lawful occupation; 

 for entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a health care provider it takes place on any 
premises forming part of a hospital in which the provider has a relevant property interest, or is in 
lawful occupation; and 

 for entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a school proprietor it takes place on the premises 
of the school. 

16.17 This Guidance cannot give examples of every eventuality where entertainment is not 
licensable under this exemption through being provided “by or on behalf of”. It will depend on the 
facts in each case. However, the following are examples of activities that are not usually 
considered to be licensable under this exemption: 

 Any entertainment activity hosted by a local authority on their own premises, where there is a 
significant relationship between the local authority and the provider of the entertainment (e.g. 
principal and agent); 

 Any entertainment activity organised on a local authority’s behalf on that local authority’s 
premises by a cultural trust in discharge of a local authority’s discretionary power to arrange 
entertainment provision and support for the arts, including festivals and celebrations. 

 Any entertainment activity organised by a healthcare provider on their own hospital premises in 
partnership with a hospital charity; 

 Any entertainment event on school premises organised by the Parent Teacher Association 
(PTA) to benefit the school. 

Page 108



16.18 It is for the local authority, health care provider or school proprietor to determine whether, 
and on what basis, they can (or wish) to provide entertainment activity under this exemption, 
including consideration of issues around fundraising, profit making, governance or use of public 
funds. However a pure hire of premises by a third party[footnote 35] does not constitute the provision of 
an entertainment event “on behalf of” a local authority, healthcare provider, or school proprietor 
and nor does commercial entertainment which the local authority[footnote 36] merely facilitates through 
providing a public space[footnote 37]. 

16.19 All the terms used in this exemption, such as “local authority”, “health care”, “health care 
provider”, “hospital”, “school”, “school premises”, “school proprietor”, “domestic premises” and 
“relevant property interest” are defined in the 2014 Order[footnote 38]. 

Local authority, hospital and school premises: third party music entertainment 

16.20 No licence is required for a performance of live music or the playing of recorded music on 
local authority, hospital or school premises, that are not domestic premises, between 08.00-23.00 
on any day provided that: 

 it is performed in front of an audience of no more than 500 people; and 
 a person concerned in the organisation or management of the music entertainment has 

obtained the prior written consent[footnote 39] of the local authority, health care provider or school 
proprietor (as appropriate) for that entertainment to take place. It is for these “trusted providers” 
to determine whether, or not, they wish to make their premises available for music 
entertainment by a 3rd party and on what terms they deem it appropriate. 

Community premises: music entertainment 

16.21 No licence is required for a performance of live music or the playing of recorded music on 
community premises[footnote 40], between 08.00-23.00 on any day provided that: 

 the community premises are not authorised, by a premises licence or club premises certificate, 
to be used for the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises[footnote 41]; 

 the music entertainment is in the presence of an audience of no more than 500 people; and 
 a person concerned in the organisation or management of the music entertainment has 

obtained the prior written consent[footnote 42] of the management committee of the premises, or if 
there is no management committee, a person who has control of the premises in connection 
with the carrying on by that person of a trade, business or other undertaking, or failing that a 
person with a relevant property interest in the premises. 

Community premises: exhibition of film 

16.22 No licence[footnote 43] is required for an exhibition of a film on community premises[footnote 

44] between 08.00-23.00 on any day provided that: 

 the film entertainment is not provided with a view to profit[footnote 45]; 
 the film entertainment is in the presence of an audience of no more than 500 people; 
 the admission of children is subject to such restrictions as are necessary to comply with the 

recommendation issued by the BBFC or relevant licensing authority regarding the admission of 
children; and 

 a person concerned in the organisation or management of the exhibition of the film has 
obtained the prior written consent[footnote 46] of the management committee of the premises, or if 
there is no management committee, a person who has control of the premises in connection 

Page 109

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:35
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:36
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:37
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:38
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:39
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:40
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:41
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:42
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:43
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:44
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:44
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:45
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:46


with the carrying on by that person of a trade, business or other undertaking, or failing that a 
person with a relevant property interest in the premises. 

16.23 Under this exemption, one condition is that the film entertainment is not being provided with 
a view to profit[footnote 47]. An entry charge does not of itself make the film entertainment licensable; it 
is whether the organiser intended to make a profit (that includes raising money for charity). A 
charge or contribution that is made solely to cover the costs of the film screening[footnote 48] is 
consistent with ‘not being provided with a view to profit’. The ‘not with a view to profit’ condition 
applies solely to the activity of exhibiting the film under this exemption. A charge with a view to 
making a profit may legitimately be levied for any other activity or event that is distinct from film 
admission, such as the provision of refreshments, film talks, or a social event. 

16.24 This community film exemption is also conditional on those responsible having in place 
operating arrangements that ensure that the age rating for the film is implemented by means of a 
suitable child admission policy[footnote 49]. How this is achieved is a matter for the organisation or social 
group exhibiting the film. For example, they may operate a membership subscription scheme 
which pays for entry to all titles in a season and is limited to adults. It could be a children’s film club 
with a policy of only showing films that are suitable for all by being rated ‘U’ by the BBFC. 
Alternatively, the organisers could sell tickets to the public and ensure that children are only 
permitted to attend in accordance with any age rating for the film – i.e. a door admissions policy 
linked to proof of age. 

Travelling circuses 

16.25 Where types of entertainment are present in a performance by a travelling circus [footnote 50] they 
will not be licensable provided that certain qualifying conditions are met[footnote 51]. The qualifying 
conditions are that: 

 the entertainment is not an exhibition of a film or a boxing or wrestling entertainment; 
 the entertainment takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day; 
 the entertainment takes place wholly within a moveable structure and the audience present is 

accommodated wholly inside that moveable structure; and 
 the travelling circus has not been located on the same site for more than 28 consecutive days. 

Live music 

16.26 Live music is licensable: 

 where a performance of live music – whether amplified or unamplified – takes place before 
08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; 

 where a performance of amplified live music does not take place either on relevant licensed 
premises, or at a workplace that is not licensed other than for the provision of late night 
refreshment; 

 where a performance of amplified live music takes place at a time when the relevant licensed 
premises are not open for the purposes of being used for the sale or supply of alcohol for 
consumption on the premises[footnote 52]; 

 where a performance of amplified live music takes place at relevant licensed premises, or 
workplaces[footnote 53], in the presence of an audience of more than 500 people[footnote 54]; or 

 where a licensing authority intentionally removes the effect of the deregulation provided for by 
the 2003 Act when imposing a condition on a premises licence or club premises certificate as a 
result of a licence review[footnote 55]. 

Page 110

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:47
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:48
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:49
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:50
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:51
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:52
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:53
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:54
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:55


16.27 In any of the above circumstances, unless the performance of live music is appropriately 
authorised by a premises licence, club premises certificate or TEN, allowing it to take place could 
lead to enforcement action and, where relevant, a review of the alcohol licence or certificate. 

16.28 A public performance of live unamplified music that takes place between 08.00 and 

23.00 on the same day no longer requires a licence under the 2003 Act in any location. An 
exception to this is where a specific condition related to live music is included following a review of 
the premises licence or club premises certificate in respect of relevant licensed premises. 

16.29 As a result of the amendments to the 2003 Act, section 177 of the 2003 Act now only applies 
to performances of dance[footnote 56]. 

Key terms used in relation to live music 

16.30 Under the live music provisions, “music” includes vocal or instrumental music or any 
combination of the two. “Live music” is a performance of live music in the presence of an audience 
which it is intended to entertain. While a performance of live music can include the playing of some 
recorded music, ‘live’ music requires that the performance does not consist entirely of the playing 
of recorded music without any additional (substantial and continual) creative contribution being 
made. So, for example, a drum machine or backing track being used to accompany a vocalist[footnote 

57] or a band would be part of the performance of amplified live music. The performance of a DJ 
who is merely playing tracks would not be classified as live music, but it might if he or she was 
performing a set which largely consisted of mixing recorded music in a live performance to create 
new sounds[footnote 58]. There will inevitably be a degree of judgement as to whether a performance is 
live music (or recorded music) and organisers of events should check with their licensing authority 
if this consideration is relevant to whether the activity is authorised by a licence or certificate. In the 
event of a dispute about whether a performance is live music or not, it will be for the licensing 
authority initially and ultimately, for the courts to decide in the individual circumstances of any 
case. 

16.31 A “workplace” is as defined in regulation 2(1) of the Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) 
Regulations 1992 and is anywhere that is made available to any person as a place of work. It is a 
very wide term which can include outdoor spaces, as well as the means of entry and exit. 

16.32 A “relevant licensed premises” for the purposes of this chapter is one which is authorised to 
sell or supply alcohol for consumption on the premises by a premises licence or club premises 
certificate. Premises cannot benefit from the deregulation introduced by the 2012 Act by virtue of 
holding an authorisation for the sale or supply of alcohol under a TEN.[footnote 59] 

Recorded music 

16.33 No licence is required for recorded music where it takes place on premises which are 
authorised by a premises licence or club premises certificate to be used for the supply of alcohol 
for consumption on the premises. However, recorded music remains licensable: 

 where the playing of recorded music takes places before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; 
 where the playing of recorded music takes place at a time when the relevant licensed premises 

are not open for the purposes of being used for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on 
the premises;[footnote 60] 

 where the playing of recorded music takes place at relevant licensed premises in the presence 
of an audience of more than 500 people; and 

Page 111

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:56
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:57
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:57
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:58
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:59
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:60


 where a licensing authority intentionally removes the effect of the deregulation provided for by 
the 2003 Act (as amended).[footnote 61] 

Plays and dance 

16.34 No licence is required for a performance of a play or dance to the extent that certain 
qualifying conditions[footnote 62] are satisfied. However a performance of a play or dance remains 
licensable: 

 where the performance takes places before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; or 
 where the performance takes place in the presence of an audience of more than 500 people. 

Indoor Sport 

16.35 No licence is required for an indoor sporting event to the extent that certain qualifying 
conditions[footnote 63] are satisfied. However an indoor sporting event remains licensable: 

 where the event takes places before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; 
 where the event takes place in the presence of more than 1000 spectators. 

Licence conditions 

Live Music or recorded music 

16.36 Any existing licence conditions[footnote 64] (or conditions added on a determination of an 
application for a premises licence or club premises certificate[footnote 65]) which relate to live music or 
recorded music remain in place, but are suspended between the hours of 

08.00 and 23.00 on the same day where the following conditions are met: 

 at the time of the music entertainment, the premises are open for the purposes of being used 
for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises; 

 if the music is amplified, it takes place before an audience of no more than 500 people; and 
 the music takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day. 

16.37 Whether a licence condition relates to live or recorded music will be a matter of fact in each 
case. In some instances, it will be obvious that a condition relates to music and will be suspended, 
for example “during performances of live music all doors and windows must remain closed”. In 
other instances, it might not be so obvious: for example, a condition stating “during performances 
of regulated entertainment all doors and windows must remain closed” would be suspended 
insofar as it relates to music between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day to an audience of up to 
500, but the condition would continue to apply if there was regulated entertainment after 23.00. 

16.38 More general licence conditions (e.g. those relating to overall management of potential noise 
nuisance) that are not specifically related to the provision of entertainment (e.g. signage asking 
patrons to leave quietly) will continue to have effect. 

16.39 Chapter 9 of this Guidance sets out how a licensing authority must determine applications 
for a new licence or to vary an existing premises licence. Licence conditions imposed, in 

Page 112

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:61
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:62
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:63
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:64
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:65


accordance with paragraphs 9.42 to 9.44, for live or recorded music activities will only apply if the 
activity meets the criteria of having more than 500 people present, and/or the activities are taking 
place between 23.00 and 08.00. 

16.40 These conditions will, in effect, be suspended between 08.00 and 23.00 if a performance of 
live music or the playing of recorded music takes place before an audience of 500 people or fewer, 
but will remain on the face of the licence for when these activities may take place under other 
circumstances. 

16.41 Where a performance of live music or the playing of recorded music on relevant licensed 
premises is not licensable, it remains possible for anyone to apply for a review of a licence or 
certificate, if there are appropriate grounds to do so.[footnote 66] 

Beer gardens 

16.42 Beer gardens are often included as part of a premises licence or club premises certificate. 
Live amplified music that takes place in a beer garden is exempt from licensing requirements, 
provided the beer garden is included in the licence or certificate applying to the relevant licensed 
premises, and the performance takes place between 

08.00 and 23.00 on the same day before an audience of 500 people or fewer. 

16.43 Where a beer garden does not form part of the relevant licensed premises and so is not 
included in plans attached to a premises licence or club premises certificate, it is nevertheless very 
likely that it will be a workplace[footnote 67]. Paragraph 12B of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act says that a 
performance of live music in a workplace that does not have a licence (except to provide late night 
refreshment) is not regulated entertainment if it takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same 
day in front of an audience of no more than 500 people. Note that the exemption in paragraph 12B 
does not apply to the playing of recorded music. 

16.44 However, a licensing authority may, where justified[footnote 68], impose a licence condition that 
relates to the performance of live music in an unlicensed beer garden being served by any 
associated premises licence or club premises certificate. Provided such a condition is lawfully 
imposed, it takes effect in accordance with its terms. 

Plays, dance and indoor sport 

16.45 Where qualifying conditions are satisfied[footnote 69], any current licence condition that relates to 
a performance of a play or dance, or an indoor sporting event for which a licence is no longer 
required will (except in the circumstances described in the next paragraph) have no effect. 

16.46 Where, however, these non-licensable activities take place at the same time as other 
activities for which a licence is required (e.g. the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the 
premises), conditions included in a licence may nevertheless apply to the non-licensable activities 
in the circumstances set out in paragraphs 16.52 and 16.53 (conditions relating to other non-
licensable activities). 

16.47 Dance that is sufficiently sexual in nature continues to be regulated. Performances of dance 
which are “relevant entertainment” within the meaning of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 (“the 1982 Act”) are not deregulated, regardless of the size of the audience or 
the time of day. “Relevant entertainment” is defined in the 1982 Act as a live performance or live 

Page 113

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:66
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:67
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:68
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:69


display of nudity that, ignoring financial gain, can be assumed to be provided solely or principally 
for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the audience.[footnote 70] 

16.48 In almost all cases where a performance of dance is potentially licensable as both the 
provision of relevant entertainment (under the 1982 Act) and regulated entertainment (under the 
2003 Act), the 1982 Act disapplies the entertainment licensing regime in the 2003 Act in favour of 
its stricter regime for the control of sex establishments. However, an authorisation under the 2003 
Act rather than the 1982 Act will continue to be required where: 

 the premises are not licensed as a sex entertainment venue under the 1982 Act, and 
 relevant entertainment has been provided at those premises on no more than 11 occasions in 

any 12 month period, with none of those occasions lasting longer than 24 hours or taking place 
within a month of any other such occasion. 

Boxing or wrestling entertainment and conditions relating to combined fighting sports 

16.49 An indoor boxing or wrestling entertainment cannot also be an indoor sporting event, and 
any contest, exhibition or display that combines boxing or wrestling with one or more martial arts 
(‘combined fighting sports’) is – whether indoors or not – a boxing or wrestling entertainment. 

16.50 Where a premises licence or club premises certificate purports to authorise a boxing or 
wrestling entertainment or combined fighting sports as an ‘indoor sporting event’, the 2013 Order 
provides that the authorisation will be treated as having authorised those activities as a boxing or 
wrestling entertainment. Those activities will continue to be subject to any relevant conditions 
attached to that authorisation. 

16.51 A contest, exhibition or display of Greco-Roman wrestling, or of freestyle wrestling, between 
two participants (regardless of their sex) does not require a licence provided that certain qualifying 
conditions are met. They are that: 

 it takes place in the presence of no more than 1,000 spectators; 
 it takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day; and 
 it take place wholly inside a building and the spectators present at that entertainment are 

accommodated wholly inside that building. 

Conditions relating to other non-licensable activities 

16.52 If appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives, and if there is a link to remaining 
licensable activities, conditions that relate to non-licensable activities can be added to or altered on 
that premises licence or club premises certificate at review following problems occurring at the 
premises. This has been a feature of licence conditions since the 2003 Act came into force. A 
relevant example could be the use of conditions relating to large screen broadcasts of certain 
sporting events which, combined with alcohol consumption, could create a genuine risk to the 
promotion of the licensing objectives. It is also not uncommon for licence conditions relating to the 
sale of alcohol to restrict access to outside areas, such as unlicensed beer gardens, after a certain 
time. 

16.53 Similarly, while karaoke no longer needs licensing as the provision of entertainment 
facilities[footnote 71] (and will generally be classed as a performance of live music[footnote 72]) it might, for 
example, be possible on review to limit the use or volume of a microphone made available for 
customers on an ‘open-mic’ night (which encompasses more than just live music), if a problem had 
occurred because of customers purchasing alcohol for consumption on the premises becoming 

Page 114

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:70
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:71
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:72


louder and less aware of causing noise nuisance later in the evening. Another example might be a 
condition restricting access to a dance floor at certain times, where the presence of customers in 
close proximity who had been consuming alcohol on the premises had led to serious disorder. In 
the first instance it is for the licensing authority to satisfy itself that a particular condition is 
appropriate and lawful in each case. 

Removing licence conditions 

16.54 A licence holder who wishes to remove conditions relating to activities that are no longer 
licensable[footnote 73] may apply to the licensing authority for a licence variation. In the course of 
considering such applications, licensing authorities should remove such conditions unless there 
are sufficiently serious and specific concerns about the effects of hosting deregulated 
entertainment activities along with the remaining licensable activities taking place in the premises. 

Licence reviews: Live and recorded music 

16.55 On a review of a premises licence or club premises certificate, section 177A(3) of the 2003 
Act permits a licensing authority to lift the suspension[footnote 74] and give renewed effect to an existing 
condition relating to music. Similarly, under section 177A(4), a licensing authority may add a 
condition relating to music as if music were regulated entertainment, and as if that premises 
licence or club premises certificate licensed the music. In both instances the condition should 
include a statement that Section 177A does not apply to the condition. 

16.56 An application for a review in relation to relevant premises can be made by a licensing 
authority, any responsible authority or any other person. Applications for review must still be 
relevant to one or more of the licensing objectives and meet a number of further requirements [footnote 

75]. 

Incidental music 

16.57 The performance of live music or playing of recorded music is not regulated entertainment 
under the 2003 Act if it is ‘incidental’ to another activity “which is not itself a description of 
entertainment falling within paragraph 2” of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act. 

16.58 The incidental music exemption can apply to an indoor sporting event or a performance of a 
play or dance for which no licence is required, as it takes place between 08.00 and 

23.00 on the same day and before an audience which does not exceed the relevant limit. This is 
because such an activity is no longer a description of entertainment within the meaning of 
paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act. This means that, while a performance of live music or 
the playing of recorded music cannot be incidental to a boxing or wrestling entertainment [footnote 

76] such music may be within the scope of the incidental music exemption for an indoor sporting 
event or performance of a play or dance for which no licence is required. 

16.59 Whether or not music is “incidental” to another activity will depend on the facts of each case. 
In considering whether or not live or recorded music is incidental, one relevant factor could be 

Page 115

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:73
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:74
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:75
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:75
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:76
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:76


whether, against a background of the other activities already taking place, the addition of music will 
create the potential to undermine the promotion of one or more of the four licensing objectives of 
the 2003 Act. Other factors might include some or all of the following: 

 Is the music the main, or one of the main, reasons for people attending the premises and being 
charged? 

 Is the music advertised as the main attraction? 
 Does the volume of the music disrupt or predominate over other activities, or could it be 

described as ‘background’ music? 

16.60 Conversely, factors which would not normally be relevant in themselves include: 

 the number of musicians, e.g. an orchestra providing incidental music at a large exhibition; 
 whether musicians are paid; 
 whether the performance is pre-arranged; and 
 whether a charge is made for admission to the premises. 

16.61 In any disputed case, it will be for the licensing authority initially and, ultimately, for the 
courts to consider whether music is “incidental” in the individual circumstances of any case. 

Busking 

16.62 Busking or street performance is the practice of performing in public spaces for money. 
Performances are not limited to music or singing and can take the form of a wide range of activities 
that people find entertaining. 

16.63 Busking is generally not licensable under the 2003 Act as: 

 it often occurs in a place that is not a premises made available (at least in part) for the purposes 
of providing entertainment[footnote 77]; 

 the entertainment is usually incidental to another activity, such as shopping or sightseeing, as 
there are few circumstances in which anyone would go out specifically to watch buskers; and 

 any unamplified live music is not licensable between 08.00 and 23.00[footnote 78]. 

16.64 Local authorities may have policies on busking, including codes of conduct or permit 
regimes and occasionally byelaws and legislation specific to a local authority – although many 
localities have no policy or restrictions. 

Incidental film 

16.65 An exhibition of a film within the meaning of paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act is 
not regulated entertainment if it is ‘incidental’ to another activity “which is not itself a description of 
entertainment falling within paragraph 2” of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act. 

Page 116

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:77
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:78


16.66 The incidental film exemption can apply to an indoor sporting event or a performance of a 
play or dance for which no licence is required as it takes place between 08.00 and 

23.00 on the same day before an audience which does not exceed the relevant limit. Such 
activities would no longer be a description of entertainment within the meaning of paragraph 2 of 
Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act. This means that, while any exhibition of moving pictures cannot be 
incidental to a boxing or wrestling entertainment[footnote 79], such film displays may be within the scope 
of the incidental film exemption for an indoor sporting event or performance of a play or dance for 
which no licence is required.[footnote 80] 

16.67 Whether or not an exhibition of moving pictures is “incidental” to another activity will depend 
on the facts of each case. In considering whether or not film is incidental, one relevant factor could 
be whether, against a background of the other activities already taking place, the addition of an 
exhibition of moving images will create the potential to undermine the promotion of one or more of 
the four licensing objectives of the 2003 Act. This would mean that if the BBFC or the relevant 
licensing authority has given an age rating to a film, video, or music video, then to qualify for the 
“incidental film” licensing exemption, the admission of children to the premises will need to be 
restricted in accordance with the appropriate age rating. But that is one aspect of one relevant 
factor. Other factors to consider in assessing whether film is incidental might include some or all of 
the following: 

 Is the film the main, or one of the main, reasons for people attending the premises and being 
charged? 

 Is the film advertised as the main attraction? 
 Does the screening of the film predominate over other activities, or could it be described as 

‘background’ images? 
 Does the appearance of moving pictures within another entertainment activity, for which no 

licence is required (e.g. a performance of a play or dance[footnote 81]), undermine the promotion of 
the licensing objectives? 

16.68 In any disputed case, it will be for the licensing authority initially and, ultimately, for the 
courts to consider whether film is “incidental” in the individual circumstances of any case. 

Entertainment activity provided as part of childcare 

16.69 Entertainment activity that is provided as part of childcare will generally not be licensable. 
This includes entertainment activity in a nursery or private home. In addition, paragraph 5 of 
Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act includes a licensing exemption for an exhibition of a film where the 
main purpose is to provide education. Education will generally include all forms of pre-school child 
and day care. Furthermore, an exhibition of a film, or the playing of live or recorded music, will 
generally be incidental to the activity of childcare and so the incidental music and film exemption in 
paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 will also apply[footnote 82]. This will generally be the case for any 
entertainment activity organised as part of wraparound childcare[footnote 83], including breakfast clubs, 
after school clubs or holiday clubs linked to the child’s school or based in the local community. 

Other Licensing regimes 

Page 117

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:79
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:80
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:81
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:82
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:83


Copyright 

16.70 The deregulation of licensing for the provision of entertainment under the 2003 Act does not 
remove the requirement for licences for the use of copyright works. Entertainment activities as 
described in paragraph 16.2 may require music and screening licences for example. The 
acquisition of such licences will make the entertainment compliant with the Copyright, Designs and 
Patents Act 1988.[footnote 84] 

Leafleting 

16.71 The deregulation of entertainment licensing does not remove the prohibition on the 
unauthorised distribution of free printed matter in an area that has been designated under 
Schedule 3A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990[footnote 85]. The organisers of the event or 
entertainment may need to obtain consent from the relevant principal litter authority before giving 
out free printed promotional material (leaflets, flyers, cards etc.) in a public place in certain areas. 

Child performers 

16.72 Child performance legislation[footnote 86] requires that a licence must be obtained from a child’s 
home local authority before a child can take part in certain types of performance and activities. A 
licence may be required whether or not any payment is made for the child to perform. The 
deregulation of entertainment licensing does not alter the regulations on when children can take 
part in performances[footnote 87]. 

17. Early morning alcohol restriction orders 

General 

17.1 This chapter provides guidance to licensing authorities about Early Morning Alcohol 
Restriction Orders (“EMROs”). The power conferred on licensing authorities to make, vary or 
revoke an EMRO (or propose to take any of these steps) is set out in sections 172A to 172E of the 
2003 Act. The exercise of the licensing authority’s functions may be delegated by its committee to 
a sub-committee, other than the decision to make, vary or revoke an EMRO (which is exercised by 
its full council). This power enables a licensing authority to prohibit the sale of alcohol for a 
specified time period between the hours of 12am and 6am in the whole or part of its area, if it is 
satisfied that this would be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

17.2 EMROs are designed to address recurring problems such as high levels of alcohol- related 
crime and disorder in specific areas at specific times; serious public nuisance; and other instances 
of alcohol-related anti-social behaviour which is not directly attributable to specific premises. 

17.3 An EMRO: 

 applies to the supply of alcohol authorised by premises licences, club premises certificates and 
temporary event notices; 

Page 118

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:84
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:85
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:86
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:87


 applies for any period beginning at or after 12am and ending at or before 6am. It does not have 
to apply on every day of the week, and can apply for different time periods on different days of 
the week; 

 applies for a limited or unlimited period (for example, an EMRO could be introduced for a few 
weeks to apply to a specific event); 

 applies to the whole or any part of the licensing authority’s area; 
 will not apply to any premises on New Year’s Eve (defined as 12am to 6am on 1 January each 

year); 
 will not apply to the supply of alcohol by those who provide hotel or similar accommodation to 

their residents between 12 am and 6am, provided the alcohol is sold at those times only 
through mini-bars and/or room service; and 

 will not apply to a relaxation of licensing hours by virtue of an order made under section 172 of 
the 2003 Act. 

… 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
Licensing Act 2003 

 

Licensing Policy Statement 

 
All enquiries should be directed to: 
 

Licensing Section 
Municipal Offices 
Promenade 
CHELTENHAM 
GL50 9SA 
Tel: 01242 775200 
E-mail: licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk 
Website: www.cheltenham.gov.uk 
 
 

This Policy was approved December 2015. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 121

file:///C:/Local%20Settings/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk
http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/


 2 

Draft LA2003 Policy Index 
 

   Page 

Policy Vision Statement 4 

1. Introduction  5 

Licensing Principles, Process & Scope 6 

Scope 7 

Licensing Objectives 7 

Consultation  8 

Duration and Review 8 

  

2. The Borough of Cheltenham  9 

  

3. Licensing Process – Making an Application  10 

Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates 10 

Operating Schedule 10 

Guidance on Operating Schedules 
 
a) Crime and disorder 
b) Public safety 
c) Public nuisance 
d) Protection of children from harm 

11 

Plans 16 

  

4. Determination of Applications   

Delegated Functions  18 

  

Unopposed Applications  19 

Opposed Applications 19 

Representations 19 

Appeals 20 
  

5. Temporary Events Notices 21 

  

6. Integrating Strategies & Specific Policies  23 

Encouraging Diversity in the Night-time Economy 
Management of Licensed Premises 
Promoting safe drinking limits 
Shops Selling Alcohol (Off Licences) 

24 
25 
30 
32 

  

7. Film Classifications   34 

  

8. Events on Council Land 35 

  

9. Enforcement  36 

  

Appendix A – Statutory Consultees  37 

Appendix B – Statutory Responsible Authority  38 

Appendix C - Pool of Model Conditions 41 

Appendix D – Designated Area of Concern  55 

Page 122



 3 

Policy Vision Statement 
 
We want Cheltenham to be a safe and clean town that offers a greater diversity in the 
night time economy that is less focused on alcohol and protects the quality of life for 
residents. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



 4 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This Licensing Policy Statement (“policy”) has been produced in accordance 

with the requirements of the Licensing Act 2003 (“the Act”) and is in line with 
guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act. Section 5 (as amended) of the 
Act requires Cheltenham Borough Council (“the council”), acting in its 
capacity as the Licensing Authority to prepare and publish a statement of its 
licensing policy at least every five years. 

 
1.2 .. 
 
1.3 The main purpose of this policy is to provide clarity to applicants, responsible 

authorities, elected Members and other persons on how the council will 
determine applications for the sale/supply of alcohol, the provision of 
regulated entertainment and the provision of late night refreshment and also 
to provide a basis for all licensing decisions taken by the council over the next 
five years. It will also inform elected Members of the parameters within which 
licensing decisions can be made. 

 
1.4 An effective licensing policy, alongside other initiatives, will work towards 

promoting the positive aspects of deregulation under the Act, such as 
promoting tourism, increasing leisure provision and encouraging the 
regeneration of the town centre as well as controlling the negative impacts 
such as increase in noise, nuisance, anti-social behaviour and crime and 
disorder. 

 
1.5 Other matters also taken into account in formulating this policy: 
 

a) Cheltenham Borough Council’s corporate strategy and outcomes. 
b) Local planning policy in particular the Joint Core Strategy and the 

Cheltenham Plan. 
c) Gloucestershire’s Police and Crime Plan. 
d) Section 182 statutory guidance. 

 
1.6 Licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the general control of 

nuisance and anti-social behaviour by individuals once they are away from 
licensed premises and, therefore, beyond the direct control of the individual 
licensees. There are a range of mechanisms including: 

 
a) Planning controls; 
b) Positive measures to create a safe and clean town centre environment 

in partnership with local businesses, transport operators and other 
departments of the local authority, including the provision of Closed 
Circuit Television (CCTV); 

c) Police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and anti 
social behaviour, including the issuing of fixed penalty notices; 

d) The prosecution of any personal licence holder or member of staff at 
such premises who is selling alcohol to people who are drunk; 

e) The confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated 
areas; 

f) Police powers to close down instantly for up to 24 hours any licensed 
premises or temporary event on grounds of disorder, the likelihood of 

Page 124



 5 

disorder or noise emanating from the premises causing a nuisance; 
and 

g) The power to seek a review of the licence or certificate in question. 
 
1.7 It should be understood that this policy and the statutory guidance cannot 

anticipate every scenario or set of circumstances that may arise and as such 
there may be circumstances where the policy or guidance may be departed 
from in the interests of the promotion of the licensing objectives and where it 
is deemed appropriate to do so. In such cases the council will give full 
reasons for departing from this policy. 

 

Licensing Principles and Process 
 
1.8 This policy sets out the process the council will adopt in dealing with licence 

applications with particular regard to the various types of premises and 
permissions and the various conditions that can be attached to licences if 
relevant representations are made. It also highlights the council’s undertaking 
to avoid duplication with other statutory provisions and its commitment to 
work in partnership with other enforcement agencies. 

 
1.9 The council is the Licensing Authority under the Act and is responsible for 

granting premises licences, club premises certificates, personal licences and 
administering temporary events notices in the borough. 

 
1.9 The objective of this policy is to: 

 
a) promote the four licensing objectives; 
b) ensure that the premises are appropriate for their proposed use; 
c) ensure the premises layout and condition is acceptable for the 

proposed use;  
d) ensure that the premises are being managed responsibly; and 
e) promote the policy vision statement. 

 
1.10 This policy also seeks to promote the council’s wider priorities, in 

particular that: 
 

 Cheltenham has a clean and well-maintained environment; 

 Cheltenham has a strong and sustainable economy; 

 Communities feel safe and are safe; 

 People are able to lead healthy lifestyles; and 

 Our residents enjoy a strong sense of community and are 
involved in resolving local issues. 

 
1.11 The council's powers and duties as the licensing authority are delegated by 

the council to its licensing committee, sub-committees and officers. The 
council approaches these delegations in accordance with the table of 
delegation set out below or otherwise in accordance with the council’s 
adopted constitution. 

 
1.12 The policy will be used as a basis in coming to consistent and transparent 

decisions in respect of licence applications. 

Page 125



 6 

1.13 The policy does not: 
 

a) Undermine the right of any individual to apply for a variety of permissions 
and to have each application considered on its individual merits; or 

 
b) Override the right of any person to make representations on an 

application, or seek a review of a licence or certificate, where the Act 
allows. 

Scope 
 
1.14 .. 

 

Licensing Objectives 
 
1.14 The council will carry out its licensing functions under the Act with a view to 

promoting the four licensing objectives, which are: 
 

a) The prevention of crime and disorder; 
b) Public safety; 
c) The prevention of public nuisance; and 
d) The protection of children from harm. 

 
1.15 The aim of the licensing process is to regulate licensable activities so as to 

promote the licensing objectives. 
 
1.16 In determining a licensing application, the overriding principle adopted 

by the council will be that each application is determined on its merits. 
Licence conditions will be tailored to the individual application and only 
those necessary to promote the licensing objectives will be imposed. 

 
1.17 The council will also have regard to wider considerations affecting the 

residential population and the amenity of the area. These include littering, 
noise, street crime and the capacity of the infrastructure. 

 
1.18 Each of the four objectives is of equal importance and will be considered in 

relation to matters centred on the premises or within the control of the 
licensee and the effect which the operation of that business has on the 
vicinity. 

 

Consultation  
 
1.19 . 
 

Duration and Review  
 
1.20 The policy takes effect on 1 February 2016 and will remain in force for a 

period of no more than five years. During this time it will be subject to regular 
review and updating or modification as appropriate, for example to take 
account of any changes in licensing legislation. 

Page 126



 7 

2. The Borough of Cheltenham  
 
The Area 
Until the late 1700s, Cheltenham was a small market town that became a fashionable 
resort after spa waters were discovered. Over the years it has attracted major 
employers and has gained a reputation for being an international festival town. This, 
together with its architectural heritage, educational facilities and quality environment, 
makes Cheltenham an attractive place to live, work and play. 
 
The borough, which includes 5 parishes, has a population of approximately 114,000 
who live in 20 wards. The borough is mainly urban with some areas of surrounding 
countryside. It covers an area of approximately 4,680 hectares of which 17 % is 
designated as green belt and 22 % as an area of outstanding natural beauty. 

 
Demography  
The population is approximately 114,000, and these figures will continue to rise over 
the next 20 years. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 127



 8 

3. Licensing Process - Making an Application 
 

Premises Licences & Club Premises Certificates  
 
3.1 .. 

 
3.2 .. 
 

The Operating Schedule 
 
3.3 The operating schedule is a key document and, if prepared 

comprehensively, will form the basis on which premises can be licensed 
without the need for additional extensive conditions. The council 
expects an operating schedule to indicate the steps that the applicant 
proposes to take to promote the licensing objectives. 

 
3.4 All applicants for the grant or variation of a premises licence or club premises 

certificate are required to provide an operating schedule as part of their 
application. 

 
3.5 Applicants are strongly recommended to discuss their operating schedules 

with the responsible authorities prior to submitting them. 
 
3.6 The complexity and detail required in the operating schedule will 

depend upon the nature and use of the premises. For premises such as 
a public house where public entertainment is not provided, only a 
relatively simple document will be required. For a major public 
entertainment venue it will be expected that issues such as public 
safety and crime and disorder will be addressed in detail.  

 
3.7 Applicants will also be expected to propose practical measures to 

prevent disturbance to local residents and to indicate what action will 
be taken to prevent or reduce noise emanating from the premises. 

 
3.8 The operating schedule must be on the prescribed form and include a 

statement of the following: 
 

a) Full details of the licensable activities to be carried on at and the 
intended use of the premises; 

b) The times during which the licensable activities will take place; 
c) Any other times when the premises are to be open to the public; 
d) Where the licence is only required for a limited period, that period; 
e) Where the licensable activities include the supply of alcohol, the 

name and address of the individual to be specified as the 
designated premises supervisor; 

f) Whether alcohol will be supplied for consumption on or off the 
premises or both; and 

g) The steps which the applicant proposes to promote the licensing 
objectives. 

 

Page 128



 9 

Guidance on Operating Schedule 
 
3.9 The following guidance is intended to assist applicants by setting out criteria 

and considerations that they should bear in mind when drawing up an 
operating schedule. They alert applicants to any matters that responsible 
authorities are likely to consider when deciding whether to make 
representations on an application or whether to call for a review. 

  

a) Crime and Disorder 
 
3.10 The promotion of the licensing objective, to prevent crime and disorder, 

places a responsibility on licence holders to become key partners in 
promoting this objective. 

 
3.11 Applicants will be expected to demonstrate in their operating schedule that 

suitable and sufficient measures have been identified and will be 
implemented and maintained to reduce or prevent crime and disorder on and 
in the vicinity of their premises, relevant to the individual style and 
characteristics of their premises and events. 

 

Considerations  
 
3.12 When addressing the issue of crime and disorder, the applicant should 

demonstrate that those factors that impact on crime and disorder have been 
considered. These factors may include: 

 
a) Underage drinking; 
b) Drunkenness on premises; 
c) Public drunkenness; 
d) Drugs; 
e) Violent behaviour; and/or 
f) Anti-social behaviour. 

 
3.13 In making their decision, regard should be given to the levels of crime and 

disorder in and around the venue, the level of compliance with conditions on 
existing licences and any available evidence on crime and disorder issues. 

 
3.14 Applicants are recommended to consult the Reducing Alcohol Related 

Violence Codes of Practice when considering their operating schedule. 
 
3.15 A pool of model conditions has been has been prepared and individuals 

preparing operating schedules are at liberty to use these conditions, or 
volunteer any other measures(s) to promote the licensing objectives. Please 
see Appendix C for the pool of model conditions for the prevention of crime 
and disorder.  

 

b) Public Safety  
 
3.16 The council in its role as licensing authority must try to ensure the safety of 

people visiting and working in licensed premises. The council will need to be 
satisfied that measures to promote public safety including risk assessments, 

Page 129



 10 

setting safe capacities and adequate means of escape are put in place and 
maintained, if not adequately provided for by other regulatory regimes. 

 
3.17 Consideration should be given to whether: 
 

a) appropriate and satisfactory general and technical risk assessments, 
management procedures and certificates have been made available to 
the relevant responsible authority and to the council, that demonstrate 
that the public will be safe within and in the vicinity of the premises; 

 
b) the premises already has a licence or a fire certificate that specifies the 

maximum number of people that can attend it or be present and, if not, 
whether a risk assessment has been undertaken to assess the 
maximum number of people in terms of capacity in various parts of the 
premises, so that they can be operated safely and can be evacuated 
safely in the event of an emergency; 

 
c) there are procedures proposed to record and limit the number of people 

on the premises with opportunities for going outside and readmission;  
 
d) patrons can arrive at and depart from the premises safely; 
 
e) music, dance and performance venues will use equipment or special 

effects that may affect public safety (i.e. moving equipment, 
pyrotechnics, strobe lights, smoke machines); 

 
f) there are defined responsibilities and procedures for medical and other 

emergencies and for calling the emergency services; and/or  
 
g) the levels of compliance with conditions on existing licences relating to 

public safety. 
 
3.18 The council seeks to encourage the use of toughened glassware and 

polycarbonate where appropriate in licensed premises. Where a relevant 
representation is received the council will consider imposing a condition 
prohibiting the sale of alcohol in annealed glass containers and require the 
use of polycarbonate or other safer alternatives in order to promote public 
safety in licensed venues. 

 
3.19 A pool of model conditions has been has been prepared and individuals 

preparing operating schedules are at liberty to use these conditions, or 
volunteer any other measures(s) to promote the licensing objectives. Please 
see Appendix C for the pool of model conditions for public safety.  

 
 

c) Public Nuisance  
 

Measures to limit nuisance  
 
3.20 The council will expect applicants to set out in their operating schedules the 

steps taken, or proposed to be taken, to deal with the potential for public 
nuisance arising from the operation of the premises.   

Page 130



 11 

 
3.21 Applicants should identify and describe through a risk assessment how these 

risks will be managed. Public nuisance could include low-level nuisance 
perhaps affecting a few people living locally as well as major disturbance 
affecting the whole community. 
 

3.22 Applicants will be expected to have included measures in their operating 
schedules that make adequate provision to: 
 

a) restrict the generation of noise within the premises and from activities 
associated with the premises in the vicinity, or from an open air site; 
 

b) limit the escape of noise from the premises or open air site; 
 

c) restrict noise emissions to below levels that could affect people in the 
vicinity going about their business, at work and when at home both 
while relaxing and while sleeping; 

 
d) minimise and control noise from customers arriving at the premises, or 

open air site outside it and departing from it; 
 

e) minimise and control noise from staff, contractors and suppliers and 
their activities; 

 
f) minimise and control noise from vehicles associated with and 

providing services to the premises or open air site and their 
customers; 

 
g) determine whether people standing or sitting outside premises are 

likely to cause obstruction or other nuisance; 
 

h) whether the premises are under or near to residential accommodation; 
 

i) the hours of the sale of alcohol in open containers or food for 
consumption outside the premises; 

 
j) measures to make sure that customers move away from outside 

premises when such sales cease; 
 

k) measures to collect drinking vessels and crockery, cutlery and litter; 
 

l) the extent and location of areas proposed to be set aside for the 
consumption of food and alcoholic drink and for smoking; 
 

m) whether there is a need for door supervisors to prevent or to control 
customers congregating in outdoor areas to smoke, consume food or 
drink (whether supplied from the premises or not). 

 
n) adequate measures to prevent the following arising from the proposed 

licensable activity that may cause disturbance to people in the vicinity: 
a. litter, smells, fumes, dust, smoke, or other emissions; 
b. street fouling; 

Page 131



 12 

c. light pollution. 
 
3.23 The role of the council is to maintain an appropriate balance between the 

legitimate aspirations of the entertainment industry and the needs of residents 
and other users of the town including businesses, workers, shoppers and 
visitors. 

 
3.24 Playing of music can cause nuisance both through noise breakout and by its 

effect on patrons, who become accustomed to high sound levels and to 
shouting to make themselves heard, which can lead to them being noisier 
when leaving premises. Other major sources of noise nuisance are vehicles 
collecting customers, the slamming of car doors and the sounding of horns. 
These noises can be particularly intrusive at night when ambient noise levels 
are lower. 

 
3.25 Where relevant representations are received, the council may attach 

appropriate conditions to licences, necessary to support the prevention of 
undue noise disturbance from licensed premises. Where premises remain 
open after 23:00, the licence holder will be expected to provide facilities which 
are relevant to controlling noise and the patrons of those premises late at 
night. The council also expects that premises which produce noise generating 
licensable activities are acoustically controlled and engineered to a degree 
where the noise from the premises when compared to the ambient noise level 
will not cause undue disturbance. 

 
3.26 The provision of tables and chairs outside the premises, either on the 

highway or on private land, and the provision of beer gardens, can enhance 
the attractiveness of the venue. It can have the benefit of encouraging a 
continental style café culture and family friendly venues. However, late at 
night, tables and chairs and beer gardens can cause significant public 
nuisance to residents whose homes overlook these areas. 

 
3.27 The ‘smoke free public places’ legislation in July 2007 has led to an increase 

in the number of people outside licensed venues. Where outside facilities are 
provided the council expects applicants to provide details in their application 
of: 

 
a) the location of open air areas; and  

 
b) how the outside areas will be managed to prevent noise, smell, or 

obstruction and nuisance to neighbours and the public. 
 

3.28 Licensees and their staff are expected to have sufficient measures in place to 
prevent such problems arising including a suitable litter and waste 
management program to ensure that the area outside the premises is kept 
free of litter at all times. 

 
3.29 Where the council receives relevant representations, or where a responsible 

authority or an interested party seeks a review, the council may consider 
imposing conditions to improve the management of the outside area or 
prohibiting or restricting the use of these areas in order to promote the public 
nuisance objective. 

Page 132



 13 

 
3.30 Conditions may include maximum noise levels over particular time periods, 

the installation of acoustic lobbies, provision of signs, publicity and dispersal 
policies. 

 
3.31 A pool of model conditions has been has been prepared and individuals 

preparing operating schedules are at liberty to use these conditions, or 
volunteer any other measures(s) to promote the licensing objectives.  Please 
see Appendix C for the pool of model conditions for the prevention of public 
nuisance.  

 

d) Protection of Children from Harm 
 

3.32 The council needs to satisfy itself that there are appropriate measures in 
place to protect children from harm. 

 
3.33 To this extend it will expect applicants, where necessary, to consider the   

measures necessary to promote the licensing objective of protecting children 
from harm when on the premises. 

 
3.34 These measures may include staff training on how to control the entry of 

children and young people under 18 and the vetting of staff who will supervise 
them. Applicants will have to give particular regard to these measures in 
applications for licences involving: 

 
a) the sale of alcohol; 
b) children’s performances; and 
c) attractions or performances likely to attract children. 

 
3.35 It is an offence to sell alcohol to children. In this context, children are defined 

as individuals under 18. The provisions of the Act are that unaccompanied 
children under 16 should not be on “premises being used exclusively or 
primarily for the supply of alcohol” (eg “alcohol led” premises such as pubs, 
bars and nightclubs). In addition, it is an offence to allow unaccompanied 
children under 16 on premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the 
premises after midnight but before 05:00. 

 
3.36 Issues for consideration include: 
 

a) installing effective measures to check the age of those young people 
who appear under 21 to ensure that alcohol is not sold to those under 
18 and those under 16 are accompanied in alcohol led premises; 
 

b) exclusive or primary purpose of the services provided at the premises; 
 

c) accompanied children under 16 on the premises of which the primary 
purpose is supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises are taking 
a table meal or are being entertained by a live performance;  
 

d) the hour to which accompanied children under 16 are proposed to be on 
the premises where the exclusive or primary purpose of the services 

Page 133



 14 

provided at the premises is the supply of alcohol for consumption on the 
premises; 
 

e) due regard is paid to industry codes of good practice on the labelling 
and display of alcoholic drinks; 
 

f) are there adequate procedures for identifying unaccompanied or lost 
children and ensuring that they are kept safe and adequately supervised 
until they can be handed over to a responsible adult; 
 

g) the likelihood of children being attracted to the premises by the nature of 
activities or facilities provided whether or not these are licensed;  
 

h) is there evidence of heavy, binge or underage drinking on the premises;  
 

i) if the premises commonly provides entertainment or services of an adult 
or sexual nature; 
 

j) is there a strong element of gambling on the premises;  
 

k) age restricted films are to be shown classified in accordance with the 
recommendations of the British Board of Film Classification;  
 

l) the number of adults required for the supervision of children and the 
suitability and vetting of those adults to ensure they pose no risk to 
children. 

 
3.37 A pool of model conditions has been has been prepared and individuals 

preparing operating schedules are at liberty to use these conditions, or 
volunteer any other measures(s) to promote the licensing objectives.  Please 
see Appendix C for the pool of model conditions for the protection of children 
of harm.  

Plans 
 
3.38 A plan must also be attached to an application for a premises licence or a 

club premises certificate. The plan should be at a scale of 1:100. .. 
 
 

. Determination of Applications  
 

Decision Making Process 
 
4.1 Decisions on licensing matters will be taken in accordance with an approved 

scheme of delegation below:  
 

Matters to be dealt with Full Committee Sub Committee Officers 

Application for personal 
licence  

 If a police objection If no objection made 

Application for personal 
licence with unspent 
convictions  

 All cases  

Page 134



 15 

Application for premises 
licence/club premises 
certificate  

 If a relevant 
representation made 

If no relevant 
representation made 

Application for provisional 
statement  

 If a relevant 
representation made 

If no relevant 
representation made 

Application to vary 
premises licence/ club 
premises certificate  

 If a relevant 
representation made 

If no relevant 
representation made 

Application to vary 
designated premises 
supervisor  

 If a police objection All other cases 

Request to be removed as 
designated premises 
supervisor  

  All cases 

Application for transfer of 
premises licence  

 If a police objection All other cases 

Applications for interim 
authorities  

 If a police objection All other cases 

Application to review 
premises licence/ club 
premises certificate  

 All cases  
 

 

Decision on whether a 
complaint is irrelevant 
frivolous vexatious etc  

  All cases  
 

Decision to object when 
local authority is a 
consultee and not the 
relevant authority 
considering the 
application  

 All cases  
 

 

Determination of an 
objection to a temporary 
event notice  

 All cases  
 

 

Determination of 
application to vary 
premises licence at 
community premises to 
include alternative licence 
condition  

 If a police objection All other cases 

Decision whether to 
consult other responsible 
authorities on minor 
variation application  

  All cases 

Determination of minor 
variation application  

  All cases 

 

Unopposed Applications  
 
4.2 If no relevant representations are received the licence will be issued 

automatically with, in the case of a premises licence or club premises 
certificate, such conditions attached as are mandatory or are consistent with 

Page 135



 16 

the operating schedule accompanying the application. The council will have 
no discretion to refuse the application or to alter or add to the conditions 
offered through the operating schedule. 

 

Opposed Applications 
 
4.3 Where relevant representations are made, the council must hold a 

hearing before a licensing sub-committee who will take such of the 
following steps as it considers necessary for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives.  

 
4.4 The steps are: 
 

a) to grant the licence subject to the operating schedule modified to 
such extent as the sub-committee considers necessary for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives, and subject to the relevant 
mandatory conditions; 
 

b) to exclude from the scope of the licence any of the licensable 
activities to which the application relates; 
 

c) to refuse to specify a person in the licence as the premises 
supervisor; 
 

d) to reject the application. 
 

Representations 
 
4.5 The council has discretion on whether to grant applications for licences and to 

impose conditions on granting and reviewing licences, only when relevant 
representations are made. 
 

4.6 In brief "relevant representations" is the expression used in the Act for 
comments including objections on applications.  

 
4.7 For a representation to be relevant it must: 
 

a) relate to the effect of the grant of the licence on the promotion of the 
licensing objectives;  
 

b) be made by a responsible authority or other persons; 
 

c) not be 'frivolous or vexatious' or, in the case of a review, 'repetitious' if 
made by other persons; or 
 

d) if it concerns the designated premises supervisor be made by a chief 
officer of police and include a statement explaining the reasons for the 
objection. 

 
4.8 Representations can also be made in support of an application. 
 

Page 136



 17 

Appeals 
 
4.9 Anyone aggrieved by a decision of the council has a right of appeal. This is 

set out in schedule 5 of the Act. 
 
4.10 The council will inform the appropriate parties of their right of appeal in 

accordance with the Act, when confirming a decision of the licensing sub-
committee. 

 
4.11 Aggrieved parties should lodge any appeal with the Magistrates' Court within 

21 days of the notification of the decision. 
 
 

5. Temporary Event Notices (TENs) 
 
5.1 ... 
 
5.2 ... 

 

 …  

  
5.3 .. 
 
5.4 .. 
 
5.5 . 
 
5.6 ... 
 
 

6. Integrating Strategies & Specific Policies 
 
6.1 The council has established a good track record of partnership work 

and will continue to work in partnership with the police, local residents, 
businesses, licensees, communities and regulatory agencies towards 
safeguarding the quality of life for residents, and the creation of a safer 
and more pleasant environment for all. 

 
6.2 In particular, Cheltenham has a vibrant night-time economy that far 

exceeds other towns of similar sizes. The town offers a rich choice of 
entertainment and facilities making it a destination attracting usually 
high numbers of visitors some travelling considerable distances to 
enjoy what the late night economy has to offer. 

 
6.3 Although the vast majority of people visiting the town do so safely and 

responsibly, an active night-time economy nonetheless demands 
additional resource and cost for the council, police and other partners 
to deal with associated crime, disorder and other anti-social behaviour.  

 

Page 137



 18 

6.4 Although the challenges associated with the supply of alcohol are more 
prevalent during the night-time economy, there are nonetheless also 
challenges during other times of the days. 

 
6.5 In addressing these challenges, the council will continue to work with partners 

in particular the licensed trade, licensing enforcement, the police, the noise 
pollution team, community safety partnerships, Gloucestershire fire service 
and planning enforcement. 

 

Late Night Levy 
 
6.6 .. 

a) .. 
 

Encouraging diversity in the night-time economy that 
is less focused on alcohol 
 
6.7 Cheltenham has a vibrant night-time economy that far exceeds other towns of 

similar sizes.  It is recognised that the night-time economy plays an important 
part in creating a vibrant and sustainable economy but this must be balanced 
with the ambition to expand the offer for leisure, tourism and business by 
providing an attractive offer for all age and religious groups. 

 
6.8 To this end, the council will explore and support opportunities to increase 

events, activities and businesses which are not necessarily alcohol led which 
are more socially-inclusive and drive the economy. 

 
Designated area of concern 
 
6.9 There are areas of the borough where the evidence does not suggest that 

they should be designated as Cumulative Impact Areas but which will require 
regular review to establish whether the concentration of licensed premises 
are considered to have begun to cause cumulative impact on one or more of 
the licensing objectives.   

 
6.10 The council has identified the town centre (Appendix D) as being an area of 

concern in that it is susceptible to alcohol related crime, alcohol hospital 
admissions and nuisance arising from or caused by the customers of licensed 
premises. 

 
6.11 The council will monitor the number of licensed premises in the designated 

area and any risk factors that may indicate that the area is reaching a point 
when a cumulative impact is likely or imminent. 

 
6.12 The designated area of concern will also provide the council and its partners 

an opportunity to put measures in place to address the concerns highlighted.  
 

  
 

Page 138



 19 

Joint Core Strategy and other planning policies  
 
6.13 There are a number of key planning policies that sets out a shared vision and 

proposes where future development in the borough. 
 

Designated Public Places Order 
 
6.14 The council supports the use of DPPOs as a tool to prevent crime and 

disorder by tackling anti-social behaviour associated with consumption of 
alcohol in the street. The council would expect premises that operate in areas 
where DPPOs have been implemented to have measures in place to ensure 
their customers do not contribute to problems of anti-social drinking. 
 

6.15 The DPPO was implemented of 1 March 2005 in the borough and requires 
any person who is consuming alcohol within a designated place to surrender 
or cease to consume intoxicating liquor when requested to do so by a police 
constable.  A full list of designated street is available from the Licensing 
Section.  

 

Management of Licensed Premises 
 
6.16 A critical element of the proper control of licensable activity and a 

premises where such activity is provided is good management of those 
activities and the premises generally. 

 
6.17 The council will encourage everybody involved in providing or are 

involved in licensable activities, to consider what skills and 
competencies are appropriate in the safe delivery of regulated activities 
and secure these. This applies to managers, musicians, door staff, bar 
staff, performers and contractors as well as everyone associated with 
the activities.  

 
6.18 Good management also extends to the appropriate advertising of events 

and premises users and licensees are expected to control advertising 
content as part of their role. 
 

6.19 The council undertakes proactive risk based inspections of all licensed 
premises to ensure that they are managed properly.  Premises that 
consistently fail inspections may be subject to a licence review or other 
enforcement action. 

 
Designated Premises Supervisor 
 
6.20 Any premises where alcohol is sold under a premises licence must have a 

designated premises supervisor (DPS). The DPS will be named in the 
premises licence, a summary of which must be displayed on the premises. A 
DPS must be a personal licence holder. Every sale of alcohol must be made 
or authorised by a person who holds a personal licence (or must be made or 
authorised by the management committee in the case of community 
premises). 

 

Page 139



 20 

6.21 ... 
 
6.22 ... 
 
6.23 The premises licence holder will be expected to ensure that the DPS has 

experience commensurate with the size, capacity, nature and style of the 
premises and licensable activities to be provided. 

 
6.24 Within all licensed premises, whether or not alcohol is to be sold, the council 

will expect there to be proper management arrangements in place which will 
ensure that there is an appropriate number of responsible, trained/instructed 
persons at the premises to ensure the proper management of the premises 
and of the activities taking place, as well as adherence to all statutory duties 
and the terms and conditions of the premises’ licence. 

 
Night safe 
 
6.25 The borough-wide Nightsafe network encourage its members to work 

together to promote the licensing objectives in their premises by providing a 
forum for sharing information, disseminating best practice and meeting with 
representatives of the council, the police and other responsible authorities.   
The council actively supports the scheme and is keen to support the 
development of more schemes where there is a demand. 

 
6.26 The inclusion of radio links and ring-round phone systems should be 

considered an appropriate condition for public houses, bars and nightclubs 
operating in the town. These systems allow managers of licensed premises to 
communicate instantly with the police and facilitate a rapid response to any 
disorder which may be endangering the customers and staff on the premises. 

 
Best Bar None 
 
6.27 ...  
 
6.28 ...  
 
Reducing Alcohol Related Harm (RARV) 
 
6.29 In 2006 when the Reducing Alcohol Related Violence project, supported by 

funding from Government Office South West, was launched in Cheltenham a 
great deal of effort has gone into reducing alcohol related harm and disorder 
in the town. 
 

6.30 The Codes of Practice launched in 2007 laying down common sense 
principles for all sectors of the night-time economy were the first such set of 
codes produced in the UK and were acknowledged as best practice by the 
Home Office. 
 

6.31 The RARV Codes of Practice was revised in 2014 and republished in 2015.   
 
 
 

Page 140



 21 

 
 
 
Sexual Entertainment 
 
6.32 The council has adopted the amended provisions of schedule 3 of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 as amended by section 27 
of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 (‘the 2009 Act’) with respect to “relevant 
entertainment”, that is: 

 
a) any live performance; or 
b) any live display of nudity. 

 
which is of such a nature that, ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be 
assumed to be provided solely or principally for the purpose of sexually 
stimulating any member of the audience (whether by verbal or other means). 
 

6.33 The adopted provisions came into effect on the 1st of December 2010 in 
Cheltenham. 

 
6.34 Any premises that want to offer relevant entertainment on a regular basis, that 

is more frequent than 24 hours once a month on no more 11 occasions a 
year, can no longer offer this under the provisions of the Act as a result of the 
abovementioned adoption. These premises must apply for a Sexual 
Entertainment Venue (SEV) licence.  

 
6.35 Premises that want to offer relevant entertainment on an irregular basis can 

still do so under the provisions of the Act. These premises must be authorised 
for the performance of dance and the performance of recorded music. 

 
6.36 The Government has seen it fit to exempt infrequent sexual entertainment 

from requiring a licence. Whilst the council recognises and accepts this, it is 
also acutely aware that unless it is properly managed there are risks to public 
protection and safety, an increased likelihood of associated crime & disorder 
and an inability of regulatory bodies to respond accordingly. 

 
6.37 Whilst the council cannot legitimately impose restrictions on infrequent sexual 

entertainment, it has formulated an exempt sexual entertainment code of 
practice outlined in its adopted SEV policy.  The intention of the code of 
practice is to promote responsible and properly managed exempt sexual 
entertainment. The council expects any premises wishing to offer infrequent 
sexual entertainment to adhere to the code of practice. 

 
Core Hours for Licensable Activities 
 
6.38 The council will avoid arbitrary restrictions on licensing hours that undermine 

the principles of flexibility and consideration of each application is on its own 
merit.   

 
6.39 The council believes that licensable activities carried on within the core hours 

set out below will generally not have a harmful impact on the licensing 

Page 141



 22 

objectives, address the concerns raised by local residents and businesses 
and are less likely to attract representations. 

 
6.40 Furthermore, earlier closing will result in less alcohol consumption and 

drunkenness and would also be consistent with the ability to get crowds 
dispersed from the town centre. 

 
Table 1: Core Hours for Licensable Activities 
 

Type of premises Commencement Hour 
No earlier than 
 

Terminal hour 
No later than 

Off licence  09:00 23:00 

Restaurants 10:00 01:00 

Theatres, cinemas 
and other 
performance venues 

10:00 00:00 

Pubs/Bars/Nightclubs Town centre1  
10:00  
 

 
03:00 

Local Neighbourhood Areas 
10:00 

 
00:00 
 

Takeaways n/a 04:00 

 
6.41 Where relevant representations have been made, it will take the 

following matters into consideration when making a decision. These are 
not a definitive list and other matters may be considered: 

 
a) Operating schedules - demonstration of compliance with 

management standards to support each of the licensing 
objectives. 

 
b) Proximity to residential accommodation - the likelihood of the 

operation to have an adverse impact on the peace and quiet of 
local residents. 

 
c) Potential noise and nuisance from people leaving and entering the 

premises.  
 
d) Ability to demonstrate that systems in place to ensure timely 

dispersal of customers away from residential areas. 
 
e) Use of external areas for carrying out the licensable activities and 

potential noise impact on local residents. 
 
f) Proposed hours of the licensing activities and general opening 

times for the public – The use of winding down periods to enable 
more efficient dispersal. 

 

                                                
1 As defined in Appendix D. 

Page 142



 23 

g) Type of use – alcohol led premises such as pubs, bars and nightclubs, 
off licenses and hot food take away premises are more likely to be 
associated with crime and disorder and public nuisance than other 
premises such as seated restaurants, theatres, cinemas and other 
cultural activities. 

 
h) Availability of public transport to assist in the timely dispersal of 

customers from the vicinity and to ensure safe travel home. 
 
i) The potential for contamination of the street environment through 

increased litter and other pollution of the streets by customers. 
 
6.42 The hours of existing licensed premises will remain unchanged unless there 

are good reasons, based on the licensing objectives, for restricting these 
hours, and then they can be changed by a licensing sub-committee following 
a review of the premises licence. 
 

Latest admission times 
 
6.43 The council considers it undesirable that persons should seek to ‘top up’ their 

alcohol intake by seeking out those premises that are admitting customers at 
the latest times because persons moving between venues late at night can 
lead to crime, disorder and public nuisance. 

 
6.44 Establishing last entry times can reduce the tendency of customers to 

concentrate at those premises which remain open the latest, without 
restricting the hours of trading.  This will encourage dispersal and reduce the 
pressure on late-night refreshment outlets and transport facilities which will 
assist with objectives to prevent public nuisance and crime and disorder in 
certain circumstances. 

 
6.45 It is therefore this council’s policy that the latest admission time, for licences 

premises open past midnight, to be no less than: 
 

a) one hour for nightclubs & late night bars; and  
b) half an hour for pubs and other licensed premises 

 
  before the terminal hour for licensable activities. 
 
Takeaway food premises 
 
6.46 …. 
 
6.47 ... 
 
6.48 .. 
 
6.49 ... 
 
6.50 ..   
 

Page 143



 24 

6.51 Where the council considers it appropriate, it may impose conditions on a 
premises licence to require the operators of premises serving customers with 
hot food or drink to provide litter bins in the vicinity of the premises in order to 
prevent the accumulation of litter from its custom..ers. 

 
Pavement Cafes and External Areas 
 
6.52 ...  
 
6.53 .. 
 
6.54 ... 
 
6.55 ... 
 

Promoting safe drinking limits 
 
Irresponsible Drinks Promotions and Drunkenness on Premises 
 
6.56 Low cost alcohol sold in on and off trade premises increases alcohol 

consumption which can lead to crime and disorder issues.  Through this 
policy the council would like to encourage the responsible consumption of 
alcohol and where there is evidence that the licensing objectives are being 
compromised or are likely to be compromised, the council will consider 
imposing controls on drinks promotions to deal with localised problems. 

 
6.57 However, the council would prefer an approach whereby it, along with the 

licensed trade and other partners, are able to promote responsible retailing of 
alcohol instead of having to dealing with the effects of irresponsible drinks 
promotions and drunkenness. 

 
 
Code of Good Practice for Drinks Promotions 
 
6.58 It is a known fact that the price of alcohol does have an effect on the amount 

people consume.  It is also the case that people are more attracted to 
premises that offer low cost alcohol and low cost alcohol is likely to cause 
people to consume more alcohol than they would normally have done.  Both 
of these situations can lead to crime, disorder and public nuisance issues. 

 
6.59 The council does not wish to unnecessarily impose operational restrictions 

and freedoms on licensed premises.  It would therefore like to encourage a 
voluntary code of good practice in relation to drinks promotions and to 
encourage licence holders and others working at the premises to familiarise 
themselves with the mandatory conditions relating to drinks promotions. 

 
6.60 To this end, the council will encourage all licence holders to apply the 

following principles in relation to any drinks promotions: 
 

Principle  

Align pricing with Alcohol by Volume (ABV). 

Page 144



 25 

 

Start the sale of alcohol later in the day and not align it purely with 
opening hours. 
 

Refrain from all inclusive offers. 
 

Promotional information should clearly display: 
 

- Factual information on the alcoholic strength of a drink(s); 
 
- That no-one under the age of 18 years may take part in the 

promotion; 
 

- display Drink Aware logo/information. 
 

Promotions should not: 
 

- focus on the strength of any alcohol product as the principle 
theme; 

 
- condone or encourage illegal, excessive or irresponsible drinking 

(such as binge-drinking, drunkenness or drink-driving); 
 

- refer in any favourable manner to the effects of intoxication or 
consumption; 

 
- suggest that alcohol consumption enhances sexual attractiveness 

or include promotion material that is linked to sexual imagery 
implying sexual success or prowess. 

Restrict multi buy promotions. 
 

No advertisements for alcohol in the shop window. 
 

Alcohol should not be given way for free as part of a promotion or as an 
incentive. 
 

Actively promote designated driver schemes where a driver is offered 
discounted or free non-alcoholic drinks. 
 

Make food and hot drinks available in late venues. 

 
Shops Selling Alcohol (Off Licences) 
 
6.61 ...  
 
6.62 ..  
 
6.63 ... 
 
Hours of Operation 
 

Page 145



 26 

6.64 See Table 1: Core Hours for Licensable Activities on page 27. 
 
Layout and Operation of Premises 
 
6.65 In most cases a licence holder will be able to address the potential problems 

and detriment to the licensing objectives, through the layout and the operation 
of the premises. 

 
6.66 The council will encourage all licence holders licensed for off sales to: 
 

a) Store high strength alcohol behind the shop counter; 
b) Not store or display any alcohol at the entrance/exit points of the 

premises; 
c) Not advertise alcohol in a shop window; 
d) Not sell single cans of beer or bottles of beer under 1 litre; 
e) Not sell beer or cider over 5.5% ABV; 
f) Not store or display any alcohol at or near check-outs; and  
g) Refuse to sell alcohol to persons known to be persistent offenders 

(where the offence(s) relates/associated with alcohol) or street 
drinkers. 

 
Licence Conditions & Reviews 
 
6.67 Where there is evidence that the licensing objectives are being 

compromised or are likely to be compromised, the council will consider 
imposing appropriate restrictions on a licence.  This may include, 
although not limited to, restricting the hours for licensable activities, 
restricting the sale of alcoholic beverages over a specified limit of 
alcohol by volume and/or of specified quantities. 

 
 
 

7. Film Classifications 
 
7.1 ... 
 
7.2 ...   
 
7.3 ... 
 
 

8. Events on Council Land 
 
8.1 ... 
 
8.2 ... 
 
8.3 ... 
 
8.4 ...   
 

Page 146



 27 

8.5 ... 
 
 

9. Enforcement  
 
9.1 In terms of regulation, our aim is to target those premises which are causing 

problems within our communities whilst supporting well managed premises 
and community activities, which provide worthwhile opportunities for the 
enjoyment of leisure time without having a negative impact. Premises 
associated with disorder, threaten public safety, generate public nuisance, or 
threaten the well being of our children will be targeted for enforcement action. 

 
9.2 Once licensed, it is essential that premises are maintained and operated so 

as to ensure the continued promotion of the licensing objectives and 
compliance with the specific requirements of the Act.  

 
9.3 The council will monitor compliance with the licensing objectives through a 

programme of inspection visits. The proactive inspection visits are risk based 
so that those premises that are at a higher risk of adversely affecting the 
licensing objectives are more frequently inspected. 

 
9.4 The council will also establish enforcement protocols with the police and other 

enforcement agencies to ensure efficient and targeted joint enforcement is 
undertaken on a regular basis. 

 
9.5 This does not prevent action being taken by any individual authority at any 

time should offences become apparent. 
 
9.6 The council will take in to account its adopted corporate enforcement policy 

when deciding what appropriate action to take. 

 
Reviews 
 
9.7 At any stage, following the grant of a premises licence, a responsible 

authority, or other person, may ask the council to review the licence because 
of a matter arising at the premises in connection with any of the four licensing 
objectives. 

 
9.8 In every case, the application for review must relate to particular premises for 

which a licence is in existence and must be relevant to the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. 

 
9.9 The necessary forms and documents is available from the Council’s website 

at http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/licensing or from the licensing section during 
normal office hours. 

 
 

Appendix A –Consultees 
 
.. 

Page 147



 28 

 

Appendix B – Responsible Authorities  
 
Gloucestershire Constabulary 
Licensing Unit, 
No 1 Waterwells, Waterwells Drive, 
Quedgeley 
Gloucester 
GL2 2AN 
 
Direct line: 01452 754482 Switchboard: 101 
Fax: 01452 754797 
Email: licensing@gloucestershire.police.uk 
 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
Service Delivery Support 
Waterwells Drive 
Quedgeley 
Gloucester 
GL2 2AX 
 
Tel: 01452 753333 
Fax: 01452 753304 
Email: fire.safety@glosfire.gov.uk 
 
Pollution Prevention 
Environmental Protection 
Public Protection 
Cheltenham Borough Council 
Municipal Offices 
Promenade 
Cheltenham 
GL50 1PP 
 
Tel: 01242 264135 
Fax: 01242 264210 
Email: ehbusinesssupport@cheltenham.gov.uk 
 
Health and Safety Enforcement 
Where the local authority is the enforcing authority 
 
Cheltenham Borough Council 
Health and Safety – Environmental Health  
Public Protection Division 
Municipal Offices 
Promenade 
Cheltenham 
GL50 9SA 
 
Tel: 01242 775178 

Page 148

mailto:Licensing@gloucestershire.police.uk
mailto:fire.safety@glosfire.gov.uk
mailto:ehbusinesssupport@cheltenham.gov.uk


 29 

Fax: 01242 264210 
Email: ehbusinesssupport@cheltenham.gov.uk 
Where the HSE is the enforcing authority 
 
Health and Safety Executive 
4th Floor, The Pithay 
All Saints Street 
BRISTOL 
BS1 1ND 
 
Telephone: 0117 988 6000 
Fax: 0117 926 2998 
Email: (i) For service employment e.g. Central and Local Government, NHS etc. the 
contact is paula.Johnson@hse.gsi.gov.uk  
(ii) For other employment e.g. manufacture and repair, agriculture, transport, the 
contact is nigel.chambers@hse.gsi.gov.uk  
 
Local Planning Authority 
 
Planning Enforcement 
Built Environment Division 
Cheltenham Borough Council 
Municipal Offices 
Promenade 
Cheltenham 
GL50 1PP 
 
Tel 01242 264138 
Fax 01242 227323 
Email: planning@cheltenham.gov.uk 
 
Child Protection 
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Board 
Block 4, 1st Floor, Room 133B, 
Shire Hall, 
Westgate Street, 
Gloucester, 
GL1 2TH 
 
Tel: 01452 583629 
Email: gscb@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
 
Trading Standards 
Gloucestershire County Council, Trading Standards, 
Hillfield House 
Denmark Road 
Gloucester 
GL1 3LD 
 
Tel: 01452 426201 
Fax: 01452 426274 
Email: tradstds@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

Page 149

mailto:ehbusinesssupport@cheltenham.gov.uk
mailto:paula.Johnson@hse.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:nigel.chambers@hse.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:planning@cheltenham.gov.uk
mailto:tradstds@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 30 

 
 
Responsible Authority for Health 
Public Health Department 
Block 4, 2nd Floor 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Shire Hall, Westgate Street, Gloucester GL1 2TG 
 
Tel: 01452 328699 
Email publichealth@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 150

mailto:publichealth@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 31 

Appendix C – Pool of Model Conditions 
 
Introduction  
 
The conditions shall not be regarded as “standard conditions” which are to be 
automatically imposed on premises licences and certificates in all cases. The 
following are designed to provide a range of possible conditions which may need to 
be attached to premises licences or club premises certificates, depending upon 
differing situations. 
 
All conditions attached to a premises licence and club premises certificate must be 
appropriate and proportionate to the application received.  
 
The wording of the conditions may need to be modified to suit a particular premise 
and/or situation. 
 
This is not an exhaustive or exclusive list of conditions. 
 
Additional conditions may be drafted and attached to such licences and certificates to 
meet individual circumstances, both by the applicant in question, any responsible 
authority, or the Licensing Authority as deemed appropriate. 
 
The majority of conditions refer to the ‘premises licence holder’ however, in some 
circumstances, it may be more appropriate for the designated premises supervisor to 
be responsible for complying with the condition. In these circumstances, the 
conditions can be amended to read ‘the designated premises supervisor or a 
competent person nominated by the designated premises supervisor’. 
 
C&D – The Prevention of Crime & Disorder | PN – The Prevention of Public Nuisance | CP – Protection of Children 
from Harm | PS – Public Safety  

 

Reference  Model Condition 
Primary 
Licensing 
Objective*  

 
Sale of Alcohol 

 

 There shall be a personal licence holder on duty on the 
premises at all times when the premises are authorised to 
sell alcohol. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 No super-strength beer, lagers or ciders of 5.5% ABV 
(alcohol by volume) or above shall be sold at the premises. 
 

C&D 
CP 
 

 No single cans or bottles of beer or cider shall be sold at the 
premises. 
 

C&D 
CP 
 

 No more than x% of the sales area to be used at any one 
time for the sale, exposure for sale, or display of alcohol. 

C&D 
CP 
 

Page 151



 32 

 Sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall only 
be supplied with, and ancillary to, a take-away meal. 
 

C&D 
CP 
 

 Alcohol shall only be sold to a person sitting down eating a 
meal and for consumption with that meal. 
 

C&D 
 

 Alcohol may only be sold to persons having a table meal or 
those waiting to be seated prior to having a table meal. 
 

C&D 
 

 Alcohol shall be sold to customers by waiter/waitress service 
only. 
 

C&D 
 

 There shall be no sales of alcohol for consumption off the 
premises. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 Alcohol consumed outside the premises shall only be 
consumed by patrons seated at tables. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 Any alcohol supplied for consumption off the premises must 
be in a sealed container. 
 

C&D 
 

 Substantial food and non-intoxicating beverages, including 
drinking water, shall be available in all parts of the premises 
where alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on the 
premises during the periods when alcohol is authorised for 
sale. 
 

C&D 
 

 
Management of the Premises 

 

 A ‘Winding-down and Dispersal’ policy shall be adopted that 
includes measures to achieve a gradual and orderly 
dispersal of customers at the end of the trading session. 
These measures shall commence at least 15 minutes before 
the bar closes, and shall include slowing down the tempo of 
music, a significant reduction in the volume of music and 
announcements requesting customers to leave the premises 
quietly and respect the peace and quiet of the local 
residents.  
 

C&D 
PN 

 A direct telephone number for the manager at the premises 
shall be publicly available at all times the premises is open. 
This telephone number is to be made available to residents 
in the vicinity.  
 

C&D 
PN 

 The Designated Premises Supervisor or premises license 
holder shall bring the contents of the licence and licence 
conditions to the attention of all door supervisors and other 
staff employed at the premises. 

C&D 
PN 
CP 
PS 

 
CCTV 

Page 152



 33 

 

 A CCTV system consisting of a minimum of x cameras shall 
be installed at the premises. The CCTV system shall be 
maintained in good working order, shall record at all times 
the premises are open, and recordings shall be kept for a 
minimum of 14 days and be provided on DVD to officers of 
the council, Trading Standards or Police on request. 
 

C&D 
 

 A staff member from the premises, who is conversant with 
the operation of the CCTV system, shall be on the premises 
at all times when the premises are open to the public. This 
staff member must be able to show the Police or Licensing 
Officer recent data or footage with the absolute minimum of 
delay when requested to do so. 
 

C&D 
 

 No alcohol shall be sold if the CCTV equipment is 
inoperative for any reason. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 
Radios 

 

 The premises licence holder shall join the Night Safe radio 
scheme or any similar scheme operating in the town and 
ensure that: 
 

 The communication equipment is kept in working 
order at all times. If the communication equipment 
breaks then the Police shall be notified and the 
equipment shall be repaired within a reasonable time 
period; 

 

 The communication equipment shall be activated, 
made available to and monitored by the designated 
premises supervisor or a responsible member of staff 
at all times that the premises are open to the public; 

 

 Any police instructions/directions are complied with 
whenever given; and 

 

 All instances of crime and disorder are reported via 
the communication equipment by the designated 
premises supervisor or a responsible member of staff 
to an agreed police contact point. 

 
 

C&D 
 

 
Best Practice Scheme 

 

 The Designated Premises Supervisor shall maintain an 
active membership of the Night Safe (or successor 
‘pubwatch’) including operation of the Nightsafe radio link. 

C&D 
 

Page 153



 34 

 

 
Door Supervisors 

 

 A minimum of x SIA licensed door supervisor shall be on 
duty at the premises at all times whilst it is open to the public 
[or after xx.xx / until the last admission time for the public]. 
 

C&D 
 

 If door supervisors are required to undertake body searches 
then at least one female supervisor shall be available to 
undertake the body searches of female customers. 
 

C&D 
 

 A written search policy that aims to prevent customers or 
staff bringing illegal drugs, weapons or other illegal items 
onto the premises at any time shall be in place and operate 
at the premises. 
 

C&D 
 

 Where door supervisors are required the premises licence 
holder [or Designated Premises Supervisor] shall keep 
records showing the names of the supervisor, their SIA 
badge number & expiry date, and the date/time that they 
were employed.   A copy should be available immediately 
upon request to an authorised officer of Gloucestershire 
Constabulary or the council. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 All staff engaged outside the entrance to the premises, or 
supervising or controlling queues, shall wear high visibility 
jackets or vests. 
 

C&D 
 

 For a period of 30 minutes following the closure of the Bar, or 
until all customers have dispersed from the immediate 
vicinity if longer, there shall be a minimum of x door 
supervisors on the street outside the premises wearing high-
visibility clothing to ensure the safe, orderly and quiet 
dispersal of customers in the immediate vicinity. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 
Hours 

 

 Consumption of alcohol shall cease x minutes after the time 
authorised for its sale or supply/provision of licensable 
activities. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 
Entry to Premises 

 

 No public access to the premises shall occur through the 
[specify doors/area]. This condition shall not restrict the use 
of the doors in the event of an emergency. 
 

C&D 
CP 
PS 

 There shall be no entry or re-entry, other than staff members, C&D 

Page 154



 35 

to the premises after xx.xx save for customers using the 
agreed smoking area at the premises. 
 

PN 

 On occasions where licensable activities are carried on past 
xx:xx hours, admission of customers will be restricted to 
[enter restriction e.g. a particular entrance, a particular area 
of the licensed premises etc]. 
 

C&D 
 

 In relation to the specified function room there shall be no 
admission after x other than to: 
 
(1) residents of the hotel and their bona fide guests; or 
(2) persons attending the pre-booked function 
 

C&D 
 

 All functions in the specified function room shall be pre-
booked or ticketed events. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 No events solely for those under 18 will be permitted on the 
premises. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 The rules of admission to the premises shall be clearly and 
prominently displayed at each entrance to the Premises. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 
Alcoholic Containers 

 

 No glass bottles containing beverages of any kind, whether 
open or sealed, shall be given to customers on the premises 
whether at the bar or by staff serving away from the bar. 
 

C&D 
PS 

 No customers carrying open or sealed bottles shall be 
admitted to the premises at any time that the premises are 
open to the public. 
 

C&D 
 

 The premises licence holder/designated premises supervisor 
shall ensure that no customers shall take glasses or open 
bottles from the premises other than into the outside area 
shown and edged [red] on the plan forming part of the 
premises licence. 
 

C&D 
PN 
 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that only plastic or 
toughened glass containers will be used for the supply of 
beverages. 
 

C&D 
 

 There shall be no sale of alcohol in unsealed containers for 
consumption off the premises. 
 

C&D 
 

 
Notices/Signage 

 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that a sign, C&D 

Page 155



 36 

indicating the hours during which licensable activities are 
permitted to take place, is displayed in, on or immediately 
outside the premises in a position where the notice can be 
conveniently read by members of the public. 
 

PN 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that a sign, 
detailing any restrictions on the admission of children, is 
displayed on or immediately outside the premises in a 
position where the notice can be conveniently read by 
members of the public. 
 

CP 

 
Drugs 

 

 The Designated Premises Supervisor shall complete/attend 
a recognised ‘drug awareness’ training course [within **** 
weeks/by **** date, or the DPS shall have 
completed/attended such training]. 
 

C&D 
 

 Staff shall be provided with ‘drug awareness training’, and be 
briefed on the drugs policy applicable to the premises. 
 

C&D 
 

 Any person found with illegal drugs must be reported to a 
Police officer immediately. 
 

C&D 
 

 Whilst licensable activities are taking place, the toilets at the 
Premises must be checked at least hourly for illegal drug use 
or supply. A written log of all checks must be kept at the 
Premises for at 31 days and made available for immediate 
inspection on the request of an authorised officer of 
Gloucestershire Constabulary or the Licensing Authority. 
 

C&D 
 

 
Promotions 

 

 There shall be no promotional sales of alcohol at the 
premises where alcohol is sold at a price lower than that at 
which the same or similar alcoholic drinks are sold, or usually 
sold, on the premises. 
 

C&D 
 

 There shall be no payment made by or on behalf of the 
licence holder to any person for bringing customers to the 
premises. 

C&D 
 

 28 days’ notice shall be given to Gloucestershire 
Constabulary and the licensing authority of any events held 
which are organised by an outside promoter, including full 
details of the nature of the event and of the promoter. 
 

C&D 
 

 
Records 

 

Page 156



 37 

 An incident log shall be kept at the premises and made 
available on request to the Police or an authorised officer of 
the council. The log will record the following: 
 

 all crimes reported to the venue 

 all ejections of customers 

 any incidents of disorder (disturbance caused either 
by one person or a group of people) [There is no 
requirement to record the above incidents (a), (b) or 
(c) where they do not relate to a licensable activity] 

 seizures of drugs or offensive weapons 

 any faults in the CCTV system or searching 
equipment or scanning equipment 

 any refusal of the sale of alcohol during the hours the 
premises is licensed to sell it 

 

C&D 
 

 
Premises Layout 

 

 The following alcoholic beverages shall be placed behind a 
staffed counter: 
 

 mixed alcoholic beverages under 10% a.b.v. 

 beers or ciders over 5.5% a.b.v.; and 

 all spirits in bottles less than 70cl. 
 

C&D 
CP 
 

 At least x members of staff shall be on duty on the shop floor 
between **** hours until closing time. 

C&D 
 

 The physical location of alcohol displays shall be in an area 
within sight of staff as identified on the plan of the premises 
annexed to the licence. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 The XX area shall be designated as a “chill-out” area whilst 
music and dancing are permitted on the premises which shall 
include adequate ventilation or fresh air; ready access to free 
drinking water; suitable seating accommodation; and access 
to First Aid facilities 
 

C&D 
 

 Seating for no less than [specify number] persons shall be 

provided in the premises at all times the premises are 

[specify “open” or “are providing any licensable activity”]. 
 

C&D 
 

 
Use of Outdoor Area 

 

 The designated premises supervisor shall ensure that tables 
are cleared of all bottles and glasses on a regular basis 
during trading hours to avoid an accumulation of glassware. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 Customers will not be permitted to drink outside the premises C&D 

Page 157



 38 

save for in any seated area authorised under a pavement 
licence. 
 

PN 

 
Disabled People 

 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that, when disabled 
people are present, adequate arrangements exist to enable 
their safe evacuation in the event of an emergency and that 
disabled people on the premises are made aware of those 
arrangements. 
 

PS 

 
First Aid 

 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that an adequate 
and appropriate supply of first aid equipment and materials is 
available on the premises and at least one suitably trained 
first aider shall be on duty when the public are present and if 
more than one suitably trained first aider that their respective 
duties are clearly defined. 
 

PS 

 The Licensee shall ensure that at all times when the public is 
present there is at least one competent person able to 
administer First Aid, that an adequate and appropriate supply 
of First Aid equipment and materials is available on the 
Premises and that adequate records are maintained in 
relation to the supply of any First Aid treatment. 
 

PS 

 
Lighting 

 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that, in the 
absence of adequate daylight, the lighting in any area 
accessible to the public, members or guests shall be fully 
operational when the public, members or guests are present.  
 

C&D 
PS 

 
Special Effects 

 

 Any special effects or mechanical installation should be 
arranged and stored so as to minimise any risk to the safety 
of the audience, performers and staff. 
 

PS 

 The following special effects will only be used on 10 days 
prior notice being given to the Licensing Authority and 
Environmental Health where consent has not been 
previously been given: 
 

 dry ice machines and cryogenic fog 

 smoke machines and fog generators 

PS 

Page 158



 39 

 pyrotechnics including fireworks 

 real flame 

 fire arms 

 motor vehicles 

 strobe lighting 

 lasers 

 explosives and highly flammable substances 
 

 These special effects must only be used on the provision of a 
suitable and sufficient risk assessment and prior notification 
to the Licensing Authority and Environmental Health. 
 

PS 

 All escape routes and exits shall be kept unobstructed, in 
good order with non-slippery and even surfaces, free of trip 
hazards and clearly identified. 
 

PS 

 All exit doors shall be regularly checked to ensure that they 

function satisfactorily and a record of the checks shall be kept 

on the premises. 
 

PS 

 
Noise Nuisance (regulated entertainment) 

 

 The lobby doors at the premises shall be kept closed except 
for access and egress during the provision of regulated 
entertainment. Door staff, where employed, shall ensure that 
the doors are maintained closed as far as possible when 
regulated entertainment is taking place. 
 

PN 

 A noise limiting device shall be installed, fitted and 
maintained in such a manner so as to control all sources of 
amplified music at the premises during the provision of 
regulated entertainment. The noise limiting device shall be 
set at a limit determined by the Local Authority’s Authorised 
Officer, such level being confirmed in writing to the premises 
licence holder. 
 

PN 

 Whenever any regulated entertainment occurs past 22:00 
indoors all windows and doors shall be kept shut during 
these activities.  
 

PN 

 Loudspeakers shall not be located in the entrance lobby, [or 
specify another location if appropriate] or outside the 
premises. 
 

PN 

 Live music shall be provided by no more than two (2) 
performers on any day. 
 

PN 

 After 23:00 hours all windows shall be closed and remain 
closed. 
 

C&D 
PN 

Page 159



 40 

 Unless otherwise specified on this licence no regulated 
entertainment shall take place at the premises with the 
exception of pre-booked private events limited to the 
provision of music and dancing for pre-invited guests. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 Where any regulated entertainment occurs at the premises, 
the Designated Premises Supervisor, or a person nominated 
by them, will ensure that noise from such activities is 
effectively inaudible inside the nearest noise sensitive 
premises. 
 

PN 

 
Noise Nuisance (people) 

 

 Prominent, clear notices shall be displayed at [all exits / in 
the beer garden] requesting customers to respect the needs 
of local residents and leave the premises and the area 
quietly. 
 

PN 

 The premises licence holder shall monitor the activity of 
persons leaving the premises [after xx:xx/are closed to the 
public] and remind them of their public responsibilities where 
necessary. 
 

PN 

 Customers permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter 
the premises e.g. to smoke, shall not be permitted to take 
drinks or glass containers with them. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 Deliveries to the premises shall only be made between **:** 
hours and **:** hours on Mondays to Saturdays only. 
 

PN 

 The pavement from the building line to the kerb edge 
immediately outside the premises, including gutter/channel at 
its junction with the kerb edge, shall be swept and or 
washed, and litter and sweepings collected and stored in 
accordance with the approved refuse storage arrangements. 
 

PN 

 
Lighting 

 

 Internal and external lighting provided for the purpose of 
customer and staff safety and for the security of the premises 
shall be positioned so as not to cause nuisance to 
neighbouring or adjoining properties.  
 

PN 

 Lighting associated with regulated entertainment shall be 
positioned so as not to cause nuisance to neighbouring or 
adjoining properties. 
 

PN 

 Lighting provided externally to promote advertising of the 
premises or activities associated with the premises shall be 

PN 

Page 160



 41 

of an intensity such as not to cause nuisance to neighbouring 
or adjoining properties. 
 

 
Open Spaces 

 

 The area within which alcohol is served or consumed shall 
be clearly and effectively delineated using barriers, ropes, or 
similar so that the extent of the Designated Place where the 
licensable activity is temporarily permitted shall be clearly 
defined and notices shall be conspicuously placed in the 
area. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 Music noise levels from outdoor regulated entertainment 
must not exceed those defined in the Code of Practice on 
Environmental Noise Control at Concerts' (The Noise Council 
1995 ISBN 0 900103 51 

PN 

 Use of the outdoor area will cease at 23:00 everyday. 
 

PN 

 
Other Nuisance 

 

 A public refuse bin shall be installed outside the premises 
subject to any necessary planning permission or listed 
building permission. 
 

PN 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that any queue to 
enter the premises which forms outside the premises is 
orderly and supervised by door staff so as to ensure that 
there is no public nuisance or obstruction to the public 
highway. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 
Litter 

 

 At the termination of business on each day the outside area 
immediately to the front of and adjacent to the premises shall 
be cleared of debris and litter. 
 

PN 

 
Other 

 

 In cases of an event involving a significant number of 
unaccompanied children, the premises licence holder shall 
have a child protection policy in place to carry out suitable 
checks on staff before they take up employment. 
 

CP 

 A Challenge [21/25/or any other suitable age] policy shall be 
operated at the premises at all times. All staff shall require 
identification of all customers who appear to be less than 
[21/25/ or any other suitable age] years old and wish to 

CP 

Page 161



 42 

purchase alcohol. Acceptable proof of age will be a PASS 
approved proof of age card, UK passport or a UK 
photographic driving licence. 
 

 Challenge [21/25/ or any other suitable age] materials shall 
be displayed at the premises, including at the point of sale of 
alcohol, to inform customers of the operation of the scheme. 
 
 

 
CP 

 A log shall be kept at the premises and record all refused 
sales of alcohol for reasons that the person(s) is, or appears 
to be, under x years of age. The log shall record the date and 
time of the refusal and the name of the member of staff who 
refused the sale. The log will be made available on request 
by the Police or an authorised officer of the council. 
 

CP 

 Children under the age of  x years shall not be allowed on 
the premises after **:** hours unless accompanied by an 
adult. 
 

CP 

 Children under the age of x years shall not be allowed on the 
premises. 
 

CP 

 No single cans or bottles of beer or cider shall be sold at the 
premises. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 Clearly visible signage is to be displayed at the entrances 
and at points of sale indicating it is illegal to sell alcohol to 
people under the age of 18. 
 

CP 

 The licence holder or the licence holders, servants, or 
agents, shall ensure that no flyposting is undertaken by the 
licence holder or on behalf of the licence holder in respect of 
any performance or event taking place at the premises. 

PN 
C&D 

 
Queuing 

 

 Any designated queuing area shall be enclosed within 
appropriate barriers to ensure that the highway is kept clear. 
 

C&D 

 
Dispersal 

 

 
 
 
 

A minimum 30 minute ‘drinking-up’ time shall be provided to 
allow appropriate dispersal, use of lavatories etc. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 A written dispersal policy shall be in place and implemented 
at the premises to move customers from the premises and 
the immediate vicinity in such a way as to cause minimum 
disturbance or nuisance to neighbours. 

C&D 
CP 

Page 162



 43 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Freephones or payphones shall be made available to all 
customers and have displayed contact telephone numbers 
for selection of hackney carriages and private hire services. 
 

PN 

 
Boxing & Wrestling 

 

 At least 28 days’ notice of any event involving boxing or 
wrestling entertainment events shall be provided to the 
licensing authority and the health and safety enforcing 
authority. 

C&D 

Page 163



 44 

Appendix D – Designated Area of Concern  
 

 

P
age 164



Document is Restricted

Page 165By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



& ART COLLECTION EVENTS

P
age 169



The Good Times House

2 |The Good Times House The Good Times House 2 

A movie about good times, where you play an exciting part. With Arts, 
Culture and Music you socialise into the sky, fulfilling your life’s purpose. 
Collecting gems around the world, you’ll always be on the perfect set, 

Surrounded by Art that you’ll never forget

All my love,
Ricardo

P
age 170



 The Good Times House 3 3 |The Good Times House

ART AT ITS HEART

 The Good Times House is a new avant-garde private members’ club set in a stunning Georgian Town-

house in Montpellier Cheltenham. At the heart of the club, is the desire to bring this passion to life through 

an innovative and engaging arts programme and to build a House art collection that will stand the test 

of time.

P
age 171



4 |The Good Times House

OUR MISSION

 To INSPIRE members and provide a launchpad for their collecting journey
To create a diverse, representative and ACCESSIBLE art collection
To provide a new platform for EMERGING and established talent from the UK and abroad
To CHAMPION art in all its forms, from painting and performance, through to the new 
wave of digital art To EDUCATE and develop our members’ appreciation of the art world

P
age 172



 The Good Times House 5 

The Good Times House
P

age 173



The Good Times House

6 |The Good Times House

P
age 174



 The Good Times House 7 

The Good Times House
P

age 175



The Good Times House

8 |The Good Times House

ART COLLECTION

 Driven by the passion of our founder, and guided by our experienced in-house art advisor 
David Johnson, the art collection will showcase some of the most exciting artistic talent working 
today. This will be complemented by a dynamic and engaging events programme, curated  to  inspire  our 
members’ appreciation of art in all its forms. Our  VISION is to build the value of the art collection over 
time and offer our members a share in its future growth. Shareholders in the collection will receive 
dividends from the profits. We will be the first 
private members club in the world to PIONEER this concept.

GTH PRIVATE COLLECTION LTD
 

P
age 176



 The Good Times House 9 

The Good Times House
P

age 177



The Good Times House

10 |The Good Times House

GIVING YOU A TASTE

 Our events programme will be carefully curated to provide our members with bespoke and 
unforgettable experiences. From regular exhibitions, talks and events in our home at 8 Imperial Square, to 
tailored EXPERIENCES   that   include  insider   access   to  premier   art    &   CULTURAL   events  around  the  WORLD

P
age 178



 The Good Times House 11 

The Good Times House
P

age 179



The Good Times House

12 |Company Name

INTERNATIONAL

 Unforgettable trips to the Venice Biennale, Art Basel Miami, the Wynwood Walls and major 

international art events. Forge new friendships on excursions to a vineyard in Burgundy, a car rally 

in the Cotswolds or a breathtaking concierge-led ski trip to Courchevel.

P
age 180



 The Good Times House 13 

Good Times Alpine
P

age 181



The Good Times House

14 |The Good Times House

P
age 182



 The Good Times House 15 

The Good Times House

 Join us for our regular member events which will include artist talks, 
performances, charity auctions and much more! We also look forward to hosting quar-
terly exhibitions featuring some of the most exciting artistic talent working today.

P
age 183



The Good Times House

16 |The Good Times House

P
age 184



 The Good Times House 17 

The Good Times House
P

age 185



P
age 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



The Rum Bar   

 Page 1 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 
 

Licensing Sub Committee – 5th July 2023 
 

Licensing Act 2003:  
Determination of Application for a Premises Licence 

 
The Rum Bar 33 Prestbury Road Cheltenham GL52 2PP 

 
Report of the Senior Licensing Officer 

 
INTRODUCTION  
 

1. The Licensing Act 2003 (the 2003 Act) introduced a unified system of regulation through four 
types of authorisation to permit licensable activity:- 

 The premises licence,  

 The club premises certificates for qualifying clubs,  

 Temporary Event Notices and  

 The personal licence.  
 

2. Licensable activity is defined under the 2003 Act as the following:- 

 The sale by retail or the supply of alcohol, 

 Regulated entertainment (recorded and live music, performance of a play, exhibition of 
a film, etc) 

 Late night refreshment (food or drink supplied above ambient temperature between the 
hours of 23:00 and 05:00). 

 
3. Since the implementation of the 2003 Act, Central Government has issued Statutory 

Guidance (the Guidance) to provide more comprehensive and detailed advice on this 
legislation. It was last updated on 20 December 2022. The licensing authority must have 
regard to the Guidance when determining this application.  
 

4. The Guidance is binding on Cheltenham Borough Council acting in its capacity as a licensing 
authority under the 2003 Act. However, the licensing authority may depart from it, if it has 
good reason to do so. Departure from this Guidance could give rise to an appeal or judicial 
review, and so clear reasons must be referenced in such instances. 
 

5. The 2003 Act requires that a council must formulate and publish a statement of its licensing 
policy. This will explain the manner in which the licensing authority will carry out its 
responsibilities under the 2003 Act. The licensing authority may depart from the Statement of 
Licensing Policy (the Policy), but must give full and cogent reason(s) where it chooses to do 
so.  
 

6. The Guidance and Policy are both referenced: through elements of this report, through a 
summary of the most relevant extracts from each attached as appendices and by way of 
weblinks to both documents.   

 

   

Page 243
Agenda Item 4



The Rum Bar   

 Page 2 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

BACKGROUND 

7. The Borough Council, as the licensing authority, is responsible for authorising all venues/ 
events in the borough where licensable activities take place. 

 
8. The legislation provides a clear focus on the promotion of four statutory objectives which must 

be considered when licensing functions are undertaken.  
 
9. The system is built upon four licensing objectives:-  
 

 The prevention of crime and disorder;   

 Public safety;  

 The prevention of public nuisance; and,  

 The protection of children from harm.  
 
10.  The licensing authority must promote these objectives in carrying out its functions.   
 
11. Each objective is of equal importance. There are no other statutory licensing aims or 

objectives, although other aims and objectives may be pursued through local policy. 
 
12. Where an application is made to the licensing authority, the default position is that the 

application will be granted, as applied for, unless relevant representations (objections) are 
received. If relevant representations are received, a hearing must be held to consider the 
application, in light of the objections and/ or any support for it.  

 
13. An objection against an application must refer to the promotion of one or more of the 

licensing objectives to be considered as a relevant representation, and must be made by a 
Responsible Authority or an ‘Other Person’. 

 
14. Responsible Authorities: - The 2003 Act identifies 10 responsible authorities that act as 

statutory consultees for applications for premises licences. All of these consultees are served 
with a copy of the application and have the opportunity to object or make comment:-  

 

 The relevant Licensing Authority,  

 The Chief Officer of Police  

 The local Fire and Rescue Authority 

 The relevant health and safety enforcing authority 

 The local authority with responsibility for environmental health  

 The local Planning Authority  

 The relevant body with responsibility for the protection of children  

 The relevant Public Health Authority  

 Trading Standards  

 Home Office Immigration Enforcement (on behalf of the Secretary of State).  
 
15. Other Persons - The 2003 Act allows any individual, body or business to make 

representations to the licensing authority regarding an application for a premises licence, 
where their comments relate to the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

 
16. Mediation - In some cases, mediation by the licensing authority has the potential to find 

a satisfactory conclusion for all parties, and a hearing may be dispensed with, if all 
parties agree. This work will be attempted prior to the hearing.  

            
 

Page 244



The Rum Bar   

 Page 3 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 

17. Core Hours for Licensable Activities - As set down in the Policy the council will avoid arbitrary 
restrictions on licensing hours that undermine the principles of flexibility and consideration of 
each application is on its own merit.  

 
18. However, the council believes that licensable activities carried on within the core hours set 

out below will generally not have a harmful impact on the licensing objectives, address the 
concerns raised by local residents and businesses and are usually less likely to attract 
representations.  
 

19. Furthermore, earlier closing will result in less alcohol consumption and drunkenness and 
would also be consistent with the ability to get crowds dispersed from the town centre.  

 
Table 1: Core Hours for Licensable Activities  

Type of premises Commencement hour no 
earlier than 

Terminal hour no later 
than 

Off licence 09:00 23:00 

Restaurant 10:00 01:00 

Theatres, cinemas and 
other performance venues 

10:00 00:00 

Pubs/ bars/ nightclubs  Town centre                    
10:00 

03:00 

Local neighbourhood 
areas 10:00 

00:00 

Takeaways N/a N/a 

 

20. As set down in Appendix D of the Policy, the location for 33 The Rum Bar is defined as ‘a 
Local neighbourhood areas’ location. 
 

21. Where relevant representations have been made, the sub - committee will take the following 
matters into consideration when making a decision, as per the Policy. These are not a 
definitive list and other matters may be considered:- 

 
a) Operating schedules - demonstration of compliance with management standards to 
support each of the licensing objectives.  

b) Proximity to residential accommodation - the likelihood of the operation to have an adverse 
impact on the peace and quiet of local residents.  

c) Potential noise and nuisance from people leaving and entering the premises.  

d) Ability to demonstrate that systems in place to ensure timely dispersal of customers away 
from residential areas.  

 

Page 245



The Rum Bar   

 Page 4 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

 

e) Use of external areas for carrying out the licensable activities and potential noise impact on 
local residents.  

f) Proposed hours of the licensing activities and general opening times for the public – The 
use of winding down periods to enable more efficient dispersal.  

g) Type of use – alcohol led premises such as pubs, bars and nightclubs, off licenses and hot 
food take away premises are more likely to be associated with crime and disorder and public 
nuisance than other premises such as seated restaurants, theatres, cinemas and other 
cultural activities.  

h) Availability of public transport to assist in the timely dispersal of customers from the vicinity 
and to ensure safe travel home.  

i) The potential for contamination of the street environment through increased litter and other 
pollution of the streets by customers. 

 

DETERMINATION OF AN APPLICATION 

22. Where relevant representations have been received and mediation is unsuccessful or not 
viable, then the licensing authority’s discretion will be engaged. It will convene a hearing by a 
sub – committee of the Licensing Committee to consider the application and representations.  
 

23. Responsible authorities and/or other persons in relation to an application may attend the 
hearing, with adequate notice, to amplify and clarify their relevant comments. They may not 
add to their original representation once the objection period has closed. 
 

24. The applicant may also attend the hearing to assist the authority in considering the 
application. 
 

25. The hearing should focus on the steps considered appropriate to promote the particular 
licensing objective or objectives that have given rise the representations and not stray into 
undisputed areas. 
 

26. The sub – committee should determine the application with a view to promoting the licensing 
objectives in the overall interests of the local community. The licensing authority must give 
appropriate weight to:- 

 

 The Statutory Guidance - the current version is available to view here - relevant 
extracts are provided at Appendix E  

 The Cheltenham Borough Council Statement of Licensing Policy – the current version 
is available to view here - relevant extracts are provided at Appendix F 

 The steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives. 
 

THE APPLICATION  

Case number: 23/00745/PRMA 

Applicant: 33 The Rum Bar Limited 

Licence type – premises licence 

Page 246

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/442/licensing_policy_statement


The Rum Bar   

 Page 5 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

 
 
Address: 33 Prestbury Road, Cheltenham, GL52 2PP 
 

27.  A sub - committee is required to discharge its duty and determine this application with a view  
to promoting the licensing objectives. This is because relevant representations have been  
made against the application.  
 

28. The application is attached at Appendix A and details the hours sought for licensable activity 
to take place. It includes the steps the applicant would take to promote the licensing 
objectives at Section M if the application is granted. 
 

29. The application was made to permit live and recorded music until 23:30 hours Mondays to 
Saturdays. During the consultation the applicant agreed with the request by Environmental 
Health to change the termination time to 23:00, this was agreed by both parties. 
 

30. The application was sent out for consultation and was deemed as duly made at that point. 
The close of the objection period was set as 8th June 2023. The application was sent 
electronically to all responsible authorities and public notice of the application was given by 
way of site notice and a notice in a local newspaper.  
 

31. The application was accompanied by a plan of the premises, which will be available as a 
background paper to Members and available to view by the public at the Council Offices on 
request during normal office hours. The distribution of this plan is restricted to guard against 
the potential activities of terrorists who may use the information in such plans in planning 
attacks on the public, this concern is balanced against insuring that all parties to a hearing can 
view the plan if they wish to and so are not prejudiced by it not being published online. The 
location of the proposed venue is shown by way of area maps highlighting the premises 
concerned at Appendix B  
 

RELEVANT REPRESENTATIONS  
 

32. During the consultation period there were no relevant representations received from any 
responsible authority. 
 

33. However, there were seven relevant representations (one late) from other persons and four 
supporting comments.  
 

34. The relevant representations from other persons are attached at Appendix C for objections 
and Appendix D for supporting comments. 

 

HEARING  
 

35. The council appreciates that not all parties will want to attend the meeting in person or be able 
to do so, but it understands that they will want their views to be considered. If a party is not 
able to attend the hearing, this will not undermine the consideration of their written submission 
relating to an application. 
 

36. It is worth bearing in mind that normal practice at hearings would involve parties not repeating 
the points that have already been made to the sub – committee on the day. Furthermore, the 
sub – committee will consider all written representations in any event, and the hearing itself is 
the opportunity for parties to only ‘amplify and clarify’ the points they have already made in 
writing.   

Page 247



The Rum Bar   

 Page 6 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

   
 

CASE OFFICER COMMENTS 
 

37. Members are asked to consider the following points, which seem pertinent to the case:- 
 

a. Members are asked to consider this application and determine whether the controls put 
in place by the applicant are sufficient to mitigate any justified concerns about the 
application, in light of the evidence and/ or reasoning put forward by the objectors with 
reference to this specific proposal. 

b. All parties should note that the Live Music Act 2012 allows premises licensed for the sale 
of alcohol for consumption on the premises to provide live and recorded music between 
08:00 – 23:00 hours daily (whilst the premises concerned is open for the sale of alcohol 
for consumption on the premises). Therefore, conditions relating to those activities are 
only in force outside of those hours. 

 
38. Furthermore, all parties must recognize the following important considerations:- 

 

 The decision making exercise is considered as an ‘administrative’ process in legal 
terms. However, there is potential for legal challenge against a decision, and where a 
party appeals, the decision making process is scrutinized. The licensing authority is 
bound by legislation and case law in how it carries out this function, and so must act 
accordingly. 

 Members can only consider evidence/ reasoning presented, which is clearly related to 
the promotion of the licensing objectives and this specific proposal. 

 
39. Finally, the case R (Hope and Glory Public House Limited) v City of Westminster Magistrates' 

Court [2011] EWCA Civ 31 is considered an important licensing case that was consider by 
the Court of Appeal in 2011. An extract from the conclusion provides some assistance for the 
sub – committee:-  
 

As Mr Matthias rightly submitted, the licensing function of a licensing authority is an 
administrative function. By contrast, the function of the district judge is a judicial function. 
The licensing authority has a duty, in accordance with the rule of law, to behave fairly in the 
decision-making procedure, but the decision itself is not a judicial or quasi-judicial act. It is the 
exercise of a power delegated by the people as a whole to decide what the public interest 
requires. (See the judgment of Lord Hoffmann in Alconbury at para 74.)  

40. Licensing decisions often involve weighing a variety of competing considerations: the 
demand for licensed establishments, the economic benefit to the proprietor and to the 
locality by drawing in visitors and stimulating the demand, the effect on law and order, 
the impact on the lives of those who live and work in the vicinity, and so on. Sometimes 
a licensing decision may involve narrower questions, such as whether noise, noxious 
smells or litter coming from premises amount to a public nuisance. Although such 
questions are in a sense questions of fact, they are not questions of the "heads or 
tails" variety. They involve an evaluation of what is to be regarded as reasonably 
acceptable in the particular location. In any case, deciding what (if any) conditions 
should be attached to a licence as necessary and proportionate to the promotion of the 
statutory licensing objectives is essentially a matter of judgment rather than a matter of 
pure fact.  

 

Page 248



The Rum Bar   

 Page 7 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

 

41. The statutory duty of the licensing authority to give reasons for its decision serves a number of 
purposes. It informs the public, who can make their views known to their elected 
representatives if they do not like the licensing sub-committee's approach. It enables a party 
aggrieved by the decision to know why it has lost and to consider the prospects of a 
successful appeal. If an appeal is brought, it enables the magistrates' court to know the 
reasons which led to the decision. The fuller and clearer the reasons, the more force they are 
likely to carry.  
 

41. The last paragraph highlights in particular the statutory duty of the sub – committee to give 
clear written reasons for its decision. This allows all parties to an application to understand 
the eventual outcome in a meaningful way.   
 

DECISION MAKING 
 

42. The sub – committee will consider thoroughly and diligently the representations and their 
relevance to the determination of this application. Members must limit their considerations of 
the objections to where they are specifically relevant to the application before them.  
 

43. The licensing authority must determine the application and decide whether to:- 
 

 Grant the application with mandatory conditions and those offered in the application 
only, or 
 

 Grant the application with mandatory conditions, those conditions offered in the 
application (amended or otherwise) and attach specific conditions to promote the 
licensing objectives - where it considers it appropriate. (This may include restricting 
the hours applied for in the application), or 

 

 Refuse the application, as it considers it appropriate to promote the licensing 
objectives. 

 
44. Each application must be considered on its own merits and in accordance with the 2003 Act, 

the Guidance and the licensing authority’s Statement of Licensing Policy.  
 

45. If conditions are attached to the grant of a licence they must be tailored to the individual type, 
location and characteristics of the premises/ events concerned. This is essential to avoid the 
imposition of disproportionate and overly burdensome conditions on premises where there is 
no need for such conditions. 
 

46. If any party to a hearing is aggrieved by the decision of the licensing authority (this means the 
applicant or any person/ organisation/ business that made a relevant representation), they 
may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court. They must do so within 21 days of being notified of the 
decision in writing. 
 

Licence conditions – general principles  

47. Conditions on a premises licence are important in setting the parameters within which 
premises can lawfully operate. The use of wording such as ‘must’, ‘shall’ and to a lesser 
extent ‘will’ is encouraged.  

 

Page 249



The Rum Bar   

 Page 8 of 8 Last updated 26 June 2023 

 

 
 

48. Licence conditions:- 
  

 Must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; 

 Must be precise and enforceable; 

 Must be unambiguous and clear in what they intend to achieve; 

 Should not duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or responsibilities placed 
on the employer by other legislation; 

 Must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of the premises and 
events concerned; 

 Should not be standardised and may be unlawful when it cannot be demonstrated that 
they are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in an individual case; 

 Should not replicate offences set out in the 2003 Act or other legislation; 

 Should be proportionate, justifiable and be capable of being met, (for example, whilst beer 
glasses may be available in toughened glass, wine glasses may not); 

 Cannot seek to manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the direct 
management of the licence holder and their staff, but may impact on the behaviour of 
customers in the immediate vicinity of the premises or as they enter or leave; and 

 Should be written in a prescriptive format.  
 

Background Papers Various appendices 

Report Author  Contact officer: Phillip Bowen 

Senior Licensing Officer 

E-mail: licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Tel no: 01242 262626 

 

Legal contact officer: One Legal 

Email: legalservices@onelegal.org.uk  

 

 

Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



 Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C 

1. 19 Albert Place, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire GL52 2HR 

 

Albert Place already has issues with drunk people walking from Prestbury Road towards the 

town centre, and from the town centre towards Prestbury Road. Given the fact that the road 

falls in a conservation area and many of the houses are listed buildings, sound insulation 

along the street is very poor as most residents have single pane sash windows. This means 

that any further footfall along the road, particularly drunk people in the evening hours, will 

be very disruptive. I also worry about the noise levels directly from the premise. Loud noises 

from Prestbury Road do travel down Albert Place and the gardens between Albert Place and 

Potland Square. In the original application for planning permission, the applicant said they'd 

be no louder than The Sudley Arms. However, given the Sudley Arms rarely has more than a 

few people in it and doesn't back onto the same streets, I fear that the disruption from this 

new venue will far exceed what is already caused by the Sudley Arms. There is a lack of 

parking on Albert Place and in the surrounding areas, and given this establishment will be 

open in hours that include times which are outside the times which parking restrictions are 

in place, I fear that that parking locally will become even more difficulty. 

 

2. 3 Albert Place, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire GL52 2HP 

 

The premises in question has residential properties very close including above and across 

the road. Given the limited outdoor space issues with noise and antisocial behaviour would 

be magnified. There are already licenced premises close by which create a noise issue and 

one of the properties often has people spilling out onto the pavement drinking (usually 

during race week and match days) Give the noise being generated during the fitting out of 

the premises it seems unlikely that music , amplified or otherwise will be contained by the 

structure of the building 

 

3. Malden Mews, Malden Road, Cheltenham, GL52 2BU  

 

I am writing to raise concerns with regards to the application for a new premises licence 

being made for 33 Prestbury Road, to open a rum bar with a licence to play late night music 

until 11.30pm 7 days per week and to serve alcohol until 11pm 7 days per week (slightly 

earlier finish time on a Sunday. I have several concerns about the application in relation to 

the impact on 

 

* This part of Prestbury Road is largely a residential area, with a small row of shops and a 

cafe that are all open approximately 9-5pm. A little further down the road is one pub. The 

opening of a late night bar, particularly with intentions to play music and serve alcohol 7-

days a week, will introduce late night drinking into our local neighbourhood. This concerns 

me on a number of levels, including concerns about the noise from people going in and out 

or standing outside the property, which is across the road from my flat. 

 

* Most of the properties on Prestbury Road are grade 2 listed buildings and as such, 

windows tend to be large and single glazed, which means noise travels clearly through the 

windows. When people outside in the street stand and talk, I can hear their conversations to 

the point that I am unable to hear the TV properly or read a book. I am concerned that a 

large volume of people across the road, entering and leaving the building, with music and 

Page 273



alcohol, will contribute to unacceptable noise levels which will cause issues for me and other 

residents in our homes. 

 

* I am concerned that people drinking and leaving the premises drunk late at night has the 

potential to cause a public nuisance, in an area of Cheltenham that is mainly residential and 

not a place where there are numerous other late night bars with music. 

 

* The above points particularly concern me in terms of the impact on my ability to sleep well 

with the noise levels, particularly on weeknights when I will be needing to get up early to go 

to work.  

 

* I am concerned that people drinking late at night will potentially lead to a rise in antisocial 

behaviour and potentially cause a public nuisance, with an increase in noise levels, potential 

increase in litter, and increase in people smoking with the planned smoking area which I 

assume will affect anyone living directly above or adjacent to the bar. I also note that there 

is only permit parking in this area and would be concerned about a potential increase in 

people parking locally in places they should not. I hope you will consider these concerns 

seriously. In theory I do not have an issue with the bar opening, but rather the late night 

hours they wish to open, along with opening 7 days a week at a late time which seems 

unreasonable in terms of the impact the noise will have for local residents in this residential 

area. 

 

Letter from the same person 

 

I wish to object to the above licensing application. 

 

The grounds for the objection are as follows: 

 

1.The prevention of public nuisance 

2.The prevention of crime and disorder. 

 

33 Prestbury Road falls within a neighbourhood centre within the Pittville Character Area of 

the Cheltenham Conservation Area.  It is surrounded by residential properties including that 

of my own.  My property is Grade II listed with single glass windows opposite the proposed 

Rum Bar. 

 

The proposed use of the premises as a Rum Bar for the sale of alcohol and provision of 

Entertainment would cause noise disturbance to the living conditions contrary to Policy SL1 

of the Cheltenham Plan. 

 

The granting of a licence would also cause unacceptable harm to the local amenity of 

neighbouring occupants due to the noise that would emanate from the premises, the 

smoking area and the noise when the premises closes in the evening contrary to SD14 of the 

Joint Core Strategy. 

 

The Sui Generis Planning Permission granted on 8 August 2022 sets out conditions that are 

not reflected in the Licensing Application.   

 

A Noise Management plan had to be submitted and approved prior to music other than 

background music being played at the premises in order to safeguard the amenity of 

Page 274



adjacent properties and the general locality.  The plan was to be approved prior to the 

premises being altered so as to ensure works were integral to the overall design or 

development.  

 

The Noise and Waste Control Statement that was submitted with the Planning Application 

has not been reflected in the Licensing Application. 

 

The area is a Conservation Area.  Whilst it is a mixed area there is only one Public House in 

Prestbury Road, The Sudeley Arms.  By granting another premises licence in the 

conservation area it is logical that customers may move between the two premises which 

could result in public order issues as well as noise disturbance.     This is acceptable in a town 

centre but not in an area with so many residential properties. 

 

We request that the application for the Premises Licence is refused on the grounds of Public 

Nuisance and the Prevention of Crime and Disorder. 

 

If the Committee are minded to grant the Premises Licence we would request that the 

following conditions are attached to the licence:   

 

There is no amplified music; 

 Music will be managed through sonos speakers and a sonos app giving applicants 

control of the volume level; 

 No drinks are to be taken onto the pavement area. Smoking outside the venue (on 

the street, opposite a row of residential buildings that are all single paned and Grade 

II listed) be prohibited. 

 The Noise Management Plan required by planning to be attached as a condition to 

the licence. 

 

Noise and waste management documents attached to the planning application set out: “The 

smoking area will be controlled by a roped off area outside the front of the bar. There will be 

a door staff member monitoring this area and there will be a set amount of people allowed 

in this area at one time. Drinks will not be allowed to be taken outside, meaning that 

customers will not be hanging around outside for long periods of time.” The concept of a 

smoking area directly contravenes the licensing objective of the prevention of public 

nuisance.  “We will pay for a weekly collection of waste and in the meantime the waste will 

be stored in a designated blocked off area under the stairs, contained to inside the premises. 

We own a business on the same street and find the weekly paid collections work very well”. 

A condition in line with the applicants proposed suggestion should be placed on the licence 

to ensure there is no noise disturbance by bottles being emptied outside the premises 

outside normal working hours. 

 

I look forward to hearing from you. 

 

4. 11 Pittville Lawn, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire GL52 2BE 

 

While broadly in support of the application, there is concern that customers will spill onto 

the pavement, causing noise, obstruction, and litter. Despite the conditions stating that 

customers will not be permitted to take drinks off premises, smokers will invariably 

congregate on the pavement, resulting in noise and litter nuisances.  

 

Page 275



5. Address to be provided 

 

Regarding the application for the Rum Bar in Prestbury road, the only objection to is the 

parking, they should use Portland car park which is about two minutes away, the reason i 

mention this is nearly opposite is Badhams chemist and over many years i have complained 

cars parking three abreast on the pavement outside the chemist totally blocking the 

pavement totally for mothers pushing prams and immobilised people on their electric chairs, 

twice i have stepped onto the road to hold the traffic so that the person can get past the 

blocking car and back onto the pavement, about a month ago i was able to stop a police car 

and pointed out a car on the pedestrian section of the pavement and they just said not our 

problem!! About three weeks ago i sent an email with many photos of the many cars and 

vans which ignores the no entry sign who park all over the pavement and have requested 

two bollards tp prevent them parking pedestrian part of the pavement, i have been in touch 

with the conservative and liberal councillors of Pittville to no avail. 

Page 276



Appendix D 

1. Address to be provided 

 

In support of 33 Rum Bar 

 

2. 109 Winchcombe Street, Cheltenham 

 

I am writing in support of the application by We-33 for a premises licence to serve alcohol 

and play live music at 33 Prestbury Road. I am a residential property owner a little further 

down the road. I welcome the addition of a stylish new hospitality which has been sadly 

lacking at this end of town. I believe that this venture will add to the vibrancy of the 

neighbourhood and elevate the rather tired and down at heel pub offerings to date. 

 

3. Address to be provided 

 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

I would like to show my support in the requested license of the new rum bar opening at 33 

Prestbury road. My partner and I believe it will positively contribute to the area and further 

support the struggling live music scene in Cheltenham. 

 

4. 42 Selkirk Street Cheltenham.  

 

Morning. 

I am a resident in Cheltenham. 

 

I wanted to express the importance of granting this bar its licence. 

 

I have lived in the area for 2 years now and work locally. 

 

The Pittville shops require and need establishments that will increase both footfall and 

therefore also ensure quality establishments are attracted to the area... such as the Havana 

coffee shop Ben's hair and the like. This bar will not be some overcrowded space causing 

local disturbances... but rather allow local residence a close by establishment to enjoy local 

music, drinks and local focus to bring people together. It would be in my opinion foolish to 

restrict such a community bar to be limited in their offering and impact their ability to thrive 

and be successful. I wholeheartedly hope you are able to grant the licence and anyone citing 

noise and anti social behaviour clearly don't understand how important such a bar is for the 

area. The right footfall will boost the area and attract more money and investment to the 

little suburb outside of town. 

 

Many thanks for hearing me out and look forward to hopefully some good news in June. 

Page 277



This page is intentionally left blank



1. Introduction 

The Licensing Act 2003 

Licensing objectives and aims 

1.2 The legislation provides a clear focus on the promotion of four statutory objectives which must 
be addressed when licensing functions are undertaken. 

1.3 The licensing objectives are: 

 The prevention of crime and disorder; 
 Public safety; 
 The prevention of public nuisance; and 
 The protection of children from harm. 

1.4 Each objective is of equal importance. There are no other statutory licensing objectives, so that 
the promotion of the four objectives is a paramount consideration at all times. 

1.5 However, the legislation also supports a number of other key aims and purposes. These are 
vitally important and should be principal aims for everyone involved in licensing work. They 
include: 

 protecting the public and local residents from crime, anti-social behaviour and noise nuisance 
caused by irresponsible licensed premises; 

 giving the police and licensing authorities the powers they need to effectively manage and 
police the night-time economy and take action against those premises that are causing 
problems; 

 recognising the important role which pubs and other licensed premises play in our local 
communities by minimising the regulatory burden on business, encouraging innovation and 
supporting responsible premises; 

 providing a regulatory framework for alcohol which reflects the needs of local communities and 
empowers local authorities to make and enforce decisions about the most appropriate licensing 
strategies for their local area; and 

 encouraging greater community involvement in licensing decisions and giving local residents 
the opportunity to have their say regarding licensing decisions that may affect them. 

Page 279



The guidance 

1.6 Section 182 of the 2003 Act provides that the Secretary of State must issue and, from time to 
time, may revise guidance to licensing authorities on the discharge of their functions under the 
2003 Act. This revised guidance takes effect as soon as it is published. Where a licence 
application was made prior to the publication of the revised guidance, it should be processed in 
accordance with the guidance in effect at the time at which the application was made; the revised 
guidance does not apply retrospectively. However, all applications received by the licensing 
authority on or after the date the revised guidance was published should be processed in 
accordance with the revised guidance. 

Purpose 

1.7 This Guidance is provided to licensing authorities in relation to the carrying out of their 
functions under the 2003 Act. It also provides information to magistrates’ courts hearing appeals 
against licensing decisions and has been made widely available for the benefit of those who run 
licensed premises, their legal advisers and the general public. It is a key medium for promoting 
best practice, ensuring consistent application of licensing powers across England and Wales and 
for promoting fairness, equal treatment and proportionality. 

… 

Legal status 

1.9 Section 4 of the 2003 Act provides that, in carrying out its functions, a licensing authority must 
‘have regard to’ guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182. This Guidance is 
therefore binding on all licensing authorities to that extent. However, this Guidance cannot 
anticipate every possible scenario or set of circumstances that may arise and, as long as licensing 
authorities have properly understood this Guidance, they may depart from it if they have good 
reason to do so and can provide full reasons. Departure from this Guidance could give rise to an 
appeal or judicial review, and the reasons given will then be a key consideration for the courts 
when considering the lawfulness and merits of any decision taken. 

1.10 Nothing in this Guidance should be taken as indicating that any requirement of licensing law 
or any other law may be overridden (including the obligations placed on any public authorities 
under human rights legislation). This Guidance does not in any way replace the statutory 
provisions of the 2003 Act or add to its scope and licensing authorities should note that 
interpretation of the 2003 Act is a matter for the courts. Licensing authorities and others using this 
Guidance must take their own professional and legal advice about its implementation. 

 

Page 280



Licensing policies 

1.11 Section 5 of the 2003 Act requires a licensing authority to determine and publish a statement 
of its licensing policy at least once every five years. The policy must be published before it carries 
out any licensing functions under the 2003 Act. 

1.12 However, determining and publishing a statement of its policy is a licensing function and as 
such the authority must have regard to this Guidance when taking this step. A licensing authority 
may depart from its own policy if the individual circumstances of any case merit such a decision in 
the interests of the promotion of the licensing objectives. But once again, it is important that it 
should be able to give full reasons for departing from its published statement of licensing policy. 
Where revisions to this Guidance are issued by the Secretary of State, there may be a period of 
time when the licensing policy statement is inconsistent with the Guidance (for example, during 
any consultation by the licensing authority). In these circumstances, the licensing authority should 
have regard, and give appropriate weight, to this Guidance and its own existing licensing policy 
statement. 

 .. 

General principles 

1.15 If an application for a premises licence or club premises certificate has been made lawfully 
and there have been no representations from responsible authorities or other persons, the 
licensing authority must grant the application, subject only to conditions that are consistent with the 
operating schedule and relevant mandatory conditions. It is recommended that licence applicants 
contact responsible authorities when preparing their operating schedules. 

Licence conditions – general principles 

1.16 Conditions on a premises licence or club premises certificate are important in setting the 
parameters within which premises can lawfully operate. The use of wording such as “must”, “shall” 
and “will” is encouraged. Licence conditions: 

 must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; 
 must be precise and enforceable; 
 must be unambiguous and clear in what they intend to achieve; 
 should not duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or responsibilities placed on 

the employer by other legislation; 
 must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of the premises and events 

concerned; 
 should not be standardised and may be unlawful when it cannot be demonstrated that they are 

appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in an individual case; 
 should not replicate offences set out in the 2003 Act or other legislation; 
 should be proportionate, justifiable and be capable of being met; 

Page 281



 cannot seek to manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the direct 
management of the licence holder and their staff, but may impact on the behaviour of 
customers in the immediate vicinity of the premises or as they enter or leave; and 

 should be written in a prescriptive format. 

Each application on its own merits 

1.17 Each application must be considered on its own merits and in accordance with the licensing 
authority’s statement of licensing policy; for example, if the application falls within the scope of a 
cumulative impact policy. Conditions attached to licences and certificates must be tailored to the 
individual type, location and characteristics of the premises and events concerned. This is 
essential to avoid the imposition of disproportionate and overly burdensome conditions on 
premises where there is no need for such conditions. Standardised conditions should be avoided 
and indeed may be unlawful where they cannot be shown to be appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives in an individual case. 

.. 

Other relevant legislation 

1.19 While licence conditions should not duplicate other statutory provisions, licensing authorities 
and licensees should be mindful of requirements and responsibilities placed on them by other 
legislation. Legislation which may be relevant includes: 

 The Gambling Act 2005 
 The Environmental Protection Act 1990 
 The Noise Act 1996 
 The Clean Neighbourhoods and Environmental Act 2005 
 The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
 The Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
 The Equality Act 2010 
 The Immigration Act 2016 
 Regulators’ Code under the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 

2. The licensing objectives 

Crime and disorder 

Page 282



2.1 Licensing authorities should look to the police as the main source of advice on crime and 
disorder. They should also seek to involve the local Community Safety Partnership (CSP). 

… 

2.3 Conditions should be targeted on deterrence and preventing crime and disorder including the 
prevention of illegal working in licensed premises (see paragraph 10.10). For example, where 
there is good reason to suppose that disorder may take place, the presence of closed-circuit 
television (CCTV) cameras both inside and immediately outside the premises can actively deter 
disorder, nuisance, anti-social behaviour and crime generally. Some licence holders may wish to 
have cameras on their premises for the prevention of crime directed against the business itself, its 
staff, or its customers. But any condition may require a broader approach, and it may be 
appropriate to ensure that the precise location of cameras is set out on plans to ensure that certain 
areas are properly covered and there is no subsequent dispute over the terms of the condition. 

2.4 The inclusion of radio links and ring-round phone systems should be considered an 
appropriate condition for public houses, bars and nightclubs operating in city and town centre 
leisure areas with a high density of licensed premises. These systems allow managers of licensed 
premises to communicate instantly with the police and facilitate a rapid response to any disorder 
which may be endangering the customers and staff on the premises. 

2.5 Conditions relating to the management competency of designated premises supervisors 
should not normally be attached to premises licences. It will normally be the responsibility of the 
premises licence holder as an employer, and not the licensing authority, to ensure that the 
managers appointed at the premises are competent and appropriately trained. The designated 
premises supervisor is the key person who will usually be responsible for the day to day 
management of the premises by the premises licence holder, including the prevention of disorder. 
A condition of this kind may only be justified as appropriate in rare circumstances where it can be 
demonstrated that, in the circumstances associated with particular premises, poor management 
competency could give rise to issues of crime and disorder and public safety. 

2.6 The prevention of crime includes the prevention of immigration crime including the prevention 
of illegal working in licensed premises. Licensing authorities should work with Home Office 
Immigration Enforcement, as well as the police, in respect of these matters. Licence conditions 
that are considered appropriate for the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises might 
include requiring a premises licence holder to undertake right to work checks on all staff employed 
at the licensed premises or requiring that evidence of a right to work check, either physical or 
digital (e.g. a copy of any document checked as part of a right to work check or a clear copy of the 
online right to work check) are retained at the licensed premises. 

Public safety 

2.7 Licence holders have a responsibility to ensure the safety of those using their premises, as a 
part of their duties under the 2003 Act. This concerns the safety of people using the relevant 
premises rather than public health which is addressed in other legislation. Physical safety includes 
the prevention of accidents and injuries and other immediate harms that can result from alcohol 
consumption such as unconsciousness or alcohol poisoning. Conditions relating to public safety 
may also promote the crime and disorder objective as noted above. There will of course be 
occasions when a public safety condition could incidentally benefit a person’s health more 

Page 283



generally, but it should not be the purpose of the condition as this would be outside the licensing 
authority’s powers (be ultra vires) under the 2003 Act. Conditions should not be imposed on a 
premises licence or club premises certificate which relate to cleanliness or hygiene. 

2.8 A number of matters should be considered in relation to public safety. These may include: 

 Fire safety; 
 Ensuring appropriate access for emergency services such as ambulances; 
 Good communication with local authorities and emergency services, for example 

communications networks with the police and signing up for local incident alerts (see paragraph 
2.4 above); 

 Ensuring the presence of trained first aiders on the premises and appropriate first aid kits; 
 Ensuring the safety of people when leaving the premises (for example, through the provision of 

information on late-night transportation); 
 Ensuring appropriate and frequent waste disposal, particularly of glass bottles; 
 Ensuring appropriate limits on the maximum capacity of the premises (see paragraphs 2.12-

2.13, and Chapter 10; and 
 Considering the use of CCTV in and around the premises (as noted in paragraph 2.3 above, 

this may also assist with promoting the crime and disorder objective). 

2.9 The measures that are appropriate to promote public safety will vary between premises and 
the matters listed above may not apply in all cases. As set out in Chapter 8 (8.38- 8.46), applicants 
should consider when making their application which steps it is appropriate to take to promote the 
public safety objective and demonstrate how they achieve that. 

Ensuring safe departure of those using the premises 

2.10 Licence holders should make provision to ensure that premises users safely leave their 
premises. Measures that may assist include: 

 Providing information on the premises of local taxi companies who can provide safe 
transportation home; and 

 Ensuring adequate lighting outside the premises, particularly on paths leading to and from the 
premises and in car parks. 

Maintenance and repair 

2.11 Where there is a requirement in other legislation for premises open to the public or for 
employers to possess certificates attesting to the safety or satisfactory nature of certain equipment 
or fixtures on the premises, it would be inappropriate for a licensing condition to require 
possession of such a certificate. However, it would be permissible to require as a condition of a 
licence or certificate, if appropriate, checks on this equipment to be conducted at specified 
intervals and for evidence of these checks to be retained by the premises licence holder or club 
provided this does not duplicate or gold-plate a requirement in other legislation. Similarly, it would 
be permissible for licensing authorities, if they receive relevant representations from responsible 
authorities or any other persons, to attach conditions which require equipment of particular 

Page 284



standards to be maintained on the premises. Responsible authorities – such as health and safety 
authorities – should therefore make their expectations clear in this respect to enable prospective 
licence holders or clubs to prepare effective operating schedules and club operating schedules. 

Safe capacities 

2.12 “Safe capacities” should only be imposed where appropriate for the promotion of public safety 
or the prevention of disorder on the relevant premises. For example, if a capacity has been 
imposed through other legislation, it would be inappropriate to reproduce it in a premises licence. 
Indeed, it would also be wrong to lay down conditions which conflict with other legal requirements. 
However, if no safe capacity has been imposed through other legislation, a responsible authority 
may consider it appropriate for a new capacity to be attached to the premises which would apply at 
any material time when the licensable activities are taking place and make representations to that 
effect. For example, in certain circumstances, capacity limits may be appropriate in preventing 
disorder, as overcrowded venues can increase the risks of crowds becoming frustrated and 
hostile. 

2.13 The permitted capacity is a limit on the number of persons who may be on the premises at 
any time, following a recommendation by the relevant fire and rescue authority under the 
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. For any application for a premises licence or club 
premises certificate for premises without an existing permitted capacity where the applicant wishes 
to take advantage of the special provisions set out in section 177 of the 2003 Act[footnote 1], the 
applicant should conduct their own risk assessment as to the appropriate capacity of the premises. 
They should send their recommendation to the fire and rescue authority which will consider it and 
decide what the “permitted capacity” of those premises should be. 

2.14 Public safety may include the safety of performers appearing at any premises, but does not 
extend to the prevention of injury from participation in a boxing or wrestling entertainment. 

Public nuisance 

2.15 The 2003 Act enables licensing authorities and responsible authorities, through 
representations, to consider what constitutes public nuisance and what is appropriate to prevent it 
in terms of conditions attached to specific premises licences and club premises certificates. It is 
therefore important that in considering the promotion of this licensing objective, licensing 
authorities and responsible authorities focus on the effect of the licensable activities at the specific 
premises on persons living and working (including those carrying on business) in the area around 
the premises which may be disproportionate and unreasonable. The issues will mainly concern 
noise nuisance, light pollution, noxious smells and litter. 

2.16 Public nuisance is given a statutory meaning in many pieces of legislation. It is however not 
narrowly defined in the 2003 Act and retains its broad common law meaning. It may include in 
appropriate circumstances the reduction of the living and working amenity and environment of 
other persons living and working in the area of the licensed premises. Public nuisance may also 
arise as a result of the adverse effects of artificial light, dust, odour and insects or where its effect 
is prejudicial to health. 

Page 285

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:1


2.17 Conditions relating to noise nuisance will usually concern steps appropriate to control the 
levels of noise emanating from premises. This might be achieved by a simple measure such as 
ensuring that doors and windows are kept closed after a particular time, or persons are not 
permitted in garden areas of the premises after a certain time. More sophisticated measures like 
the installation of acoustic curtains or rubber speaker mounts to mitigate sound escape from the 
premises may be appropriate. However, conditions in relation to live or recorded music may not be 
enforceable in circumstances where the entertainment activity itself is not licensable (see chapter 
16). Any conditions appropriate to promote the prevention of public nuisance should be tailored to 
the type, nature and characteristics of the specific premises and its licensable activities. Licensing 
authorities should avoid inappropriate or disproportionate measures that could deter events that 
are valuable to the community, such as live music. Noise limiters, for example, are expensive to 
purchase and install and are likely to be a considerable burden for smaller venues. 

2.18 As with all conditions, those relating to noise nuisance may not be appropriate in certain 
circumstances where provisions in other legislation adequately protect those living in the area of 
the premises. But as stated earlier in this Guidance, the approach of licensing authorities and 
responsible authorities should be one of prevention and when their powers are engaged, licensing 
authorities should be aware of the fact that other legislation may not adequately cover concerns 
raised in relevant representations and additional conditions may be appropriate. 

2.19 Where applications have given rise to representations, any appropriate conditions should 
normally focus on the most sensitive periods. For example, the most sensitive period for people 
being disturbed by unreasonably loud music is at night and into the early morning when residents 
in adjacent properties may be attempting to go to sleep or are sleeping. This is why there is still a 
need for a licence for performances of live music between 11 pm and 8 am. In certain 
circumstances, conditions relating to noise emanating from the premises may also be appropriate 
to address any disturbance anticipated as customers enter and leave. 

2.20 Measures to control light pollution will also require careful thought. Bright lighting outside 
premises which is considered appropriate to prevent crime and disorder may itself give rise to light 
pollution for some neighbours. Applicants, licensing authorities and responsible authorities will 
need to balance these issues. 

2.21 Beyond the immediate area surrounding the premises, these are matters for the personal 
responsibility of individuals under the law. An individual who engages in anti- social behaviour is 
accountable in their own right. However, it would be perfectly reasonable for a licensing authority 
to impose a condition, following relevant representations, that requires the licence holder or club to 
place signs at the exits from the building encouraging patrons to be quiet until they leave the area, 
or that, if they wish to smoke, to do so at designated places on the premises instead of outside, 
and to respect the rights of people living nearby to a peaceful night. 

Protection of children from harm 

2.22 The protection of children from harm includes the protection of children from moral, 
psychological and physical harm. This includes not only protecting children from the harms 
associated directly with alcohol consumption but also wider harms such as exposure to strong 
language and sexual expletives (for example, in the context of exposure to certain films or adult 
entertainment). Licensing authorities must also consider the need to protect children from sexual 
exploitation when undertaking licensing functions. 

Page 286



2.23 The Government believes that it is completely unacceptable to sell alcohol to children. 
Conditions relating to the access of children where alcohol is sold and which are appropriate to 
protect them from harm should be carefully considered. Moreover, conditions restricting the access 
of children to premises should be strongly considered in circumstances where: 

 adult entertainment is provided; 
 a member or members of the current management have been convicted for serving alcohol to 

minors or with a reputation for allowing underage drinking (other than in the context of the 
exemption in the 2003 Act relating to 16 and 17 year olds consuming beer, wine and cider when 
accompanied by an adult during a table meal); 

 it is known that unaccompanied children have been allowed access; 
 there is a known association with drug taking or dealing; or 
 in some cases, the premises are used exclusively or primarily for the sale of alcohol for 

consumption on the premises. 

2.24 It is also possible that activities, such as adult entertainment, may take place at certain times 
on premises but not at other times. For example, premises may operate as a café bar during the 
day providing meals for families but also provide entertainment with a sexual content after 8.00pm. 
It is not possible to give an exhaustive list of what amounts to entertainment or services of an adult 
or sexual nature. Applicants, responsible authorities and licensing authorities will need to consider 
this point carefully. This would broadly include topless bar staff, striptease, lap-, table- or pole-
dancing, performances involving feigned violence or horrific incidents, feigned or actual sexual 
acts or fetishism, or entertainment involving strong and offensive language. 

2.25 Applicants must be clear in their operating schedules about the activities and times at which 
the events would take place to help determine when it is not appropriate for children to enter the 
premises. Consideration should also be given to the proximity of premises to schools and youth 
clubs so that applicants take appropriate steps to ensure that advertising relating to their premises, 
or relating to events at their premises, is not displayed at a time when children are likely to be near 
the premises. 

2.26 Licensing authorities and responsible authorities should expect applicants, when preparing an 
operating schedule or club operating schedule, to set out the steps to be taken to protect children 
from harm when on the premises. 

2.27 Conditions, where they are appropriate, should reflect the licensable activities taking place on 
the premises. In addition to the mandatory condition regarding age verification, other conditions 
relating to the protection of children from harm can include: 

 restrictions on the hours when children may be present; 
 restrictions or exclusions on the presence of children under certain ages when particular 

specified activities are taking place; 
 restrictions on the parts of the premises to which children may have access; 
 age restrictions (below 18); 
 restrictions or exclusions when certain activities are taking place; 
 requirements for an accompanying adult (including for example, a combination of requirements 

which provide that children under a particular age must be accompanied by an adult); and 
 full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any licensable activities are taking 

place. 

2.28 Please see also Chapter 10 for details about the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing 
Conditions) Order 2010. 

Page 287



2.29 Licensing authorities should give considerable weight to representations about child 
protection matters. In addition to the responsible authority whose functions relate directly to child 
protection, the Director of Public Health may also have access to relevant evidence to inform such 
representations. These representations may include, amongst other things, the use of health data 
about the harms that alcohol can cause to underage drinkers. Where a responsible authority, or 
other person, presents evidence to the licensing authority linking specific premises with harms to 
children (such as ambulance data or emergency department attendances by persons under 18 
years old with alcohol- related illnesses or injuries) this evidence should be considered, and the 
licensing authority should also consider what action is appropriate to ensure this licensing 
objective is effectively enforced. In relation to applications for the grant of a licence in areas where 
evidence is presented on high levels of alcohol-related harms in persons aged under 18, it is 
recommended that the licensing authority considers what conditions may be appropriate to ensure 
that this objective is promoted effectively. 

2.30 The 2003 Act provides that, where a premises licence or club premises certificate authorises 
the exhibition of a film, it must include a condition requiring the admission of children to films to be 
restricted in accordance with recommendations given either by a body designated under section 4 
of the Video Recordings Act 1984 specified in the licence (the British Board of Film Classification is 
currently the only body which has been so designated) or by the licensing authority itself. Further 
details are given in Chapter 10. 

2.31 Theatres may present a range of diverse activities and entertainment including, for example, 
variety shows incorporating adult entertainment. It is appropriate in these cases for a licensing 
authority to consider restricting the admission of children in such circumstances. Entertainments 
may also be presented at theatres specifically for children. It will be appropriate to consider 
whether a condition should be attached to a premises licence or club premises certificate which 
requires the presence of a sufficient number of adult staff on the premises to ensure the wellbeing 
of the children during any emergency. 

.. 

3. Licensable activities 

… 

… 

6. Club premises certificates 

Page 288



6.1 This Chapter covers the administration of the processes for issuing, varying, and reviewing 
club premises certificates and other associated procedures. 

General 

6.2 Clubs are organisations where members have joined together for particular social, sporting or 
political purposes. They may then combine to buy alcohol in bulk as members of the organisation 
to supply in the club. 

6.3 Technically the club only sells alcohol by retail at such premises to guests. Where members 
purchase alcohol, there is no sale (as the member owns part of the alcohol stock) and the money 
passing across the bar is merely a mechanism to preserve equity between members where one 
may consume more than another. 

6.4 Only ‘qualifying’ clubs may hold club premises certificates. In order to be a qualifying club, a 
club must have at least 25 members and meet the qualifying conditions set out in paragraph 6.9. 
The grant of a club premises certificate means that a qualifying club is entitled to certain benefits. 
These include: 

 the authority to supply alcohol to members and sell it to guests on the premises to which the 
certificate relates without the need for any member or employee to hold a personal licence; 

 the authority to provide late night refreshment to members of the club without requiring 
additional authorisation; 

 more limited rights of entry for the police and authorised persons because the premises are 
considered private and not generally open to the public; and 

 exemption from orders of the magistrates’ court for the closure of all licensed premises in an 
area when disorder is happening or expected. 

6.5 Qualifying clubs should not be confused with proprietary clubs, which are clubs run 
commercially by individuals, partnerships or businesses for profit. These require a premises 
licence and are not qualifying clubs. 

6.6 A qualifying club will be permitted under the terms of a club premises certificate to sell and 
supply alcohol to its members and their guests only. Instant membership is not permitted and 
members must wait at least two days between their application and their admission to the club. A 
qualifying club may choose to apply for a premises licence if it decides that it wishes to offer its 
facilities commercially for use by the general public, including the sale of alcohol to them. 
However, an individual on behalf of a club may give temporary event notices. See Chapter 7. 

6.7 The 2003 Act does not prevent visitors to a qualifying club being supplied with alcohol as long 
as they are ‘guests’ of any member of the club , and nothing in the 2003 Act prevents the 
admission of such people as guests without prior notice. The 2003 Act does not define “guest” and 
whether or not somebody is a genuine guest would in all cases be a question of fact. 

6.8 There is no mandatory requirement under the 2003 Act for guests to be signed in by a member 
of the club. However, a point may be reached where a club is providing commercial services to the 
general public in a way that is contrary to its qualifying club status. It is at this point that the club 
would no longer be conducted in “good faith” and would no longer meet “general condition 3” for 
qualifying clubs in section 62 of the 2003 Act. Under the 2003 Act, the licensing authority must 

Page 289



decide when a club has ceased to operate in “good faith” and give the club a notice withdrawing 
the club premises certificate. The club is entitled to appeal against such a decision to a 
magistrates’ court. Unless the appeal is successful, the club would need to apply for a premises 
licence to authorise licensable activities taking place there. 

Qualifying conditions 

6.9 Section 62 of the 2003 Act sets out five general conditions which a relevant club must meet to 
be a qualifying club. Section 63 also sets out specified matters for licensing authorities to enable 
them to determine whether a club is established and conducted in good faith – the third qualifying 
condition. Section 64 sets out additional conditions which only need to be met by clubs intending to 
supply alcohol to members and guests. Section 90 of the 2003 Act gives powers to the licensing 
authority to issue a notice to a club withdrawing its certificate where it appears that it has ceased to 
meet the qualifying conditions. There is a right of appeal against such a decision. 

Associate members and guests 

6.10 As well as their own members and guests, qualifying clubs are also able to admit associate 
members and their guests (i.e. members and guests from another ‘recognised club’ as defined by 
section 193 of the 2003 Act) to the club premises when qualifying club activities are being carried 
on without compromising the use of their club premises certificate. 

Applications for the grant or variation of club premises certificates 

6.11 The arrangements for applying for or seeking to vary club premises certificates are extremely 
similar to those for a premises licence. Clubs may also use the minor variation process to make 
small changes to their certificates as long as these could have no adverse impact on the licensing 
objectives. Licensing authorities should refer to Chapter 8 of this Guidance on the handling of such 
applications. Licensing authorities do not have to satisfy themselves that applicants for club 
premises certificates are entitled to work in the UK before issuing a club premises certificate. 
Consequently, Home Office Immigration Enforcement is not a responsible authority in relation to 
club premises certificates. 

6.12 In addition to a plan of the premises and a club operating schedule, clubs must also include 
the rules of the club with their application (as well as making a declaration to the licensing authority 
in accordance with regulations made under the 2003 Act). On notifying any alteration to these 
rules to the licensing authority, the club is required to pay a fee set down in regulations. Licensing 
authorities cannot require any changes to the rules to be made as a condition of receiving a 
certificate unless relevant representations have been made. However, if a licensing authority is 
satisfied that the rules of a club indicate that it does not meet the qualifying conditions in the 2003 
Act, a club premises certificate should not be granted. 

Page 290



Steps needed to promote the licensing objectives 

6.13 Club operating schedules prepared by clubs, must include the steps it intends to take to 
promote the licensing objectives. These will be translated into conditions included in the certificate, 
unless the conditions have been modified by the licensing authority following consideration of 
relevant representations. Guidance on these conditions is given in Chapter 10 of this Guidance. 

… 

8. Applications for premises licences 

.. 

8.2 Section 13 of the 2003 Act defines the parties holding important roles in the context of 
applications, inspection, monitoring and reviews of premises licences. 

Authorised persons 

8.3 The first group –“authorised persons”– are bodies empowered by the 2003 Act to carry out 
inspection and enforcement roles. The police and immigration officers are not included because 
they are separately empowered by the 2003 Act to carry out their duties. 

8.4 For all premises, the authorised persons include: 

 officers of the licensing authority; 
 fire inspectors; 
 inspectors with responsibility in the licensing authority’s area for the enforcement of the Health 

and Safety at Work etc Act 1974; 
 officers of the local authority exercising environmental health functions 

8.5 Local authority officers will most commonly have responsibility for the enforcement of health 
and safety legislation, but the Health and Safety Executive is responsible for certain premises. In 
relation to vessels, authorised persons also include an inspector or a surveyor of ships appointed 
under section 256 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995. These would normally be officers acting on 
behalf of the Maritime and Coastguard Agency. The Secretary of State may prescribe other 
authorised persons by means of regulations, but has not currently prescribed any additional 
bodies. If any are prescribed, details will be made available on the GOV.UK website. 

8.6 Where an immigration officer has reason to believe that any premises are being used for a 
licensable activity, the officer may enter the premises with a view to seeing whether an offence 
under any of the Immigration Acts is being committed in connection with the licensable activity. 

Page 291



Responsible authorities 

8.7 The second group –“responsible authorities”– are public bodies that must be fully notified of 
applications and that are entitled to make representations to the licensing authority in relation to 
the application for the grant, variation or review of a premises licence. These representations must 
still be considered ‘relevant’ by the licensing authority and relate to one or more of the licensing 
objectives. For all premises, responsible authorities include: 

 the relevant licensing authority and any other licensing authority in whose area part of the 
premises is situated; 

 the chief officer of police; 
 the local fire and rescue authority; 
 the relevant enforcing authority under the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974; 
 the local authority with responsibility for environmental health; 
 the local planning authority; 
 a body that represents those who are responsible for, or interested in, matters relating to the 

protection of children from harm; 
 each local authority’s Director of Public Health (DPH) in England[footnote 4] and Local Health Boards 

(in Wales); 
 the local weights and measures authority (trading standards); and 
 Home Office Immigration Enforcement (on behalf of the Secretary of State). 

8.8 The licensing authority should indicate in its statement of licensing policy which body it 
recognises to be competent to advise it on the protection of children from harm. This may be the 
local authority social services department, the Local Safeguarding Children Board or another 
competent body. This is important as applications for premises licences have to be copied to the 
responsible authorities in order for them to make any representations they think are relevant. 

… 

Other persons 

8.13 As well as responsible authorities, any other person can play a role in a number of licensing 
processes under the 2003 Act. This includes any individual, body or business entitled to make 
representations to licensing authorities in relation to applications for the grant, variation, minor 
variation or review of premises licences and club premises certificates, regardless of their 
geographic proximity to the premises. In addition, these persons may themselves seek a review of 
a premises licence. Any representations made by these persons must be ‘relevant’, in that the 
representation relates to one or more of the licensing objectives. It must also not be considered by 
the licensing authority to be frivolous or vexatious. In the case of applications for reviews, there is 
an additional requirement that the grounds for the review should not be considered by the licensing 
authority to be repetitious. Chapter 9 of this guidance (paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10) provides more 
detail on the definition of relevant, frivolous and vexatious representations. 

8.14 While any of these persons may act in their own right, they may also request that a 
representative makes the representation to the licensing authority on their behalf. A representative 
may include a legal representative, a friend, a Member of Parliament, a Member of the Welsh 
Government, or a local ward or parish councillor who can all act in such a capacity. 

Page 292

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:4


.. 

Steps to promote the licensing objectives 

8.41 In completing an operating schedule, applicants are expected to have regard to the statement 
of licensing policy for their area. They must also be aware of the expectations of the licensing 
authority and the responsible authorities as to the steps that are appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives, and to demonstrate knowledge of their local area when describing the 
steps they propose to take to promote the licensing objectives. Licensing authorities and 
responsible authorities are expected to publish information about what is meant by the promotion 
of the licensing objectives and to ensure that applicants can readily access advice about these 
matters. However, applicants are also expected to undertake their own enquiries about the area in 
which the premises are situated to inform the content of the application. 

8.42 Applicants are, in particular, expected to obtain sufficient information to enable them to 
demonstrate, when setting out the steps they propose to take to promote the licensing objectives, 
that they understand: 

 the layout of the local area and physical environment including crime and disorder hotspots, 
proximity to residential premises and proximity to areas where children may congregate; 

 any risk posed to the local area by the applicants’ proposed licensable activities; and 
 any local initiatives (for example, local crime reduction initiatives or voluntary schemes including 

local taxi-marshalling schemes, street pastors and other schemes) which may help to mitigate 
potential risks. 

8.43 Applicants are expected to include positive proposals in their application on how they will 
manage any potential risks. Where specific policies apply in the area (for example, a cumulative 
impact assessment), applicants are also expected to demonstrate an understanding of how the 
policy impacts on their application; any measures they will take to mitigate the impact; and why 
they consider the application should be an exception to the policy. 

8.44 It is expected that enquiries about the locality will assist applicants when determining the 
steps that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. For example, premises with 
close proximity to residential premises should consider what effect this will have on their smoking, 
noise management and dispersal policies to ensure the promotion of the public nuisance objective. 
Applicants must consider all factors which may be relevant to the promotion of the licensing 
objectives, and where there are no known concerns, acknowledge this in their application. 

8.45 The majority of information which applicants will require should be available in the licensing 
policy statement in the area. Other publicly available sources which may be of use to applicants 
include: 

 the Crime Mapping website; 
 Neighbourhood Statistics websites; 
 websites or publications by local responsible authorities; 
 websites or publications by local voluntary schemes and initiatives; and 
 on-line mapping tools. 

Page 293



8.46 While applicants are not required to seek the views of responsible authorities before formally 
submitting their application, they may find them to be a useful source of expert advice on local 
issues that should be taken into consideration when making an application. Licensing authorities 
may wish to encourage co-operation between applicants, responsible authorities and, where 
relevant, local residents and businesses before applications are submitted in order to minimise the 
scope for disputes to arise. 

8.47 Applicants are expected to provide licensing authorities with sufficient information in this 
section to determine the extent to which their proposed steps are appropriate to promote the 
licensing objectives in the local area. Applications must not be based on providing a set of 
standard conditions to promote the licensing objectives and applicants are expected to make it 
clear why the steps they are proposing are appropriate for the premises. 

8.48 All parties are expected to work together in partnership to ensure that the licensing objectives 
are promoted collectively. Where there are no disputes, the steps that applicants propose to take 
to promote the licensing objectives, as set out in the operating schedule, will very often translate 
directly into conditions that will be attached to premises licences with the minimum of fuss. 

8.49 For some premises, it is possible that no measures will be appropriate to promote one or 
more of the licensing objectives, for example, because they are adequately covered by other 
existing legislation. It is however important that all operating schedules should be precise and clear 
about the consideration given to the licensing objectives and any measures that are proposed to 
promote them. 

Variations 

Introduction 

8.50 Where a premises licence holder wishes to amend the licence, the 2003 Act in most cases 
permits an application to vary to be made rather than requiring an application for a new premises 
licence. The process to be followed will depend on the nature of the variation and its potential 
impact on the licensing objectives. Applications to vary can be made electronically via GOV.UK or 
by means of the licensing authority’s own electronic facility following the procedures set out above. 

Simplified processes 

8.51 There are simplified processes for making applications, or notifying changes, in the following 
cases: 

 a change of the name or address of someone named in the licence (section 33); 
 an application to vary the licence to specify a new individual as the designated premises 

supervisor (DPS) (section 37); 
 a request to be removed as the designated premises supervisor (section 41); 
 an application by a licence holder in relation to community premises authorised to sell alcohol to 

remove the usual mandatory conditions set out in sections 19(2) and 19(3) of the 2003 Act 
concerning the supervision of alcohol sales by a personal licence holder and the need for a 
DPS who holds a personal licence (sections 25A and 41D); and 

 an application for minor variation of a premises licence (sections 41A to 41C) or club premises 
certificate (sections 86A to 86C). 

Page 294



8.52 If an application to specify a new DPS or to remove the mandatory conditions concerning the 
supervision of alcohol sales is made electronically via GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s own 
electronic facility, the authority must notify the police no later than the first working day after the 
application is given. 

8.53 Where a simplified process requires the applicant (if they are not also the personal licence 
holder) to copy the application to the licence holder for information, this will apply regardless of 
whether the application is made in writing or electronically. 

Otherwise the general guidance set out above (paragraphs 8.21 to 8.29) on electronic applications 
applies. 

Minor variations process 

8.54 Variations to premises licences or club premises certificates that could not impact adversely 
on the licensing objectives are subject to a simplified ‘minor variations’ process. Under this 
process, the applicant is not required to advertise the variation in a newspaper or circular, or copy 
it to responsible authorities. However, they must display it on a white notice (to distinguish it from 
the blue notice used for full variations and new applications). The notice must comply with the 
requirements set out in regulation 26A of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club 
premises certificates) Regulations 2005. In accordance with those regulations, the notice must be 
displayed for a period of ten working days starting on the working day after the minor variation 
application was given to the licensing authority. 

8.55 On receipt of an application for a minor variation, the licensing authority must consider 
whether the variation could impact adversely on the licensing objectives. It is recommended that 
decisions on minor variations should be delegated to licensing officers. 

8.56 In considering the application, the licensing authority must consult relevant responsible 
authorities (whether the application is made in writing or electronically) if there is any doubt about 
the impact of the variation on the licensing objectives and they need specialist advice, and take 
their views into account in reaching a decision. The application is unlikely to be relevant to all 
responsible authorities. 

8.57 The licensing authority must also consider any relevant representations received from other 
persons within the time limit referred to below. As stated earlier in this Guidance, representations 
are only relevant if they clearly relate to the likely effect of the grant of the variation on the 
promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives; representations must be confined to the 
subject matter of the variation. In the case of minor variations, there is no right to a hearing (as for 
a full variation or new application), but licensing authorities must take any representations into 
account in arriving at a decision. 

8.58 Other persons have ten working days from the ‘initial day’, that is to say, the day after the 
application is received by the licensing authority, to submit representations. The licensing authority 
must therefore wait until this period has elapsed before determining the application, but must do so 
at the latest within 15 working days, beginning on the first working day after the authority received 
the application, with effect either that the minor variation is granted or the application is refused. 

8.59 If the licensing authority fails to respond to the applicant within 15 working days (see section 
193 of the 2003 Act for the definition of working day), the application will be treated as refused and 
the authority must return the fee to the applicant forthwith. However, the licensing authority and the 

Page 295



applicant may agree instead that the undetermined application should be treated as a new 
application and that the fee originally submitted will be treated as a fee for the new application. 

8.60 Where an application is refused and is then re-submitted through the full variation process, 
the full 28 day notification period will apply from the date the new application is received and 
applicants should advertise the application and copy it to all responsible authorities (in accordance 
with the regulations applicable to full variations). 

8.61 Minor variations will generally fall into four categories: minor changes to the structure or 
layout of premises; small adjustments to licensing hours; the removal of out of date, irrelevant or 
unenforceable conditions or addition of volunteered conditions; and the addition of certain 
licensable activities. In all cases the overall test is whether the proposed variation could impact 
adversely on any of the four licensing objectives. 

Changes to structure/layout 

8.62 Many small variations to layout will have no adverse impact on the licensing objectives. 
However, changes to layout should be referred to the full variation process if they could potentially 
have an adverse impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives, for example by: 

 increasing the capacity for drinking on the premises; 
 affecting access between the public part of the premises and the rest of the premises or the 

street or public way, for instance, block emergency exits or routes to emergency exits; or 
 impeding the effective operation of a noise reduction measure such as an acoustic lobby. 

Licensable Activities 

8.63 Licensing authorities will also need to consider the combined effect of a series of applications 
for successive small layout changes (for example, as part of a rolling refurbishment of premises) 
which in themselves may not be significant, but which cumulatively may impact adversely on the 
licensing objectives. This emphasises the importance of having an up-to-date copy of the premises 
plan available. 

8.64 An application to remove a licensable activity should normally be approved as a minor 
variation. Variations to add the sale by retail or supply of alcohol to a licence are excluded from the 
minor variations process and must be treated as full variations in all cases. 

8.65 For other licensable activities, licensing authorities will need to consider each application on a 
case by case basis and in light of any licence conditions put forward by the applicant. 

Licensing hours 

8.66 Variations to the following are excluded from the minor variations process and must be 
treated as full variations in all cases: 

 to extend licensing hours for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on or off the 
premises between the hours of 23.00 and 07.00; or 

 to increase the amount of time on any day during which alcohol may be sold or supplied for 
consumption on or off the premises. 

Page 296



8.67 Applications to reduce licensing hours for the sale or supply of alcohol or, in some cases, to 
move (without increasing) the licensed hours between 07.00 and 23.00 will normally be processed 
as minor variations. 

8.68 Applications to vary the time during which other licensable activities take place should be 
considered on a case-by-case basis with reference to the likely impact on the licensing objectives. 

Licensing conditions 
a) Imposed conditions 

8.69 Licensing authorities cannot impose their own conditions on the licence through the minor 
variations process. If the licensing officer considers that the proposed variation would impact 
adversely on the licensing objectives unless conditions are imposed, they should refuse it. 

b) Volunteered conditions 

8.70 Applicants may volunteer conditions as part of the minor variation process. These conditions 
may arise from their own risk assessment of the variation, or from informal discussions with 
responsible authorities or the licensing authority. 

8.71 For instance, there may be circumstances when the licence holder and a responsible 
authority such as the police or environmental health authority, agree that a new condition should 
be added to the licence (for example, that a nightclub adds the provision of door staff to its 
licence). Such a change would not normally impact adversely on the licensing objectives and could 
be expected to promote them by preventing crime and disorder or public nuisance. In these 
circumstances, the minor variation process may provide a less costly and onerous means of 
amending the licence than a review, with no risk to the licensing objectives. However, this route 
should only be used where the agreed variations are minor and the licence holder and the 
responsible authority have come to a genuine agreement. The licensing authority should be alive 
to any attempts to pressure licence or certificate holders into agreeing to new conditions where 
there is no evidence of a problem at the premises and, if there is any doubt, should discuss this 
with the relevant parties. 

c) Amending or removing existing conditions 

8.72 However, there may be some circumstances when the minor variation process is appropriate. 
Premises may change over time and the circumstances that originally led to the condition being 
attached or volunteered may no longer apply. For example, there may be no need for door 
supervision if a bar has been converted into a restaurant. Equally some embedded conditions may 
no longer apply. 

8.73 Changes in legislation may invalidate certain conditions. Although the conditions do not have 
to be removed from the licence, licence holders and licensing authorities may agree that this is 
desirable to clarify the licence holder’s legal obligations. There may also be cases where it is 
appropriate to revise the wording of a condition that is unclear or unenforceable. This would be 
acceptable as a minor variation as long as the purpose of the condition and its intended effect 
remain unchanged. Such a change could be expected to promote the licensing objectives by 
making it easier for the licence holder to understand and comply with the condition and easier for 
the licensing authority to enforce it. 

Page 297



Full variations process 

8.74 Any other changes to the licence or certificate require an application to vary under sections 
34 or 84 of the 2003 Act. 

8.75 Licensing authorities may wish to consider whether there is any likely impact on the 
promotion of the licensing objectives in deciding whether there is a need for an application to vary 
in relation to features which are not required to be shown on the plan under section 17 of the 2003 
Act, but have nevertheless been included, for example, moveable furniture (altering the position of 
tables and chairs) or beer gardens (installation of a smoking shelter that will not affect the use of 
exits or escape routes). 

8.76 However, it should be noted that a section 34 application cannot be used to vary a licence so 
as to: 

· extend a time limited licence; vary substantially the premises to which the licence relates; 

· transfer the licence from one holder to another; or 

· transfer the licence from one premises to another. 

8.77 If an applicant wishes to make these types of changes to the premises licence, the applicant 
should make a new premises licence application under section 17 of the 2003 Act; or, to transfer 
the licence to another holder, an application under section 42 of the 2003 Act. 

Relaxation of opening hours for local, national and international occasions 

8.78 It should normally be possible for applicants for premises licences and club premises 
certificates to anticipate special occasions which occur regularly each year – such as bank 
holidays and St. George’s or St. Patrick’s Day – and to include appropriate opening hours in their 
operating schedules. Similarly, temporary event notices should be sufficient to cover other events 
which take place at premises that do not have a premises licence or club certificate. 

8.79 However, exceptional events of local, national or international significance may arise which 
could not have been anticipated when the application was first made. In these circumstances, the 
Secretary of State may make a licensing hours order to allow premises to open for specified, 
generally extended, hours on these special occasions. This avoids the need for large numbers of 
applications to vary premises licences and club premises certificates. Typical events might include 
a one-off local festival or a Royal Jubilee. 

Advertising applications 

8.80 The requirements governing the advertisement of applications for the grant, variation or 
review of premises licences and club premises certificates are contained in Regulations 25 and 26 

Page 298



of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club premises certificates) Regulations 2005 
which are published on the Government’s legislation website. 

Applicants are required to: 

 publish a notice in a local newspaper or, if there is none, in a local newsletter, circular or similar 
document circulating in the area in which the premises are situated; and 

 display a brief summary of the application on an A4 (or larger) size notice, on pale blue paper in 
a prominent position (or positions) immediately on or outside the premises for at least 28 
consecutive days (starting on the day after the day on which the application was given to the 
relevant licensing authority). The notice must be printed legibly in black ink or typed in black in 
size 16 font or larger. 

 ensure that the above notices contain the name of the applicant, postal addresses of the 
premises (or if there is no postal address a description of the premises sufficient to enable the 
location to be identified), relevant licensing authority and the date by which any representations 
in relation to the application need to be made to the licensing authority. They should also 
contain a statement of the relevant licensable activities or relevant qualifying club activities that 
it is proposed will be carried on at the premises, or in the case of an application to vary a 
premises licence or a club premises certificate the notices shall briefly describe the proposed 
variation. 

8.81 It is the responsibility of the applicant for putting the notice up, however licensing authorities 
should consider where the signs should be placed and advise the applicant where appropriate, to 
ensure people will see them, in particular if an application is likely to be of interest to the public. As 
prescribed in regulations, licensing authorities must also place a notice on their website outlining 
key details of the application as set out in regulations, including: 

 the name of the applicant or club; 
 the postal address of the premises or club premises; 
 the postal address and, where applicable, the internet address where the relevant licensing 

authority’s register is kept and where and when the record of the application may be inspected; 
 the date by which representations from responsible authorities or other persons should be 

received and how these representations should be made; and 
 that it is an offence knowingly or recklessly to make a false statement in connection with an 

application and the maximum fine for which a person is liable on summary conviction for the 
offence. 

8.82 The summary of the application should set out matters such as the proposed licensable 
activities and the proposed hours of opening and should be clearly displayed for the period during 
which representations may be made, together with information about where the details of the 
application may be viewed. 

8.83 Licensing authorities in Wales should consider encouraging applicants to provide details in 
the alternative language (Welsh or English) to that of the main advertisement itself where the 
application may be viewed. Therefore, if an applicant publishes a notice in English they should be 
encouraged to provide a statement in Welsh as to where the application may be viewed, and vice 
versa. This would allow the reader of the notice to make enquiries to the licensing authority and 
find out the nature of the application. 

8.84 Licensing authorities in Wales are also required to publish key information from licence 
applications in Welsh on their websites. 

Page 299



8.85 In the case of applications for premises licences involving internet or mail order sales, notices 
should be conspicuously displayed at the place where the alcohol is appropriated to the contract. 

8.86 A vessel which is not permanently moored or berthed is treated as if it were a premises 
situated in a place where it is usually moored or berthed. The newspaper advertisement notice for 
such a vessel would need to be in relation to this place (where it is usually moored or berthed) and 
there is no provision requiring such advertising in other areas, for instance, if the vessel journeys 
through other licensing authority areas. 

8.87 Arrangements should be put in place by the licensing authority for other parties to view a 
record of the application in the licensing register as described in Schedule 3 to the 2003 Act. 
Charges made for copies of the register should not exceed the cost of preparing such copies. 
Licensing authorities may wish to conduct random and unannounced visits to premises to confirm 
that notices have been clearly displayed and include relevant and accurate information. 

… 

9. Determining applications 

General 

9.1 When a licensing authority receives an application for a new premises licence or an application 
to vary an existing premises licence, it must determine whether the application has been made in 
accordance with section 17 of the 2003 Act, and in accordance with regulations made under 
sections 17(3) to (6), 34, 42, 54 and 55 of the 2003 Act. It must similarly determine applications for 
the grant of club premises certificates made in accordance with section 71 of the 2003 Act, and in 
accordance with regulations made under sections 71(4) to (7), 84, 91 and 92 of the 2003 Act. This 
means that the licensing authority must consider among other things whether the application has 
been properly advertised in accordance with those regulations. 

Where no representations are made 

9.2 A hearing is not required where an application has been properly made and no responsible 
authority or other person has made a relevant representation or where representations are made 
and subsequently withdrawn. In these cases, the licensing authority must grant the application in 
the terms sought, subject only to conditions which are consistent with the operating schedule and 
relevant mandatory conditions under the 2003 Act. This should be undertaken as a simple 
administrative process by the licensing authority’s officials who may replicate some of the 
proposals contained in the operating schedule to promote the licensing objectives in the form of 
clear and enforceable licence conditions. Licensing authorities should not hold hearings for 
uncontested applications, for example in situations where representations have been made and 
conditions have subsequently been agreed. 

Page 300



Where representations are made 

9.3 Where a representation concerning the licensing objectives is made by a responsible authority 
about a proposed operating schedule and it is relevant (see paragraphs 9.4 to 

9.10 below), the licensing authority’s discretion will be engaged. It will also be engaged if another 
person makes relevant representations to the licensing authority, which are also not frivolous or 
vexatious (see paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10 below). Relevant representations can be made in opposition 
to, or in support of, an application and can be made by any individual, body or business that has 
grounds to do so. 

Relevant, vexatious and frivolous representations 

9.4 A representation is “relevant” if it relates to the likely effect of the grant of the licence on the 
promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives. For example, a representation from a local 
businessperson about the commercial damage caused by competition from new licensed premises 
would not be relevant. On the other hand, a representation by a businessperson that nuisance 
caused by new premises would deter customers from entering the local area, and the steps 
proposed by the applicant to prevent that nuisance were inadequate, would be relevant. In other 
words, representations should relate to the impact of licensable activities carried on from premises 
on the objectives. For representations in relation to variations to be relevant, they should be 
confined to the subject matter of the variation. There is no requirement for a responsible authority 
or other person to produce a recorded history of problems at premises to support their 
representations, and in fact this would not be possible for new premises. 

9.5 It is for the licensing authority to determine whether a representation (other than a 
representation from a responsible authority) is frivolous or vexatious on the basis of what might 
ordinarily be considered to be vexatious or frivolous. A representation may be considered to be 
vexatious if it appears to be intended to cause aggravation or annoyance, whether to a competitor 
or other person, without reasonable cause or justification. Vexatious circumstances may arise 
because of disputes between rival businesses and local knowledge will therefore be invaluable in 
considering such matters. Licensing authorities can consider the main effect of the representation, 
and whether any inconvenience or expense caused by it could reasonably be considered to be 
proportionate. 

9.6 Frivolous representations would be essentially categorised by a lack of seriousness. Frivolous 
representations would concern issues which, at most, are minor and in relation to which no 
remedial steps would be warranted or proportionate. 

9.7 Any person who is aggrieved by a rejection of their representations on either of these grounds 
may lodge a complaint through the local authority’s corporate complaints procedure. A person may 
also challenge the authority’s decision by way of judicial review. 

9.8 Licensing authorities should not take decisions about whether representations are frivolous, 
vexatious or relevant to the licensing objectives on the basis of any political judgement. This may 
be difficult for councillors who receive complaints from residents within their own wards. If 
consideration is not to be delegated, contrary to the recommendation in this Guidance, an 
assessment should be prepared by officials for consideration by the sub- committee before any 

Page 301



decision is taken that necessitates a hearing. Any councillor who considers that their own interests 
are such that they are unable to consider the matter independently should disqualify themselves. 

9.9 It is recommended that, in borderline cases, the benefit of the doubt about any aspect of a 
representation should be given to the person making that representation. The subsequent hearing 
would then provide an opportunity for the person or body making the representation to amplify and 
clarify it. 

9.10 Licensing authorities should consider providing advice on their websites about how any 
person can make representations to them. 

The role of responsible authorities 

9.11 Responsible authorities under the 2003 Act are automatically notified of all new applications. 
While all responsible authorities may make representations regarding applications for licences and 
club premises certificates and full variation applications, it is the responsibility of each responsible 
authority to determine when they have appropriate grounds to do so. 

9.12 Each responsible authority will be an expert in their respective field, and in some cases it is 
likely that a particular responsible authority will be the licensing authority’s main source of advice in 
relation to a particular licensing objective. For example, the police have a key role in managing the 
night-time economy and should have good working relationships with those operating in their local 
area[footnote 5]. The police should usually therefore be the licensing authority’s main source of advice 
on matters relating to the promotion of the crime and disorder licensing objective. However, any 
responsible authority under the 2003 Act may make representations with regard to any of the 
licensing objectives if they have evidence to support such representations. Licensing authorities 
must therefore consider all relevant representations from responsible authorities carefully, even 
where the reason for a particular responsible authority’s interest or expertise in the promotion of a 
particular objective may not be immediately apparent. However, it remains incumbent on all 
responsible authorities to ensure that their representations can withstand the scrutiny to which they 
would be subject at a hearing. 

Licensing authorities acting as responsible authorities 

9.13 Licensing authorities are included in the list of responsible authorities. A similar framework 
exists in the Gambling Act 2005. The 2003 Act does not require responsible authorities to make 
representations about applications for the grant of premises licences or to take any other steps in 
respect of different licensing processes. It is, therefore, for the licensing authority to determine 
when it considers it appropriate to act in its capacity as a responsible authority; the licensing 
authority should make this decision in accordance with its duties under section 4 of the 2003 Act. 

9.14 Licensing authorities are not expected to act as responsible authorities on behalf of other 
parties (for example, local residents, local councillors or community groups) although there are 
occasions where the authority may decide to do so. Such parties can make relevant 
representations to the licensing authority in their own right, and it is reasonable for the licensing 
authority to expect them to make representations themselves where they are reasonably able to 

Page 302

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:5


do so. However, if these parties have failed to take action and the licensing authority is aware of 
relevant grounds to make a representation, it may choose to act in its capacity as responsible 
authority. 

9.15 It is also reasonable for licensing authorities to expect that other responsible authorities 
should intervene where the basis for the intervention falls within the remit of that other responsible 
authority. For example, the police should make representations where the representations are 
based on concerns about crime and disorder. Likewise, it is reasonable to expect the local 
authority exercising environmental health functions to make representations where there are 
concerns about noise nuisance. Each responsible authority has equal standing under the 2003 Act 
and may act independently without waiting for representations from any other responsible 
authority. 

9.16 The 2003 Act enables licensing authorities to act as responsible authorities as a means of 
early intervention; they may do so where they consider it appropriate without having to wait for 
representations from other responsible authorities. For example, the licensing authority may (in a 
case where it has published a cumulative impact assessment) consider that granting a new licence 
application will add to the cumulative impact of licensed premises in its area and therefore decide 
to make representations to that effect, without waiting for any other person to do so. 

9.17 In cases where a licensing authority is also acting as responsible authority in relation to the 
same process, it is important to achieve a separation of responsibilities within the authority to 
ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of interest. In such cases licensing 
determinations will be made by the licensing committee or sub committee comprising elected 
members of the authority (although they are advised by a licensing officer). Therefore, a 
separation is achieved by allocating distinct functions (i.e. those of licensing authority and 
responsible authority) to different officials within the authority. 

9.18 In these cases, licensing authorities should allocate the different responsibilities to different 
licensing officers or other officers within the local authority to ensure a proper separation of 
responsibilities. The officer advising the licensing committee (i.e. the authority acting in its capacity 
as the licensing authority) must be a different person from the officer who is acting for the 
responsible authority. The officer acting for the responsible authority should not be involved in the 
licensing decision process and should not discuss the merits of the case with those involved in 
making the determination by the licensing authority. For example, discussion should not take place 
between the officer acting as responsible authority and the officer handling the licence application 
regarding the merits of the case. Communication between these officers in relation to the case 
should remain professional and consistent with communication with other responsible authorities. 
Representations, subject to limited exceptions, must be made in writing. It is for the licensing 
authority to determine how the separate roles are divided to ensure an appropriate separation of 
responsibilities. This approach may not be appropriate for all licensing authorities and many 
authorities may already have processes in place to effectively achieve the same outcome. 

9.19 Smaller licensing authorities, where such a separation of responsibilities is more difficult, may 
wish to involve officials from outside the licensing department to ensure a separation of 
responsibilities. However, these officials should still be officials employed by the authority. 

… 

Page 303



Hearings 

9.31 The Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 governing hearings may be found on 
the www.legislation.gov.uk website. If the licensing authority decides that representations are 
relevant, it must hold a hearing to consider them. The need for a hearing can only be avoided with 
the agreement of the licensing authority, where the applicant and all of the persons who made 
relevant representations have given notice to the authority that they consider a hearing to be 
unnecessary. Where this is the case and the authority agrees that a hearing is unnecessary, it 
must forthwith give notice to the parties that the hearing has been dispensed with. Notwithstanding 
those regulatory provisions, in cases where the licensing authority believes that a hearing is still 
necessary, it is recommended that the authority should, as soon as possible, provide the parties 
with reasons in writing for the need to hold the hearing. In cases where only ‘positive’ 
representations are received, without qualifications, the licensing authority should consider 
whether a hearing is required. To this end, it may wish to notify the persons who made 
representations and give them the opportunity to withdraw those representations. This would need 
to be done in sufficient time before the hearing to ensure that parties were not put to unnecessary 
inconvenience. 

9.32 Responsible authorities should try to conclude any discussions with the applicant in good time 
before the hearing. The 2005 Hearings Regulations permit licensing authorities to extend a time 
limit provided for by those Regulations for a specified period where it considers this to be 
necessary in the public interest. For example, if the application is amended at the last moment, the 
licensing committee should consider giving other persons time to address the revised application 
before the hearing commences. Where the authority has extended a time limit it must forthwith 
give a notice to the parties involved stating the period of the extension and the reasons for it. 

9.33 The 2005 Hearings Regulations require that representations must be withdrawn 24 hours 
before the first day of any hearing. If they are withdrawn after this time, the hearing must proceed 
and the representations may be withdrawn orally at that hearing. However, where discussions 
between an applicant and those making representations are taking place and it is likely that all 
parties are on the point of reaching agreement, the licensing authority may wish to use the power 
given within the hearings regulations to extend time limits, if it considers this to be in the public 
interest. 

9.34 Applicants should be encouraged to contact responsible authorities and others, such as local 
residents, who may be affected by the application before formulating their applications so that the 
mediation process may begin before the statutory time limits come into effect after submission of 
an application. The hearing process must meet the requirements of regulations made under the 
2003 Act. Where matters arise which are not covered by the regulations, licensing authorities may 
make arrangements as they see fit as long as they are lawful. 

9.35 There is no requirement in the 2003 Act for responsible authorities that have made 
representations to attend, but it is generally good practice and assists committees in reaching 
more informed decisions. Where several responsible authorities within a local authority have made 
representations on an application, a single local authority officer may represent them at the 
hearing if the responsible authorities and the licensing authority agree. This local authority officer 
representing other responsible authorities may be a licensing officer, but only if this licensing 
officer is acting as a responsible authority on behalf of the licensing authority and has had no role 
in the licensing determination process. This is to ensure that the responsible authorities are 
represented by an independent officer separate from the licensing determination process. 

Page 304

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


9.36 As noted in paragraphs 9.13 to 9.19 above, where the licensing officer is acting as a 
responsible authority the relevant steps should be followed to ensure that this individual has no 
role in the decision making process regarding the licensing determination. 

9.37 As a matter of practice, licensing authorities should seek to focus the hearing on the steps 
considered appropriate to promote the particular licensing objective or objectives that have given 
rise to the specific representation and avoid straying into undisputed areas. A responsible authority 
or other person may choose to rely on their written representation. They may not add further 
representations to those disclosed to the applicant prior to the hearing, but they may expand on 
their existing representation and should be allowed sufficient time to do so, within reasonable and 
practicable limits. 

9.38 In determining the application with a view to promoting the licensing objectives in the overall 
interests of the local community, the licensing authority must give appropriate weight to: 

 the steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives; 
 the representations (including supporting information) presented by all the parties; 
 this Guidance; 
 its own statement of licensing policy. 

9.39 The licensing authority should give its decision within five working days of the conclusion of 
the hearing (or immediately in certain specified cases) and provide reasons to support it. This will 
be important if there is an appeal by any of the parties. Notification of a decision must be 
accompanied by information on the right of the party to appeal. After considering all the relevant 
issues, the licensing authority may grant the application subject to the relevant mandatory 
conditions and any conditions that are consistent with the operating schedule. Any additional 
conditions imposed must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; there is no 
power for the licensing authority to attach a condition that is merely aspirational. For example, 
conditions may not be attached which relate solely to the health of customers rather than their 
direct physical safety. Any conditions added to the licence must be those imposed at the hearing 
or those agreed when a hearing has not been necessary. 

9.40 Alternatively, the licensing authority may refuse the application on the grounds that this is 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. It may also refuse to specify a designated 
premises supervisor and/or only allow certain requested licensable activities. In the interests of 
transparency, the licensing authority should publish hearings procedures in full on its website to 
ensure that those involved have the most current information. 

9.41 In the context of variations or minor variations, which may involve structural alteration to or 
change of use of a building, the decision of the licensing authority will not exempt an applicant 
from the need to apply for building control approval, planning permission or both of these where 
appropriate. 

Determining actions that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives 

9.42 Licensing authorities are best placed to determine what actions are appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives in their areas. All licensing determinations should be 
considered on a case-by-case basis. They should take into account any representations or 

Page 305



objections that have been received from responsible authorities or other persons, and 
representations made by the applicant or premises user as the case may be. 

9.43 The authority’s determination should be evidence-based, justified as being appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives and proportionate to what it is intended to achieve. 

9.44 Determination of whether an action or step is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives requires an assessment of what action or step would be suitable to achieve that end. 
While this does not therefore require a licensing authority to decide that no lesser step will achieve 
the aim, the authority should aim to consider the potential burden that any condition would impose 
on the premises licence holder (such as the financial burden due to restrictions on licensable 
activities) as well as the potential benefit in terms of the promotion of the licensing objectives. 
However, it is imperative that the authority ensures that the factors which form the basis of its 
determination are limited to consideration of the promotion of the objectives and nothing outside 
those parameters. As with the consideration of licence variations, the licensing authority should 
consider wider issues such as other conditions already in place to mitigate potential negative 
impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives and the track record of the business. Further 
advice on determining what is appropriate when imposing conditions on a licence or certificate is 
provided in Chapter 10. The licensing authority is expected to come to its determination based on 
an assessment of the evidence on both the risks and benefits either for or against making the 
determination. 

Considering cases where licensing and planning applications are made 
simultaneously 

9.45 Where businesses have indicated, when applying for a licence under the 2003 Act, that they 
have also applied for planning permission or that they intend to do so, licensing committees and 
officers should consider discussion with their planning counterparts prior to determination with the 
aim of agreeing mutually acceptable operating hours and scheme designs. 

10. Conditions attached to premises licences and club 
premises certificates 

General 

10.1 This chapter provides further guidance in relation to conditions attached to premises licences 
and club premises certificates. General principles on licence conditions are set out in Chapter 1 
(see paragraph 1.16). 

10.2 Conditions include any limitations or restrictions attached to a licence or certificate and 
essentially are the steps or actions that the holder of the premises licence or the club premises 

Page 306



certificate will be required to take or refrain from taking in relation to the carrying on of licensable 
activities at the premises in question. Failure to comply with any condition attached to a licence or 
certificate is a criminal offence, which on conviction is punishable by an unlimited fine or up to six 
months’ imprisonment. The courts have made clear that it is particularly important that conditions 
which are imprecise or difficult for a licence holder to observe should be avoided. 

10.3 There are three types of condition that may be attached to a licence or certificate: proposed, 
imposed and mandatory. Each of these categories is described in more detail below. 

Proposed conditions 

10.4 The conditions that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives should 
emerge initially from the risk assessment carried out by a prospective licence or certificate holder, 
which they should carry out before making their application for a premises licence or club premises 
certificate. This would be translated into the steps recorded in the operating schedule or club 
operating schedule, which must also set out the proposed hours during which licensable activities 
will be conducted and any other hours during which the premises will be open to the public. 

10.5 It is not acceptable for licensing authorities to simply replicate the wording from an applicant’s 
operating schedule. A condition should be interpreted in accordance with the applicant’s intention 
and be appropriate and proportionate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

Consistency with steps described in operating schedule 

10.6 The 2003 Act provides that where an operating schedule or club operating schedule has been 
submitted with an application and there have been no relevant representations made by 
responsible authorities or any other person, the licence or certificate must be granted subject only 
to such conditions as are consistent with the schedule accompanying the application and any 
mandatory conditions required under the 2003 Act. 

10.7 Consistency means that the effect of the condition should be substantially the same as that 
intended by the terms of the operating schedule. If conditions are broken, this may lead to a 
criminal prosecution or an application for a review and it is extremely important therefore that they 
should be expressed on the licence or certificate in unequivocal and unambiguous terms. The duty 
imposed by conditions on the licence holder or club must be clear to the licence holder, club, 
enforcement officers and the courts. 

Imposed conditions 

10.8 The licensing authority may not impose any conditions unless its discretion has been 
exercised following receipt of relevant representations and it is satisfied as a result of a hearing 
(unless all parties agree a hearing is not necessary) that it is appropriate to impose conditions to 

Page 307



promote one or more of the four licensing objectives. In order to promote the crime prevention 
licensing objective conditions may be included that are aimed at preventing illegal working in 
licensed premises. This provision also applies to minor variations. 

10.9 It is possible that in some cases no additional conditions will be appropriate to promote the 
licensing objectives. 

Proportionality 

10.10 The 2003 Act requires that licensing conditions should be tailored to the size, type, location 
and characteristics and activities taking place at the premises concerned. Conditions should be 
determined on a case-by-case basis and standardised conditions which ignore these individual 
aspects should be avoided. For example, conditions should not be used to implement a general 
policy in a given area such as the use of CCTV, polycarbonate drinking vessels or identity 
scanners where they would not be appropriate to the specific premises. Conditions that are 
considered appropriate for the prevention of illegal working in premises licensed to sell alcohol or 
late night refreshment might include requiring a premises licence holder to undertake right to work 
checks on all staff employed at the licensed premises or requiring that evidence of a right to work 
check, either physical or digital (e.g. copy of any document checked or a clear copy of the online 
right to work check) is retained at the licensed premises. Licensing authorities and other 
responsible authorities should be alive to the indirect costs that can arise because of conditions. 
These could be a deterrent to holding events that are valuable to the community or for the funding 
of good and important causes. Licensing authorities should therefore ensure that any conditions 
they impose are only those which are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

Naming, packing and promotion in retail premises 

10.11 The Government acknowledges that the irresponsible naming, packing or promotion of 
alcoholic drinks may contribute to alcohol related harms. Where there is direct evidence of specific 
incidents of irresponsible naming, packing or promotion of alcoholic drinks linked to the 
undermining of one of the licensing objectives, licensing authorities should, in the exercise of their 
licensing functions (in particular, in relation to an application for the grant, variation or review of a 
premises licence), consider whether it is appropriate to impose conditions on licences that require 
the licence holder to comply with the Portman Group’s Retailer Alert Bulletins. This condition 
should be considered on a case by case basis and in the context of the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. 

10.12 The Portman Group operates, on behalf of the alcohol industry, a Code of Practice on the 
Naming, Packaging and Promotion of Alcoholic Drinks. The Code seeks to ensure that drinks are 
packaged and promoted in a socially responsible manner and only to those who are 18 years old 
or older. Complaints about products under the Code are considered by an Independent 
Complaints Panel and the Panel’s decisions are published on the Portman Group’s website, in the 
trade press and in an annual report. If a product’s packaging or point-of-sale advertising is found to 
be in breach of the Code, the Portman Group may issue a Retailer Alert Bulletin to notify retailers 
of the decision and ask them not to replenish stocks of any such product or to display such point-
of- sale material, until there has been compliance with the decision. 

Hours of trading 

10.13 The Government acknowledges that different licensing strategies may be appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives in different areas. The 2003 Act gives the licensing authority 
power to make decisions about the hours during which premises can conduct licensable activities 
as part of the implementation of its licensing policy statement. Licensing authorities are best 

Page 308



placed to make decisions about appropriate opening hours in their areas based on their local 
knowledge and in consultation with responsible authorities. However, licensing authorities must 
always consider each application and must not impose predetermined licensed opening hours, 
without giving individual consideration to the merits of each application. 

10.14 Where there are objections to an application to extend the hours during which licensable 
activities are to be carried on and the licensing authority determines that this would undermine the 
licensing objectives, it may reject the application or grant it with appropriate conditions and/or 
different hours from those requested. 

10.15 Shops, stores and supermarkets should normally be free to provide sales of alcohol for 
consumption off the premises at any times when the retail outlet is open for shopping unless there 
are good reasons, based on the licensing objectives, for restricting those hours. 

… 

Major festivals and carnivals 

10.18 Licensing authorities should publicise the need for the organisers of major festivals and 
carnivals to approach them at the earliest opportunity to discuss arrangements for licensing 
activities falling under the 2003 Act. For some events, the organisers may seek a single premises 
licence to cover a wide range of activities at varied locations within the premises. This would 
involve the preparation of a substantial operating schedule, and licensing authorities should offer 
advice and assistance about its preparation. 

10.19 For other events, applications for many connected premises licences may be made which in 
combination will represent a single festival. It is important that licensing authorities should publicise 
the need for proper co-ordination of such arrangements and will need to ensure that responsible 
authorities are aware of the connected nature of the individual applications. 

10.20 Local authorities should bear in mind their ability to seek premises licences from the 
licensing authority for land or buildings under public ownership within the community in their own 
name.[footnote 8] This could include, for example, village greens, market squares, promenades, 
community halls, local authority owned art centres and similar public areas where festivals and 
carnivals might take place.[footnote 9] Performers and entertainers would then have no need to obtain a 
licence or give a temporary event notice themselves to enable them to give performances in these 
places, although they would need the permission of the local authority to put on the event. 

… 

Large capacity venues used exclusively or primarily for the “vertical” 
consumption of alcohol (HVVDs) 

10.23 Large capacity “vertical drinking” premises, sometimes called High Volume Vertical Drinking 
establishments (HVVDs), are premises with exceptionally high capacities, which are used primarily 

Page 309

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:8
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:9


or exclusively for the sale and consumption of alcohol, and have little or no seating for patrons. 
Previous research has demonstrated that the environment within such establishments can have a 
significant bearing on the likelihood of crime and disorder. 

10.24 Where appropriate, conditions can be attached to premises licences for the promotion of the 
prevention of crime and disorder at such premises that require the premises to observe: 

 a prescribed capacity; 
 an appropriate ratio of tables and chairs to customers based on the capacity; and 
 a requirement that security staff holding the appropriate SIA licence or exemption are present to 

control entry for the purpose of compliance with the capacity limit and to deny entry to 
individuals who appear drunk or disorderly or both. 

Mandatory conditions in relation to the supply of alcohol 

10.25 The 2003 Act provides for the following mandatory conditions to be included in every licence 
and/or club premises certificate in the circumstances specified. 

Designated premises supervisor 

10.26 The 2003 Act provides that, where a premises licence authorises the supply of alcohol, it 
must include a condition that no supply of alcohol may be made at a time when no designated 
premises supervisor has been specified in the licence or at a time when the designated premises 
supervisor does not hold a personal licence or the personal licence has been suspended. 

10.27 The main purpose of the ‘designated premises supervisor’ as defined in the 2003 Act is to 
ensure that there is always one specified individual among these personal licence holders who can 
be readily identified for the premises where a premises licence is in force. That person will 
normally have been given day to day responsibility for running the premises by the premises 
licence holder. The requirements set out in relation to the designated premises supervisor and 
authorisation of alcohol sales by a personal licence holder do not apply to community premises in 
respect of which a successful application has been made to disapply the usual mandatory 
conditions in sections 19(2) and 19(3) of the 2003 Act (see Chapter 4 of this Guidance). 

10.28 The 2003 Act does not require a designated premises supervisor or any other personal 
licence holder to be present on the premises at all times when alcohol is sold. However, the 
designated premises supervisor and the premises licence holder remain responsible for the 
premises at all times including compliance with the terms of the 2003 Act and conditions attached 
to the premises licence to promote the licensing objectives. 

… 

Arrangements for the mandatory licence conditions 

10.36 The mandatory conditions made under sections 19A and 73B of the 2003 Act (the conditions 
governing irresponsible promotions, dispensing alcohol directly into the mouth, provision of free 
tap water, age verification, small measures and the prohibition on sales of alcohol below the 
permitted price) do not have to be physically included in the licence or certificate but nonetheless 
will apply to every licence and certificate authorising the sale and supply of alcohol for 

Page 310



consumption on the premises. The mandatory conditions set out in section 19 of the 2003 Act (the 
requirement for a DPS and for all sales to be made or authorised by a personal licence holder) do, 
however, have to be physically included in the licence. The mandatory licence conditions do not 
apply to activities (including the supply of alcohol) authorised by a temporary event notice. 

10.37 Whereas the initial mandatory conditions in section 19 of the 2003 Act are set out in Annex 1 
of the licence, the additional mandatory conditions made under section 19A of the 2003 Act are 
treated as if they were included in existing licences and certificates on the date that those 
conditions came into force. 

10.38 Following their commencement, the mandatory conditions overrode any pre-existing 
conditions already included in a licence or certificate insofar as the mandatory conditions were 
identical to, or inconsistent with or more onerous than, any pre-existing conditions. It is not 
necessary to record on the face of existing licences and certificates the impact that the introduction 
of the mandatory conditions has had on pre-existing conditions. 

Irresponsible promotions 

10.39 Under this condition, the “responsible person” (defined in the 2003 Act as the holder of a 
premises licence, designated premises supervisor, a person aged 18 or over who is authorised to 
allow the sale or supply of alcohol by an under 18 or a member or officer of a club present on the 
club premises who can oversee the supply of alcohol) should be able to demonstrate that they 
have ensured that staff do not carry out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions. An 
irresponsible promotion is one that fits one of the descriptions below (or is substantially similar), is 
carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the 
premises. The aim of the condition is to prohibit or restrict promotions which encourage people to 
drink more than they might ordinarily do and in a manner which undermines the licensing 
objectives. 

Drinking games 

10.40 Drinking games which require or encourage individuals to drink a quantity of alcohol within a 
time limit, or drink as much alcohol as possible within a time limit or otherwise, are prohibited. For 
example, this may include organised ‘drink downing’ competitions. This would not prevent the 
responsible person from requiring all drinks to be consumed or abandoned at, or before, the 
closing time of the premises. Nor does it necessarily prohibit ‘happy hours’ as long as these are 
not designed to encourage individuals to drink excessively or rapidly. 

Large quantities of alcohol for free or a fixed price 

10.41 Irresponsible promotions can include the provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of 
alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted price, where there is a significant risk that such a 
promotion would undermine one or more of the licensing objectives. This includes alcohol provided 
to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic, for example, a promotion which 
offers women free drinks before a certain time or “all you can drink for £10”. Promotions can be 
designed with a particular group in mind (for example, over 65s). A common sense approach is 
encouraged, which may include specifying the quantity of alcohol included in it or not targeting a 
group which could become more vulnerable or present a greater risk of crime and disorder as a 
result of excessive alcohol consumption. 

Prizes and rewards 

Page 311



10.42 The sale, supply or provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other item as a prize to 
encourage or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol can be within the definition of an 
irresponsible promotion, where there is a significant risk that such a promotion would undermine 
one or more of the licensing objectives. This may include promotions under which free or 
discounted alcohol is offered as a part of the sale of alcohol, for example, “Buy one and get two 
free” and “Buy one cocktail and get a second cocktail for 25p”. This includes promotions which 
involve the provision of free or discounted alcohol within the same 24 hour period. 

Posters and flyers 

10.43 Irresponsible promotions can also include the sale or supply of alcohol in association with 
promotional materials on display in or around the premises, which can either be reasonably 
considered to condone, encourage or glamorise anti social behaviour or refer to the effects of 
drunkenness in any favourable manner. 

Dispensing alcohol directly into the mouth 

10.44 The responsible person (see paragraph 10.39) must ensure that no alcohol is dispensed 
directly into the mouth of a customer. For example, this may include drinking games such as the 
‘dentist’s chair’ where a drink is poured continuously into the mouth of another individual and may 
also prevent a premises from allowing another body to promote its products by employing 
someone to dispense alcohol directly into customers’ mouths. An exception to this condition would 
be when an individual is unable to drink without assistance due to a disability. 

 

Free potable water 

10.45 The responsible person (see paragraph 10.39) must ensure that free potable water is 
provided on request to customers where it is reasonably available on the premises. What is meant 
by reasonably available is a question of fact; for example, it would not be reasonable to expect free 
tap water to be available in premises for which the water supply had temporarily been lost because 
of a broken mains water supply. However, it may be reasonable to expect bottled water to be 
provided in such circumstances. 

Age verification 

10.46 The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age 
verification policy applies to the premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol. This must as a 
minimum require individuals who appear to the responsible person (see paragraph 10.39) to be 
under the age of 18 years of age to produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification 
bearing their photograph, date of birth, and either a holographic mark or ultraviolet feature. The 
Home Office encourages licensed premises to accept cards bearing the Proof of Age Standards 
Scheme (PASS) hologram as their preferred proof of age, while acknowledging that many other 
forms of identification meet the requirements of the mandatory condition. 

10.47 The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that staff (in 
particular, staff who are involved in the supply of alcohol) are made aware of the existence and 
content of the age verification policy which applies to the premises. 

Page 312



10.48 The designated premises supervisor (where there is one) must ensure that the supply of 
alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification policy. This means 
that the DPS has personal responsibility for ensuring that staff are not only aware of, but are also 
applying, the age verification policy. 

10.49 It is acceptable, and indeed encouraged, for premises to have an age verification policy 
which requires individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under an age greater than 
18 to produce such identification on request. For example, if premises have a policy that requires 
any individual that appears to be under the age of 21 to produce identification that meets the 
criteria listed above, this is perfectly acceptable under the mandatory code. 

10.50 Licence holders should consider carefully what steps they are required to take to comply 
with the age verification requirements under the 2003 Act in relation to sales of alcohol made 
remotely. These include sales made online, by telephone and mail order sales, and alcohol 
delivery services. Each of these sales must comply with the requirements of the 2003 Act. The 
mandatory condition requires that age verification takes place before a person is served alcohol. 
Where alcohol is sold remotely (for example, online) or through a telephone transaction, the sale is 
made at this point but the alcohol is not actually served until it is delivered to the customer. Age 
verification measures (for example, online age verification) should be used to ensure that alcohol 
is not sold to any person under the age of 18. However, licence holders should also consider 
carefully what steps are appropriate to ensure that age verification takes place before the alcohol 
is served (i.e. physically delivered) to the customer to be satisfied that the customer is aged 18 or 
over. It is, therefore, the responsibility of the person serving or delivering the alcohol to ensure that 
age verification has taken place and that photo ID has been checked if the person appears to be 
less than 18 years of age. 

Smaller measures 

10.51 The responsible person (see paragraph 10.39) shall ensure that the following drinks, if sold 
or supplied on the premises, are available in the following measures: 

 Beer or cider: ½ pint 
 Gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25ml or 35ml 
 Still wine in a glass: 125ml 

10.52 As well as making the drinks available in the above measures, the responsible person must 
also make customers aware of the availability of these measures by displaying them on printed 
materials available to customers on the premises. This can include making their availability clear 
on menus and price lists, and ensuring that these are displayed in a prominent and conspicuous 
place in the relevant premises (for example, at the bar). Moreover, staff must make customers 
aware of the availability of small measures when customers do not request that they be sold 
alcohol in a particular measure. 

10.53 This condition does not apply if the drinks in question are sold or supplied having been 
made up in advance ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container. For example, if beer is 
only available in pre-sealed bottles the requirement to make it available in 1/2 pints does not apply. 

10.54 The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that staff are 
made aware of the application of this condition. 

Ban on sales of alcohol below the permitted price 

Page 313



10.55 The relevant person (the holder of the premises licence, the designated premises supervisor 
(if any) in respect of such a licence, the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply 
of alcohol under such a licence, or any member or officer of a club present on the premises in a 
capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question) shall ensure that 
no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the premises for a price which is less than 
the permitted price. 

10.56 The permitted price is defined as the aggregate of the duty chargeable in relation to the 
alcohol on the date of its sale or supply and the amount of that duty multiplied by a percentage 
which represents the rate of VAT chargeable in relation to the alcohol on the date of its sale or 
supply. Detailed guidance on how to make this calculation and a calculator to determine permitted 
prices for each product are available on the GOV.UK website. 

10.57 Where there is a change to the rate of duty or VAT applying to alcohol (for instance, 
following a Budget), the relevant person should ensure that the permitted price reflects the new 
rates within fourteen days of the introduction of the new rate. 

10.58 It is still permitted to sell alcohol using promotions (as long as they are compatible with any 
other licensing condition that may be in force), and the relevant person should ensure that the 
price of the alcohol is not less than the permitted price. Detailed guidance on the use of 
promotions is given in the guidance document available on the GOV.UK website. 

Exhibition of films 

10.59 The 2003 Act provides that where a premises licence or club premises certificate authorises 
the exhibition of a film, it must include a condition requiring the admission of children to films to be 
restricted in accordance with recommendations given either by a body designated under section 4 
of the Video Recordings Act 1984 specified in the licence (currently only the British Board of Film 
Classification (BBFC)) or by the licensing authority itself. 

10.60 The effect of paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act is to exempt adverts from the 
definition of regulated entertainment, but not exempt them from the definition of exhibition of a film. 
Since the above mandatory condition applies to ‘any film’, it is therefore applicable to the exhibition 
of adverts. 

Door supervision 

10.61 Under section 21 of the 2003 Act, when a condition is included in a premises licence that at 
specified times an individual must be present at the premises to carry out a security activity (as 
defined in section 21(3)(a) by reference to the Private Security Industry Act 2001 (“the 2001 Act”)), 
the licence must include a condition requiring that individual to be licensed by the Security Industry 
Authority (“the SIA”) under the 2001 Act, or be entitled to carry out that activity by virtue of section 
4 of the 2001 Act. 

10.62 A premises licence need not require a person to hold a licence granted by the SIA if that 
person benefits from an exemption under section 4 of the 2001 Act. For example, certain 
employees benefit from an exemption when carrying out conduct in connection with a certified 
sports ground (section 4(6) to (12)). Furthermore, in certain circumstances persons benefit from an 
exemption where they operate under the SIA’s Approved Contractor Scheme (section 15). 

10.63 Conditions under section 21 of the 2003 Act should only relate to individuals carrying out 
security activities defined by section 21(3)(a) of the 2003 Act. Therefore, they should only relate to 

Page 314



an activity to which paragraph 2(1)(a) of Schedule 2 to the 2001 Act applies (certain manned 
guarding activities) and which is licensable conduct within the meaning of section 3(2) of that Act. 
The requirement does not relate to individuals performing non-security related activities, and 
section 21 should not be used in relation to any such activities. 

10.64 Section 21 of the 2003 Act continues to ensure that a premises licence need not impose 
such a requirement in relation to those licensed premises which the 2001 Act treats as unlicensed 
premises. Those are: 

 premises in respect of which there is in force a premises licence authorising a performance of a 
play or an exhibition of a film; 

 casinos or bingo halls licensed under the Gambling Act 2005; 
 premises where a club certificate is in force when activities are being carried on under the 

authority of that certificate. 

See paragraph 8(3) of Schedule 2 to the 2001 Act for full details. 

10.65 It should be noted, however, that the 2001 Act will require contractors and a small number of 
employees (those managing/supervising and those supplied under contract) to be licensed as 
manned guards (rather than door supervisors) when undertaking licensable conduct on premises 
to which paragraph 8(3) of Schedule 2 to the 2001 Act applies. 

10.66 It is therefore important that if a licensing authority intends that individuals must be present 
to carry out security activities (as defined by section 21(3)(a) of the 2003 Act) this should be 
explicit, as should the mandatory condition for those individuals to hold an SIA licence or be 
entitled to carry out that activity by virtue of section 4 of the 2001 Act. On the other hand, where a 
licensing authority intends that individuals must be present to carry out other activities (for 
example, activities related to safety or steward activities to organise, advise and direct members of 
the public), no mandatory condition should be imposed under section 21 of the 2003 Act. In all 
cases it is important when determining whether or not a condition is to be imposed under section 
21 of the 2003 Act to consider whether the activities of any individual working in licensed premises 
fall within the definition of security activities in section 21(3)(a) of the 2003 Act. (Regardless of 
whether a condition is imposed under section 21 of the 2003 Act, under the 2001 Act the 
appropriate SIA licence must be held by any individual performing an activity for which they are 
licensable under that Act.) 

11. Reviews 

The review process 

11.1 The proceedings set out in the 2003 Act for reviewing premises licences and club premises 
certificates represent a key protection for the community where problems associated with the 
licensing objectives occur after the grant or variation of a premises licence or club premises 
certificate. 

Page 315



11.2 At any stage, following the grant of a premises licence or club premises certificate, a 
responsible authority, or any other person, may ask the licensing authority to review the licence or 
certificate because of a matter arising at the premises in connection with any of the four licensing 
objectives. 

11.3 An application for review may be made electronically, provided that the licensing authority 
agrees and the applicant submits a subsequent hard copy of the application, if the licensing 
authority requires one. The licensing authority may also agree in advance that the application need 
not be given in hard copy. However, these applications are outside the formal electronic 
application process and may not be submitted via GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s electronic 
facility. The applicant must give notice of the review application to the responsible authorities and 
holder of the licence or certificate. The licensing authority is required to advertise a review 
application. 

11.4 In addition, the licensing authority must review a licence if the premises to which it relates 
was made the subject of a closure order by the police based on nuisance or disorder and the 
magistrates’ court has sent the authority the relevant notice of its determination, or if the police 
have made an application for summary review on the basis that premises are associated with 
serious crime and/or disorder. 

11.5 Any responsible authority under the 2003 Act may apply for a review of a premises licence or 
club premises certificate. Therefore, the relevant licensing authority may apply for a review if it is 
concerned about licensed activities at premises and wants to intervene early without waiting for 
representations from other persons. However, it is not expected that licensing authorities should 
normally act as responsible authorities in applying for reviews on behalf of other persons, such as 
local residents or community groups. These individuals or groups are entitled to apply for a review 
for a licence or certificate in their own right if they have grounds to do so. It is also reasonable for 
licensing authorities to expect other responsible authorities to intervene where the basis for the 
intervention falls within the remit of that other authority. For example, the police should take 
appropriate steps where the basis for the review is concern about crime and disorder or the sexual 
exploitation of children. Likewise, where there are concerns about noise nuisance, it is reasonable 
to expect the local authority exercising environmental health functions for the area in which the 
premises are situated to make the application for review. 

11.6 Where the relevant licensing authority does act as a responsible authority and applies for a 
review, it is important that a separation of responsibilities is still achieved in this process to ensure 
procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of interest. As outlined previously in Chapter 9 of this 
Guidance, the distinct functions of acting as licensing authority and responsible authority should be 
exercised by different officials to ensure a separation of responsibilities. Further information on 
how licensing authorities should achieve this separation of responsibilities can be found in Chapter 
9, paragraphs 9.13 to 

9.19 of this Guidance. 

11.7 In every case, any application for a review must relate to particular premises in respect of 
which there is a premises licence or club premises certificate and must be relevant to the 
promotion of one or more of the licensing objectives. Following the grant or variation of a licence or 
certificate, a complaint regarding a general issue in the local area relating to the licensing 
objectives, such as a general (crime and disorder) situation in a town centre, should generally not 
be regarded as relevant unless it can be positively tied or linked by a causal connection to 
particular premises, which would allow for a proper review of the licence or certificate. For 
instance, a geographic cluster of complaints, including along transport routes related to an 

Page 316



individual public house and its closing time, could give grounds for a review of an existing licence 
as well as direct incidents of crime and disorder around a particular public house. 

11.8 Where a licensing authority receives a geographic cluster of complaints, consideration may 
be given as whether these issues are the result of the cumulative impact of licensed premises 
within the area concerned. In such circumstances, the licensing authority may be asked to 
consider whether it would be appropriate to publish a cumulative impact assessment. Further 
guidance on cumulative impact assessments can be found in Chapter 14 of this Guidance. 

11.9 Responsible authorities and other persons may make representations in respect of an 
application to review a premises licence or club premises certificate. They must be relevant (i.e., 
relate to one or more of the licensing objectives) and, in the case of other persons, must not be 
frivolous or vexatious. Representations must be made in writing and may be amplified at the 
subsequent hearing or may stand in their own right. Additional representations which do not 
amount to an amplification of the original representation may not be made at the hearing. 
Representations may be made electronically, provided the licensing authority agrees and the 
applicant submits a subsequent hard copy, unless the licensing authority waives this requirement. 

11.10 Where authorised persons and responsible authorities have concerns about problems 
identified at premises, it is good practice for them to give licence holders early warning of their 
concerns and the need for improvement, and where possible they should advise the licence or 
certificate holder of the steps they need to take to address those concerns. A failure by the holder 
to respond to such warnings is expected to lead to a decision to apply for a review. Co-operation at 
a local level in promoting the licensing objectives should be encouraged and reviews should not be 
used to undermine this co- operation. 

11.11 If the application for a review has been made by a person other than a responsible authority 
(for example, a local resident, residents’ association, local business or trade association), before 
taking action the licensing authority must first consider whether the complaint being made is 
relevant, frivolous, vexatious or repetitious. Further guidance on determining whether a 
representation is frivolous or vexatious can be found in Chapter 9 of this Guidance (paragraphs 9.4 
to 9.10). 

 

Repetitious grounds of review 

11.12 A repetitious ground is one that is identical or substantially similar to: 

 a ground for review specified in an earlier application for review made in relation to the same 
premises licence or certificate which has already been determined; or 

 representations considered by the licensing authority when the premises licence or certificate 
was granted; or 

 representations which would have been made when the application for the premises licence 
was first made and which were excluded then by reason of the prior issue of a provisional 

Page 317



statement; and, in addition to the above grounds, a reasonable interval has not elapsed since 
that earlier review or grant. 

11.13 Licensing authorities are expected to be aware of the need to prevent attempts to review 
licences merely as a further means of challenging the grant of the licence following the failure of 
representations to persuade the licensing authority on an earlier occasion. It is for licensing 
authorities themselves to judge what should be regarded as a reasonable interval in these 
circumstances. However, it is recommended that more than one review originating from a person 
other than a responsible authority in relation to a particular premises should not be permitted within 
a 12 month period on similar grounds save in compelling circumstances or where it arises 
following a closure order or illegal working compliance order. 

11.14 The exclusion of a complaint on the grounds that it is repetitious does not apply to 
responsible authorities which may make more than one application for a review of a licence or 
certificate within a 12 month period. 

11.15 When a licensing authority receives an application for a review from a responsible authority 
or any other person, or in accordance with the closure procedures described in Part 8 of the 2003 
Act (for example, closure orders), it must arrange a hearing. The arrangements for the hearing 
must follow the provisions set out in regulations. These regulations are published on the 
Government’s legislation website (www.legislation.gov.uk). It is particularly important that the 
premises licence holder is made fully aware of any representations made in respect of the 
premises, any evidence supporting the representations and that the holder or the holder’s legal 
representative has therefore been able to prepare a response. 

Powers of a licensing authority on the determination of a review 

11.16 The 2003 Act provides a range of powers for the licensing authority which it may exercise on 
determining a review where it considers them appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. 

11.17 The licensing authority may decide that the review does not require it to take any further 
steps appropriate to promoting the licensing objectives. In addition, there is nothing to prevent a 
licensing authority issuing an informal warning to the licence holder and/or to recommend 
improvement within a particular period of time. It is expected that licensing authorities will regard 
such informal warnings as an important mechanism for ensuring that the licensing objectives are 
effectively promoted and that warnings should be issued in writing to the licence holder. 

11.18 However, where responsible authorities such as the police or environmental health officers 
have already issued warnings requiring improvement – either orally or in writing – that have failed 
as part of their own stepped approach to address concerns, licensing authorities should not merely 
repeat that approach and should take this into account when considering what further action is 
appropriate. Similarly, licensing authorities may take into account any civil immigration penalties 
which a licence holder has been required to pay for employing an illegal worker. 

11.19 Where the licensing authority considers that action under its statutory powers is appropriate, 
it may take any of the following steps: 

Page 318

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 modify the conditions of the premises licence (which includes adding new conditions or any 
alteration or omission of an existing condition), for example, by reducing the hours of opening or 
by requiring door supervisors at particular times; 

 exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence, for example, to exclude the 
performance of live music or playing of recorded music (where it is not within the incidental live 
and recorded music exemption)[footnote 10]; 

 remove the designated premises supervisor, for example, because they consider that the 
problems are the result of poor management; 

 suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; 
 revoke the licence. 

11.20 In deciding which of these powers to invoke, it is expected that licensing authorities should 
so far as possible seek to establish the cause or causes of the concerns that the representations 
identify. The remedial action taken should generally be directed at these causes and should 
always be no more than an appropriate and proportionate response to address the causes of 
concern that instigated the review. 

11.21 For example, licensing authorities should be alive to the possibility that the removal and 
replacement of the designated premises supervisor may be sufficient to remedy a problem where 
the cause of the identified problem directly relates to poor management decisions made by that 
individual. 

11.22 Equally, it may emerge that poor management is a direct reflection of poor company practice 
or policy and the mere removal of the designated premises supervisor may be an inadequate 
response to the problems presented. Indeed, where subsequent review hearings are generated, it 
should be rare merely to remove a succession of designated premises supervisors as this would 
be a clear indication of deeper problems that impact upon the licensing objectives. 

11.23 Licensing authorities should also note that modifications of conditions and exclusions of 
licensable activities may be imposed either permanently or for a temporary period of up to three 
months. Temporary changes or suspension of the licence for up to three months could impact on 
the business holding the licence financially and would only be expected to be pursued as an 
appropriate means of promoting the licensing objectives or preventing illegal working. So, for 
instance, a licence could be suspended for a weekend as a means of deterring the holder from 
allowing the problems that gave rise to the review to happen again. However, it will always be 
important that any detrimental financial impact that may result from a licensing authority’s decision 
is appropriate and proportionate to the promotion of the licensing objectives and for the prevention 
of illegal working in licensed premises. But where premises are found to be trading irresponsibly, 
the licensing authority should not hesitate, where appropriate to do so, to take tough action to 
tackle the problems at the premises and, where other measures are deemed insufficient, to revoke 
the licence. 

Reviews arising in connection with crime 

11.24 A number of reviews may arise in connection with crime that is not directly connected with 
licensable activities. For example, reviews may arise because of drugs problems at the premises, 
money laundering by criminal gangs, the sale of contraband or stolen goods, the sale of firearms, 
or the sexual exploitation of children. Licensing authorities do not have the power to judge the 
criminality or otherwise of any issue. This is a matter for the courts. The licensing authority’s role 

Page 319

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:10


when determining such a review is not therefore to establish the guilt or innocence of any 
individual but to ensure the promotion of the crime prevention objective. 

11.25 Reviews are part of the regulatory process introduced by the 2003 Act and they are not part 
of criminal law and procedure. There is, therefore, no reason why representations giving rise to a 
review of a premises licence need be delayed pending the outcome of any criminal proceedings. 
Some reviews will arise after the conviction in the criminal courts of certain individuals, but not all. 
In any case, it is for the licensing authority to determine whether the problems associated with the 
alleged crimes are taking place on the premises and affecting the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. Where a review follows a conviction, it would also not be for the licensing authority to 
attempt to go beyond any finding by the courts, which should be treated as a matter of undisputed 
evidence before them. 

11.26 Where the licensing authority is conducting a review on the grounds that the premises have 
been used for criminal purposes, its role is solely to determine what steps should be taken in 
connection with the premises licence, for the promotion of the crime prevention objective. It is 
important to recognise that certain criminal activity or associated problems may be taking place or 
have taken place despite the best efforts of the licence holder and the staff working at the 
premises and despite full compliance with the conditions attached to the licence. In such 
circumstances, the licensing authority is still empowered to take any appropriate steps to remedy 
the problems. The licensing authority’s duty is to take steps with a view to the promotion of the 
licensing objectives and the prevention of illegal working in the interests of the wider community 
and not those of the individual licence holder. 

11.27 There is certain criminal activity that may arise in connection with licensed premises which 
should be treated particularly seriously. These are the use of the licensed premises: 

 for the sale and distribution of drugs controlled under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 and the 
laundering of the proceeds of drugs crime; 

 for the sale and distribution of illegal firearms; 
 for the evasion of copyright in respect of pirated or unlicensed films and music, which does 

considerable damage to the industries affected; 
 for the illegal purchase and consumption of alcohol by minors which impacts on the health, 

educational attainment, employment prospects and propensity for crime of young people; 
 for prostitution or the sale of unlawful pornography; 
 by organised groups of paedophiles to groom children; 
 as the base for the organisation of criminal activity, particularly by gangs; 
 for the organisation of racist activity or the promotion of racist attacks; 
 for employing a person who is disqualified from that work by reason of their immigration status 

in the UK; 
 for unlawful gambling; and 
 for the sale or storage of smuggled tobacco and alcohol. 

11.28 It is envisaged that licensing authorities, the police, the Home Office (Immigration 
Enforcement) and other law enforcement agencies, which are responsible authorities, will use the 
review procedures effectively to deter such activities and crime. Where reviews arise and the 
licensing authority determines that the crime prevention objective is being undermined through the 
premises being used to further crimes, it is expected that revocation of the licence – even in the 
first instance – should be seriously considered. 

Page 320



Review of a premises licence following closure order or illegal working 
compliance order 

11.29 Licensing authorities are subject to certain timescales, set out in the legislation, for the 
review of a premises licence following a closure order under section 80 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 or an illegal working compliance order under section 38 of 
and Schedule 6 to the Immigration Act 2016. The relevant time periods run concurrently and are 
as follows: 

 when the licensing authority receives notice that a magistrates’ court has made a closure order 
it has 28 days to determine the licence review – the determination must be made before the 
expiry of the 28th day after the day on which the notice is received; 

 the hearing must be held within ten working days, the first of which is the day after the day the 
notice from the magistrates’ court is received; 

 notice of the hearing must be given no later than five working days before the first hearing day 
(there must be five clear working days between the giving of the notice and the start of the 
hearing). 

Review of a premises licence following persistent sales of alcohol to children 

11.29 The Government recognises that the majority of licensed premises operate responsibly and 
undertake due diligence checks on those who appear to be under the age of 18 at the point of sale 
(or 21 and 25 where they operate a Challenge 21 or 25 scheme). Where these systems are in 
place, licensing authorities may wish to take a proportionate approach in cases where there have 
been two sales of alcohol within very quick succession of one another (e.g., where a new cashier 
has not followed policy and conformed with a store’s age verification procedures). However, where 
persistent sales of alcohol to children have occurred at premises, and it is apparent that those 
managing the premises do not operate a responsible policy or have not exercised appropriate due 
diligence, responsible authorities should consider taking steps to ensure that a review of the 
licence is the norm in these circumstances. This is particularly the case where there has been a 
prosecution for the offence under section 147A or a closure notice has been given under section 
169A of the 2003 Act. In determining the review, the licensing authority should consider revoking 
the licence if it considers this appropriate. 

… 

Right of appeal against final review decision 

12.32 An appeal against the final review decision may be made to a magistrates’ court within 21 
days of the appellant being notified of the licensing authority’s determination on the review. An 
appeal may be made by the premises licence holder, the chief officer of police and/or any other 
person who made relevant representations. 

12.33 The decision of the licensing authority, following the review hearing, will not have effect until 
the end of the period allowed for appeal, or until the disposal of the appeal. 

Page 321



12.34 Where appeals are lodged both against the decision following the review of the interim steps 
and against the final determination, the courts may decide to consider the appeal against the final 
determination within the 28 day period, allowing the interim steps appeal to be disposed of at the 
same time. 

Flow diagram of the summary review process 

12.35 The following flow diagram summarises the process. 

Application for summary review, with certificate signed by senior officer (superintendent or above). 

LA [footnote 12] considers if it is necessary to take interim steps (must be within 48 hours [footnote 13] of 
receiving application). 

Licence holder can make representations against interim steps. 

LA holds hearing within 48 hours to consider whether interim steps are appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives (only once unless there is a material change in 
circumstance). 

LA must hold full hearing within 28 days to review the premises licence and decide whether any 
interim steps in place should be withdrawn or modified. 

Review decision takes effect after 21 days (unless appealed during that period). 

Right of all parties to appeal against review decision (within 21 days). [Police and licence holder 
can also appeal against continuing interim steps (within 21 days).] 

Any appeal against interim steps is heard by Magistrates’ court within 28 days. [Any appeal 
against review decision heard by Magistrates’ court. Timing decided by court (but may be held in 
conjunction with any appeal against continuing interim steps).] 

Final determination 

13. Appeals 

13.1 This chapter provides advice about entitlements to appeal in connection with various 
decisions made by a licensing authority under the provisions of the 2003 Act. Entitlements to 
appeal for parties aggrieved by decisions of the licensing authority are set out in Schedule 5 to the 
2003 Act. 

Page 322

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:12
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:13


General 

13.2 With the exception of appeals in relation to closure orders, an appeal may be made to any 
magistrates’ court in England or Wales but it is expected that applicants would bring an appeal in a 
magistrates’ court in the area in which they or the premises are situated. 

13.3 An appeal has to be commenced by the appellant giving a notice of appeal to the designated 
officer for the magistrates’ court within a period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the 
appellant was notified by the licensing authority of the decision which is being appealed. 

13.4 The licensing authority will always be a respondent to the appeal, but in cases where a 
favourable decision has been made for an applicant, licence holder, club or premises user against 
the representations of a responsible authority or any other person, or the objections of the chief 
officer of police, the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement), or local authority exercising 
environmental health functions, the holder of the premises or personal licence or club premises 
certificate or the person who gave an interim authority notice or the premises user will also be a 
respondent to the appeal, and the person who made the relevant representation or gave the 
objection will be the appellants. 

13.5 Where an appeal has been made against a decision of the licensing authority, the licensing 
authority will in all cases be the respondent to the appeal and may call as a witness a responsible 
authority or any other person who made representations against the application, if it chooses to do 
so. For this reason, the licensing authority should consider keeping responsible authorities and 
others informed of developments in relation to appeals to allow them to consider their position. 
Provided the court considers it appropriate, the licensing authority may also call as witnesses any 
individual or body that they feel might assist their response to an appeal. 

13.6 The court, on hearing any appeal, may review the merits of the decision on the facts and 
consider points of law or address both. 

13.7 On determining an appeal, the court may: 

 dismiss the appeal; 
 substitute for the decision appealed against any other decision which could have been made by 

the licensing authority; or 
 remit the case to the licensing authority to dispose of it in accordance with the direction of the 

court and make such order as to costs as it thinks fit. 

All parties should be aware that the court may make an order for one party to pay another party’s 
costs. 

On any appeal, the court is not entitled to consider whether the licence holder should have been 
convicted of an immigration offence or been required to pay an immigration penalty, or whether 
they should have been granted by the Home Office permission to be in the UK. This is because 
separate rights exist to appeal these matters or to have an immigration decision administratively 
reviewed. 

Licensing policy statements and Section 182 guidance 

Page 323



13.8 In hearing an appeal against any decision made by a licensing authority, the magistrates’ 
court will have regard to that licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy and this Guidance. 
However, the court would be entitled to depart from either the statement of licensing policy or this 
Guidance if it considered it was justified to do so because of the individual circumstances of any 
case. In other words, while the court will normally consider the matter as if it were “standing in the 
shoes” of the licensing authority, it would be entitled to find that the licensing authority should have 
departed from its own policy or the Guidance because the particular circumstances would have 
justified such a decision. 

13.9 In addition, the court is entitled to disregard any part of a licensing policy statement or this 
Guidance that it holds to be ultra vires the 2003 Act and therefore unlawful. The normal course for 
challenging a statement of licensing policy or this Guidance should be by way of judicial review, 
but where it is submitted to an appellate court that a statement of policy is itself ultra vires the 2003 
Act and this has a direct bearing on the case before it, it would be inappropriate for the court, on 
accepting such a submission, to compound the original error by relying on that part of the 
statement of licensing policy affected. 

Giving reasons for decisions 

13.10 It is important that a licensing authority gives comprehensive reasons for its decisions in 
anticipation of any appeals. Failure to give adequate reasons could itself give rise to grounds for 
an appeal. It is particularly important that reasons should also address the extent to which the 
decision has been made with regard to the licensing authority’s statement of policy and this 
Guidance. Reasons should be promulgated to all the parties of any process which might give rise 
to an appeal under the terms of the 2003 Act. 

13.11 It is important that licensing authorities also provide all parties who were party to the original 
hearing, but not involved directly in the appeal, with clear reasons for any subsequent decisions 
where appeals are settled out of court. Local residents in particular, who have attended a hearing 
where the decision was subject to an appeal, are likely to expect the final determination to be 
made by a court. 

Implementing the determination of the magistrates’ courts 

13.12 As soon as the decision of the magistrates’ court has been promulgated, licensing 
authorities should implement it without delay. Any attempt to delay implementation will only bring 
the appeal system into disrepute. Standing orders should therefore be in place that on receipt of 
the decision, appropriate action should be taken immediately unless ordered by the magistrates’ 
court or a higher court to suspend such action (for example, as a result of an on-going judicial 
review). Except in the case of closure orders, the 2003 Act does not provide for a further appeal 
against the decision of the magistrates’ courts and normal rules of challenging decisions of 
magistrates’ courts will apply. 

Page 324



Provisional statements 

13.13 To avoid confusion, it should be noted that a right of appeal only exists in respect of the 
terms of a provisional statement that is issued rather than one that is refused. This is because the 
2003 Act does not empower a licensing authority to refuse to issue a provisional statement. After 
receiving and considering relevant representations, the licensing authority may only indicate, as 
part of the statement, that it would consider certain steps to be appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives when, and if, an application were made for a premises licence following the 
issuing of the provisional statement. Accordingly, the applicant or any person who has made 
relevant representations may appeal against the terms of the statement issued. 

14. Statements of licensing policy 

Introduction 

The Licensing Act 2003 

14.1 This chapter provides guidance on the development and preparation of local statements of 
licensing policy for publication by licensing authorities, the general principles that it is 
recommended should underpin them, and core content to which licensing authorities are free to 
add. 

General 

14.2 Section 5 of the 2003 Act requires a licensing authority to prepare and publish a statement of 
its licensing policy at least every five years. Such a policy must be published before the authority 
carries out any function in respect of individual applications and notices made under the terms of 
the 2003 Act. During the five-year period, the policy must be kept under review and the licensing 
authority may make any revisions to it as it considers appropriate, for instance in the light of 
feedback from the local community on whether the licensing objectives are being met. If the 
licensing authority determines and publishes its policy in this way, a new five-year period 
commences on the date it is published. Previously, licensing authorities were required to 
determine their licensing policies for each three-year period. Licensing policies published in 
respect of the three-year period that began on 7 January 2011 are to be treated as though they 
apply to a period of five years beginning at that date. 

… 

Page 325



Fundamental principles 

14.9 All statements of policy should begin by stating the four licensing objectives, which the 
licensing policy should promote. In determining its policy, a licensing authority must have regard to 
this Guidance and give appropriate weight to the views of consultees. 

14.10 While statements of policy may set out a general approach to making licensing decisions, 
they must not ignore or be inconsistent with provisions in the 2003 Act. For example, a statement 
of policy must not undermine the right of any person to apply under the terms of the 2003 Act for a 
variety of permissions and to have any such application considered on its individual merits. 

14.11 Similarly, no statement of policy should override the right of any person to make 
representations on an application or to seek a review of a licence or certificate where provision has 
been made for them to do so in the 2003 Act. 

14.12 Statements of policies should make clear that: 

 licensing is about regulating licensable activities on licensed premises, by qualifying clubs and 
at temporary events within the terms of the 2003 Act; and 

 conditions attached to various authorisations will be focused on matters which are within the 
control of individual licence holders and others with relevant authorisations, i.e. the premises 
and its vicinity. 

14.13 A statement of policy should also make clear that licensing law is not the primary 
mechanism for the general control of nuisance and anti-social behaviour by individuals once they 
are away from the licensed premises and, therefore, beyond the direct control of the individual, 
club or business holding the licence, certificate or authorisation concerned. Nonetheless, it is a key 
aspect of such control and licensing law will always be part of a holistic approach to the 
management of the evening and night-time economy in town and city centres. 

Licence conditions 

14.14 Statements of licensing policy should reflect the general principles regarding licence 
conditions set out in Chapter 1 of this guidance. 

14.15 Statements of licensing policy should include a firm commitment to avoid attaching 
conditions that duplicate other regulatory regimes as far as possible. Chapter 10 provides further 
detail on this issue. 

Enforcement 

14.16 The Government recommends that licensing authorities should establish and set out joint 
enforcement protocols with the local police and the other authorities and describe them in their 
statement of policy. This will clarify the division of responsibilities for licence holders and 
applicants, and assists enforcement and other authorities to deploy resources more efficiently. 

Page 326



14.17 In particular, these protocols should also provide for the targeting of agreed problem and 
high-risk premises which require greater attention, while providing a lighter touch for low risk 
premises or those that are well run. In some local authority areas, the limited validity of public 
entertainment, theatre, cinema, night café and late night refreshment house licences has in the 
past led to a culture of annual inspections regardless of whether the assessed risks make such 
inspections necessary. The 2003 Act does not require inspections to take place save at the 
discretion of those charged with this role. Principles of risk assessment and targeted inspection (in 
line with the Regulators’ Code) should prevail and, for example, inspections should not be 
undertaken routinely but when and if they are judged necessary. This should ensure that 
resources are used efficiently and for example, are more effectively concentrated on problem 
premises. Licensing authorities should also remind operators of licensed premises that it is 
incumbent on them to provide appropriate training for their staff to ensure the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. 

Entertainment provision 

14.18 Statements of licensing policy should set out the extent to which the licensing authority 
intends to facilitate a broad range of entertainment provision for enjoyment by a wide cross-section 
of the public. Statements of licensing policy should address what balance is to be struck between 
promoting the provision of entertainment and addressing concerns relevant to the licensing 
objectives. Licensing authorities should be conscious that licensing policy may inadvertently deter 
live music by imposing indirect costs of a disproportionate nature, for example a blanket policy that 
any pub providing live music entertainment must have door supervisors. 

The need for licensed premises 

14.19 There can be confusion about the difference between the “need” for premises and the 
“cumulative impact” of premises on the licensing objectives, for example, on crime and disorder. 
“Need” concerns the commercial demand for another pub or restaurant or hotel and is a matter for 
the planning authority and for the market. This is not a matter for a licensing authority in 
discharging its licensing functions or for its statement of licensing policy. 

The cumulative impact of a concentration of licensed premises 

What is cumulative impact? 

14.20 The concept of “Cumulative impact” has been described within this guidance and used by 
licensing authorities within their statements of licensing policy since the commencement of the 
2003 Act. ‘Cumulative impact assessments’ were introduced in the 2003 Act by the Policing and 
Crime Act 2017, with effect from 6 April 2018. Cumulative impact is the potential impact on the 
promotion of the licensing objectives of a number of licensed premises concentrated in one area. 

Page 327



14.21 In some areas where the number, type or density of licensed premises, such as those 
selling alcohol or providing late night refreshment, is high or exceptional, serious problems of 
nuisance and disorder may arise outside or some distance from those premises. Such problems 
generally occur as a result of large numbers of drinkers being concentrated in an area, for example 
when leaving premises at peak times or when queuing at fast food outlets or for public transport. 

14.22 Queuing in itself may lead to conflict, disorder and anti-social behaviour. Moreover, large 
concentrations of people may also attract criminal activities such as drug dealing, pick pocketing 
and street robbery. Local services such as public transport, public lavatory provision and street 
cleaning may not be able to meet the demand posed by such concentrations of drinkers leading to 
issues such as street fouling, littering, traffic and public nuisance caused by concentrations of 
people who cannot be effectively dispersed quickly. 

14.23 Variable licensing hours may facilitate a more gradual dispersal of customers from premises. 
However, in some cases, the impact on surrounding areas of the behaviour of the customers of all 
premises taken together will be greater than the impact of customers of individual premises. These 
conditions are more likely to arise in town and city centres, but may also arise in other urban 
centres and the suburbs, for example on smaller high streets with high concentrations of licensed 
premises. 

Cumulative impact assessments 

14.24 A cumulative impact assessment (CIA) may be published by a licensing authority to help it to 
limit the number or types of licence applications granted in areas where there is evidence to show 
that the number or density of licensed premises in the area is having a cumulative impact and 
leading to problems which are undermining the licensing objectives. CIAs relate to applications for 
new premises licences and club premises certificates and applications to vary existing premises 
licences and club premises certificates in a specified area. 

14.25 Section 5A of the 2003 Act sets out what a licensing authority needs to do in order to publish 
a CIA and review it, including the requirement to consult with the persons listed in section 5(3) of 
the 2003 Act. The 2003 Act does not stipulate how the CIA should be used once published, 
because the requirements for determining applications for new licences or variations are the same 
in areas with a CIA as they are elsewhere, as set out in sections 18, 35, 72 and 85 of the Act. 
However, any CIA published by a licensing authority must be summarised in its statement of 
licensing policy. Under section 5(6D) a licensing authority must also have regard to any CIA it has 
published when determining or revising its statement of licensing policy. 

14.26 The CIA must include a statement saying that the licensing authority considers that the 
number of premises licences and/or club premises certificates in one or more parts of the area 
described is such that it is likely that granting further licences would be inconsistent with the 
authority’s duty to promote the licensing objectives. As part of the publication a licensing authority 
must set out the evidential basis for its opinion. 

14.27 CIAs may relate to premises licensed to carry on any licensable activity, including the sale of 
alcohol for consumption on or off the premises, and the provision of late night refreshment. This 
includes late night refreshment providers which are not licensed to sell alcohol. A CIA may relate 
to all premises licences and club premises certificates in the area described in the assessment or 
parts thereof, or only to premises of a particular kind described in the assessment. For example, it 
may be appropriate for the licensing authority to only include off-licences or nightclubs within the 
scope of its assessment. The licensing authority must make clear, when publishing its CIA, which 
premises types it applies to. CIAs do not apply to TENs; however it is open to the police and 

Page 328



environmental health authority (as relevant persons) to refer to evidence published within a CIA 
when objecting to a TEN. 

14.28 While the evidence underpinning the publication of a CIA should generally be suitable as the 
basis for a decision to refuse an application or impose conditions, it does not change the 
fundamental way that decisions are made under the 2003 Act. Each decision in an area subject to 
a CIA therefore still needs to be made on a case-by-case basis and with a view to what is 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. Importantly, the publication of a CIA 
would not remove a licensing authority’s discretion to grant applications for new licences or 
applications to vary existing licences, where the authority considers this to be appropriate in the 
light of the individual circumstances of the case. 

Evidence of cumulative impact 

14.29 As noted above, there must be an evidential basis for the decision to publish a CIA. Local 
Community Safety Partnerships and responsible authorities, such as the police and the 
environmental health authority, may hold relevant information which would inform licensing 
authorities when establishing the evidence base for publishing a CIA. Evidence of cumulative 
impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives needs to relate to the relevant problems 
identified in the specific area to be covered by the CIA. Information which licensing authorities may 
be able to draw on includes: 

 local crime and disorder statistics, including statistics on specific types of crime and crime 
hotspots; 

 statistics on local anti-social behaviour offences; 
 health-related statistics such as alcohol-related emergency attendances and hospital 

admissions; 
 environmental health complaints, particularly in relation to litter and noise; 
 complaints recorded by the local authority, which may include complaints raised by local 

residents or residents’ associations; 
 residents’ questionnaires; 
 evidence from local and parish councillors; and 
 evidence obtained through local consultation. 

14.30 The licensing authority may consider this evidence, alongside its own evidence of the impact 
of licensable activities within its area, and consider in particular the times at which licensable 
activities are carried on. Information which may inform consideration of these issues includes: 

 trends in licence applications, particularly trends in applications by types of premises and 
terminal hours; 

 changes in terminal hours of premises; 
 premises’ capacities at different times of night and the expected concentrations of drinkers who 

will be expected to be leaving premises at different times. 

14.31 Where existing information is insufficient or not readily available, but the licensing authority 
believes there are problems in its area resulting from the cumulative impact of licensed premises, it 
can consider conducting or commissioning a specific study to assess the position. This may 
involve conducting observations of the night-time economy to assess the extent of incidents 
relating to the promotion of the licensing objectives, such as incidences of criminal activity and 
anti-social behaviour, examples of public nuisance, specific issues such as underage drinking and 
the key times and locations at which these problems are occurring. 

Page 329



14.32 In order to identify the areas in which problems are occurring, information about specific 
incidents can be mapped and, where possible, a time analysis undertaken to identify the key areas 
and times at which there are specific issues. 

14.33 After considering the available evidence and consulting those individuals and organisations 
listed in section 5(3) of the 2003 Act and any others, a licensing authority may be satisfied that it is 
appropriate to publish a CIA. The CIA should also be considered alongside local planning policy 
and other factors which may assist in mitigating the cumulative impact of licensed premises, as set 
out in paragraph 14.47. 

Steps to publishing a cumulative impact assessment 

14.34 The steps to be followed in considering whether to publish a CIA are summarised below. 

 Identify concern about crime and disorder; public safety; public nuisance or protection of 
children from harm in a particular location. 

 Consider whether there is good evidence that crime and disorder or nuisance are occurring, or 
whether there are activities which pose a threat to public safety or the protection of children 
from harm. 

 If there is evidence that such problems are occurring, identify whether these problems are being 
caused by the customers of licensed premises, or that cumulative impact is imminent. 

 Identify the boundaries of the area where problems are occurring (this can involve mapping 
where the problems occur and identifying specific streets or localities where such problems 
arise). 

 Consult those specified in section 5(3) of the 2003 Act. As with consultations in respect of the 
licensing policy statement as a whole, it is for each licensing authority to determine the extent of 
the consultation it should undertake in respect of a CIA (subject to the statutory requirements). 

 For the purposes of the consultation provide the persons specified in section 5(3) with the 
following information: 
 the reasons why it is considering publishing a CIA; 
 a general indication of the part or parts of its area which it is considering describing in the 

assessment; 
 whether it considers that the assessment will relate to all premises licence and club premises 

certificate applications and variation applications, or only to those of a particular kind 
described. 

 Subject to the outcome of the consultation, include and publish details of the CIA, including the 
evidence in support of the assessment and the particular kinds of premises the assessment 
relates to. Licensing authorities are not restricted to using general terms such as on-trade, off-
trade and late night refreshment providers, and can apply their own descriptions such as 
vertical-drinking bars and night clubs if appropriate. 

 Summarise the licensing authority’s opinion in light of the evidence of cumulative impact (or any 
revision to an existing opinion) in the licensing policy statement and explain within the policy 
statement how the authority has had regard to any CIAs it has published under section 5A. The 
summary within the licensing policy statement should include, but is not limited to: the nature of 
the problems identified and the evidence for such problems; the geographical extent of the area 
covered by the assessment; the types of premises described in the assessment; and the types 
of applications for which it would likely be inconsistent with the licensing authority’s duty to 
promote the licensing objectives to grant. 

… 

Effect of cumulative impact assessments 

Page 330



14.39 When publishing a CIA a licensing authority is required to set out evidence of problems that 
are being caused or exacerbated by the cumulative impact of licensed premises in the area 
described. The evidence is used to justify the statement in the CIA that it is likely that granting 
further premises licences and/or club premises certificates in that area (limited to a kind described 
in the assessment), would be inconsistent with the authority’s duty to promote the licensing 
objectives. 

14.40 In publishing a CIA a licensing authority is setting down a strong statement of intent about its 
approach to considering applications for the grant or variation of premises licences or club 
premises certificates in the area described. Having published a CIA a licensing authority must 
have regard to the assessment when determining or revising its statement of licensing policy. It is 
therefore expected that, in respect of each relevant application in the area concerned, the licensing 
authority will be considering whether it is appropriate to make a representation to its committee as 
a responsible authority in its own right. The CIA does not, however, change the fundamental way 
that licensing decisions are made. It is therefore open to the licensing authority to grant an 
application where it considers it is appropriate and where the applicant can demonstrate in the 
operating schedule that they would not be adding to the cumulative impact. Applications in areas 
covered by a CIA should therefore give consideration to potential cumulative impact issues when 
setting out the steps that will be taken to promote the licensing objectives. Where relevant 
representations are received and a licensing authority decides to grant an application it will need to 
provide the applicant, the chief officer of police and all parties who made relevant representations 
with reasons for granting the application and this should include any reasons for departing from 
their own policy. 

14.41 The CIA must also stress that it does not relieve responsible authorities (or any other 
persons) of the need to make relevant representations where they consider it appropriate to do so 
for the promotion of the licensing objectives. Anyone making a representation may base it on the 
evidence published in the CIA, or the fact that a CIA has been published. It remains incumbent on 
all responsible authorities and other persons to ensure that their representations can withstand the 
scrutiny to which they would be subject at a hearing. As with all licensing applications under the 
2003 Act, if there are no representations, the licensing authority must grant the application in terms 
that are consistent with the operating schedule submitted. 

14.42 The absence of a CIA does not prevent any responsible authority or other person making 
representations on an application for the grant or variation of a licence on the grounds that the 
premises will give rise to a negative cumulative impact on one or more of the licensing objectives, 
However, in each case it would be incumbent on the person making the representation to provide 
relevant evidence of cumulative impact. 

14.43 As noted above, CIAs may apply to the impact of a concentration of any licensed premises, 
including those licensed for the sale of alcohol on or off the premises, and premises licensed to 
provide late night refreshment. When establishing its evidence base for publishing a CIA, licensing 
authorities should be considering the contribution to cumulative impact made by different types of 
premises within its area, in order to determine the appropriateness of including different types of 
licensed premises within the CIA. 

… 

Other mechanisms for controlling cumulative impact 

Page 331



14.47 Once away from the licensed premises, a minority of consumers will behave badly. To 
enable the general public to appreciate the breadth of the strategy for addressing these problems, 
statements of policy should also indicate the other mechanisms both within and outside the 
licensing regime that are available for addressing such issues. For example: 

 planning control; 
 positive measures to create a safe and clean town centre environment in partnership with local 

businesses, transport operators and other departments of the local authority, including best 
practise schemes such as Best Bar None, Pubwatch or BIDs; 

 Community Protection Notices; 
 the provision of CCTV surveillance in town centres, taxi ranks, provision of public conveniences 

open late at night, street cleaning and litter patrols; 
 powers of local authorities to designate parts of the local authority area as places where alcohol 

may not be consumed publicly; 
 the confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas; 
 police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and anti-social behaviour, including 

the issuing of fixed penalty notices; 
 prosecution for the offence of selling alcohol to a person who is drunk (or allowing such a sale); 
 Raising a contribution to policing the late night economy through the Late Night Levy. 
 Early Morning Alcohol Restriction Orders (see Chapter 17). 

14.48 As part of its licensing policy statement, the licensing authority may also wish to consider the 
use of alternative approaches such as fixed closing times, staggered closing times and zoning. 
Such policy restrictions would need to be evidence-based and would be subject to the merits of 
each case in accordance with what is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. The 
licensing authority would be expected to justify the use of such measures as an appropriate means 
of managing problems in its area. 

… 

Licensing hours 

14.51 With regard to licensing hours, the Government acknowledges that different licensing 
approaches may be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in different areas. The 
2003 Act gives the licensing authority power to make decisions regarding licensed opening hours 
as part of the implementation of its licensing policy statement and licensing authorities are best 
placed to make such decisions based on their local knowledge and in consultation with other 
responsible authorities. However, licensing authorities must always consider each application and 
must not impose predetermined licensed opening hours, without giving individual consideration to 
the merits of each application. 

14.52 Statements of licensing policy should set out the licensing authority’s approach regarding 
licensed opening hours and the strategy it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives in its area. The statement of licensing policy should emphasise the consideration which 
will be given to the individual merits of an application. The Government recognises that licensed 
premises make an important contribution to our local communities, and has given councils a range 
of tools to effectively manage the different pressures that licensed premises can bring. In 
determining appropriate strategies around licensed opening hours, licensing authorities cannot 

Page 332



seek to restrict the activities of licensed premises where it is not appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives to do so. 

Children 

14.53 It is an offence under the 2003 Act to: 

 permit children under the age of 16 who are not accompanied by an adult to be present on 
premises being used exclusively or primarily for supply of alcohol for consumption on those 
premises under the authorisation of a premises licence, club premises certificate or where that 
activity is carried on under the authority of a TEN; and 

 to permit the presence of children under 16 who are not accompanied by an adult between 
midnight and 5am at other premises supplying alcohol for consumption on the premises under 
the authority of any premises licence, club premises certificate or TEN. 

14.54 Outside of these hours, the offence does not prevent the admission of unaccompanied 
children under 16 to the wide variety of premises where the consumption of alcohol is not the 
exclusive or primary activity. This does not mean that children should automatically be admitted to 
such premises and the following paragraphs are therefore of great importance notwithstanding the 
offences under the 2003 Act. The expression ‘exclusively or primarily’ should be given its ordinary 
and natural meaning in the context of the particular circumstances. 

14.55 Where it is not clear that the business is predominately for the sale and consumption of 
alcohol, operators and enforcement agencies should seek to clarify the position before 
enforcement action is taken. Mixed businesses may be more difficult to classify and in such cases 
operators and enforcement agencies should consult where appropriate about their respective 
interpretations of the activities taking place on the premises before any moves are taken which 
might lead to prosecution. 

14.56 The 2003 Act does not automatically permit unaccompanied children under the age of 18 to 
have free access to premises where the consumption of alcohol is not the exclusive or primary 
activity or to the same premises even if they are accompanied, or to premises where the 
consumption of alcohol is not involved. Subject only to the provisions of the 2003 Act and any 
licence or certificate conditions, admission will always be at the discretion of those managing the 
premises. The 2003 Act includes no presumption of giving children access but equally, no 
presumption of preventing their access to licensed premises. Each application and the 
circumstances of individual premises must be considered on their own merits. 

14.57 A statement of licensing policy should not seek to limit the access of children to any 
premises unless it is appropriate for the prevention of physical, moral or psychological harm to 
them (please see Chapter 2). It may not be possible for licensing policy statements to anticipate 
every issue of concern that could arise in respect of children in relation to individual premises and 
therefore the individual merits of each application should be considered in each case. 

14.58 A statement of licensing policy should make clear the range of alternatives which may be 
considered for limiting the access of children where that is appropriate for the prevention of harm 
to children. Conditions which may be relevant in this respect are outlined in paragraph 2.27. 

Page 333



14.59 Statements of policy should also make clear that conditions requiring the admission of 
children to any premises cannot be attached to licences or certificates. Where no licensing 
restriction is appropriate, this should remain a matter for the discretion of the individual licence 
holder, club or premises user. 

14.60 Venue operators seeking premises licences and club premises certificates should consider 
including such prohibitions and restrictions in their operating schedules particularly where their 
own risk assessments have determined that the presence of children is undesirable or 
inappropriate. 

Responsible authority and children 

14.61 A statement of licensing policy should indicate which body the licensing authority judges to 
be competent to act as the responsible authority in relation to the protection of children from harm. 
This may be the local authority social services department, the Local Safeguarding Children Board 
or other competent body as agreed locally. It would be practical and useful for statements of 
licensing policy to include descriptions of the responsible authorities in any area and appropriate 
contact details. 

Children and cinemas 

14.62 The statement of policy should make clear that in the case of premises giving film 
exhibitions[footnote 17], the licensing authority will expect licence holders or clubs to include in their 
operating schedules arrangements for restricting children from viewing age- restricted films 
classified according to the recommendations of the British Board of Film 

Classification or the licensing authority itself (see paragraphs 10.59 to 10.60). 

Integrating strategies 

14.63 It is recommended that statements of licensing policy should provide clear indications of how 
the licensing authority will secure the proper integration of its licensing policy with local crime 
prevention, planning, transport, tourism, equality schemes, cultural strategies and any other plans 
introduced for the management of town centres and the night-time economy. Many of these 
strategies are not directly related to the promotion of the licensing objectives, but, indirectly, impact 
upon them. Co-ordination and integration of such policies, strategies and initiatives are therefore 
important. 

Planning and building control 

Page 334

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:17


14.64 The statement of licensing policy should indicate that planning permission, building control 
approval and licensing regimes will be properly separated to avoid duplication and inefficiency. 
The planning and licensing regimes involve consideration of different (albeit related) matters. 
Licensing committees are not bound by decisions made by a planning committee, and vice versa. 
However, as set out in chapter 9, licensing committees and officers should consider discussions 
with their planning counterparts prior to determination with the aim of agreeing mutually acceptable 
operating hours and scheme designs. 

14.65 There are circumstances when, as a condition of planning permission, a terminal hour has 
been set for the use of premises for commercial purposes. Where these hours are different to the 
licensing hours, the applicant must observe the earlier closing time. Premises operating in breach 
of their planning permission would be liable to prosecution under planning law. Proper integration 
should be assured by licensing committees, where appropriate, providing regular reports to the 
planning committee. 

14.66 Where there is an application for planning permission, the National Planning Policy 
Framework expects new development can be integrated effectively with existing businesses and 
community facilities (such as places of worship, pubs, music venues and sports clubs). Existing 
businesses and facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of 
development permitted after they were established. Where the operation of an existing business or 
community facility could have a significant adverse effect on new development (including changes 
of use) in its vicinity, the applicant (or ‘agent of change’) should be required by the local planning 
authority to provide suitable mitigation before the development has been completed. 

Promotion of equality 

14.67 A statement of licensing policy should recognise that the Equality Act 2010 places a legal 
obligation on public authorities to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; to advance equality of opportunity; and to foster good relations, 
between persons with different protected characteristics. The protected characteristics are age, 
disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual 
orientation. 

14.68 Public authorities are required to publish information at least annually to demonstrate their 
compliance with the Equality Duty. The statement of licensing policy should refer to this legislation, 
and explain how the Equality Duty has been complied with. Further guidance is available from 
Government Equalities Office and the Equality and Human Rights Commission. 

Administration, exercise and delegation of functions 

14.69 The 2003 Act provides that the functions of the licensing authority (including its 
determinations) are to be taken or carried out by its licensing committee (except those relating to 
the making of a statement of licensing policy or where another of its committees has the matter 
referred to it). The licensing committee may delegate these functions to sub-committees consisting 
of three members of the committee, or in appropriate cases to officials supporting the licensing 
authority. Where licensing functions are not automatically transferred to licensing committees, the 

Page 335



functions must be carried out by the licensing authority as a whole and not by its executive. 
Statements of licensing policy should indicate how the licensing authority intends to approach its 
various functions. Many of the decisions and functions will be purely administrative in nature and 
statements of licensing policy should underline the principle of delegation in the interests of speed, 
efficiency and cost-effectiveness. 

14.70 The 2003 Act does not prevent the development by a licensing authority of collective 
working practices with other parts of the local authority or other licensing authorities for work of a 
purely administrative nature, e.g. mail-outs. In addition, such administrative tasks may be 
contracted out to private businesses. But any matters regarding licensing decisions must be 
carried out by the licensing committee, its sub-committees or officers. 

… 

16. Regulated entertainment 

Types of regulated entertainment 

16.1 Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act sets out what activities are regarded as the provision of regulated 
entertainment and when they are licensable and those activities which are not and therefore 
exempt from the regulated entertainment regime. Changes to regulated entertainment took effect 
on 6 April 2015. 

16.2 The descriptions of entertainment activities licensable under the 2003 Act are: 

 a performance of a play; 
 an exhibition of a film; 
 an indoor sporting event; 
 a boxing or wrestling entertainment; 
 a performance of live music; 
 any playing of recorded music; 
 a performance of dance; and 
 entertainment of a similar description to a performance of live music, any playing of recorded 

music or a performance of dance. 

16.3 To be licensable, one or more of these activities needs to be provided for the purpose (at 
least partly) of entertaining an audience; has to be held on premises made available for the 
purpose of enabling that activity; and must also either: 

 take place in the presence of a public audience, or 

· be provided exclusively for the members of a club or for the club members and their guests, or 

 where that activity takes place in private, be the subject of a charge made with a view to profit. 

Page 336



16.4 Guidance around what constitutes audiences and private events is at paragraphs 16.11- 
16.14. 

Overview of circumstances in which entertainment activities are not licensable 

16.5 There are a number of exemptions that mean that a licence (or other authorisation [footnote 18]) 
under the 2003 Act is not required. This Guidance cannot give examples of every eventuality or 
possible entertainment activity that is not licensable. However, the following activities are 
examples of entertainment which are not licensable: 

 activities which involve participation as acts of worship in a religious context; 
 activities in places of public religious worship; 
 education – teaching students to perform music or to dance; 
 the demonstration of a product – for example, a guitar – in a music shop; 
 the rehearsal of a play or performance of music for a private audience where no charge is made 

with a view to making a profit; 
 Morris dancing (or similar)[footnote 19]; 
 Incidental music – the performance of live music or the playing of recorded music if it is 

incidental to some other activity[footnote 20]; 
 Incidental film – an exhibition of moving pictures if it is incidental to some other activity[footnote 21]; 
 A spontaneous performance of music, singing or dancing; 
 Garden fetes – or similar if not being promoted or held for purposes of private gain; 
 Films for advertisement, information, education or in museums or art galleries; 
 Television or radio broadcasts – as long as the programme is live and simultaneous; 
 Vehicles in motion – at a time when the vehicle is not permanently or temporarily parked; 
 Games played in pubs, youth clubs etc. (e.g. pool, darts and table tennis); 
 Stand-up comedy; and 
 Provision of entertainment facilities (e.g. dance floors)[footnote 22]. 

16.6 As a result of deregulatory changes that have amended the 2003 Act[footnote 23], no licence is 
required for the following activities: 

 Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided 
that the audience does not exceed 500. 

 Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided 
that the audience does not exceed 500[footnote 24]. 

 Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in community premises 
between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day provided that the audience does not exceed 500 and the 
organiser (a) gets consent to the screening from a person who is responsible for the premises; 
and (b) ensures that each such screening abides by age classification ratings. 

 Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for an event between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 
day, provided that those present do not exceed 1000. 

 Boxing or wrestling entertainment: no licence is required for a contest, exhibition or display of 
Greco-Roman wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided 
that the audience does not exceed 1000. 

 Live music: no licence permission is required for: 
 a performance of unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, on any 

premises. 

Page 337

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:18
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:19
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:20
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:21
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:22
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:23
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:24


 a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises 
authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience 
does not exceed 500[footnote 25]. 

 a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a 
workplace[footnote 26] that does not have a licence, provided that the audience does not exceed 
500. 

 a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, 
village hall, community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a 
premises licence to sell alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) 
the organiser gets consent for the performance from a person who is responsible for the 
premises. 

 a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non-
residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) 
the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance 
on the relevant premises from: (i) the local authority concerned, or (ii) the school or (iii) the 
health care provider for the hospital. 

 Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for: 
 any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised 

to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience does not 
exceed 500[footnote 27]. 

 any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, village 
hall, community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a premises 
licence to sell alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the 
organiser gets consent for the performance from a person who is responsible for the 
premises. 

 any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non- residential 
premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the 
audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance on 
the relevant premises from: (i) the local authority concerned, or (ii) the school proprietor or 
(iii) the health care provider for the hospital. 

 Cross activity exemptions: no licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, with no 
limit on audience size for: 
 any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority where the 

entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the local authority; 
 any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health care provider where 

the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the health care provider; 
 any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school where the entertainment is 

provided by or on behalf of the school proprietor; and 
 any entertainment (excluding films and a boxing or wrestling entertainment) taking place at a 

travelling circus, provided that (a) it takes place within a moveable structure that 
accommodates the audience, and (b) that the travelling circus has not been located on the 
same site for more than 28 consecutive days. 

16.7 The deregulatory changes mean that, for example, an indoor sporting event that takes place 
between 07.00 and 23.30 on a particular day is licensable in respect of activities taking place 
between 07.00-08.00 and 23.00-23.30. Similarly, where the audience for a performance of dance 
fluctuates, those activities are licensable if, and for so long as, the number of people in the 
audience exceeds 500. If organisers are uncertain as to audience sizes or if audience migration is 
likely[footnote 28], it might be easier and more flexible to secure an appropriate authorisation. Examples 
of where a Temporary Event Notice (TEN)[footnote 29] could still be required include if the activity is the 
playing of recorded music or the exhibition of a film that requires an authorisation; or if the 
entertainment is not authorised by an existing licence or certificate and its conditions. 

Page 338

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:25
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:26
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:27
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:28
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:29


16.8 Of course, anyone involved in the organisation or provision of entertainment activities – 
whether or not any such activity is licensable under the 2003 Act – must comply with any 
applicable duties that may be imposed by other legislation relevant to the event (e.g. in areas such 
as crime and disorder, fire, health and safety, noise, nuisance and planning).[footnote 30] Any such 
person should take steps to be aware of relevant best practice, and may find responsible 
authorities a useful source of expert support and advice. 

16.9 The various effects of the changes made to entertainment licensing by the set of deregulatory 
changes between 2012 and 2015[footnote 31] are described in greater detail in subsequent paragraphs: 

 Music entertainment, see in particular paragraphs: 16.20-16.21; 16.26-16.33; and 16.36-16.44; 
 Plays, dance, and indoor sporting events, see in particular paragraphs: 16.34-16.35 and 16.45-

16.48; 
 Local authority, hospital and school premises, see in particular paragraphs: 16.16- 16.20 
 Community premises, see in particular paragraphs: 16.21-16.24 
 Circuses, see in particular paragraph 16.25 
 Boxing or wrestling entertainment, see in particular paragraphs: 16.49-16.51. 

General circumstances in which entertainment activities are licensable 

16.10 An authorisation for regulated entertainment is always required for entertainment activities 
that take place before 08.00 or after 23.00, unless exempted under any other provision of the 2003 
Act, as amended[footnote 32]. 

Audience 

16.11 For the purposes of regulated entertainment, the term “audience” refers to any person for 
whose entertainment (at least in part) any licensable activities are provided. An audience member 
need not be, or want to be, entertained: what matters is that an audience is present[footnote 33] and that 
the purpose of the licensable activity is (at least in part) intended to entertain any person 
present[footnote 34]. The audience will not include performers, together with any person who contributes 
technical skills in substantial support of a performer (for example, a sound engineer or stage 
technician), during any associated activities. This includes setting up before the entertainment, 
reasonable breaks (including intervals) between activities and packing up thereafter. Similarly, 
security staff and bar workers will not form part of the audience while undertaking their duties. 

16.12 More than one entertainment activity (or for a single activity, more than one performance or 
event) can be held concurrently, provided that the audience for each such performance or event 
does not exceed the threshold at which such a performance or event becomes licensable. In some 
circumstances, there will be a clear distinction between performances or events; for example, their 
taking place in separate rooms or on separate floors. However, organisers will have to ensure that 
audiences do not grow or migrate, so that the audience exceeds the relevant limit for any one 
performance or event at any time. If there is the possibility of audience migration, it might be easier 
and more flexible to secure an appropriate authorisation. 

Private events 

16.13 Events held in private are not licensable unless those attending are charged for the 
entertainment with a view to making a profit (including raising money for charity). For example, 

Page 339

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:30
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:31
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:32
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:33
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:34


where a party is held for friends in a private dwelling featuring amplified live music, if a charge or 
contribution is made solely to cover the costs of the entertainment, the activity is not regulated 
entertainment. Similarly, any charge made to the organiser of a private event by musicians, other 
performers, or their agents does not of itself make that entertainment licensable – it would only do 
so if the guests attending were themselves charged by the organiser for that entertainment with a 
view to achieving a profit. The fact that this might inadvertently result in the organiser making a 
profit would be irrelevant, as long as there had not been an intention to make a profit. 

16.14 Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act also makes it clear that before entertainment is regarded as 
being provided for consideration, a charge has to be: 

 made by or on behalf of a person concerned with the organisation or management of the 
entertainment; and 

 paid by or on behalf of some or all of the persons for whom the entertainment is provided. 

Circumstances in which entertainment activities are no longer licensable 

16.15 No licence is required for certain entertainment activities on specified premises, as follows: 

Local authorities, hospital healthcare providers and school proprietors: cross-
entertainment activity exemption 

16.16 No licence is required for any entertainment provided by or on behalf of a local authority, 
health care provider, or school proprietor to the extent that it takes place on defined premises, 
between 08.00-23.00 on any day provided that: 

 for entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a local authority it takes places on premises in 
which that authority has a relevant property interest, or is in lawful occupation; 

 for entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a health care provider it takes place on any 
premises forming part of a hospital in which the provider has a relevant property interest, or is in 
lawful occupation; and 

 for entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a school proprietor it takes place on the premises 
of the school. 

16.17 This Guidance cannot give examples of every eventuality where entertainment is not 
licensable under this exemption through being provided “by or on behalf of”. It will depend on the 
facts in each case. However, the following are examples of activities that are not usually 
considered to be licensable under this exemption: 

 Any entertainment activity hosted by a local authority on their own premises, where there is a 
significant relationship between the local authority and the provider of the entertainment (e.g. 
principal and agent); 

 Any entertainment activity organised on a local authority’s behalf on that local authority’s 
premises by a cultural trust in discharge of a local authority’s discretionary power to arrange 
entertainment provision and support for the arts, including festivals and celebrations. 

 Any entertainment activity organised by a healthcare provider on their own hospital premises in 
partnership with a hospital charity; 

 Any entertainment event on school premises organised by the Parent Teacher Association 
(PTA) to benefit the school. 

Page 340



16.18 It is for the local authority, health care provider or school proprietor to determine whether, 
and on what basis, they can (or wish) to provide entertainment activity under this exemption, 
including consideration of issues around fundraising, profit making, governance or use of public 
funds. However a pure hire of premises by a third party[footnote 35] does not constitute the provision of 
an entertainment event “on behalf of” a local authority, healthcare provider, or school proprietor 
and nor does commercial entertainment which the local authority[footnote 36] merely facilitates through 
providing a public space[footnote 37]. 

16.19 All the terms used in this exemption, such as “local authority”, “health care”, “health care 
provider”, “hospital”, “school”, “school premises”, “school proprietor”, “domestic premises” and 
“relevant property interest” are defined in the 2014 Order[footnote 38]. 

Local authority, hospital and school premises: third party music entertainment 

16.20 No licence is required for a performance of live music or the playing of recorded music on 
local authority, hospital or school premises, that are not domestic premises, between 08.00-23.00 
on any day provided that: 

 it is performed in front of an audience of no more than 500 people; and 
 a person concerned in the organisation or management of the music entertainment has 

obtained the prior written consent[footnote 39] of the local authority, health care provider or school 
proprietor (as appropriate) for that entertainment to take place. It is for these “trusted providers” 
to determine whether, or not, they wish to make their premises available for music 
entertainment by a 3rd party and on what terms they deem it appropriate. 

Community premises: music entertainment 

16.21 No licence is required for a performance of live music or the playing of recorded music on 
community premises[footnote 40], between 08.00-23.00 on any day provided that: 

 the community premises are not authorised, by a premises licence or club premises certificate, 
to be used for the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises[footnote 41]; 

 the music entertainment is in the presence of an audience of no more than 500 people; and 
 a person concerned in the organisation or management of the music entertainment has 

obtained the prior written consent[footnote 42] of the management committee of the premises, or if 
there is no management committee, a person who has control of the premises in connection 
with the carrying on by that person of a trade, business or other undertaking, or failing that a 
person with a relevant property interest in the premises. 

Community premises: exhibition of film 

16.22 No licence[footnote 43] is required for an exhibition of a film on community premises[footnote 

44] between 08.00-23.00 on any day provided that: 

 the film entertainment is not provided with a view to profit[footnote 45]; 
 the film entertainment is in the presence of an audience of no more than 500 people; 
 the admission of children is subject to such restrictions as are necessary to comply with the 

recommendation issued by the BBFC or relevant licensing authority regarding the admission of 
children; and 

 a person concerned in the organisation or management of the exhibition of the film has 
obtained the prior written consent[footnote 46] of the management committee of the premises, or if 
there is no management committee, a person who has control of the premises in connection 

Page 341

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:35
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:36
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:37
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:38
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:39
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:40
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:41
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:42
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:43
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:44
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:44
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:45
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:46


with the carrying on by that person of a trade, business or other undertaking, or failing that a 
person with a relevant property interest in the premises. 

16.23 Under this exemption, one condition is that the film entertainment is not being provided with 
a view to profit[footnote 47]. An entry charge does not of itself make the film entertainment licensable; it 
is whether the organiser intended to make a profit (that includes raising money for charity). A 
charge or contribution that is made solely to cover the costs of the film screening[footnote 48] is 
consistent with ‘not being provided with a view to profit’. The ‘not with a view to profit’ condition 
applies solely to the activity of exhibiting the film under this exemption. A charge with a view to 
making a profit may legitimately be levied for any other activity or event that is distinct from film 
admission, such as the provision of refreshments, film talks, or a social event. 

16.24 This community film exemption is also conditional on those responsible having in place 
operating arrangements that ensure that the age rating for the film is implemented by means of a 
suitable child admission policy[footnote 49]. How this is achieved is a matter for the organisation or social 
group exhibiting the film. For example, they may operate a membership subscription scheme 
which pays for entry to all titles in a season and is limited to adults. It could be a children’s film club 
with a policy of only showing films that are suitable for all by being rated ‘U’ by the BBFC. 
Alternatively, the organisers could sell tickets to the public and ensure that children are only 
permitted to attend in accordance with any age rating for the film – i.e. a door admissions policy 
linked to proof of age. 

Travelling circuses 

16.25 Where types of entertainment are present in a performance by a travelling circus [footnote 50] they 
will not be licensable provided that certain qualifying conditions are met[footnote 51]. The qualifying 
conditions are that: 

 the entertainment is not an exhibition of a film or a boxing or wrestling entertainment; 
 the entertainment takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day; 
 the entertainment takes place wholly within a moveable structure and the audience present is 

accommodated wholly inside that moveable structure; and 
 the travelling circus has not been located on the same site for more than 28 consecutive days. 

Live music 

16.26 Live music is licensable: 

 where a performance of live music – whether amplified or unamplified – takes place before 
08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; 

 where a performance of amplified live music does not take place either on relevant licensed 
premises, or at a workplace that is not licensed other than for the provision of late night 
refreshment; 

 where a performance of amplified live music takes place at a time when the relevant licensed 
premises are not open for the purposes of being used for the sale or supply of alcohol for 
consumption on the premises[footnote 52]; 

 where a performance of amplified live music takes place at relevant licensed premises, or 
workplaces[footnote 53], in the presence of an audience of more than 500 people[footnote 54]; or 

 where a licensing authority intentionally removes the effect of the deregulation provided for by 
the 2003 Act when imposing a condition on a premises licence or club premises certificate as a 
result of a licence review[footnote 55]. 

Page 342

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:47
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:48
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:49
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:50
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:51
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:52
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:53
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:54
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:55


16.27 In any of the above circumstances, unless the performance of live music is appropriately 
authorised by a premises licence, club premises certificate or TEN, allowing it to take place could 
lead to enforcement action and, where relevant, a review of the alcohol licence or certificate. 

16.28 A public performance of live unamplified music that takes place between 08.00 and 

23.00 on the same day no longer requires a licence under the 2003 Act in any location. An 
exception to this is where a specific condition related to live music is included following a review of 
the premises licence or club premises certificate in respect of relevant licensed premises. 

16.29 As a result of the amendments to the 2003 Act, section 177 of the 2003 Act now only applies 
to performances of dance[footnote 56]. 

Key terms used in relation to live music 

16.30 Under the live music provisions, “music” includes vocal or instrumental music or any 
combination of the two. “Live music” is a performance of live music in the presence of an audience 
which it is intended to entertain. While a performance of live music can include the playing of some 
recorded music, ‘live’ music requires that the performance does not consist entirely of the playing 
of recorded music without any additional (substantial and continual) creative contribution being 
made. So, for example, a drum machine or backing track being used to accompany a vocalist[footnote 

57] or a band would be part of the performance of amplified live music. The performance of a DJ 
who is merely playing tracks would not be classified as live music, but it might if he or she was 
performing a set which largely consisted of mixing recorded music in a live performance to create 
new sounds[footnote 58]. There will inevitably be a degree of judgement as to whether a performance is 
live music (or recorded music) and organisers of events should check with their licensing authority 
if this consideration is relevant to whether the activity is authorised by a licence or certificate. In the 
event of a dispute about whether a performance is live music or not, it will be for the licensing 
authority initially and ultimately, for the courts to decide in the individual circumstances of any 
case. 

16.31 A “workplace” is as defined in regulation 2(1) of the Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) 
Regulations 1992 and is anywhere that is made available to any person as a place of work. It is a 
very wide term which can include outdoor spaces, as well as the means of entry and exit. 

16.32 A “relevant licensed premises” for the purposes of this chapter is one which is authorised to 
sell or supply alcohol for consumption on the premises by a premises licence or club premises 
certificate. Premises cannot benefit from the deregulation introduced by the 2012 Act by virtue of 
holding an authorisation for the sale or supply of alcohol under a TEN.[footnote 59] 

Recorded music 

16.33 No licence is required for recorded music where it takes place on premises which are 
authorised by a premises licence or club premises certificate to be used for the supply of alcohol 
for consumption on the premises. However, recorded music remains licensable: 

 where the playing of recorded music takes places before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; 
 where the playing of recorded music takes place at a time when the relevant licensed premises 

are not open for the purposes of being used for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on 
the premises;[footnote 60] 

 where the playing of recorded music takes place at relevant licensed premises in the presence 
of an audience of more than 500 people; and 

Page 343

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:56
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:57
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:57
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:58
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:59
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:60


 where a licensing authority intentionally removes the effect of the deregulation provided for by 
the 2003 Act (as amended).[footnote 61] 

Plays and dance 

16.34 No licence is required for a performance of a play or dance to the extent that certain 
qualifying conditions[footnote 62] are satisfied. However a performance of a play or dance remains 
licensable: 

 where the performance takes places before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; or 
 where the performance takes place in the presence of an audience of more than 500 people. 

Indoor Sport 

16.35 No licence is required for an indoor sporting event to the extent that certain qualifying 
conditions[footnote 63] are satisfied. However an indoor sporting event remains licensable: 

 where the event takes places before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; 
 where the event takes place in the presence of more than 1000 spectators. 

Licence conditions 

Live Music or recorded music 

16.36 Any existing licence conditions[footnote 64] (or conditions added on a determination of an 
application for a premises licence or club premises certificate[footnote 65]) which relate to live music or 
recorded music remain in place, but are suspended between the hours of 

08.00 and 23.00 on the same day where the following conditions are met: 

 at the time of the music entertainment, the premises are open for the purposes of being used 
for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises; 

 if the music is amplified, it takes place before an audience of no more than 500 people; and 
 the music takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day. 

16.37 Whether a licence condition relates to live or recorded music will be a matter of fact in each 
case. In some instances, it will be obvious that a condition relates to music and will be suspended, 
for example “during performances of live music all doors and windows must remain closed”. In 
other instances, it might not be so obvious: for example, a condition stating “during performances 
of regulated entertainment all doors and windows must remain closed” would be suspended 
insofar as it relates to music between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day to an audience of up to 
500, but the condition would continue to apply if there was regulated entertainment after 23.00. 

16.38 More general licence conditions (e.g. those relating to overall management of potential noise 
nuisance) that are not specifically related to the provision of entertainment (e.g. signage asking 
patrons to leave quietly) will continue to have effect. 

16.39 Chapter 9 of this Guidance sets out how a licensing authority must determine applications 
for a new licence or to vary an existing premises licence. Licence conditions imposed, in 

Page 344

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:61
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:62
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:63
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:64
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:65


accordance with paragraphs 9.42 to 9.44, for live or recorded music activities will only apply if the 
activity meets the criteria of having more than 500 people present, and/or the activities are taking 
place between 23.00 and 08.00. 

16.40 These conditions will, in effect, be suspended between 08.00 and 23.00 if a performance of 
live music or the playing of recorded music takes place before an audience of 500 people or fewer, 
but will remain on the face of the licence for when these activities may take place under other 
circumstances. 

16.41 Where a performance of live music or the playing of recorded music on relevant licensed 
premises is not licensable, it remains possible for anyone to apply for a review of a licence or 
certificate, if there are appropriate grounds to do so.[footnote 66] 

Beer gardens 

16.42 Beer gardens are often included as part of a premises licence or club premises certificate. 
Live amplified music that takes place in a beer garden is exempt from licensing requirements, 
provided the beer garden is included in the licence or certificate applying to the relevant licensed 
premises, and the performance takes place between 

08.00 and 23.00 on the same day before an audience of 500 people or fewer. 

16.43 Where a beer garden does not form part of the relevant licensed premises and so is not 
included in plans attached to a premises licence or club premises certificate, it is nevertheless very 
likely that it will be a workplace[footnote 67]. Paragraph 12B of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act says that a 
performance of live music in a workplace that does not have a licence (except to provide late night 
refreshment) is not regulated entertainment if it takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same 
day in front of an audience of no more than 500 people. Note that the exemption in paragraph 12B 
does not apply to the playing of recorded music. 

16.44 However, a licensing authority may, where justified[footnote 68], impose a licence condition that 
relates to the performance of live music in an unlicensed beer garden being served by any 
associated premises licence or club premises certificate. Provided such a condition is lawfully 
imposed, it takes effect in accordance with its terms. 

Plays, dance and indoor sport 

16.45 Where qualifying conditions are satisfied[footnote 69], any current licence condition that relates to 
a performance of a play or dance, or an indoor sporting event for which a licence is no longer 
required will (except in the circumstances described in the next paragraph) have no effect. 

16.46 Where, however, these non-licensable activities take place at the same time as other 
activities for which a licence is required (e.g. the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the 
premises), conditions included in a licence may nevertheless apply to the non-licensable activities 
in the circumstances set out in paragraphs 16.52 and 16.53 (conditions relating to other non-
licensable activities). 

16.47 Dance that is sufficiently sexual in nature continues to be regulated. Performances of dance 
which are “relevant entertainment” within the meaning of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 (“the 1982 Act”) are not deregulated, regardless of the size of the audience or 
the time of day. “Relevant entertainment” is defined in the 1982 Act as a live performance or live 

Page 345

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:66
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:67
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:68
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:69


display of nudity that, ignoring financial gain, can be assumed to be provided solely or principally 
for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the audience.[footnote 70] 

16.48 In almost all cases where a performance of dance is potentially licensable as both the 
provision of relevant entertainment (under the 1982 Act) and regulated entertainment (under the 
2003 Act), the 1982 Act disapplies the entertainment licensing regime in the 2003 Act in favour of 
its stricter regime for the control of sex establishments. However, an authorisation under the 2003 
Act rather than the 1982 Act will continue to be required where: 

 the premises are not licensed as a sex entertainment venue under the 1982 Act, and 
 relevant entertainment has been provided at those premises on no more than 11 occasions in 

any 12 month period, with none of those occasions lasting longer than 24 hours or taking place 
within a month of any other such occasion. 

Boxing or wrestling entertainment and conditions relating to combined fighting sports 

16.49 An indoor boxing or wrestling entertainment cannot also be an indoor sporting event, and 
any contest, exhibition or display that combines boxing or wrestling with one or more martial arts 
(‘combined fighting sports’) is – whether indoors or not – a boxing or wrestling entertainment. 

16.50 Where a premises licence or club premises certificate purports to authorise a boxing or 
wrestling entertainment or combined fighting sports as an ‘indoor sporting event’, the 2013 Order 
provides that the authorisation will be treated as having authorised those activities as a boxing or 
wrestling entertainment. Those activities will continue to be subject to any relevant conditions 
attached to that authorisation. 

16.51 A contest, exhibition or display of Greco-Roman wrestling, or of freestyle wrestling, between 
two participants (regardless of their sex) does not require a licence provided that certain qualifying 
conditions are met. They are that: 

 it takes place in the presence of no more than 1,000 spectators; 
 it takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day; and 
 it take place wholly inside a building and the spectators present at that entertainment are 

accommodated wholly inside that building. 

Conditions relating to other non-licensable activities 

16.52 If appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives, and if there is a link to remaining 
licensable activities, conditions that relate to non-licensable activities can be added to or altered on 
that premises licence or club premises certificate at review following problems occurring at the 
premises. This has been a feature of licence conditions since the 2003 Act came into force. A 
relevant example could be the use of conditions relating to large screen broadcasts of certain 
sporting events which, combined with alcohol consumption, could create a genuine risk to the 
promotion of the licensing objectives. It is also not uncommon for licence conditions relating to the 
sale of alcohol to restrict access to outside areas, such as unlicensed beer gardens, after a certain 
time. 

16.53 Similarly, while karaoke no longer needs licensing as the provision of entertainment 
facilities[footnote 71] (and will generally be classed as a performance of live music[footnote 72]) it might, for 
example, be possible on review to limit the use or volume of a microphone made available for 
customers on an ‘open-mic’ night (which encompasses more than just live music), if a problem had 
occurred because of customers purchasing alcohol for consumption on the premises becoming 

Page 346

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:70
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:71
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:72


louder and less aware of causing noise nuisance later in the evening. Another example might be a 
condition restricting access to a dance floor at certain times, where the presence of customers in 
close proximity who had been consuming alcohol on the premises had led to serious disorder. In 
the first instance it is for the licensing authority to satisfy itself that a particular condition is 
appropriate and lawful in each case. 

Removing licence conditions 

16.54 A licence holder who wishes to remove conditions relating to activities that are no longer 
licensable[footnote 73] may apply to the licensing authority for a licence variation. In the course of 
considering such applications, licensing authorities should remove such conditions unless there 
are sufficiently serious and specific concerns about the effects of hosting deregulated 
entertainment activities along with the remaining licensable activities taking place in the premises. 

Licence reviews: Live and recorded music 

16.55 On a review of a premises licence or club premises certificate, section 177A(3) of the 2003 
Act permits a licensing authority to lift the suspension[footnote 74] and give renewed effect to an existing 
condition relating to music. Similarly, under section 177A(4), a licensing authority may add a 
condition relating to music as if music were regulated entertainment, and as if that premises 
licence or club premises certificate licensed the music. In both instances the condition should 
include a statement that Section 177A does not apply to the condition. 

16.56 An application for a review in relation to relevant premises can be made by a licensing 
authority, any responsible authority or any other person. Applications for review must still be 
relevant to one or more of the licensing objectives and meet a number of further requirements [footnote 

75]. 

Incidental music 

16.57 The performance of live music or playing of recorded music is not regulated entertainment 
under the 2003 Act if it is ‘incidental’ to another activity “which is not itself a description of 
entertainment falling within paragraph 2” of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act. 

16.58 The incidental music exemption can apply to an indoor sporting event or a performance of a 
play or dance for which no licence is required, as it takes place between 08.00 and 

23.00 on the same day and before an audience which does not exceed the relevant limit. This is 
because such an activity is no longer a description of entertainment within the meaning of 
paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act. This means that, while a performance of live music or 
the playing of recorded music cannot be incidental to a boxing or wrestling entertainment [footnote 

76] such music may be within the scope of the incidental music exemption for an indoor sporting 
event or performance of a play or dance for which no licence is required. 

16.59 Whether or not music is “incidental” to another activity will depend on the facts of each case. 
In considering whether or not live or recorded music is incidental, one relevant factor could be 

Page 347

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:73
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:74
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:75
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:75
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:76
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:76


whether, against a background of the other activities already taking place, the addition of music will 
create the potential to undermine the promotion of one or more of the four licensing objectives of 
the 2003 Act. Other factors might include some or all of the following: 

 Is the music the main, or one of the main, reasons for people attending the premises and being 
charged? 

 Is the music advertised as the main attraction? 
 Does the volume of the music disrupt or predominate over other activities, or could it be 

described as ‘background’ music? 

16.60 Conversely, factors which would not normally be relevant in themselves include: 

 the number of musicians, e.g. an orchestra providing incidental music at a large exhibition; 
 whether musicians are paid; 
 whether the performance is pre-arranged; and 
 whether a charge is made for admission to the premises. 

16.61 In any disputed case, it will be for the licensing authority initially and, ultimately, for the 
courts to consider whether music is “incidental” in the individual circumstances of any case. 

Busking 

16.62 Busking or street performance is the practice of performing in public spaces for money. 
Performances are not limited to music or singing and can take the form of a wide range of activities 
that people find entertaining. 

16.63 Busking is generally not licensable under the 2003 Act as: 

 it often occurs in a place that is not a premises made available (at least in part) for the purposes 
of providing entertainment[footnote 77]; 

 the entertainment is usually incidental to another activity, such as shopping or sightseeing, as 
there are few circumstances in which anyone would go out specifically to watch buskers; and 

 any unamplified live music is not licensable between 08.00 and 23.00[footnote 78]. 

16.64 Local authorities may have policies on busking, including codes of conduct or permit 
regimes and occasionally byelaws and legislation specific to a local authority – although many 
localities have no policy or restrictions. 

Incidental film 

16.65 An exhibition of a film within the meaning of paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act is 
not regulated entertainment if it is ‘incidental’ to another activity “which is not itself a description of 
entertainment falling within paragraph 2” of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act. 

Page 348

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:77
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:78


16.66 The incidental film exemption can apply to an indoor sporting event or a performance of a 
play or dance for which no licence is required as it takes place between 08.00 and 

23.00 on the same day before an audience which does not exceed the relevant limit. Such 
activities would no longer be a description of entertainment within the meaning of paragraph 2 of 
Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act. This means that, while any exhibition of moving pictures cannot be 
incidental to a boxing or wrestling entertainment[footnote 79], such film displays may be within the scope 
of the incidental film exemption for an indoor sporting event or performance of a play or dance for 
which no licence is required.[footnote 80] 

16.67 Whether or not an exhibition of moving pictures is “incidental” to another activity will depend 
on the facts of each case. In considering whether or not film is incidental, one relevant factor could 
be whether, against a background of the other activities already taking place, the addition of an 
exhibition of moving images will create the potential to undermine the promotion of one or more of 
the four licensing objectives of the 2003 Act. This would mean that if the BBFC or the relevant 
licensing authority has given an age rating to a film, video, or music video, then to qualify for the 
“incidental film” licensing exemption, the admission of children to the premises will need to be 
restricted in accordance with the appropriate age rating. But that is one aspect of one relevant 
factor. Other factors to consider in assessing whether film is incidental might include some or all of 
the following: 

 Is the film the main, or one of the main, reasons for people attending the premises and being 
charged? 

 Is the film advertised as the main attraction? 
 Does the screening of the film predominate over other activities, or could it be described as 

‘background’ images? 
 Does the appearance of moving pictures within another entertainment activity, for which no 

licence is required (e.g. a performance of a play or dance[footnote 81]), undermine the promotion of 
the licensing objectives? 

16.68 In any disputed case, it will be for the licensing authority initially and, ultimately, for the 
courts to consider whether film is “incidental” in the individual circumstances of any case. 

Entertainment activity provided as part of childcare 

16.69 Entertainment activity that is provided as part of childcare will generally not be licensable. 
This includes entertainment activity in a nursery or private home. In addition, paragraph 5 of 
Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act includes a licensing exemption for an exhibition of a film where the 
main purpose is to provide education. Education will generally include all forms of pre-school child 
and day care. Furthermore, an exhibition of a film, or the playing of live or recorded music, will 
generally be incidental to the activity of childcare and so the incidental music and film exemption in 
paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 will also apply[footnote 82]. This will generally be the case for any 
entertainment activity organised as part of wraparound childcare[footnote 83], including breakfast clubs, 
after school clubs or holiday clubs linked to the child’s school or based in the local community. 

Other Licensing regimes 

Page 349

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:79
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:80
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:81
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:82
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:83


Copyright 

16.70 The deregulation of licensing for the provision of entertainment under the 2003 Act does not 
remove the requirement for licences for the use of copyright works. Entertainment activities as 
described in paragraph 16.2 may require music and screening licences for example. The 
acquisition of such licences will make the entertainment compliant with the Copyright, Designs and 
Patents Act 1988.[footnote 84] 

Leafleting 

16.71 The deregulation of entertainment licensing does not remove the prohibition on the 
unauthorised distribution of free printed matter in an area that has been designated under 
Schedule 3A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990[footnote 85]. The organisers of the event or 
entertainment may need to obtain consent from the relevant principal litter authority before giving 
out free printed promotional material (leaflets, flyers, cards etc.) in a public place in certain areas. 

Child performers 

16.72 Child performance legislation[footnote 86] requires that a licence must be obtained from a child’s 
home local authority before a child can take part in certain types of performance and activities. A 
licence may be required whether or not any payment is made for the child to perform. The 
deregulation of entertainment licensing does not alter the regulations on when children can take 
part in performances[footnote 87]. 

17. Early morning alcohol restriction orders 

General 

17.1 This chapter provides guidance to licensing authorities about Early Morning Alcohol 
Restriction Orders (“EMROs”). The power conferred on licensing authorities to make, vary or 
revoke an EMRO (or propose to take any of these steps) is set out in sections 172A to 172E of the 
2003 Act. The exercise of the licensing authority’s functions may be delegated by its committee to 
a sub-committee, other than the decision to make, vary or revoke an EMRO (which is exercised by 
its full council). This power enables a licensing authority to prohibit the sale of alcohol for a 
specified time period between the hours of 12am and 6am in the whole or part of its area, if it is 
satisfied that this would be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

17.2 EMROs are designed to address recurring problems such as high levels of alcohol- related 
crime and disorder in specific areas at specific times; serious public nuisance; and other instances 
of alcohol-related anti-social behaviour which is not directly attributable to specific premises. 

17.3 An EMRO: 

 applies to the supply of alcohol authorised by premises licences, club premises certificates and 
temporary event notices; 

Page 350

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:84
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:85
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:86
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003/revised-guidance-issued-under-section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-december-2022-accessible#fn:87


 applies for any period beginning at or after 12am and ending at or before 6am. It does not have 
to apply on every day of the week, and can apply for different time periods on different days of 
the week; 

 applies for a limited or unlimited period (for example, an EMRO could be introduced for a few 
weeks to apply to a specific event); 

 applies to the whole or any part of the licensing authority’s area; 
 will not apply to any premises on New Year’s Eve (defined as 12am to 6am on 1 January each 

year); 
 will not apply to the supply of alcohol by those who provide hotel or similar accommodation to 

their residents between 12 am and 6am, provided the alcohol is sold at those times only 
through mini-bars and/or room service; and 

 will not apply to a relaxation of licensing hours by virtue of an order made under section 172 of 
the 2003 Act. 

… 

Page 351



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
Licensing Act 2003 

 

Licensing Policy Statement 

 
All enquiries should be directed to: 
 

Licensing Section 
Municipal Offices 
Promenade 
CHELTENHAM 
GL50 9SA 
Tel: 01242 775200 
E-mail: licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk 
Website: www.cheltenham.gov.uk 
 
 

This Policy was approved December 2015. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 353

file:///C:/Local%20Settings/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk
http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/


 2 

Draft LA2003 Policy Index 
 

   Page 

Policy Vision Statement 4 

1. Introduction  5 

Licensing Principles, Process & Scope 6 

Scope 7 

Licensing Objectives 7 

Consultation  8 

Duration and Review 8 

  

2. The Borough of Cheltenham  9 

  

3. Licensing Process – Making an Application  10 

Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates 10 

Operating Schedule 10 

Guidance on Operating Schedules 
 
a) Crime and disorder 
b) Public safety 
c) Public nuisance 
d) Protection of children from harm 

11 

Plans 16 

  

4. Determination of Applications   

Delegated Functions  18 

  

Unopposed Applications  19 

Opposed Applications 19 

Representations 19 

Appeals 20 
  

5. Temporary Events Notices 21 

  

6. Integrating Strategies & Specific Policies  23 

Encouraging Diversity in the Night-time Economy 
Management of Licensed Premises 
Promoting safe drinking limits 
Shops Selling Alcohol (Off Licences) 

24 
25 
30 
32 

  

7. Film Classifications   34 

  

8. Events on Council Land 35 

  

9. Enforcement  36 

  

Appendix A – Statutory Consultees  37 

Appendix B – Statutory Responsible Authority  38 

Appendix C - Pool of Model Conditions 41 

Appendix D – Designated Area of Concern  55 

Page 354



 3 

Policy Vision Statement 
 
We want Cheltenham to be a safe and clean town that offers a greater diversity in the 
night time economy that is less focused on alcohol and protects the quality of life for 
residents. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 355



 4 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This Licensing Policy Statement (“policy”) has been produced in accordance 

with the requirements of the Licensing Act 2003 (“the Act”) and is in line with 
guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act. Section 5 (as amended) of the 
Act requires Cheltenham Borough Council (“the council”), acting in its 
capacity as the Licensing Authority to prepare and publish a statement of its 
licensing policy at least every five years. 

 
1.2 .. 
 
1.3 The main purpose of this policy is to provide clarity to applicants, responsible 

authorities, elected Members and other persons on how the council will 
determine applications for the sale/supply of alcohol, the provision of 
regulated entertainment and the provision of late night refreshment and also 
to provide a basis for all licensing decisions taken by the council over the next 
five years. It will also inform elected Members of the parameters within which 
licensing decisions can be made. 

 
1.4 An effective licensing policy, alongside other initiatives, will work towards 

promoting the positive aspects of deregulation under the Act, such as 
promoting tourism, increasing leisure provision and encouraging the 
regeneration of the town centre as well as controlling the negative impacts 
such as increase in noise, nuisance, anti-social behaviour and crime and 
disorder. 

 
1.5 Other matters also taken into account in formulating this policy: 
 

a) Cheltenham Borough Council’s corporate strategy and outcomes. 
b) Local planning policy in particular the Joint Core Strategy and the 

Cheltenham Plan. 
c) Gloucestershire’s Police and Crime Plan. 
d) Section 182 statutory guidance. 

 
1.6 Licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the general control of 

nuisance and anti-social behaviour by individuals once they are away from 
licensed premises and, therefore, beyond the direct control of the individual 
licensees. There are a range of mechanisms including: 

 
a) Planning controls; 
b) Positive measures to create a safe and clean town centre environment 

in partnership with local businesses, transport operators and other 
departments of the local authority, including the provision of Closed 
Circuit Television (CCTV); 

c) Police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and anti 
social behaviour, including the issuing of fixed penalty notices; 

d) The prosecution of any personal licence holder or member of staff at 
such premises who is selling alcohol to people who are drunk; 

e) The confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated 
areas; 

f) Police powers to close down instantly for up to 24 hours any licensed 
premises or temporary event on grounds of disorder, the likelihood of 

Page 356



 5 

disorder or noise emanating from the premises causing a nuisance; 
and 

g) The power to seek a review of the licence or certificate in question. 
 
1.7 It should be understood that this policy and the statutory guidance cannot 

anticipate every scenario or set of circumstances that may arise and as such 
there may be circumstances where the policy or guidance may be departed 
from in the interests of the promotion of the licensing objectives and where it 
is deemed appropriate to do so. In such cases the council will give full 
reasons for departing from this policy. 

 

Licensing Principles and Process 
 
1.8 This policy sets out the process the council will adopt in dealing with licence 

applications with particular regard to the various types of premises and 
permissions and the various conditions that can be attached to licences if 
relevant representations are made. It also highlights the council’s undertaking 
to avoid duplication with other statutory provisions and its commitment to 
work in partnership with other enforcement agencies. 

 
1.9 The council is the Licensing Authority under the Act and is responsible for 

granting premises licences, club premises certificates, personal licences and 
administering temporary events notices in the borough. 

 
1.9 The objective of this policy is to: 

 
a) promote the four licensing objectives; 
b) ensure that the premises are appropriate for their proposed use; 
c) ensure the premises layout and condition is acceptable for the 

proposed use;  
d) ensure that the premises are being managed responsibly; and 
e) promote the policy vision statement. 

 
1.10 This policy also seeks to promote the council’s wider priorities, in 

particular that: 
 

 Cheltenham has a clean and well-maintained environment; 

 Cheltenham has a strong and sustainable economy; 

 Communities feel safe and are safe; 

 People are able to lead healthy lifestyles; and 

 Our residents enjoy a strong sense of community and are 
involved in resolving local issues. 

 
1.11 The council's powers and duties as the licensing authority are delegated by 

the council to its licensing committee, sub-committees and officers. The 
council approaches these delegations in accordance with the table of 
delegation set out below or otherwise in accordance with the council’s 
adopted constitution. 

 
1.12 The policy will be used as a basis in coming to consistent and transparent 

decisions in respect of licence applications. 

Page 357



 6 

1.13 The policy does not: 
 

a) Undermine the right of any individual to apply for a variety of permissions 
and to have each application considered on its individual merits; or 

 
b) Override the right of any person to make representations on an 

application, or seek a review of a licence or certificate, where the Act 
allows. 

Scope 
 
1.14 .. 

 

Licensing Objectives 
 
1.14 The council will carry out its licensing functions under the Act with a view to 

promoting the four licensing objectives, which are: 
 

a) The prevention of crime and disorder; 
b) Public safety; 
c) The prevention of public nuisance; and 
d) The protection of children from harm. 

 
1.15 The aim of the licensing process is to regulate licensable activities so as to 

promote the licensing objectives. 
 
1.16 In determining a licensing application, the overriding principle adopted 

by the council will be that each application is determined on its merits. 
Licence conditions will be tailored to the individual application and only 
those necessary to promote the licensing objectives will be imposed. 

 
1.17 The council will also have regard to wider considerations affecting the 

residential population and the amenity of the area. These include littering, 
noise, street crime and the capacity of the infrastructure. 

 
1.18 Each of the four objectives is of equal importance and will be considered in 

relation to matters centred on the premises or within the control of the 
licensee and the effect which the operation of that business has on the 
vicinity. 

 

Consultation  
 
1.19 . 
 

Duration and Review  
 
1.20 The policy takes effect on 1 February 2016 and will remain in force for a 

period of no more than five years. During this time it will be subject to regular 
review and updating or modification as appropriate, for example to take 
account of any changes in licensing legislation. 

Page 358



 7 

2. The Borough of Cheltenham  
 
The Area 
Until the late 1700s, Cheltenham was a small market town that became a fashionable 
resort after spa waters were discovered. Over the years it has attracted major 
employers and has gained a reputation for being an international festival town. This, 
together with its architectural heritage, educational facilities and quality environment, 
makes Cheltenham an attractive place to live, work and play. 
 
The borough, which includes 5 parishes, has a population of approximately 114,000 
who live in 20 wards. The borough is mainly urban with some areas of surrounding 
countryside. It covers an area of approximately 4,680 hectares of which 17 % is 
designated as green belt and 22 % as an area of outstanding natural beauty. 

 
Demography  
The population is approximately 114,000, and these figures will continue to rise over 
the next 20 years. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 359



 8 

3. Licensing Process - Making an Application 
 

Premises Licences & Club Premises Certificates  
 
3.1 .. 

 
3.2 .. 
 

The Operating Schedule 
 
3.3 The operating schedule is a key document and, if prepared 

comprehensively, will form the basis on which premises can be licensed 
without the need for additional extensive conditions. The council 
expects an operating schedule to indicate the steps that the applicant 
proposes to take to promote the licensing objectives. 

 
3.4 All applicants for the grant or variation of a premises licence or club premises 

certificate are required to provide an operating schedule as part of their 
application. 

 
3.5 Applicants are strongly recommended to discuss their operating schedules 

with the responsible authorities prior to submitting them. 
 
3.6 The complexity and detail required in the operating schedule will 

depend upon the nature and use of the premises. For premises such as 
a public house where public entertainment is not provided, only a 
relatively simple document will be required. For a major public 
entertainment venue it will be expected that issues such as public 
safety and crime and disorder will be addressed in detail.  

 
3.7 Applicants will also be expected to propose practical measures to 

prevent disturbance to local residents and to indicate what action will 
be taken to prevent or reduce noise emanating from the premises. 

 
3.8 The operating schedule must be on the prescribed form and include a 

statement of the following: 
 

a) Full details of the licensable activities to be carried on at and the 
intended use of the premises; 

b) The times during which the licensable activities will take place; 
c) Any other times when the premises are to be open to the public; 
d) Where the licence is only required for a limited period, that period; 
e) Where the licensable activities include the supply of alcohol, the 

name and address of the individual to be specified as the 
designated premises supervisor; 

f) Whether alcohol will be supplied for consumption on or off the 
premises or both; and 

g) The steps which the applicant proposes to promote the licensing 
objectives. 

 

Page 360



 9 

Guidance on Operating Schedule 
 
3.9 The following guidance is intended to assist applicants by setting out criteria 

and considerations that they should bear in mind when drawing up an 
operating schedule. They alert applicants to any matters that responsible 
authorities are likely to consider when deciding whether to make 
representations on an application or whether to call for a review. 

  

a) Crime and Disorder 
 
3.10 The promotion of the licensing objective, to prevent crime and disorder, 

places a responsibility on licence holders to become key partners in 
promoting this objective. 

 
3.11 Applicants will be expected to demonstrate in their operating schedule that 

suitable and sufficient measures have been identified and will be 
implemented and maintained to reduce or prevent crime and disorder on and 
in the vicinity of their premises, relevant to the individual style and 
characteristics of their premises and events. 

 

Considerations  
 
3.12 When addressing the issue of crime and disorder, the applicant should 

demonstrate that those factors that impact on crime and disorder have been 
considered. These factors may include: 

 
a) Underage drinking; 
b) Drunkenness on premises; 
c) Public drunkenness; 
d) Drugs; 
e) Violent behaviour; and/or 
f) Anti-social behaviour. 

 
3.13 In making their decision, regard should be given to the levels of crime and 

disorder in and around the venue, the level of compliance with conditions on 
existing licences and any available evidence on crime and disorder issues. 

 
3.14 Applicants are recommended to consult the Reducing Alcohol Related 

Violence Codes of Practice when considering their operating schedule. 
 
3.15 A pool of model conditions has been has been prepared and individuals 

preparing operating schedules are at liberty to use these conditions, or 
volunteer any other measures(s) to promote the licensing objectives. Please 
see Appendix C for the pool of model conditions for the prevention of crime 
and disorder.  

 

b) Public Safety  
 
3.16 The council in its role as licensing authority must try to ensure the safety of 

people visiting and working in licensed premises. The council will need to be 
satisfied that measures to promote public safety including risk assessments, 

Page 361



 10 

setting safe capacities and adequate means of escape are put in place and 
maintained, if not adequately provided for by other regulatory regimes. 

 
3.17 Consideration should be given to whether: 
 

a) appropriate and satisfactory general and technical risk assessments, 
management procedures and certificates have been made available to 
the relevant responsible authority and to the council, that demonstrate 
that the public will be safe within and in the vicinity of the premises; 

 
b) the premises already has a licence or a fire certificate that specifies the 

maximum number of people that can attend it or be present and, if not, 
whether a risk assessment has been undertaken to assess the 
maximum number of people in terms of capacity in various parts of the 
premises, so that they can be operated safely and can be evacuated 
safely in the event of an emergency; 

 
c) there are procedures proposed to record and limit the number of people 

on the premises with opportunities for going outside and readmission;  
 
d) patrons can arrive at and depart from the premises safely; 
 
e) music, dance and performance venues will use equipment or special 

effects that may affect public safety (i.e. moving equipment, 
pyrotechnics, strobe lights, smoke machines); 

 
f) there are defined responsibilities and procedures for medical and other 

emergencies and for calling the emergency services; and/or  
 
g) the levels of compliance with conditions on existing licences relating to 

public safety. 
 
3.18 The council seeks to encourage the use of toughened glassware and 

polycarbonate where appropriate in licensed premises. Where a relevant 
representation is received the council will consider imposing a condition 
prohibiting the sale of alcohol in annealed glass containers and require the 
use of polycarbonate or other safer alternatives in order to promote public 
safety in licensed venues. 

 
3.19 A pool of model conditions has been has been prepared and individuals 

preparing operating schedules are at liberty to use these conditions, or 
volunteer any other measures(s) to promote the licensing objectives. Please 
see Appendix C for the pool of model conditions for public safety.  

 
 

c) Public Nuisance  
 

Measures to limit nuisance  
 
3.20 The council will expect applicants to set out in their operating schedules the 

steps taken, or proposed to be taken, to deal with the potential for public 
nuisance arising from the operation of the premises.   

Page 362



 11 

 
3.21 Applicants should identify and describe through a risk assessment how these 

risks will be managed. Public nuisance could include low-level nuisance 
perhaps affecting a few people living locally as well as major disturbance 
affecting the whole community. 
 

3.22 Applicants will be expected to have included measures in their operating 
schedules that make adequate provision to: 
 

a) restrict the generation of noise within the premises and from activities 
associated with the premises in the vicinity, or from an open air site; 
 

b) limit the escape of noise from the premises or open air site; 
 

c) restrict noise emissions to below levels that could affect people in the 
vicinity going about their business, at work and when at home both 
while relaxing and while sleeping; 

 
d) minimise and control noise from customers arriving at the premises, or 

open air site outside it and departing from it; 
 

e) minimise and control noise from staff, contractors and suppliers and 
their activities; 

 
f) minimise and control noise from vehicles associated with and 

providing services to the premises or open air site and their 
customers; 

 
g) determine whether people standing or sitting outside premises are 

likely to cause obstruction or other nuisance; 
 

h) whether the premises are under or near to residential accommodation; 
 

i) the hours of the sale of alcohol in open containers or food for 
consumption outside the premises; 

 
j) measures to make sure that customers move away from outside 

premises when such sales cease; 
 

k) measures to collect drinking vessels and crockery, cutlery and litter; 
 

l) the extent and location of areas proposed to be set aside for the 
consumption of food and alcoholic drink and for smoking; 
 

m) whether there is a need for door supervisors to prevent or to control 
customers congregating in outdoor areas to smoke, consume food or 
drink (whether supplied from the premises or not). 

 
n) adequate measures to prevent the following arising from the proposed 

licensable activity that may cause disturbance to people in the vicinity: 
a. litter, smells, fumes, dust, smoke, or other emissions; 
b. street fouling; 

Page 363



 12 

c. light pollution. 
 
3.23 The role of the council is to maintain an appropriate balance between the 

legitimate aspirations of the entertainment industry and the needs of residents 
and other users of the town including businesses, workers, shoppers and 
visitors. 

 
3.24 Playing of music can cause nuisance both through noise breakout and by its 

effect on patrons, who become accustomed to high sound levels and to 
shouting to make themselves heard, which can lead to them being noisier 
when leaving premises. Other major sources of noise nuisance are vehicles 
collecting customers, the slamming of car doors and the sounding of horns. 
These noises can be particularly intrusive at night when ambient noise levels 
are lower. 

 
3.25 Where relevant representations are received, the council may attach 

appropriate conditions to licences, necessary to support the prevention of 
undue noise disturbance from licensed premises. Where premises remain 
open after 23:00, the licence holder will be expected to provide facilities which 
are relevant to controlling noise and the patrons of those premises late at 
night. The council also expects that premises which produce noise generating 
licensable activities are acoustically controlled and engineered to a degree 
where the noise from the premises when compared to the ambient noise level 
will not cause undue disturbance. 

 
3.26 The provision of tables and chairs outside the premises, either on the 

highway or on private land, and the provision of beer gardens, can enhance 
the attractiveness of the venue. It can have the benefit of encouraging a 
continental style café culture and family friendly venues. However, late at 
night, tables and chairs and beer gardens can cause significant public 
nuisance to residents whose homes overlook these areas. 

 
3.27 The ‘smoke free public places’ legislation in July 2007 has led to an increase 

in the number of people outside licensed venues. Where outside facilities are 
provided the council expects applicants to provide details in their application 
of: 

 
a) the location of open air areas; and  

 
b) how the outside areas will be managed to prevent noise, smell, or 

obstruction and nuisance to neighbours and the public. 
 

3.28 Licensees and their staff are expected to have sufficient measures in place to 
prevent such problems arising including a suitable litter and waste 
management program to ensure that the area outside the premises is kept 
free of litter at all times. 

 
3.29 Where the council receives relevant representations, or where a responsible 

authority or an interested party seeks a review, the council may consider 
imposing conditions to improve the management of the outside area or 
prohibiting or restricting the use of these areas in order to promote the public 
nuisance objective. 

Page 364



 13 

 
3.30 Conditions may include maximum noise levels over particular time periods, 

the installation of acoustic lobbies, provision of signs, publicity and dispersal 
policies. 

 
3.31 A pool of model conditions has been has been prepared and individuals 

preparing operating schedules are at liberty to use these conditions, or 
volunteer any other measures(s) to promote the licensing objectives.  Please 
see Appendix C for the pool of model conditions for the prevention of public 
nuisance.  

 

d) Protection of Children from Harm 
 

3.32 The council needs to satisfy itself that there are appropriate measures in 
place to protect children from harm. 

 
3.33 To this extend it will expect applicants, where necessary, to consider the   

measures necessary to promote the licensing objective of protecting children 
from harm when on the premises. 

 
3.34 These measures may include staff training on how to control the entry of 

children and young people under 18 and the vetting of staff who will supervise 
them. Applicants will have to give particular regard to these measures in 
applications for licences involving: 

 
a) the sale of alcohol; 
b) children’s performances; and 
c) attractions or performances likely to attract children. 

 
3.35 It is an offence to sell alcohol to children. In this context, children are defined 

as individuals under 18. The provisions of the Act are that unaccompanied 
children under 16 should not be on “premises being used exclusively or 
primarily for the supply of alcohol” (eg “alcohol led” premises such as pubs, 
bars and nightclubs). In addition, it is an offence to allow unaccompanied 
children under 16 on premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the 
premises after midnight but before 05:00. 

 
3.36 Issues for consideration include: 
 

a) installing effective measures to check the age of those young people 
who appear under 21 to ensure that alcohol is not sold to those under 
18 and those under 16 are accompanied in alcohol led premises; 
 

b) exclusive or primary purpose of the services provided at the premises; 
 

c) accompanied children under 16 on the premises of which the primary 
purpose is supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises are taking 
a table meal or are being entertained by a live performance;  
 

d) the hour to which accompanied children under 16 are proposed to be on 
the premises where the exclusive or primary purpose of the services 

Page 365



 14 

provided at the premises is the supply of alcohol for consumption on the 
premises; 
 

e) due regard is paid to industry codes of good practice on the labelling 
and display of alcoholic drinks; 
 

f) are there adequate procedures for identifying unaccompanied or lost 
children and ensuring that they are kept safe and adequately supervised 
until they can be handed over to a responsible adult; 
 

g) the likelihood of children being attracted to the premises by the nature of 
activities or facilities provided whether or not these are licensed;  
 

h) is there evidence of heavy, binge or underage drinking on the premises;  
 

i) if the premises commonly provides entertainment or services of an adult 
or sexual nature; 
 

j) is there a strong element of gambling on the premises;  
 

k) age restricted films are to be shown classified in accordance with the 
recommendations of the British Board of Film Classification;  
 

l) the number of adults required for the supervision of children and the 
suitability and vetting of those adults to ensure they pose no risk to 
children. 

 
3.37 A pool of model conditions has been has been prepared and individuals 

preparing operating schedules are at liberty to use these conditions, or 
volunteer any other measures(s) to promote the licensing objectives.  Please 
see Appendix C for the pool of model conditions for the protection of children 
of harm.  

Plans 
 
3.38 A plan must also be attached to an application for a premises licence or a 

club premises certificate. The plan should be at a scale of 1:100. .. 
 
 

. Determination of Applications  
 

Decision Making Process 
 
4.1 Decisions on licensing matters will be taken in accordance with an approved 

scheme of delegation below:  
 

Matters to be dealt with Full Committee Sub Committee Officers 

Application for personal 
licence  

 If a police objection If no objection made 

Application for personal 
licence with unspent 
convictions  

 All cases  

Page 366



 15 

Application for premises 
licence/club premises 
certificate  

 If a relevant 
representation made 

If no relevant 
representation made 

Application for provisional 
statement  

 If a relevant 
representation made 

If no relevant 
representation made 

Application to vary 
premises licence/ club 
premises certificate  

 If a relevant 
representation made 

If no relevant 
representation made 

Application to vary 
designated premises 
supervisor  

 If a police objection All other cases 

Request to be removed as 
designated premises 
supervisor  

  All cases 

Application for transfer of 
premises licence  

 If a police objection All other cases 

Applications for interim 
authorities  

 If a police objection All other cases 

Application to review 
premises licence/ club 
premises certificate  

 All cases  
 

 

Decision on whether a 
complaint is irrelevant 
frivolous vexatious etc  

  All cases  
 

Decision to object when 
local authority is a 
consultee and not the 
relevant authority 
considering the 
application  

 All cases  
 

 

Determination of an 
objection to a temporary 
event notice  

 All cases  
 

 

Determination of 
application to vary 
premises licence at 
community premises to 
include alternative licence 
condition  

 If a police objection All other cases 

Decision whether to 
consult other responsible 
authorities on minor 
variation application  

  All cases 

Determination of minor 
variation application  

  All cases 

 

Unopposed Applications  
 
4.2 If no relevant representations are received the licence will be issued 

automatically with, in the case of a premises licence or club premises 
certificate, such conditions attached as are mandatory or are consistent with 

Page 367



 16 

the operating schedule accompanying the application. The council will have 
no discretion to refuse the application or to alter or add to the conditions 
offered through the operating schedule. 

 

Opposed Applications 
 
4.3 Where relevant representations are made, the council must hold a 

hearing before a licensing sub-committee who will take such of the 
following steps as it considers necessary for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives.  

 
4.4 The steps are: 
 

a) to grant the licence subject to the operating schedule modified to 
such extent as the sub-committee considers necessary for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives, and subject to the relevant 
mandatory conditions; 
 

b) to exclude from the scope of the licence any of the licensable 
activities to which the application relates; 
 

c) to refuse to specify a person in the licence as the premises 
supervisor; 
 

d) to reject the application. 
 

Representations 
 
4.5 The council has discretion on whether to grant applications for licences and to 

impose conditions on granting and reviewing licences, only when relevant 
representations are made. 
 

4.6 In brief "relevant representations" is the expression used in the Act for 
comments including objections on applications.  

 
4.7 For a representation to be relevant it must: 
 

a) relate to the effect of the grant of the licence on the promotion of the 
licensing objectives;  
 

b) be made by a responsible authority or other persons; 
 

c) not be 'frivolous or vexatious' or, in the case of a review, 'repetitious' if 
made by other persons; or 
 

d) if it concerns the designated premises supervisor be made by a chief 
officer of police and include a statement explaining the reasons for the 
objection. 

 
4.8 Representations can also be made in support of an application. 
 

Page 368



 17 

Appeals 
 
4.9 Anyone aggrieved by a decision of the council has a right of appeal. This is 

set out in schedule 5 of the Act. 
 
4.10 The council will inform the appropriate parties of their right of appeal in 

accordance with the Act, when confirming a decision of the licensing sub-
committee. 

 
4.11 Aggrieved parties should lodge any appeal with the Magistrates' Court within 

21 days of the notification of the decision. 
 
 

5. Temporary Event Notices (TENs) 
 
5.1 ... 
 
5.2 ... 

 

 …  

  
5.3 .. 
 
5.4 .. 
 
5.5 . 
 
5.6 ... 
 
 

6. Integrating Strategies & Specific Policies 
 
6.1 The council has established a good track record of partnership work 

and will continue to work in partnership with the police, local residents, 
businesses, licensees, communities and regulatory agencies towards 
safeguarding the quality of life for residents, and the creation of a safer 
and more pleasant environment for all. 

 
6.2 In particular, Cheltenham has a vibrant night-time economy that far 

exceeds other towns of similar sizes. The town offers a rich choice of 
entertainment and facilities making it a destination attracting usually 
high numbers of visitors some travelling considerable distances to 
enjoy what the late night economy has to offer. 

 
6.3 Although the vast majority of people visiting the town do so safely and 

responsibly, an active night-time economy nonetheless demands 
additional resource and cost for the council, police and other partners 
to deal with associated crime, disorder and other anti-social behaviour.  

 

Page 369



 18 

6.4 Although the challenges associated with the supply of alcohol are more 
prevalent during the night-time economy, there are nonetheless also 
challenges during other times of the days. 

 
6.5 In addressing these challenges, the council will continue to work with partners 

in particular the licensed trade, licensing enforcement, the police, the noise 
pollution team, community safety partnerships, Gloucestershire fire service 
and planning enforcement. 

 

Late Night Levy 
 
6.6 .. 

a) .. 
 

Encouraging diversity in the night-time economy that 
is less focused on alcohol 
 
6.7 Cheltenham has a vibrant night-time economy that far exceeds other towns of 

similar sizes.  It is recognised that the night-time economy plays an important 
part in creating a vibrant and sustainable economy but this must be balanced 
with the ambition to expand the offer for leisure, tourism and business by 
providing an attractive offer for all age and religious groups. 

 
6.8 To this end, the council will explore and support opportunities to increase 

events, activities and businesses which are not necessarily alcohol led which 
are more socially-inclusive and drive the economy. 

 
Designated area of concern 
 
6.9 There are areas of the borough where the evidence does not suggest that 

they should be designated as Cumulative Impact Areas but which will require 
regular review to establish whether the concentration of licensed premises 
are considered to have begun to cause cumulative impact on one or more of 
the licensing objectives.   

 
6.10 The council has identified the town centre (Appendix D) as being an area of 

concern in that it is susceptible to alcohol related crime, alcohol hospital 
admissions and nuisance arising from or caused by the customers of licensed 
premises. 

 
6.11 The council will monitor the number of licensed premises in the designated 

area and any risk factors that may indicate that the area is reaching a point 
when a cumulative impact is likely or imminent. 

 
6.12 The designated area of concern will also provide the council and its partners 

an opportunity to put measures in place to address the concerns highlighted.  
 

  
 

Page 370



 19 

Joint Core Strategy and other planning policies  
 
6.13 There are a number of key planning policies that sets out a shared vision and 

proposes where future development in the borough. 
 

Designated Public Places Order 
 
6.14 The council supports the use of DPPOs as a tool to prevent crime and 

disorder by tackling anti-social behaviour associated with consumption of 
alcohol in the street. The council would expect premises that operate in areas 
where DPPOs have been implemented to have measures in place to ensure 
their customers do not contribute to problems of anti-social drinking. 
 

6.15 The DPPO was implemented of 1 March 2005 in the borough and requires 
any person who is consuming alcohol within a designated place to surrender 
or cease to consume intoxicating liquor when requested to do so by a police 
constable.  A full list of designated street is available from the Licensing 
Section.  

 

Management of Licensed Premises 
 
6.16 A critical element of the proper control of licensable activity and a 

premises where such activity is provided is good management of those 
activities and the premises generally. 

 
6.17 The council will encourage everybody involved in providing or are 

involved in licensable activities, to consider what skills and 
competencies are appropriate in the safe delivery of regulated activities 
and secure these. This applies to managers, musicians, door staff, bar 
staff, performers and contractors as well as everyone associated with 
the activities.  

 
6.18 Good management also extends to the appropriate advertising of events 

and premises users and licensees are expected to control advertising 
content as part of their role. 
 

6.19 The council undertakes proactive risk based inspections of all licensed 
premises to ensure that they are managed properly.  Premises that 
consistently fail inspections may be subject to a licence review or other 
enforcement action. 

 
Designated Premises Supervisor 
 
6.20 Any premises where alcohol is sold under a premises licence must have a 

designated premises supervisor (DPS). The DPS will be named in the 
premises licence, a summary of which must be displayed on the premises. A 
DPS must be a personal licence holder. Every sale of alcohol must be made 
or authorised by a person who holds a personal licence (or must be made or 
authorised by the management committee in the case of community 
premises). 

 

Page 371



 20 

6.21 ... 
 
6.22 ... 
 
6.23 The premises licence holder will be expected to ensure that the DPS has 

experience commensurate with the size, capacity, nature and style of the 
premises and licensable activities to be provided. 

 
6.24 Within all licensed premises, whether or not alcohol is to be sold, the council 

will expect there to be proper management arrangements in place which will 
ensure that there is an appropriate number of responsible, trained/instructed 
persons at the premises to ensure the proper management of the premises 
and of the activities taking place, as well as adherence to all statutory duties 
and the terms and conditions of the premises’ licence. 

 
Night safe 
 
6.25 The borough-wide Nightsafe network encourage its members to work 

together to promote the licensing objectives in their premises by providing a 
forum for sharing information, disseminating best practice and meeting with 
representatives of the council, the police and other responsible authorities.   
The council actively supports the scheme and is keen to support the 
development of more schemes where there is a demand. 

 
6.26 The inclusion of radio links and ring-round phone systems should be 

considered an appropriate condition for public houses, bars and nightclubs 
operating in the town. These systems allow managers of licensed premises to 
communicate instantly with the police and facilitate a rapid response to any 
disorder which may be endangering the customers and staff on the premises. 

 
Best Bar None 
 
6.27 ...  
 
6.28 ...  
 
Reducing Alcohol Related Harm (RARV) 
 
6.29 In 2006 when the Reducing Alcohol Related Violence project, supported by 

funding from Government Office South West, was launched in Cheltenham a 
great deal of effort has gone into reducing alcohol related harm and disorder 
in the town. 
 

6.30 The Codes of Practice launched in 2007 laying down common sense 
principles for all sectors of the night-time economy were the first such set of 
codes produced in the UK and were acknowledged as best practice by the 
Home Office. 
 

6.31 The RARV Codes of Practice was revised in 2014 and republished in 2015.   
 
 
 

Page 372



 21 

 
 
 
Sexual Entertainment 
 
6.32 The council has adopted the amended provisions of schedule 3 of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 as amended by section 27 
of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 (‘the 2009 Act’) with respect to “relevant 
entertainment”, that is: 

 
a) any live performance; or 
b) any live display of nudity. 

 
which is of such a nature that, ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be 
assumed to be provided solely or principally for the purpose of sexually 
stimulating any member of the audience (whether by verbal or other means). 
 

6.33 The adopted provisions came into effect on the 1st of December 2010 in 
Cheltenham. 

 
6.34 Any premises that want to offer relevant entertainment on a regular basis, that 

is more frequent than 24 hours once a month on no more 11 occasions a 
year, can no longer offer this under the provisions of the Act as a result of the 
abovementioned adoption. These premises must apply for a Sexual 
Entertainment Venue (SEV) licence.  

 
6.35 Premises that want to offer relevant entertainment on an irregular basis can 

still do so under the provisions of the Act. These premises must be authorised 
for the performance of dance and the performance of recorded music. 

 
6.36 The Government has seen it fit to exempt infrequent sexual entertainment 

from requiring a licence. Whilst the council recognises and accepts this, it is 
also acutely aware that unless it is properly managed there are risks to public 
protection and safety, an increased likelihood of associated crime & disorder 
and an inability of regulatory bodies to respond accordingly. 

 
6.37 Whilst the council cannot legitimately impose restrictions on infrequent sexual 

entertainment, it has formulated an exempt sexual entertainment code of 
practice outlined in its adopted SEV policy.  The intention of the code of 
practice is to promote responsible and properly managed exempt sexual 
entertainment. The council expects any premises wishing to offer infrequent 
sexual entertainment to adhere to the code of practice. 

 
Core Hours for Licensable Activities 
 
6.38 The council will avoid arbitrary restrictions on licensing hours that undermine 

the principles of flexibility and consideration of each application is on its own 
merit.   

 
6.39 The council believes that licensable activities carried on within the core hours 

set out below will generally not have a harmful impact on the licensing 

Page 373



 22 

objectives, address the concerns raised by local residents and businesses 
and are less likely to attract representations. 

 
6.40 Furthermore, earlier closing will result in less alcohol consumption and 

drunkenness and would also be consistent with the ability to get crowds 
dispersed from the town centre. 

 
Table 1: Core Hours for Licensable Activities 
 

Type of premises Commencement Hour 
No earlier than 
 

Terminal hour 
No later than 

Off licence  09:00 23:00 

Restaurants 10:00 01:00 

Theatres, cinemas 
and other 
performance venues 

10:00 00:00 

Pubs/Bars/Nightclubs Town centre1  
10:00  
 

 
03:00 

Local Neighbourhood Areas 
10:00 

 
00:00 
 

Takeaways n/a 04:00 

 
6.41 Where relevant representations have been made, it will take the 

following matters into consideration when making a decision. These are 
not a definitive list and other matters may be considered: 

 
a) Operating schedules - demonstration of compliance with 

management standards to support each of the licensing 
objectives. 

 
b) Proximity to residential accommodation - the likelihood of the 

operation to have an adverse impact on the peace and quiet of 
local residents. 

 
c) Potential noise and nuisance from people leaving and entering the 

premises.  
 
d) Ability to demonstrate that systems in place to ensure timely 

dispersal of customers away from residential areas. 
 
e) Use of external areas for carrying out the licensable activities and 

potential noise impact on local residents. 
 
f) Proposed hours of the licensing activities and general opening 

times for the public – The use of winding down periods to enable 
more efficient dispersal. 

 

                                                
1 As defined in Appendix D. 

Page 374



 23 

g) Type of use – alcohol led premises such as pubs, bars and nightclubs, 
off licenses and hot food take away premises are more likely to be 
associated with crime and disorder and public nuisance than other 
premises such as seated restaurants, theatres, cinemas and other 
cultural activities. 

 
h) Availability of public transport to assist in the timely dispersal of 

customers from the vicinity and to ensure safe travel home. 
 
i) The potential for contamination of the street environment through 

increased litter and other pollution of the streets by customers. 
 
6.42 The hours of existing licensed premises will remain unchanged unless there 

are good reasons, based on the licensing objectives, for restricting these 
hours, and then they can be changed by a licensing sub-committee following 
a review of the premises licence. 
 

Latest admission times 
 
6.43 The council considers it undesirable that persons should seek to ‘top up’ their 

alcohol intake by seeking out those premises that are admitting customers at 
the latest times because persons moving between venues late at night can 
lead to crime, disorder and public nuisance. 

 
6.44 Establishing last entry times can reduce the tendency of customers to 

concentrate at those premises which remain open the latest, without 
restricting the hours of trading.  This will encourage dispersal and reduce the 
pressure on late-night refreshment outlets and transport facilities which will 
assist with objectives to prevent public nuisance and crime and disorder in 
certain circumstances. 

 
6.45 It is therefore this council’s policy that the latest admission time, for licences 

premises open past midnight, to be no less than: 
 

a) one hour for nightclubs & late night bars; and  
b) half an hour for pubs and other licensed premises 

 
  before the terminal hour for licensable activities. 
 
Takeaway food premises 
 
6.46 …. 
 
6.47 ... 
 
6.48 .. 
 
6.49 ... 
 
6.50 ..   
 

Page 375



 24 

6.51 Where the council considers it appropriate, it may impose conditions on a 
premises licence to require the operators of premises serving customers with 
hot food or drink to provide litter bins in the vicinity of the premises in order to 
prevent the accumulation of litter from its custom..ers. 

 
Pavement Cafes and External Areas 
 
6.52 ...  
 
6.53 .. 
 
6.54 ... 
 
6.55 ... 
 

Promoting safe drinking limits 
 
Irresponsible Drinks Promotions and Drunkenness on Premises 
 
6.56 Low cost alcohol sold in on and off trade premises increases alcohol 

consumption which can lead to crime and disorder issues.  Through this 
policy the council would like to encourage the responsible consumption of 
alcohol and where there is evidence that the licensing objectives are being 
compromised or are likely to be compromised, the council will consider 
imposing controls on drinks promotions to deal with localised problems. 

 
6.57 However, the council would prefer an approach whereby it, along with the 

licensed trade and other partners, are able to promote responsible retailing of 
alcohol instead of having to dealing with the effects of irresponsible drinks 
promotions and drunkenness. 

 
 
Code of Good Practice for Drinks Promotions 
 
6.58 It is a known fact that the price of alcohol does have an effect on the amount 

people consume.  It is also the case that people are more attracted to 
premises that offer low cost alcohol and low cost alcohol is likely to cause 
people to consume more alcohol than they would normally have done.  Both 
of these situations can lead to crime, disorder and public nuisance issues. 

 
6.59 The council does not wish to unnecessarily impose operational restrictions 

and freedoms on licensed premises.  It would therefore like to encourage a 
voluntary code of good practice in relation to drinks promotions and to 
encourage licence holders and others working at the premises to familiarise 
themselves with the mandatory conditions relating to drinks promotions. 

 
6.60 To this end, the council will encourage all licence holders to apply the 

following principles in relation to any drinks promotions: 
 

Principle  

Align pricing with Alcohol by Volume (ABV). 

Page 376



 25 

 

Start the sale of alcohol later in the day and not align it purely with 
opening hours. 
 

Refrain from all inclusive offers. 
 

Promotional information should clearly display: 
 

- Factual information on the alcoholic strength of a drink(s); 
 
- That no-one under the age of 18 years may take part in the 

promotion; 
 

- display Drink Aware logo/information. 
 

Promotions should not: 
 

- focus on the strength of any alcohol product as the principle 
theme; 

 
- condone or encourage illegal, excessive or irresponsible drinking 

(such as binge-drinking, drunkenness or drink-driving); 
 

- refer in any favourable manner to the effects of intoxication or 
consumption; 

 
- suggest that alcohol consumption enhances sexual attractiveness 

or include promotion material that is linked to sexual imagery 
implying sexual success or prowess. 

Restrict multi buy promotions. 
 

No advertisements for alcohol in the shop window. 
 

Alcohol should not be given way for free as part of a promotion or as an 
incentive. 
 

Actively promote designated driver schemes where a driver is offered 
discounted or free non-alcoholic drinks. 
 

Make food and hot drinks available in late venues. 

 
Shops Selling Alcohol (Off Licences) 
 
6.61 ...  
 
6.62 ..  
 
6.63 ... 
 
Hours of Operation 
 

Page 377



 26 

6.64 See Table 1: Core Hours for Licensable Activities on page 27. 
 
Layout and Operation of Premises 
 
6.65 In most cases a licence holder will be able to address the potential problems 

and detriment to the licensing objectives, through the layout and the operation 
of the premises. 

 
6.66 The council will encourage all licence holders licensed for off sales to: 
 

a) Store high strength alcohol behind the shop counter; 
b) Not store or display any alcohol at the entrance/exit points of the 

premises; 
c) Not advertise alcohol in a shop window; 
d) Not sell single cans of beer or bottles of beer under 1 litre; 
e) Not sell beer or cider over 5.5% ABV; 
f) Not store or display any alcohol at or near check-outs; and  
g) Refuse to sell alcohol to persons known to be persistent offenders 

(where the offence(s) relates/associated with alcohol) or street 
drinkers. 

 
Licence Conditions & Reviews 
 
6.67 Where there is evidence that the licensing objectives are being 

compromised or are likely to be compromised, the council will consider 
imposing appropriate restrictions on a licence.  This may include, 
although not limited to, restricting the hours for licensable activities, 
restricting the sale of alcoholic beverages over a specified limit of 
alcohol by volume and/or of specified quantities. 

 
 
 

7. Film Classifications 
 
7.1 ... 
 
7.2 ...   
 
7.3 ... 
 
 

8. Events on Council Land 
 
8.1 ... 
 
8.2 ... 
 
8.3 ... 
 
8.4 ...   
 

Page 378



 27 

8.5 ... 
 
 

9. Enforcement  
 
9.1 In terms of regulation, our aim is to target those premises which are causing 

problems within our communities whilst supporting well managed premises 
and community activities, which provide worthwhile opportunities for the 
enjoyment of leisure time without having a negative impact. Premises 
associated with disorder, threaten public safety, generate public nuisance, or 
threaten the well being of our children will be targeted for enforcement action. 

 
9.2 Once licensed, it is essential that premises are maintained and operated so 

as to ensure the continued promotion of the licensing objectives and 
compliance with the specific requirements of the Act.  

 
9.3 The council will monitor compliance with the licensing objectives through a 

programme of inspection visits. The proactive inspection visits are risk based 
so that those premises that are at a higher risk of adversely affecting the 
licensing objectives are more frequently inspected. 

 
9.4 The council will also establish enforcement protocols with the police and other 

enforcement agencies to ensure efficient and targeted joint enforcement is 
undertaken on a regular basis. 

 
9.5 This does not prevent action being taken by any individual authority at any 

time should offences become apparent. 
 
9.6 The council will take in to account its adopted corporate enforcement policy 

when deciding what appropriate action to take. 

 
Reviews 
 
9.7 At any stage, following the grant of a premises licence, a responsible 

authority, or other person, may ask the council to review the licence because 
of a matter arising at the premises in connection with any of the four licensing 
objectives. 

 
9.8 In every case, the application for review must relate to particular premises for 

which a licence is in existence and must be relevant to the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. 

 
9.9 The necessary forms and documents is available from the Council’s website 

at http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/licensing or from the licensing section during 
normal office hours. 

 
 

Appendix A –Consultees 
 
.. 

Page 379



 28 

 

Appendix B – Responsible Authorities  
 
Gloucestershire Constabulary 
Licensing Unit, 
No 1 Waterwells, Waterwells Drive, 
Quedgeley 
Gloucester 
GL2 2AN 
 
Direct line: 01452 754482 Switchboard: 101 
Fax: 01452 754797 
Email: licensing@gloucestershire.police.uk 
 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
Service Delivery Support 
Waterwells Drive 
Quedgeley 
Gloucester 
GL2 2AX 
 
Tel: 01452 753333 
Fax: 01452 753304 
Email: fire.safety@glosfire.gov.uk 
 
Pollution Prevention 
Environmental Protection 
Public Protection 
Cheltenham Borough Council 
Municipal Offices 
Promenade 
Cheltenham 
GL50 1PP 
 
Tel: 01242 264135 
Fax: 01242 264210 
Email: ehbusinesssupport@cheltenham.gov.uk 
 
Health and Safety Enforcement 
Where the local authority is the enforcing authority 
 
Cheltenham Borough Council 
Health and Safety – Environmental Health  
Public Protection Division 
Municipal Offices 
Promenade 
Cheltenham 
GL50 9SA 
 
Tel: 01242 775178 

Page 380

mailto:Licensing@gloucestershire.police.uk
mailto:fire.safety@glosfire.gov.uk
mailto:ehbusinesssupport@cheltenham.gov.uk


 29 

Fax: 01242 264210 
Email: ehbusinesssupport@cheltenham.gov.uk 
Where the HSE is the enforcing authority 
 
Health and Safety Executive 
4th Floor, The Pithay 
All Saints Street 
BRISTOL 
BS1 1ND 
 
Telephone: 0117 988 6000 
Fax: 0117 926 2998 
Email: (i) For service employment e.g. Central and Local Government, NHS etc. the 
contact is paula.Johnson@hse.gsi.gov.uk  
(ii) For other employment e.g. manufacture and repair, agriculture, transport, the 
contact is nigel.chambers@hse.gsi.gov.uk  
 
Local Planning Authority 
 
Planning Enforcement 
Built Environment Division 
Cheltenham Borough Council 
Municipal Offices 
Promenade 
Cheltenham 
GL50 1PP 
 
Tel 01242 264138 
Fax 01242 227323 
Email: planning@cheltenham.gov.uk 
 
Child Protection 
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Board 
Block 4, 1st Floor, Room 133B, 
Shire Hall, 
Westgate Street, 
Gloucester, 
GL1 2TH 
 
Tel: 01452 583629 
Email: gscb@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
 
Trading Standards 
Gloucestershire County Council, Trading Standards, 
Hillfield House 
Denmark Road 
Gloucester 
GL1 3LD 
 
Tel: 01452 426201 
Fax: 01452 426274 
Email: tradstds@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

Page 381

mailto:ehbusinesssupport@cheltenham.gov.uk
mailto:paula.Johnson@hse.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:nigel.chambers@hse.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:planning@cheltenham.gov.uk
mailto:tradstds@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 30 

 
 
Responsible Authority for Health 
Public Health Department 
Block 4, 2nd Floor 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Shire Hall, Westgate Street, Gloucester GL1 2TG 
 
Tel: 01452 328699 
Email publichealth@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 382

mailto:publichealth@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 31 

Appendix C – Pool of Model Conditions 
 
Introduction  
 
The conditions shall not be regarded as “standard conditions” which are to be 
automatically imposed on premises licences and certificates in all cases. The 
following are designed to provide a range of possible conditions which may need to 
be attached to premises licences or club premises certificates, depending upon 
differing situations. 
 
All conditions attached to a premises licence and club premises certificate must be 
appropriate and proportionate to the application received.  
 
The wording of the conditions may need to be modified to suit a particular premise 
and/or situation. 
 
This is not an exhaustive or exclusive list of conditions. 
 
Additional conditions may be drafted and attached to such licences and certificates to 
meet individual circumstances, both by the applicant in question, any responsible 
authority, or the Licensing Authority as deemed appropriate. 
 
The majority of conditions refer to the ‘premises licence holder’ however, in some 
circumstances, it may be more appropriate for the designated premises supervisor to 
be responsible for complying with the condition. In these circumstances, the 
conditions can be amended to read ‘the designated premises supervisor or a 
competent person nominated by the designated premises supervisor’. 
 
C&D – The Prevention of Crime & Disorder | PN – The Prevention of Public Nuisance | CP – Protection of Children 
from Harm | PS – Public Safety  

 

Reference  Model Condition 
Primary 
Licensing 
Objective*  

 
Sale of Alcohol 

 

 There shall be a personal licence holder on duty on the 
premises at all times when the premises are authorised to 
sell alcohol. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 No super-strength beer, lagers or ciders of 5.5% ABV 
(alcohol by volume) or above shall be sold at the premises. 
 

C&D 
CP 
 

 No single cans or bottles of beer or cider shall be sold at the 
premises. 
 

C&D 
CP 
 

 No more than x% of the sales area to be used at any one 
time for the sale, exposure for sale, or display of alcohol. 

C&D 
CP 
 

Page 383



 32 

 Sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall only 
be supplied with, and ancillary to, a take-away meal. 
 

C&D 
CP 
 

 Alcohol shall only be sold to a person sitting down eating a 
meal and for consumption with that meal. 
 

C&D 
 

 Alcohol may only be sold to persons having a table meal or 
those waiting to be seated prior to having a table meal. 
 

C&D 
 

 Alcohol shall be sold to customers by waiter/waitress service 
only. 
 

C&D 
 

 There shall be no sales of alcohol for consumption off the 
premises. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 Alcohol consumed outside the premises shall only be 
consumed by patrons seated at tables. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 Any alcohol supplied for consumption off the premises must 
be in a sealed container. 
 

C&D 
 

 Substantial food and non-intoxicating beverages, including 
drinking water, shall be available in all parts of the premises 
where alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on the 
premises during the periods when alcohol is authorised for 
sale. 
 

C&D 
 

 
Management of the Premises 

 

 A ‘Winding-down and Dispersal’ policy shall be adopted that 
includes measures to achieve a gradual and orderly 
dispersal of customers at the end of the trading session. 
These measures shall commence at least 15 minutes before 
the bar closes, and shall include slowing down the tempo of 
music, a significant reduction in the volume of music and 
announcements requesting customers to leave the premises 
quietly and respect the peace and quiet of the local 
residents.  
 

C&D 
PN 

 A direct telephone number for the manager at the premises 
shall be publicly available at all times the premises is open. 
This telephone number is to be made available to residents 
in the vicinity.  
 

C&D 
PN 

 The Designated Premises Supervisor or premises license 
holder shall bring the contents of the licence and licence 
conditions to the attention of all door supervisors and other 
staff employed at the premises. 

C&D 
PN 
CP 
PS 

 
CCTV 

Page 384



 33 

 

 A CCTV system consisting of a minimum of x cameras shall 
be installed at the premises. The CCTV system shall be 
maintained in good working order, shall record at all times 
the premises are open, and recordings shall be kept for a 
minimum of 14 days and be provided on DVD to officers of 
the council, Trading Standards or Police on request. 
 

C&D 
 

 A staff member from the premises, who is conversant with 
the operation of the CCTV system, shall be on the premises 
at all times when the premises are open to the public. This 
staff member must be able to show the Police or Licensing 
Officer recent data or footage with the absolute minimum of 
delay when requested to do so. 
 

C&D 
 

 No alcohol shall be sold if the CCTV equipment is 
inoperative for any reason. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 
Radios 

 

 The premises licence holder shall join the Night Safe radio 
scheme or any similar scheme operating in the town and 
ensure that: 
 

 The communication equipment is kept in working 
order at all times. If the communication equipment 
breaks then the Police shall be notified and the 
equipment shall be repaired within a reasonable time 
period; 

 

 The communication equipment shall be activated, 
made available to and monitored by the designated 
premises supervisor or a responsible member of staff 
at all times that the premises are open to the public; 

 

 Any police instructions/directions are complied with 
whenever given; and 

 

 All instances of crime and disorder are reported via 
the communication equipment by the designated 
premises supervisor or a responsible member of staff 
to an agreed police contact point. 

 
 

C&D 
 

 
Best Practice Scheme 

 

 The Designated Premises Supervisor shall maintain an 
active membership of the Night Safe (or successor 
‘pubwatch’) including operation of the Nightsafe radio link. 

C&D 
 

Page 385



 34 

 

 
Door Supervisors 

 

 A minimum of x SIA licensed door supervisor shall be on 
duty at the premises at all times whilst it is open to the public 
[or after xx.xx / until the last admission time for the public]. 
 

C&D 
 

 If door supervisors are required to undertake body searches 
then at least one female supervisor shall be available to 
undertake the body searches of female customers. 
 

C&D 
 

 A written search policy that aims to prevent customers or 
staff bringing illegal drugs, weapons or other illegal items 
onto the premises at any time shall be in place and operate 
at the premises. 
 

C&D 
 

 Where door supervisors are required the premises licence 
holder [or Designated Premises Supervisor] shall keep 
records showing the names of the supervisor, their SIA 
badge number & expiry date, and the date/time that they 
were employed.   A copy should be available immediately 
upon request to an authorised officer of Gloucestershire 
Constabulary or the council. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 All staff engaged outside the entrance to the premises, or 
supervising or controlling queues, shall wear high visibility 
jackets or vests. 
 

C&D 
 

 For a period of 30 minutes following the closure of the Bar, or 
until all customers have dispersed from the immediate 
vicinity if longer, there shall be a minimum of x door 
supervisors on the street outside the premises wearing high-
visibility clothing to ensure the safe, orderly and quiet 
dispersal of customers in the immediate vicinity. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 
Hours 

 

 Consumption of alcohol shall cease x minutes after the time 
authorised for its sale or supply/provision of licensable 
activities. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 
Entry to Premises 

 

 No public access to the premises shall occur through the 
[specify doors/area]. This condition shall not restrict the use 
of the doors in the event of an emergency. 
 

C&D 
CP 
PS 

 There shall be no entry or re-entry, other than staff members, C&D 

Page 386



 35 

to the premises after xx.xx save for customers using the 
agreed smoking area at the premises. 
 

PN 

 On occasions where licensable activities are carried on past 
xx:xx hours, admission of customers will be restricted to 
[enter restriction e.g. a particular entrance, a particular area 
of the licensed premises etc]. 
 

C&D 
 

 In relation to the specified function room there shall be no 
admission after x other than to: 
 
(1) residents of the hotel and their bona fide guests; or 
(2) persons attending the pre-booked function 
 

C&D 
 

 All functions in the specified function room shall be pre-
booked or ticketed events. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 No events solely for those under 18 will be permitted on the 
premises. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 The rules of admission to the premises shall be clearly and 
prominently displayed at each entrance to the Premises. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 
Alcoholic Containers 

 

 No glass bottles containing beverages of any kind, whether 
open or sealed, shall be given to customers on the premises 
whether at the bar or by staff serving away from the bar. 
 

C&D 
PS 

 No customers carrying open or sealed bottles shall be 
admitted to the premises at any time that the premises are 
open to the public. 
 

C&D 
 

 The premises licence holder/designated premises supervisor 
shall ensure that no customers shall take glasses or open 
bottles from the premises other than into the outside area 
shown and edged [red] on the plan forming part of the 
premises licence. 
 

C&D 
PN 
 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that only plastic or 
toughened glass containers will be used for the supply of 
beverages. 
 

C&D 
 

 There shall be no sale of alcohol in unsealed containers for 
consumption off the premises. 
 

C&D 
 

 
Notices/Signage 

 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that a sign, C&D 

Page 387



 36 

indicating the hours during which licensable activities are 
permitted to take place, is displayed in, on or immediately 
outside the premises in a position where the notice can be 
conveniently read by members of the public. 
 

PN 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that a sign, 
detailing any restrictions on the admission of children, is 
displayed on or immediately outside the premises in a 
position where the notice can be conveniently read by 
members of the public. 
 

CP 

 
Drugs 

 

 The Designated Premises Supervisor shall complete/attend 
a recognised ‘drug awareness’ training course [within **** 
weeks/by **** date, or the DPS shall have 
completed/attended such training]. 
 

C&D 
 

 Staff shall be provided with ‘drug awareness training’, and be 
briefed on the drugs policy applicable to the premises. 
 

C&D 
 

 Any person found with illegal drugs must be reported to a 
Police officer immediately. 
 

C&D 
 

 Whilst licensable activities are taking place, the toilets at the 
Premises must be checked at least hourly for illegal drug use 
or supply. A written log of all checks must be kept at the 
Premises for at 31 days and made available for immediate 
inspection on the request of an authorised officer of 
Gloucestershire Constabulary or the Licensing Authority. 
 

C&D 
 

 
Promotions 

 

 There shall be no promotional sales of alcohol at the 
premises where alcohol is sold at a price lower than that at 
which the same or similar alcoholic drinks are sold, or usually 
sold, on the premises. 
 

C&D 
 

 There shall be no payment made by or on behalf of the 
licence holder to any person for bringing customers to the 
premises. 

C&D 
 

 28 days’ notice shall be given to Gloucestershire 
Constabulary and the licensing authority of any events held 
which are organised by an outside promoter, including full 
details of the nature of the event and of the promoter. 
 

C&D 
 

 
Records 

 

Page 388



 37 

 An incident log shall be kept at the premises and made 
available on request to the Police or an authorised officer of 
the council. The log will record the following: 
 

 all crimes reported to the venue 

 all ejections of customers 

 any incidents of disorder (disturbance caused either 
by one person or a group of people) [There is no 
requirement to record the above incidents (a), (b) or 
(c) where they do not relate to a licensable activity] 

 seizures of drugs or offensive weapons 

 any faults in the CCTV system or searching 
equipment or scanning equipment 

 any refusal of the sale of alcohol during the hours the 
premises is licensed to sell it 

 

C&D 
 

 
Premises Layout 

 

 The following alcoholic beverages shall be placed behind a 
staffed counter: 
 

 mixed alcoholic beverages under 10% a.b.v. 

 beers or ciders over 5.5% a.b.v.; and 

 all spirits in bottles less than 70cl. 
 

C&D 
CP 
 

 At least x members of staff shall be on duty on the shop floor 
between **** hours until closing time. 

C&D 
 

 The physical location of alcohol displays shall be in an area 
within sight of staff as identified on the plan of the premises 
annexed to the licence. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 The XX area shall be designated as a “chill-out” area whilst 
music and dancing are permitted on the premises which shall 
include adequate ventilation or fresh air; ready access to free 
drinking water; suitable seating accommodation; and access 
to First Aid facilities 
 

C&D 
 

 Seating for no less than [specify number] persons shall be 

provided in the premises at all times the premises are 

[specify “open” or “are providing any licensable activity”]. 
 

C&D 
 

 
Use of Outdoor Area 

 

 The designated premises supervisor shall ensure that tables 
are cleared of all bottles and glasses on a regular basis 
during trading hours to avoid an accumulation of glassware. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 Customers will not be permitted to drink outside the premises C&D 

Page 389



 38 

save for in any seated area authorised under a pavement 
licence. 
 

PN 

 
Disabled People 

 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that, when disabled 
people are present, adequate arrangements exist to enable 
their safe evacuation in the event of an emergency and that 
disabled people on the premises are made aware of those 
arrangements. 
 

PS 

 
First Aid 

 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that an adequate 
and appropriate supply of first aid equipment and materials is 
available on the premises and at least one suitably trained 
first aider shall be on duty when the public are present and if 
more than one suitably trained first aider that their respective 
duties are clearly defined. 
 

PS 

 The Licensee shall ensure that at all times when the public is 
present there is at least one competent person able to 
administer First Aid, that an adequate and appropriate supply 
of First Aid equipment and materials is available on the 
Premises and that adequate records are maintained in 
relation to the supply of any First Aid treatment. 
 

PS 

 
Lighting 

 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that, in the 
absence of adequate daylight, the lighting in any area 
accessible to the public, members or guests shall be fully 
operational when the public, members or guests are present.  
 

C&D 
PS 

 
Special Effects 

 

 Any special effects or mechanical installation should be 
arranged and stored so as to minimise any risk to the safety 
of the audience, performers and staff. 
 

PS 

 The following special effects will only be used on 10 days 
prior notice being given to the Licensing Authority and 
Environmental Health where consent has not been 
previously been given: 
 

 dry ice machines and cryogenic fog 

 smoke machines and fog generators 

PS 

Page 390



 39 

 pyrotechnics including fireworks 

 real flame 

 fire arms 

 motor vehicles 

 strobe lighting 

 lasers 

 explosives and highly flammable substances 
 

 These special effects must only be used on the provision of a 
suitable and sufficient risk assessment and prior notification 
to the Licensing Authority and Environmental Health. 
 

PS 

 All escape routes and exits shall be kept unobstructed, in 
good order with non-slippery and even surfaces, free of trip 
hazards and clearly identified. 
 

PS 

 All exit doors shall be regularly checked to ensure that they 

function satisfactorily and a record of the checks shall be kept 

on the premises. 
 

PS 

 
Noise Nuisance (regulated entertainment) 

 

 The lobby doors at the premises shall be kept closed except 
for access and egress during the provision of regulated 
entertainment. Door staff, where employed, shall ensure that 
the doors are maintained closed as far as possible when 
regulated entertainment is taking place. 
 

PN 

 A noise limiting device shall be installed, fitted and 
maintained in such a manner so as to control all sources of 
amplified music at the premises during the provision of 
regulated entertainment. The noise limiting device shall be 
set at a limit determined by the Local Authority’s Authorised 
Officer, such level being confirmed in writing to the premises 
licence holder. 
 

PN 

 Whenever any regulated entertainment occurs past 22:00 
indoors all windows and doors shall be kept shut during 
these activities.  
 

PN 

 Loudspeakers shall not be located in the entrance lobby, [or 
specify another location if appropriate] or outside the 
premises. 
 

PN 

 Live music shall be provided by no more than two (2) 
performers on any day. 
 

PN 

 After 23:00 hours all windows shall be closed and remain 
closed. 
 

C&D 
PN 

Page 391



 40 

 Unless otherwise specified on this licence no regulated 
entertainment shall take place at the premises with the 
exception of pre-booked private events limited to the 
provision of music and dancing for pre-invited guests. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 Where any regulated entertainment occurs at the premises, 
the Designated Premises Supervisor, or a person nominated 
by them, will ensure that noise from such activities is 
effectively inaudible inside the nearest noise sensitive 
premises. 
 

PN 

 
Noise Nuisance (people) 

 

 Prominent, clear notices shall be displayed at [all exits / in 
the beer garden] requesting customers to respect the needs 
of local residents and leave the premises and the area 
quietly. 
 

PN 

 The premises licence holder shall monitor the activity of 
persons leaving the premises [after xx:xx/are closed to the 
public] and remind them of their public responsibilities where 
necessary. 
 

PN 

 Customers permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter 
the premises e.g. to smoke, shall not be permitted to take 
drinks or glass containers with them. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 Deliveries to the premises shall only be made between **:** 
hours and **:** hours on Mondays to Saturdays only. 
 

PN 

 The pavement from the building line to the kerb edge 
immediately outside the premises, including gutter/channel at 
its junction with the kerb edge, shall be swept and or 
washed, and litter and sweepings collected and stored in 
accordance with the approved refuse storage arrangements. 
 

PN 

 
Lighting 

 

 Internal and external lighting provided for the purpose of 
customer and staff safety and for the security of the premises 
shall be positioned so as not to cause nuisance to 
neighbouring or adjoining properties.  
 

PN 

 Lighting associated with regulated entertainment shall be 
positioned so as not to cause nuisance to neighbouring or 
adjoining properties. 
 

PN 

 Lighting provided externally to promote advertising of the 
premises or activities associated with the premises shall be 

PN 

Page 392



 41 

of an intensity such as not to cause nuisance to neighbouring 
or adjoining properties. 
 

 
Open Spaces 

 

 The area within which alcohol is served or consumed shall 
be clearly and effectively delineated using barriers, ropes, or 
similar so that the extent of the Designated Place where the 
licensable activity is temporarily permitted shall be clearly 
defined and notices shall be conspicuously placed in the 
area. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 Music noise levels from outdoor regulated entertainment 
must not exceed those defined in the Code of Practice on 
Environmental Noise Control at Concerts' (The Noise Council 
1995 ISBN 0 900103 51 

PN 

 Use of the outdoor area will cease at 23:00 everyday. 
 

PN 

 
Other Nuisance 

 

 A public refuse bin shall be installed outside the premises 
subject to any necessary planning permission or listed 
building permission. 
 

PN 

 The premises licence holder shall ensure that any queue to 
enter the premises which forms outside the premises is 
orderly and supervised by door staff so as to ensure that 
there is no public nuisance or obstruction to the public 
highway. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 
Litter 

 

 At the termination of business on each day the outside area 
immediately to the front of and adjacent to the premises shall 
be cleared of debris and litter. 
 

PN 

 
Other 

 

 In cases of an event involving a significant number of 
unaccompanied children, the premises licence holder shall 
have a child protection policy in place to carry out suitable 
checks on staff before they take up employment. 
 

CP 

 A Challenge [21/25/or any other suitable age] policy shall be 
operated at the premises at all times. All staff shall require 
identification of all customers who appear to be less than 
[21/25/ or any other suitable age] years old and wish to 

CP 

Page 393



 42 

purchase alcohol. Acceptable proof of age will be a PASS 
approved proof of age card, UK passport or a UK 
photographic driving licence. 
 

 Challenge [21/25/ or any other suitable age] materials shall 
be displayed at the premises, including at the point of sale of 
alcohol, to inform customers of the operation of the scheme. 
 
 

 
CP 

 A log shall be kept at the premises and record all refused 
sales of alcohol for reasons that the person(s) is, or appears 
to be, under x years of age. The log shall record the date and 
time of the refusal and the name of the member of staff who 
refused the sale. The log will be made available on request 
by the Police or an authorised officer of the council. 
 

CP 

 Children under the age of  x years shall not be allowed on 
the premises after **:** hours unless accompanied by an 
adult. 
 

CP 

 Children under the age of x years shall not be allowed on the 
premises. 
 

CP 

 No single cans or bottles of beer or cider shall be sold at the 
premises. 
 

C&D 
CP 

 Clearly visible signage is to be displayed at the entrances 
and at points of sale indicating it is illegal to sell alcohol to 
people under the age of 18. 
 

CP 

 The licence holder or the licence holders, servants, or 
agents, shall ensure that no flyposting is undertaken by the 
licence holder or on behalf of the licence holder in respect of 
any performance or event taking place at the premises. 

PN 
C&D 

 
Queuing 

 

 Any designated queuing area shall be enclosed within 
appropriate barriers to ensure that the highway is kept clear. 
 

C&D 

 
Dispersal 

 

 
 
 
 

A minimum 30 minute ‘drinking-up’ time shall be provided to 
allow appropriate dispersal, use of lavatories etc. 
 

C&D 
PN 

 A written dispersal policy shall be in place and implemented 
at the premises to move customers from the premises and 
the immediate vicinity in such a way as to cause minimum 
disturbance or nuisance to neighbours. 

C&D 
CP 

Page 394



 43 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Freephones or payphones shall be made available to all 
customers and have displayed contact telephone numbers 
for selection of hackney carriages and private hire services. 
 

PN 

 
Boxing & Wrestling 

 

 At least 28 days’ notice of any event involving boxing or 
wrestling entertainment events shall be provided to the 
licensing authority and the health and safety enforcing 
authority. 

C&D 

Page 395



 44 

Appendix D – Designated Area of Concern  
 

 

P
age 396



Document is Restricted

Page 397By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 23/00788/PRMA 8 Imperial Square
	Appendix 1 - application form
	Appendix 1a - proposed conditions 26.06.23
	Appendix 1b - amendment to application form
	Appendix 2 - site location
	Appendix 3 - representations
	Appendix 4 - extract of Statutory Guidance
	Appendix 5 - extract of Licensing Policy Statement
	Plans 1, 3 and 4
	Applicant's evidence - Brochure, Collection & Events
	Applicant's evidence - menus
	Applicant's evidence - photos, interior SLondon 23.06.26
	Applicant's evidence - press article
	Applicant's evidence - staff CVs
	Operational Management Plan and Dispersal Policy

	4 23/00745/PRMA 33 Prestbury Road
	Appendix A - application
	Appendix B - site location
	Appendix C - objections
	Appendix D - supporting comments
	Appendix E - extracts from Statutory Guidance
	Appendix F - extracts of Licensing Policy Statement
	Plans 1 and 2


